
 

 
City of Newberg: Planning Commission Agenda (April 14, 2016) Page 1 of 2 

 

 

 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 

April 14, 2016 7:00 PM  
NEWBERG PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING   

401 EAST THIRD STREET 

 

 

I. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

 

II. ROLL CALL 

 

III.  PUBLIC COMMENTS (5-minute maximum per person – for items not on the agenda) 

 

IV. CONSENT CALENDAR  

 

1. Approval of the 2/25/16 Planning Commission meeting minutes 

2. Approval of the 3/10/16 Planning Commission meeting minutes 

 

V. QUASI-JUDICIAL PUBLIC HEARING (complete registration form to give testimony - 5 minute 

maximum per person except for principals, unless otherwise set by majority motion of the Planning 

Commission).  No new public hearings after 10 p.m. except by majority vote of the Planning 

Commissioners.  

  

1. Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center - Conditional Use Permit/Design Review/Code Adjustment 

application to build a 40,390 square foot addition with two pools next to the existing building, 

remodel the existing building into a gym, reconfigure the site for new parking, park and landscape 

areas; and to reduce the amount of required off-street parking.   

APPLICANT: Chehalem Park & Recreation District 

LOCATION: 1802 Haworth Avenue  TAX LOT: 3217CA-1200 

 FILE NO.:  CUP-16-001/DR2-16-001/ADJC-16-001 ORDER: 2016-20 

 CRITERIA: Newberg Development Code Sections 15.225.060, 15.220.050(B), 15.210.020(C). 

 

VI. LEGISLATIVE PUBLIC HEARING (complete registration form to give testimony - 5 minute 

maximum per person, unless otherwise set by majority motion of the Planning Commission)  

  

1. Recreational Marijuana Wholesalers, Laboratories, Research Certificates and Retailers:  

Consider a proposal to amend the Newberg Development Code Chapter 15.05.030 Definitions; 

15.305 Zoning Use Tables; 15.342.110 Stream Corridor Overlay; 15.350.030 Civic Corridor 

Overlay; 15.356.050 Bypass Interchange Overlay; and 15.358.030 and 15.358.050 Interim Industrial 

overlay for regulations on recreational marijuana wholesalers, laboratories, research certificates and 

retailers as either permitted, conditional or prohibited uses.   

FILE NO.: DCA-16-001  RESOLUTION NO.: 2016-314 

  

VII. NEW BUSINESS: Presentation of the draft Economic Development Strategy 

 

VIII. ITEMS FROM STAFF 

1. Update on Council items 

2. Other reports, letters or correspondence  

1 of 460 



 

 
City of Newberg: Planning Commission Agenda (April 14, 2016) Page 2 of 2 

3. Next Planning Commission meeting: May 12, 2016 

 

IX. ITEMS FROM COMMISSIONERS 

 

X. ADJOURNMENT 

 
FOR QUESTIONS, PLEASE STOP BY THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPT. AT 414 E. FIRST STREET, OR CALL 503-537-1240 

 
ACCOMMODATION OF PHYSICAL IMPAIRMENTS: In order to accommodate persons with physical impairments, please notify the Community 

Development Department Office Assistant II of any special physical or language accommodations you may need as far in advance of the meeting as 

possible as and no later than 48 business hours prior to the meeting.  To request these arrangements, please contact the Office Assistant at (503) 

537-124083. For TTY services please dial 711. 

2 of 460 



 

 
City of Newberg: Planning Commission Minutes (February 25, 2016)  Page 1 of 4 

NEWBERG PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES 

February 25, 2016, 7:00 PM 

PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING (401 E. THIRD STREET) 
 

 

 Chair Allyn Edwards called the meeting to order at 7: 00 p.m.  

 

ROLL CALL 
Members Present: Patrick Johnson Jason Dale     

 Philip Smith                         Allyn Edwards, Chair 

             Luis Saavedra, Student        Cathy Stuhr                                            

    

Members Absent: Gary Bliss    

 

Staff Present: Doug Rux, Community Development Director 

 Bobbie Morgan, Planning Secretary  

   

   

PUBLIC COMMENTS:   

None 

 

CONSENT CALENDAR:   

None 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 

 

1. Development Code Amendment – Recreational Marijuana Producers and Processors. 

File No. DCA-15-003, Planning Commission Resolution No. 2016-313 

 

Chair Allyn Edwards asked if any Commissioner had a conflict of interest to declare. There was none. 

 

Community Development Director Doug Rux gave a PowerPoint presentation regarding recreation marijuana 

producers and processors. The marijuana subcommittee recommended recreational producers be a conditional 

use indoors in R1, R2, and their subdistricts and prohibited indoors and outdoors in R3, AR, RP, SD, MMR, and 

their subdistricts. Producers would be permitted indoors in M1, M2, M3, M4, M1SP, SD/E, and I/I. It would be 

conditional outdoor use in M1, M2, M3, M4, M1SP, SD/E, and I/I. For processors, the subcommittee 

recommended permitting indoors in the M1, M2, M3, M4, and SD/E. Processors would be prohibited in 

residential, commercial, community facility, institutional, and miscellaneous districts. There would be definitions 

added to the Code for recreational producer and processor. This was not about whether marijuana should be legal 

or not, did not address medical marijuana, and did not address recreational marijuana wholesalers, laboratories, 

research certificates, or retailers. He gave a background on Measure 91, the marijuana subcommittee 

recommendations, and OLCC administrative rules. OLCC would start issuing licenses for producers and 

processors in the second quarter of 2016. The City was trying to complete the local review before April 1. Public 

notice had been given about these recommended changes to the Development Code. No written comments had 

been received. He explained cities could regulate place, time, and manner for recreational marijuana producers 

and processors. The OLCC had a requirement that a local jurisdiction had to sign off on a land use compatibility 

statement. OLCC would not issue a license for a producer or processor if they were on federal property, same 

location or address as a medical marijuana grow site, processing site, or dispensary, same location or address as 

a liquor licensee, on public land, and a producer could not be on the same lot or parcel as another producer. 

Processors with an endorsement for mechanical or chemical extracts were not allowed in areas that were 

exclusively residential. There was a question about what exclusively meant, as Newberg did not have any 

3 of 460 



 

 
City of Newberg: Planning Commission Minutes (February 25, 2016)  Page 2 of 4 

exclusively residential land that only allowed housing and no other uses. There were indoor and outdoor 

producers. Indoor producers used artificial grow lights. Outdoor producers had to have an eight foot tall wall or 

fence so the public could not see it, however the Code said they could not have an eight foot tall fence at the 

property line and would have to go in five feet of the property. Marijuana was a crop for farming practices, but 

they could not sell it from a farm stand. Medical marijuana grow sites could opt into being recreational producers. 

There were no time limit regulations, but there were many manner regulations regarding security, signs, and 

where the public could and could not be.  

 

There was discussion regarding what groups could sell to each other and where the public was allowed. 

 

CDD Doug Rux continued by discussing the grow canopy limits. Grow canopies were measured by the outside 

perimeter of the space the mature plants were occupying. There had to be a ten foot space between grow canopies 

and there could be multiple grow canopies at the same site. Processors could do edibles, topicals, concentrates, 

and extracts and required an endorsement from OLCC. All marijuana products had to be tested. The regulations 

for edibles were through the Department of Agriculture, and edible processing could not be done in restaurants. 

Several edible processors could use the same location, only at different times. He explained the requirements for 

concentrates, extracts, and topicals. Processing had to be done indoors. The subcommittee recommended 

processors to be permitted in industrial zones M1, M2, M3, M4, and SD/E and prohibited in Airport Industrial 

and Airport Industrial Overlay. Processors could not be in residential, commercial, community facility, 

institutional, miscellaneous districts, and their subdistricts. For producers, they would be conditional use indoors 

in residential and residential subdistricts. They were prohibited in commercial, community facility, institutional, 

and their subdistricts and permitted indoors in the M1, M2, M3, M4, SD/E, SP, and I/I. They were conditional 

use outdoors in the industrial districts, prohibited in the AI and AI Overlay, historic, stream corridors, and bypass 

interchange subdistricts. At the time the marijuana subcommittee was doing its review, there was some language 

in the Administrative Rule that talked about premises. There was a question about producers in residential areas 

and he asked OLCC to clarify. OLCC said they would not issue a license for any use in a location within a primary 

residence. The subcommittee had recommended producers be conditional uses in the R1 and R2, but it could not 

be in a primary residence but in an accessory structure to be considered indoors and had to have electrical lighting. 

He explained the definition of marijuana processor and producer. A table had been created for the subdistricts 

explaining what was prohibited and what was allowed. He clarified the typo on Attachment 2 and discussed the 

added provisions that prohibited marijuana uses in the stream corridor overlay, civic corridor, bypass interchange 

overlay, and interim industrial overlay subdistricts. He then discussed the findings. If a local jurisdiction banned 

one or more of the categories, they would not be able to share in the State revenues from marijuana taxes. Staff 

recommended adoption of the resolution. 

 

MOTION:  PC Philip Smith/PC Jason Dale moved to adopt Resolution No. 2016-313.  

 

PC Cathy Stuhr was concerned about allowing processors and producers in residential districts. 

 

PC Philip Smith said they would not be in homes, but in accessory dwellings. 

 

PC Patrick Johnson said those growing it on their property would get a double use out of the property. He was 

concerned about safety and having it in a neighborhood. He thought putting it in an industrial zone made sense, 

but did not think it would be fair to only allow it in industrial zones. 

 

Chair Allyn Edwards commented that it was a conditional use in residential zones, and people would have to 

come before the Planning Commission to present their case. 

 

There was no public comment. 

 

Chair Allyn Edwards closed the public comment portion of the meeting. 

4 of 460 



 

 
City of Newberg: Planning Commission Minutes (February 25, 2016)  Page 3 of 4 

PC Jason Dale thought the way it was written was good as there were many rules to follow to keep the safety in 

the neighborhood. He was in favor with keeping it in the R1 and R2 zones. 

 

Student Lois Saavedra asked about the eight foot fence requirement. CDD Rux responded that was required for 

an outdoor producer operation. 

  

PC Philip Smith said that was the State law to have an eight foot wall or fence for an outdoor grow. 

  

PC Jason Dale asked if they could come back later and change the regulations if it became a problem in the 

residential zones. CDD Rux replied it would require another Development Code amendment and operations 

already in place would be grandfathered in. 

 

PC Cathy Stuhr asked what kind of review conditional uses had. CDD Rux responded conditional uses always 

came to the Planning Commission. He explained the process a person had to go through if they wanted to use an 

accessory structure for an indoor marijuana production facility. 

 

PC Cathy Stuhr asked if the Commission wanted to deal with angry neighbors on these applications, and had to 

tell them that if it met the criteria, they had to approve the conditional use. 

 

AMENDMENT TO THE MOTION:  PC Cathy Stuhr/PC Patrick Johnson moved to amend the motion to 

remove the conditional use and prohibit producers and processors in the R1 and R2 districts.  

 

PC Philip Smith thought this was a clean amendment and would avoid problems in the residential districts. It 

could be amended at a later date. 

 

PC Jason Dale concurred that it was easier to go back and amend the Code to allow it rather than to prohibit it at 

a later time. 

 

PC Patrick Johnson said this was a livability issue for neighborhoods. If there was a challenge, he would be open 

to hearing it. 

 

Chair Allyn Edwards asked for clarification on the difference between R1 and R2 zones. CDD Doug Rux 

explained how it was based on the lot size. 

 

Vote on the Amendment:  Motion carried (5 Yes/ 0 No). 

 

Vote on the Motion:  Motion carried (5 Yes/ 0 No). 

 

ITEMS FROM STAFF:   
1. Update on Council items 

CDD Doug Rux gave an update on the bypass and Wilsonville Road. There had been discussion to have 

Wilsonville Road aligned with Highway 219 south of Wynooski Road. Wilsonville Road would be left 

as it was until the realignment was constructed and would be open with a median in Springbrook Road 

to limit the Wilsonville Road connection to a right in, right out. When the realignment was done, 

Wilsonville Road would be turned into a cul-de-sac with a length appropriate to serve the properties. 

The parties had verbally indicated their agreement, and a written agreement was being drafted.  

  

There was discussion regarding how this was an important example that tough land use livability issues 

could be resolved without litigation. There was further discussion regarding the turn lanes going 

southbound and northbound onto the bypass, Highway 219, and Wynooski during construction.  

5 of 460 



 

 
City of Newberg: Planning Commission Minutes (February 25, 2016)  Page 4 of 4 

  

2. Other reports, letters or correspondence:  None 

 

3. Next Planning Commission meeting:  March 10, 2016, 7:00 PM 

 

ITEMS FROM COMMISSIONERS:  None 

 

 

Chair Allyn Edwards adjourned the meeting at 8:17 p.m.  

 

Approved by the Newberg Planning Commission this ____ day of ___________, 2016. 
 

 

____________________________________  _____________________________ 

 

Allyn Edwards, Planning Commission Chair              Bobbie Morgan, Office Assistant II               

 

 

6 of 460 



 

 
City of Newberg: Planning Commission Minutes (March 10, 2016)  Page 1 of 4 

NEWBERG PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES 

March 10, 2016, 7:00 PM 

PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING (401 E. THIRD STREET) 
 

 

Chair Allyn Edwards called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.  

 

Chair Edwards welcomed new Planning Commissioner Ron Wolfe. 

 

ROLL CALL 
Members Present: Allyn Edwards, Chair                      Jason Dale     

 Philip Smith                          Luis Saavedra, Student   

 Cathy Stuhr                           Patrick Johnson 

 Ron Wolfe     

 

Members Absent: Gary Bliss    

 

Staff Present: Doug Rux, Community Development Director 

 Bobbie Morgan, Planning Secretary  

 Jessica Pelz, Associate Planner  

   

PUBLIC COMMENTS:   

 

None 

 

CONSENT CALENDAR:   

Approval of the February 11, 2016 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 

 

MOTION:  PC Philip Smith/PC Patrick Johnson moved to approve the February 11, 2016, Planning 

Commission Minutes. Motion carried (6 Yes/ 0 No). 

 

QUASI-JUDICIAL PUBLIC HEARING: 

1. REQUEST: Annexation of 2.29 acres of property into Newberg city limits. 

APPLICANT: J. William Rourke, Jr. & Myrlene J. Rourke LOCATION: Directly north of the current 

Newberg city limits on the east side of College Street/Highway 219, 4016 N. College Street TAX LOT: 

3208-2900 FILE NO.: ANX-14-002 RESOLUTION NO.: 2016-316 CRITERIA: Newberg 

Development Code Sections 15.250.030 & 15.250.030 

 

Chair Allyn Edwards opened the public hearing at 7:02 p.m. and read the quasi-judicial hearing statement. 

 

Call for Abstentions, Bias, Ex Parte Contact, and Objections to Jurisdiction:  

PC Philip Smith was sitting by Bill Rourke at a baseball game and he mentioned he would be coming to the 

Planning Commission to discuss an annexation. That was as far as the conversation went. 

 

PC Patrick Johnson said the water pump station mentioned in the staff report served his house. 

 

Staff Report:  Associate Planner Jessica Pelz gave a PowerPoint presentation. This was a request to annex 2.29 

acres into Newberg and change the zoning from Yamhill County low density residential one acre minimum to 

Newberg R-1. The Comprehensive Plan designation was low density residential which was consistent with the 

R-1 zoning. It was located 4016 N College Street directly north of Newberg city limits on the east side of College 

Street/Highway 219. She explained the subject site and gave a summary of the criteria. The property was in the 

7 of 460 



 

 
City of Newberg: Planning Commission Minutes (March 10, 2016)  Page 2 of 4 

UGB and was contiguous to Newberg city limits along the southern boundary. Staff recommended adding a 

condition for the applicant to revise the legal description of the property to include the area to the center line of 

the right-of-way. This would provide continuity of the city limits so if the properties across the right-of-way 

wanted to annex they were contiguous. The proposal complied with the Comprehensive Plan designation and an 

adequate level of services was available within three years. Staff asked the applicant to review the pump station 

to see what upgrades might be necessary to serve this future development and North Valley Friends Church and 

Veritas School. The applicant hired AKS Engineering to do an analysis and determined what upgrades were 

needed and a cost estimate. After reviewing it, staff was confident that service could be made available. There 

was a sewer line that ran across the property that had adequate capacity. Future development of the property 

would require right-of-way dedication along Highway 219 and College Street and would require street 

improvements. Police, fire, parks, and school services were available. The proposal was consistent with the 

Comprehensive Plan, Development Code, and Transportation Planning Rule. Currently there was a single family 

residence on the property. Staff recommended approval of the resolution. 

 

Public Testimony: 

Proponents: 

Bill Rourke, applicant, had lived in Newberg for 51 years and built the house that was currently on the property. 

At that time there were many fields and orchards that separated the property from the City, but he knew the City 

would be expanding in his direction. A subdivision went in contiguous to his property and he moved to a 

retirement community in 2010. In 2014 he began the process of applying for annexation and hoped to use the 

resources from the property to supplement his retirement income. He was working with a local developer to 

develop the site. The property was in the Urban Growth Boundary and contiguous with the City on the southern 

border. Also in 2014 he granted an easement across the property for water and sewer to North Valley Friends 

Church and Veritas School. Because part of the site was at a 300 foot elevation, the pump station needed to be 

utilized to supply the water. AKS Engineering was hired to evaluate the pump station and in the report it described 

the upgrades needed to supply water to his development. The application met all of the requirements in the Code 

and he requested the Commission recommend approval to the Council. He would like to put the annexation on 

the November ballot. 

 

Opponents and Undecided: 

None 

 

Staff Summary of written testimony: 

AP Jessica Pelz read written testimony that had been recently received. It was from Robert Soppe who thought 

one of the criteria had not been met, availability of police, fire, parks, and schools. He thought the staff report 

was incomplete and the Commission needed more information before making the decision on this application.  

 

AP Jessica Pelz clarified the City used to do a calculation for the level of public safety and annexed properties. 

She thought it was too simplistic to say single family homes would generate revenue for more police officers. 

That was an equity based analysis where multi-family might not generate revenue, and did that mean it should 

not be brought into the City. A more appropriate place for the analysis was at the Urban Growth Boundary level 

looking out 20 years. The City had stopped doing those kinds of findings and did a more simple finding that there 

was police and fire services. 

 

Community Development Director Doug Rux agreed that the analysis was better for the Urban Growth Boundary 

process where you look at whether it was a positive or a negative to the General Fund and other taxing districts. 

If it was a negative, the land use pattern could be reanalyzed to balance it out. He explained the different values 

for the type of land and assessed value vs. real market value. Schools only received a portion of their funding 

from property taxes. Staff had talked with the School District about future growth and possible need for additional 

facilities, but the School District said they had enough capacity to accommodate what was anticipated in the next 

8 of 460 



 

 
City of Newberg: Planning Commission Minutes (March 10, 2016)  Page 3 of 4 

five years. The City sent out notices to all the organizations to get their feedback. If the organizations did not 

comment, staff took that as there was no issue. If there was a concern, it would be in the staff report. 

 

PC Philip Smith said the Planning Commission’s decisions did have an effect on the City’s budget, but it was 

getting the right balance in the larger picture not looking at a single piece. AP Jessica Pelz responded the decision 

was when property was placed in the Urban Growth Boundary for what was needed. 

 

PC Patrick Johnson asked if this was like calculating an ROI for each annexation? CDD Doug Rux responded 

yes, but it did not give the full picture. It was only a snapshot of one development at a point in time.  

 

PC Patrick Johnson said they were a community and there needed to be a balance of housing options and fiscal 

impact. It was a regularity across the state when the fire, police, or schools had no comment. 

 

Close of public testimony:  Chair Allyn Edwards closed testimony at 7:33PM 

 

Final comments from staff: 

AP Jessica Pelz said staff recommended the Planning Commission adopt the resolution. 

 

Deliberation of commission: 

 

MOTION:  PC Cathy Stuhr/PC Jason Dale moved to approve Resolution No. 2016-316.  

 

PC Philip Smith thought this was an easy decision. 

 

PC Cathy Stuhr said since PC Ron Wolfe had not been sworn in, could he vote on this issue? CDD Doug Rux 

said it was not a requirement that PC Ron Wolfe be sworn in. 

 

PC Patrick Johnson had a concern regarding speeding that was occurring after Foothills Drive over the hill. He 

was concerned about the access to this parcel at the point where there was speeding.  

 

Motion carried (6 Yes/ 0 No).  

 

ITEMS FROM STAFF:   
1. Update on Council items 

CDD Doug Rux gave an update on Council items including the Agreement of Understanding for the 

Bypass, Intergovernmental Agreement between the City and Tualatin Valley Fire and Rescue, approval 

of the water rates and stormwater rates and remand to the CRRC for the sewer rates, and revised 

materials for the Bypass/Wilsonville Road realignment.  

 

AP Jessica Pelz gave an update on the Urban Growth Boundary amendment process where a community 

vision, buildable lands inventory, new study boundary area, and action plan would be done. 

 

CDD Doug Rux said the next community visioning workshop for the Newberg Downtown Improvement 

Plan would be held on March 15. The historic grant RFP to do additional survey work in the downtown 

area would soon be awarded. The Economic Development Strategy process was almost complete. 

 

PC Cathy Stuhr asked for an update on the bill regarding voter approved annexations. CDD Doug Rux 

said the bill was passed and that if there was a City Charter provision for annexations requiring a vote, it 

was no longer required. Staff would be meeting with legal counsel to get further guidance. It was a 

provision in the Newberg’s Charter to require voter annexations. 

9 of 460 



 

 
City of Newberg: Planning Commission Minutes (March 10, 2016)  Page 4 of 4 

2. Other reports, letters or correspondence: none 

 

3. Next Planning Commission meeting:  April 14, 2016  

 

ITEMS FROM COMMISSIONERS:   

 

None 

 

Chair Allyn Edwards adjourned the meeting at 7:49 p.m.  

 

Approved by the Newberg Planning Commission this ____ day of ___________, 2016. 
 

 

 

____________________________________  _____________________________ 

 

Allyn Edwards, Planning Commission Chair              Bobbie Morgan, Planning Secretary 

10 of 460 



 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

Community Development Department 
P.O. Box 970 ▪ 414 E First Street ▪ Newberg, Oregon 97132 

503-537-1240 ▪ Fax 503-537-1272 ▪ www.newbergoregon.gov 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION STAFF REPORT 

CHEHALEM AQUATIC & FITNESS CENTER  

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT/DESIGN REVIEW/CODE ADJUSTMENT  
  

HEARING DATE: April 14, 2016 

FILE NO:  CUP-16-001/DR2-16-001/ADJC-16-001 

REQUEST: Conditional use permit/design review/code adjustment request to approve the 

remodel and expansion of the Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center, and a 

code adjustment to reduce the amount of required parking.  

LOCATION: 1802 Haworth Avenue 

TAX LOT: 3217CA-1200 

APPLICANT/OWNER: Chehalem Park & Recreation District (CPRD) 

ZONE: R-1 (low density residential)  

PLAN DISTRICT: P (parks) and LDR (low density residential) 

OVERLAYS: none 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Order 2016-20 with 

 Exhibit “A”:  Findings 

 Exhibit “B”:  Conditions 

1. Aerial Photo 

2. Zoning map 

3. Site Plan 

4. Public Comments 

5. Application 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11 of 460 



 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

LOCATION: 

  

 
 

 

 

A. DESCRIPTION OF APPLICATION:   A Conditional Use Permit application to expand a 

Community Service Facility in an R-1 (low density residential) zone; a Design Review 

application to construct a 40,390 square foot aquatics facility with two pools, to remodel the 

existing facility into a gym, to expand the parking on the site, and rebuild the existing park 

area; a Code Adjustment application to reduce the amount of required parking from 197 

spaces to 143 spaces in order to preserve trees and park space on the site. 

B. SITE INFORMATION: 

1. Location:  1802 Haworth Avenue 

2. Size:  5.4 acres 

3. Topography: Slight slope to the south east 

4. Current Land Uses:  Existing CPRD pool facility 

5. Natural Features: Many mature trees on the northeast part of the site 

12 of 460 



 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

6. Adjacent Land Uses: 

a. North: Primarily single-family homes, with a health clinic 

b. East: Single-family homes 

c. South: Primarily an assisted living facility, with some single-family homes 

d. West: Single-family homes  

7. Access and Transportation:  The site takes access from Haworth Avenue, and also has 

some frontage on Villa Road and Cherry Street. Villa Road and Haworth Avenue are 

major collectors under the jurisdiction of the City. Cherry Street is a local city street. 

8. Utilities: 

a. Wastewater:  There is a 10-inch public wastewater line along Haworth Avenue 

that could be used for the site.  There is an 8-inch public wastewater line along 

Sitka Avenue that could be extended into Cherry Street. 

b. Water: There is a 6-inch public water line on Sitka Avenue and an 8-inch 

public water line on Haworth Avenue that could be used to serve the site. 

c. Stormwater:  There is a 12-inch public stormwater line on Haworth Avenue 

that could be extended to serve the site.  There is a 10-inch public stormwater 

line on Sitka Avenue that could be extended into Cherry Street to serve the site. 

C. PROCESS:  The conditional use permit request is a Type III application and follows the 

procedures in Newberg Development Code 15.100.050.  The Planning Commission will hold 

a quasi-judicial hearing on the application.  The Commission is to make a decision on the 

application based on the criteria listed in the attached findings.  The Planning Commission’s 

decision is final unless appealed.  Important dates related to this application are as follows: 

1. 3/16/16: The Community Development Director deemed the application 

complete. 

2. 3/11/16: The applicant mailed notice to the property owners within 500 

feet of the site. 

3. 3/16/16: The applicant posted notice on the site. 

4. 3/30/16: The Newberg Graphic published notice of the Planning 

Commission hearing. 

5. 4/14/16: The Planning Commission will hold a quasi-judicial hearing to 

consider the application. 

 

D. CRITERIA:  The Planning staff has determined that the following criteria apply to the 

subject proposal. Some of the criteria are summarized; the full criteria are listed in the 

13 of 460 



 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

Findings section:   

NDC 15.225.060 General conditional use permit criteria – Type III: 

A conditional use permit may be granted through a Type III procedure only if the proposal 

conforms to all the following criteria: 

 

A. The location, size, design and operating characteristics of the proposed 

development are such that it can be made reasonably compatible with and have 

minimal impact on the livability or appropriate development of abutting properties 

and the surrounding neighborhood, with consideration to be given to harmony in 

scale, bulk, coverage and density; to the availability of public facilities and utilities; 

to the generation of traffic and the capacity of surrounding streets, and to any other 

relevant impact of the development. 

B. The location, design, and site planning of the proposed development will provide 

a convenient and functional living, working, shopping or civic environment, and 

will be as attractive as the nature of the use and its location and setting warrants. 

C. The proposed development will be consistent with this code. [Ord. 2451, 12-2-96. 

Code 2001 § 151.210.] 

 

NDC 15.220.050 (B) – Design Review Criteria (summarized): 

(1) Design compatibility.   

(2) Parking and on-site circulation.   

(3) Setbacks and general requirements.   

(4) Landscaping requirements.   

(5) Signs.   

(6) Manufactured home, mobile home and RV parks.   

(7) Zoning district compliance 

(8) Sub-district compliance.   

(9) Alternative circulation, roadway frontage improvements and utility 

 improvements 

(10) Traffic study improvements.   

 

 NDC 15.210.020 Type I adjustments and approval criteria. 

The director may authorize adjustments from the following requirements through a 

Type I procedure subject to the following: 

 

C. Dimensional Standards and Minimum Number of Off-Street Parking Spaces. 

1. The director may approve adjustments to the dimensional standards of off-

street parking spaces; standards for minimum number of off-street parking 

spaces; and required spaces to be used for compact cars excepting 

handicapped parking requirements. 

2. Approval Criteria. The director shall find that approval will provide 

adequate off-street parking in relation to user demands. The following 

factors may be considered in granting an adjustment: 

a. Special characteristics of users which indicate low demand for off-street 

parking (e.g., low income, elderly). 

b. Opportunities for joint use of nearby off-street parking facilities. 

c. Availability of public transit. 

14 of 460 



 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

d. Natural features of the site (topography, vegetation and drainage) which 

would be adversely affected by application of required parking standards. 

e. Possible conversion of the site to other uses in the future. 

f. No adjustment shall be greater than 25 percent of the requirement from 

which the exception is granted. 

 

 

 

E. AGENCY COMMENTS:  The application was routed to several public agencies for review 

and comment.  Comments and recommendations from city departments have been 

incorporated into the findings and conditions.  As of the writing of this report, the city 

received the following agency comments:  

1. PGE: Reviewed, no conflict. 

2. Newberg School District: Reviewed, no conflict.  

F. PUBLIC COMMENTS:   As of the writing of this report, the city has received three written 

comments on the application. The major issues are summarized below, and the comments are 

included in Attachment 4.   

1. Coordination with adjoining site to the south: Prestige Care owns the site south of 

the CPRD site, and submitted an email confirming that they do not object to the pool 

expansion project, and are working with CPRD on easement and right-of-way 

dedications.  

2. Newberg High School: The high school submitted a letter stating that they agree to 

allow the Chehalem Aquatic Center to use at least 20 parking spaces in the school’s 

south parking lot for overflow parking needs. 

3. Neighbor on Sitka Avenue: Shirley Cooper submitted a letter expressing concern that 

the playground and basketball court were too close to residential neighbors, that they 

would increase noise and negatively impact neighbors, and that some of the mature 

trees on site were potential hazards. She requested that the playground be moved west, 

that more tall trees close to the residential property lines be removed, and that buffer 

landscaping be added along the eastern edge of the park property. 

4. Other issues expressed verbally by citizens: Two citizens expressed support for the 

project but mentioned some concerns that should be addressed. 

a. Overflow parking on Sitka Avenue and other local streets currently occurs 

during events. 

b. Will the increased traffic trigger a need for a traffic signal at the Villa 

Road/Haworth Avenue intersection. 

c. Constructions impacts: How will overflow parking from construction workers 

be addressed. The workers on the GFU dorm project have made Villa Road 

difficult to drive down for several months. How will construction noise be 

15 of 460 



 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

addressed, and how will potential damage to local streets from trucks be 

addressed. How will the chlorine treatment equipment be removed (is there any 

danger from chlorine gas?) 

G. ANALYSIS:   

1. Parking adjustment:  The applicant has requested a reduction from 197 spaces to 143 

parking spaces, in order to minimize the number of trees which need to be removed on 

the site. They pointed out that the 197 spaces are a peak need, not an everyday need, 

and that there are steps they can take to reduce parking demand on-site. They plan to 

supply 10 additional bicycle parking spaces, and have arranged a shared parking 

agreement with Newberg High School for at least 20 spaces during peak times (major 

meets). The applicant can also apply to the city for permission to park along the 

Haworth Avenue street frontage during peak times (major meets, anticipated 4-5 times 

per year), which can supply 20 additional spaces. As part of the code adjustment 

analysis, it was determined that the site would need to have at least 148 parking spaces. 

A code adjustment cannot reduce the parking requirement by more than 25%. The 

parking requirement is 197 spaces, so if a 25% reduction is approved that would lower 

the parking requirement to 148 spaces. Reducing the parking to 143 spaces would 

require a 27% reduction, which is more than allowed.  

2. Traffic issues: The traffic study found that nearby intersections would continue to 

perform adequately, that there were no safety concerns, and did not recommend any 

transportation improvements.  

3. Compatibility: The applicant’s lighting plan meets the city light trespass limits along 

most of the property lines, but will need to be revised in the SW and NE corners to 

protect residential properties from light trespass. The applicant is adding landscape 

buffers along the west and south property lines, and has a park area buffering the 

eastern property line. The request to move the playground area to the west has some 

tradeoffs; while it would move the playground farther from residential properties, it 

would remove approximately 8 mature trees and put the playground near a busy 

parking lot. 

4. Right-of-way dedications: Haworth Avenue dips to the south on the western part of 

the site, but it does not appear that right-of-way was ever dedicated for part of the 

street. CPRD will dedicate right-of-way along the western part of Haworth Avenue so 

the right-of-way includes the public street and sidewalk. CPRD and Prestige Care (the 

property south of the pool site) will jointly dedicate public right-of-way to create a cul-

de-sac at the end of Cherry Street. The cul-de-sac will be constructed by CPRD, and 

will provide access to both sites. 

5. Construction impacts: The applicant will be required to provide parking on-site for 

contractors. Construction work is limited to between 7 AM and 7 PM, which will limit 

the impact of construction noise on neighbors. The applicant is required to repair any 

city infrastructure, including streets, which are damaged by construction activities. The 

applicant will be required to supply a decommissioning plan for the existing chlorine 

treatment equipment, and verify if the Oregon Dept. of Environmental Quality or 

16 of 460 



 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

Yamhill County Health Dept. have any requirements for the equipment.  

H. PRELIMINARY STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  The preliminary staff recommendation 

is made in the absence of public hearing testimony, and may be modified subsequent to the 

close of the public hearing.  At this writing, staff recommends the following motion: 

 Move to adopt Planning Commission Order 2016-20, which approves the requested 

conditional use permit/design review/code adjustment with the attached conditions. 

17 of 460 



 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

      PLANNING COMMISSION ORDER 2016-20 

 

 AN ORDER APPROVING CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT/DESIGN REVIEW/CODE 

ADJUSTMENT CUP-16-001/DR2-16-001/ADJC-16-001 FOR AN EXPANSION OF 

THE CHEHALEM AQUATIC AND FITNESS CENTER AT 1802 HAWORTH 

AVENUE, YAMHILL COUNTY TAX LOT 3217CA-1200  

RECITALS 

1. The Chehalem Park and Recreation District (CPRD) submitted an application for a 

conditional use permit/design review/code adjustment for an expansion of the Chehalem 

Aquatic and Fitness Center at 1802 Haworth Avenue, Yamhill County tax lot 3217CA-1200. 

2. After proper notice, the Newberg Planning Commission held a hearing on April 14, 2016, 

took public testimony, and deliberated on the application.   

3. The Newberg Planning Commission finds that the application meets the applicable criteria as 

conditioned and shown in the findings in Exhibit “A”. 

The Newberg Planning Commission orders as follows: 

1. Conditional Use Permit/Design Review/Code Adjustment Application CUP-16-001/DR2-16-

001/ADJC-16-001 is hereby approved, subject to the conditions contained in Exhibit “B”.  

Exhibit "B" is hereby adopted and by this reference incorporated. 

2. The findings shown in Exhibit “A” are hereby adopted.  Exhibit "A" is hereby adopted and by 

this reference incorporated. 

3. This order shall be effective April 29, 2016 unless appealed prior to that date. 

4. This order shall expire one year after the effective date above if the applicant does not obtain a 

building permit pursuant to this application by that time, unless an extension is granted per 

Newberg Development Code 15.225.100. 

Adopted by the Newberg Planning Commission this 14th day of April, 2016. 

        ATTEST: 

 

Planning Commission Chair     Planning Commission Secretary 

List of Exhibits: 

 Exhibit “A”: Findings  

 Exhibit “B”: Conditions 

18 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

Exhibit “A” to Planning Commission Order 2016-20 

Findings –File CUP-16-001/DR2-16-001/ADJC-16-001 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center 

I. Conditional Use Permit Criteria That Apply - Newberg Development Code 15.225.060. 

A. The location, size, design and operating characteristics of the proposed 

development are such that it can be made reasonably compatible with and have 

minimal impact on the livability or appropriate development of abutting properties 

and the surrounding neighborhood, with consideration to be given to harmony in 

scale, bulk, coverage and density; to the availability of public facilities and utilities; 

to the generation of traffic and the capacity of surrounding streets, and to any other 

relevant impact of the development. 

Finding:  The site is in the R-1 (low density residential) district, and contains an existing 21,280 

square foot aquatic center. It is owned and operated by the Chehalem Park & Recreation District 

(CPRD). This is a Community Service Facility use, which is a conditional use in the R-1 zone. The 

proposed expansion therefore requires a conditional use permit application, in addition to the design 

review application which is required for new buildings. The design review criteria will be addressed 

in a later section of the findings. The applicant has also applied for a code adjustment application to 

reduce the amount of required off-street parking from 197 spaces to 143 spaces. The code adjustment 

criteria will be addressed in a later section of the findings. 

The proposed aquatic and fitness center addition will include a 40,390 square foot building which 

will include a leisure pool, a competition pool, seating, locker rooms and event spaces. The proposal 

includes a 143 space parking lot, 45,000 square foot park area with basketball court and playground, 

new sidewalk and driveways off Haworth Avenue, and a new cul-de-sac and service drive off Cherry 

Street. The project will remove some mature trees on site, but will retain over 60 mature trees. 

Construction will be phased so the existing aquatic center can remain open while the addition is 

constructed. Once the addition is complete and depending on the funds available, the applicant 

intends to remodel the existing aquatic center into a gym (options include a full court gym, second 

floor running track, weight and fitness rooms, restrooms, staff offices, and a 2,200 square foot 

outdoor pool).  

The new addition will be 30 feet tall, which meets the R-1 height limit and is approximately one foot 

taller than the existing building. The new addition is setback far from Haworth Avenue and is in the 

center of the site, so it is separated from the residential properties west of the site by the existing 

building, and separated from the residential properties east of the site by a large park area. It is 

relatively close to the Prestige Care site to the south, who has indicated support for the project 

design. The building mass, scale and location are therefore reasonably compatible with surrounding 

development. 

The peak parking demand for the site is estimated to be 197 parking spaces during large events, 

based on the Lancaster Engineering parking study.  The applicant has applied for a code adjustment 

to reduce the amount of required off-street parking to 143 spaces. A code adjustment can reduce a 

requirement by a maximum of 25%. A 25% reduction of the 197-space requirement would lower the 

requirement to 148 spaces. So, if the parking code adjustment is approved then the site would need to 

19 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

have at least 148 off-street parking spaces, not 143 spaces as proposed. 

The applicant has applied for the parking code adjustment because building 197 parking spaces for 

the proposed project would require the removal of most of the mature trees and park area on the site. 

The applicant’s argument for the parking reduction is based on the observation that the peak demand 

only occurs occasionally during large meets (4-5 times per year), and that the applicant can take 

certain steps (traffic demand management) to address potential parking overflow onto nearby streets. 

The applicant has provided additional bicycle parking spaces, has arranged a shared-parking 

agreement with Newberg High School, and can apply to the City to use on-street parking along the 

Haworth Avenue frontage during large events. If the parking code adjustment is approved based on 

the traffic demand management steps then the proposed project’s parking will be considered to be 

compatible with the surrounding development. 

The applicant had Lancaster Engineering, a professional engineering firm, prepare a traffic impact 

study for the project. Traffic patterns and volumes were observed at key intersections near the site, 

sight distance and crash data were analyzed, and an operational analysis was performed to determine 

the impact of the project. All of the study intersections (Portland Road at Villa Road, Villa Road at 

Fulton Street, Villa Road at Haworth Avenue, and Haworth Avenue at Sitka Avenue) currently 

operate at an acceptable level of service, and will continue to operate acceptably with the addition of 

trips due to the new addition. No significant safety concerns were identified, and sight distance was 

found to be adequate, and would be improved by this project. Accordingly, the traffic engineer did 

not recommend any traffic mitigation improvements. 

Operating characteristics: The hours of operation are expected to remain essentially the same, and the 

number of employees is expected to double (from 5-15 staff on site to 10-30 staff, depending on 

schedules). No odor impacts are expected from the site. 

 

Light trespass: The applicant’s lighting plan shows that the fixtures will be shielded and will meet 

the light trespass standard (cannot exceed 0.5 foot-candles) along most of the property lines, except 

in the NE and SW corners. Submit a revised lighting plan that meets the 0.5 foot-candle light trespass 

standard along all of the property lines, including the NE and SW corners. 

A neighbor on Sitka Avenue, Shirley Cooper, submitted a letter expressing concern that the 

playground and basketball court were too close to residential neighbors, that they would increase 

noise and negatively impact neighbors, and that some of the mature trees on site were potential 

hazards. She requested that the playground be moved west, that more tall trees close to the residential 

property lines be removed, and that buffer landscaping be added along the eastern edge of the park 

property. 

The existing basketball court is approximately 200 feet from the east property line, and the proposed 

basketball court is approximately 100 feet from the east property line. The existing playground is 

over 200 feet from the east property line, and the proposed playground is approximately 50 feet from 

the east property line. The proposed playground could potentially be moved about 60 feet to the west. 

There would be tradeoffs, however. The move would require removing approximately 8 mature trees, 

and would place the playground next to a busy parking lot. The mature trees have value for the 

neighborhood and the community, so losing more of them would be a negative consequence for the 

livability of the area. Placing the playground close to a busy parking lot would raise safety concerns, 

20 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

since the playground will typically attract small children. Moving the playground 60 feet to the west 

would also do little to reduce noise impacts; noise decreases slowly with distance, and landscaping 

does not effectively block noise. The only design approach that effectively blocks noise is a masonry 

wall, which would be an expensive requirement and is not appropriate here. This site was already 

used as a public park with a playground and basketball court and has been for many years; the only 

significant difference is that the proposed playground and basketball court are closer to the eastern 

property line. These facilities are not right next to the property line, however; the basketball court is 

100 feet from the eastern property line, and the eastern edge of the playground is 50 feet from the 

eastern property line. The eastern property line has a chain-link fence on the CPRD side and wooden 

fences on the residential neighbors’ side, which does provide a visual block. The applicant is 

removing an old asphalt pad near the east property line (former basketball court), which will reduce 

potential noise issues from that spot. The applicant shall submit a revised landscape plan that adds a 

landscape buffer along the eastern property line, where there is room between the existing path and 

the fence, which will grow over time to provide additional visual buffering for the residential 

neighbors. The landscape buffer shall consist of deciduous trees (spaced 30 feet apart on center, with 

a minimum trunk diameter of 1.5 inches, an anticipated mature height of at least 20 feet and an 

anticipated mature spread of at least 15 feet).  

Arborist report/tree preservation: The applicant plans to retain over 60 mature trees on the site. Any 

trees the arborist deems hazardous (based on the health of the tree, not the distance to neighboring 

properties) should be removed, and any dead or broken branches should be removed. The arborist 

report Tree Care and Preservation Guidelines state that if some trees are to be preserved then there 

must be a qualified project arborist on-site or on-call for the entire project, especially during any 

excavation near the preserved trees. Submit a report from the project arborist verifying that any 

hazardous trees have been removed, broken or dead branches have been pruned, and that the Tree 

Care and Preservation guidelines have been followed; the arborist report is due before occupancy 

will be approved for the building. These conditions will make the development reasonably 

compatible with abutting properties.  

The applicant also moved the grass volleyball court from the southwest corner, which was next to 

residential properties, eastward so it would be farther from most residential properties. It will have a 

fence and evergreen hedge as a buffer. The outdoor pool, if built, will have a fence and 5 foot 

landscape buffer along the property line.  

Construction impacts: The applicant will be required to provide parking on-site for contractors to 

minimize on-street parking impacts. Construction work is limited to between 7 AM and 7 PM, which 

will limit the impact of construction noise on neighbors. The applicant is required to repair any city 

infrastructure, including streets, which are damaged by construction activities. The applicant will be 

required to supply a decommissioning plan for the existing chlorine treatment equipment, and verify 

if the Oregon Dept. of Environmental Quality or Yamhill County Health Dept. have any 

requirements for the equipment. 

The location, size, design and operating characteristics of the proposed development are therefore 

such that, as conditioned, it can be made reasonably compatible with and have minimal impact on the 

livability or appropriate development of abutting properties and the surrounding neighborhood.  

 
 

21 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

B. The location, design, and site planning of the proposed development will provide a 

convenient and functional living, working, shopping or civic environment, and will 

be as attractive as the nature of the use and its location and setting warrants. 

 

Finding: The location is near the center of the city, and is a convenient location for most of its users. 

It is also in a walkable residential neighborhood and within biking distance of the high school, so 

some users will not need to drive to the facility. The site has been designed to be as functional and 

space-efficient as possible, in order to minimize the loss of mature trees and park space, and be 

compatible with neighboring properties. The final site design adds significant number of trees in the 

parking areas and buffer areas, which will soften the appearance of the large parking area. The 

building has been designed to match the existing building in scale, and has a modern, attractive 

design. 

 

The proposal therefore meets this criterion because the location, design and site planning will 

provide a convenient and functional park/recreation center environment, and will be as attractive as 

the nature of the use and its location and setting warrants. 
 

C. The proposed development will be consistent with this code. 

 

Finding: The design review findings below review the development code standards that apply to this 

project. As conditioned, the proposed development will be consistent with the development code. 

 

II. Design Review Criteria That Apply - Newberg Development Code 15.220.050(B): 
 

(1) Design compatibility.  The proposed design review request incorporates an architectural 

design which is compatible with and/or superior to existing or proposed uses and 

structures in the surrounding area.  This shall include, but not be limited to, building 

architecture, materials, colors, roof design, landscape design, and signage. 
 

Finding:  The proposed aquatic and fitness center addition will include a 40,390 square foot building 

which will have a leisure pool, a competition pool, seating, locker rooms and event spaces. The 

proposal includes a 143 space parking lot, 45,000 square foot park area with basketball court and 

playground, new sidewalk and driveways off Haworth Avenue, and a new cul-de-sac and service 

drive off Cherry Street. The project will remove many mature trees on site, but will retain over 60 

mature trees. Construction will be phased so the existing aquatic center can remain open while the 

addition is constructed. Once the addition is complete and depending on the funds available, the 

applicant intends to remodel the existing aquatic center into a gym (options include a full court gym, 

second floor running track, weight and fitness rooms, restrooms, staff offices, and a 2,200 square foot 

outdoor pool). 

  

The new addition will be 30 feet tall, which meets the R-1 height limit and is approximately one foot 

taller than the existing building. The new addition is setback over 160 feet from Haworth Avenue 

and is in the center of the site (from an east-west perspective), so it is separated from the residential 

properties west of the site by the existing building, and separated from the residential properties east 

of the site by a large park area. It is relatively close to the Prestige Care site to the south, who has 

indicated support for the project design. The addition has been designed to have a modern 

22 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

rectangular form, similar to the existing building. It will be constructed from ground face concrete 

block, metal panels, and cement stucco, with extensive window area facing north. Large window 

graphics (“swim” and “play”) will provide visual interest. The site will retain many existing mature 

trees in the northeast park area, and will add a large number of trees and landscape buffers on the 

remainder of the site. 

 

Light trespass: The applicant’s lighting plan shows that the fixtures will be shielded and will meet 

the light trespass standard (cannot exceed 0.5 foot-candles) along most of the property lines, except 

in the NE and SW corners. Submit a revised lighting plan that meets the 0.5 foot-candle light trespass 

standard along all of the property lines, including the NE and SW corners. 

Construction impacts: The applicant will be required to provide parking on-site for contractors to 

minimize on-street parking impacts. Construction work is limited to between 7 AM and 7 PM, which 

will limit the impact of construction noise on neighbors. The applicant is required to repair any city 

infrastructure, including streets, which are damaged by construction activities. The applicant will be 

required to supply a decommissioning plan for the existing chlorine treatment equipment, and verify 

if the Oregon Dept. of Environmental Quality or Yamhill County Health Dept. have any 

requirements for the equipment. 

The overall design of the building addition and the site will be compatible with the existing pool 

building and the landscaping will make the design blend with surrounding properties.  

 

 

(2) Parking and On-Site Circulation. Parking areas shall meet the requirements of 

NMC 15.440.010. Parking studies may be required to determine if adequate parking and 

circulation are provided for uses not specifically identified in NMC 15.440.010. Provisions 

shall be made to provide efficient and adequate on-site circulation without using the 

public streets as part of the parking lot circulation pattern. Parking areas shall be designed 

so that vehicles can efficiently enter and exit the public streets with a minimum impact on 

the functioning of the public street. 

 

Finding: The parking lot has been designed so that vehicles can efficiently enter and exit the site 

with minimum impact on the function of the public street. The design does not rely on public streets 

as part of the parking lot circulation pattern. The Development Code does not have a specific parking 

requirement for a community recreation center like the proposed aquatics and fitness center. The 

applicant’s traffic engineer performed a parking study and concluded that the facility had a peak 

parking demand of 197 spaces. This was based on the Parking Generation Manual, fourth edition, 

published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers, which is accepted as an authoritative neutral 

source. The applicant’s proposed site plan includes 143 spaces, and they believe this is all the 

parking they can efficiently fit on the site without removing most of the remaining mature trees and 

the park. The applicant believes this amount of parking will be adequate except on the occasions 

when there are large swim meets (4-5 times per year), and has applied for a code adjustment to 

reduce the amount of required off-street parking. They have proposed some methods to reduce 

parking demand during peak events, such as swim meets. If the code adjustment is approved then the 

proposed project will be found to comply with the Development Code. 

The Fire Marshal commented that the project must meet all Fire Code standards. 

23 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

(3) Setbacks and General Requirements. The proposal shall comply with 

NMC 15.415.010 through15.415.060 dealing with height restrictions and public access; 

and NMC 15.405.010 through15.405.040 and 15.410.010 through 15.410.070 dealing with 

setbacks, coverage, vision clearance, and yard requirements. 

 

Finding: The R-1 zone limits the building height to 30 feet, does not have a lot coverage limit for 

institutional uses, requires a 25 foot setback for buildings from all property lines, a 15 foot front yard 

setback for parking, and a 5 foot interior yard setback. The proposed building does not exceed the 30 

foot height limit, and projects meets the required setbacks. The project meets vision clearance 

standards at the driveways. The site has public access from Haworth Avenue and Cherry Street. 

Following compliance with design review conditions, the proposed project will meet the height 

restrictions and public access requirements, setback, coverage, vision clearance and yard 

requirements of the Code. 

 

(4) Landscaping requirements.  The proposal shall comply with 15.420.010 dealing with 

landscape requirements and landscape screening. 

 

Finding: The landscaping plan shows that over 33% of the site will be landscaped, which exceeds 

the 15% minimum requirement. As noted in the conditional use permit finding, the applicant will be 

adding some landscaping on the eastern edge of the property. The applicant shall submit a revised 

landscape plan that adds a landscape buffer along the eastern property line, where there is room 

between the existing path and the fence, which will grow over time to provide additional visual 

buffering for the residential neighbors. The landscape buffer shall consist of deciduous trees (spaced 

30 feet apart on center, with a minimum trunk diameter of 1.5 inches, an anticipated mature height of 

at least 20 feet and an anticipated mature spread of at least 15 feet).  

As previously noted in the conditional use findings, the applicant plans to retain over 60 mature trees 

on the site. Any trees the arborist deems hazardous (based on the health of the tree, not the distance 

to neighboring properties) should be removed, and any dead or broken branches should be removed. 

The arborist report Tree Care and Preservation Guidelines state that if some trees are to be preserved 

then there must be a qualified project arborist on-site or on-call for the entire project, especially 

during any excavation near the preserved trees. Submit a report from the project arborist verifying 

that any hazardous trees have been removed, broken or dead branches have been pruned, and that the 

Tree Care and Preservation guidelines have been followed; the arborist report is due before 

occupancy will be approved for the building. 

 

The applicant has provided landscape buffers along the property lines and front yards as required by 

the Development Code, and has provided street trees and parking lot trees as required. As previously 

noted in the conditional use findings, additional landscaping shall be added along the east property 

line to provide an additional visual buffer. All areas subject to the final design review plan and not 

otherwise improved are landscaped.  Following compliance with the conditions of approval, the 

landscape plan and parking lot complies with 15.420.010.    

 

(5) Signs.  Signs shall comply with 15.435.010 et seq. dealing with signs. 

 

Finding: The large graphics on the building that say “play” and “swim” are allowed because they do 

24 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

not cover more than 50% of the window area. The two proposed major freestanding signs on the 

Haworth Avenue frontage are allowed because the site has over 600 feet of frontage, and the signs 

are both under 50 square feet. The short 2’9” sign is not required to be setback from the front 

property line. Submit a revised sign plan to the Planning Division for review and approval. The 7’6” 

sign needs to be moved back slightly so it is setback 10 feet from the front property line after the 

right-of-way dedication along Haworth Avenue. The electronic message center must be equipped 

with dimming technology that automatically varies the brightness of the display according to ambient 

light conditions. The major freestanding sign on the Villa Road frontage is allowed because it meets 

the required 5 foot setback, and is less than the 15 square feet maximum size for that frontage. The 

48-square foot attached wall sign on the building is allowed because it is less than 50 square feet in 

size. 

 

(6) Manufactured Dwelling, Mobile Home and RV Parks. Manufactured dwelling and mobile 

home parks shall also comply with the standards listed in 

NMC 15.445.075 through 15.445.100 in addition to the other clear and objective criteria 

listed in this section. RV parks also shall comply with NMC15.445.170 in addition to the 

other criteria listed in this section. 

 

Finding:  Not applicable - not a manufactured home, mobile home or RV park.  

 

(7) Zoning District Compliance. The proposed use shall be listed as a permitted or 

conditionally permitted use in the zoning district in which it is located as found in 

NMC 15.305.010 through15.336.020. Through this site review process, the director may 

make a determination that a use is determined to be similar to those listed in the applicable 

zoning district, if it is not already specifically listed. In this case, the director shall make a 

finding that the use shall not have any different or more detrimental effects upon the 

adjoining neighborhood area than those specifically listed. 

 

Finding:  The site is zoned R-1. The existing aquatic center is a Community Service Facility, which 

is allowed as a conditional use in R-1. The expansion of the facility therefore requires a conditional 

use permit, which the applicant has applied for as part of this application.   

 

(8) Sub-district compliance. Properties located within subdistricts shall comply with the 

provisions of those subdistricts located in NMC 15.340.010 through 15.348.060.  

 

Finding:  The site is not within a subdistrict.  

 

9) Alternative circulation, roadway frontage improvements and utility improvements.  Where 

applicable, new developments shall provide for access for vehicles and pedestrians to 

adjacent properties which are currently developed or will be developed in the future.  This 

may be accomplished through the provision of local public streets or private access and 

utility easements.  At the time of development of a parcel, provisions shall be made to 

develop the adjacent street frontage in accordance with city street standards and the 

standards contained in the transportation plan.  At the discretion of the city, these 

improvements may be deferred through use of a deferred improvement agreement or other 

form of security. 

25 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

 

 NDC 15.505.060 Street width and design standards (summarized). 

   

A.  All design streets shall conform with the standards contained in Table 15.505.060. 

C.  Bike Lanes.  Striped bike lanes shall be a minimum of five feet wide.  Bike lanes 

shall be provided where shown in the Newberg Transportation System Plan.   

G.  Sidewalks.  Sidewalks shall be provided on both sides of all public streets.  

Minimum width is five feet. 

H. Planter Strips.  Except where infeasible, a planter strip shall be provided between 

the sidewalk and the curb line.  This strip shall be landscaped in accordance with 

the standards in NMC 15.420.020.  Curb-side sidewalks may be allowed on limited 

residential streets. 

 

 

Findings:  

Right of way width on Haworth Avenue: The western Haworth Avenue frontage does not appear to 

be built in public right-of-way. The applicant is dedicating additional right-of-way along Haworth to 

conform to the existing public street improvements.  

 

Setback sidewalks: The applicant’s property has an existing curb-tight sidewalk along part of its 

Haworth Avenue frontage and the applicant is proposing to construct a curb-tight sidewalk along the 

remaining Haworth Avenue frontage and the Villa Road frontage.  NDC 15.505.060 requires setback 

sidewalks except where including a planter strip would be infeasible.  The City Engineer may allow 

curb-tight sidewalks to preserve major trees (PW Design and Construction Standards Section 5.14), 

however the applicant is proposing to remove a majority of the mature trees to provide adequate sight 

distance for the proposed east driveway.  The applicant must provide a revised site plan showing 

setback sidewalks with planter strips along the Haworth Avenue and Villa Road frontages when 

submitting the construction plans for review and approval. 

 

Sidewalk ramps: PW Design and Construction Standards (Section 5.14) states that new sidewalk 

intersections shall provide sidewalk ramps (for access) that meet the requirement of the Americans 

with Disabilities Act (ADA and that a retrofit of existing ramps within the project limit may be 

required. The applicant is proposing to upgrade the property’s current east driveway intersection and 

construct a second driveway to comply with ADA requirements.  The applicant is proposing to create 

a cul-de-sac in Cherry Street however ADA-compliant sidewalks are not shown on the site plan.  The 

applicant must provide a revised site plan showing ADA-compliant sidewalks on Cherry Street when 

construction plans are submitted to the City for review and approval. 

Bike lane: PW Design and Construction Standards (Section 5.14) states that applicants must comply 

with the specifications in the “Newberg ADA/Pedestrian/Bike Route Improvement Plan”. Haworth 

Avenue is a major collector and requires a 5-ft striped bike lane.  The applicant is proposing to create 

the 5-ft striped bike lane.  This requirement is met. 

Villa Road is a major collector and requires a 5-ft striped bike lane.  As conditioned, the applicant 

must coordinate with the City during the Villa Road Improvement Project to ensure that bike lanes 

along Villa Road are complete. 

26 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

Sight distance: PW Design and Construction Standards (Section 5.23) states that sight distances for 

intersections shall have a minimum intersection sight distance of 280 ft for a design speed of 25 mph. 

The traffic impact study indicated that the proposed east driveway would provide a sight distance of 

85 feet to the west and 475 feet to the east with the current landscape configuration.  The sight 

distance for the proposed west driveway was 355 feet to the west and 320 feet to the east.  The 

applicant is proposing to remove the existing trees that are minimizing the sight distance for the 

proposed eastern driveway and the proposed site plan indicates removal of the obstructing landscape. 

This requirement is met. 

 

Cul-de-sac:  The Development Code only allows cul-de-sacs in certain circumstances, such as when 

existing development precludes the extension of a street. The Prestige Care building and site 

development (on the site south of the CPRD site) effectively preclude the extension of Cherry Street 

through the site for future development, so a cul-de-sac at the end of Cherry Street is allowable. The 

cul-de-sac cannot be more than 400 feet long, cannot serve more than 18 single-family dwellings, 

and must have a circular end with a minimum diameter of 90 feet, curb to curb, with a minimum 103 

foot diameter right-of-way. PW Design and Construction Standards (Section 5.18) states that a 

standard cul-de-sac turnaround shall be provided at the end of a permanent dead-end street that does 

not provide looped circulation.  The applicant is proposing to upgrade the current dead-end street at 

Cherry Street and Sitka Avenue with a cul-de-sac to provide additional access to the proposed 

facility.  The cul-de-sac will not exceed 400 ft in length, will not serve more than 18 single-family 

dwellings, and has a circular end with a diameter of 96 feet curb to curb, with a 116 foot diameter 

right-of-way.   This requirement has been met.   

 

Right-of-way dedications: Submit draft right-of-way dedications to the City Engineer for review and 

approval for the Haworth Avenue frontage and the Cherry Street cul-de-sac (part by CPRD, part by 

Prestige Care). After approval, record the right-of-way dedications and return a copy of the recorded 

document to the City Engineer. 

Driveway spacing: The Development Code requires driveways on major collectors to be at least 100 

feet from intersecting streets, and requires at least 150 feet of frontage in order to have two 

driveways. The proposed development will move the existing western driveway to the east, farther 

from the Villa Road/Haworth Avenue intersection. This is a positive change for traffic flow. The site 

has over 600 feet of frontage, so two driveways are allowed on Haworth Avenue.  PW Design and 

Construction Standards (Section 5.16) states that, on major collector streets, the maximum number of 

driveways per site frontage is one unless it is found that no eminent traffic hazard would result and 

that impacts on traffic would be minimal.  The current site has two driveways and the applicant is 

proposing two driveways for the re-developed site.  The Traffic Impact Study submitted by the 

applicant shows a level of service of B for the driveways.  This requirement is met. 

 

Water criteria (summarized): Lots and parcels within the city must be served by the water 

system of the city as required by NDC 15.510.040 and NMC 13.15.045. 

Findings: PW Design and Construction Standards (Section 3.2.2) states that the minimum size for 

permanently dead-ended mains supplying fire hydrants with a fire flow less than 1,500 gpm and for 

primary feeder mains in residential subdivision is 8-inches.  The applicant is proposing to construct a 

27 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

6-inch public water line for the Cherry Street cul-de-sac which will be looped in the future with the 

8-inch public water line on Fulton Street.  The applicant must provide a revised utility plan showing 

an 8-inch public water line for the Cherry Street cul-de-sac and fire flow calculations showing that 

adequate pressures and flows will be available for the proposed redevelopment when submitting the 

construction plans for review and approval.  PW Design and Construction Standards (Section 3.2.4) 

states that wastewater lines must be 10 horizontal feet from water lines.  Stormwater lines and other 

utilities must be at least 3 horizontal feet from water lines.  The applicant is proposing to provide 

water from the proposed Cherry Street public water line to the expanded facility.  Based on the utility 

plan submitted by the applicant, the proposed water line does not meet the separation requirements.  

The applicant must submit a revised utility plan that provides the required separation distances 

between utility lines when submitting the construction plans for review and approval. 

PW Design and Construction Standards (Section 3.3.9) states that water services lines can be in the 

following diameters: 0.75”, 1”, 2”, 4”, 6”, 8”, 10”, and 12”. The applicant is proposing to use a 3” 

water service line to connect the expanded facility to the Cherry Street public water line.  The 

applicant must provide a revised utility plan that shows an approved line size for the water service 

line when submitting the construction plans for review and approval. 

PW Design and Constructions Standards (Section 3.1) states that water system design shall provide 

adequate flow for fire protection and ultimate water system demand. Section 3.3.5 of the Public 

Works Design and Construction Standards lists the requirements for hydrant locations and spacing.   

The locations and fire flows of hydrants near the site must comply with the requirements of the Fire 

Code and the PW Design and Construction Standards. 

Development Code section 15.430.010 requires that all new utility lines be installed underground. 

The utility plan must show that all new utility lines are installed underground. 

The Fire Marshal commented that the project must meet all Fire Code standards. 

 

Wastewater criteria (summarized):  Lots and parcels within the city must be served by the 

wastewater system of the city as required by NDC 15.510.050 and NMC 13.10.070. 

 

Finding:  PW Design and Construction Standards (Section 2.7) states that each individual building 

site shall be connected by a separate private building wastewater service line that is connected to the 

public wastewater system.  The applicant is proposing to connect to the 10-inch public wastewater 

line on Haworth Avenue and to extend wastewater service from Sitka Avenue to Cherry Street for 

use by the expanded facility.  The utility plan submitted by the applicant does not show a wastewater 

line size for the Cherry Street line.  The applicant must specify the size of the wastewater line being 

proposed for the Cherry Street cul-de-sac in a revised utility plan when submitting the construction 

plans for review and approval. 

 

Grading & stormwater criteria (summarized):  Grading shall be completed to minimize 

flooding as per NDC 15.510.060; stormwater facilities must be constructed to provide 

proper volume control and to comply with water quality as per NDC 510.060 and NMC 

13.25 

28 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

 

Findings: PW Design and Construction Standards (Section 4.1) states that approved points of 

discharge for stormwater may include but are not limited to a stormdrain, existing open channel, 

creek, LIDA facility, detention pond, or retention pond as approved by the City Engineer.  The utility 

plan submitted by the applicant does not show a discharge connection to the stormwater system for 

the rain garden on the south side of the expanded facility.  As a condition of approval, the applicant 

must provide a revised utility plan and a revised stormwater report for City review that incorporates 

the new connection to the stormwater system.   

 

PW Design and Construction Standards (Section 4.5) lists the required sections of the stormwater 

report which include but are not limited to a narrative, maps, calculations, downstream analysis, and 

a maintenance plan for private stormwater facilities.  The stormwater report submitted by the 

applicant did not provide the information required by the Section 4.5.  As a condition of approval, 

the applicant must submit a stormwater report for City review and approval that contains all of the 

information required by PWDCS Section 4.5 specifically, the hydrological calculations, hydraulic 

calculations, delineated sub-basins for the stormwater facilities, site contours, downstream analysis, 

analysis on the effectiveness of the proposed facilities to achieve the stormwater quality and quantity 

requirements, and a maintenance plan.   

PW Design and Construction Standards (Section 4.6.8) provides a hierarchy for the selection of 

stormwater facilities.  The applicant must provide an analysis and evaluation when moving down the 

hierarchy.  LIDA, which includes site planning and green infrastructure components, is the first 

facility type to be considered by an applicant.  The stormwater report submitted by the applicant 

concluded that the infiltration rates were too low for infiltration facilities and that flow-through 

facilities should be constructed at the site.  A review of the infiltration tests showed that infiltration 

may be possible at the site.  As a condition of approval, the applicant must complete infiltration tests 

in the six locations shown on the preliminary site plan as stormwater facilities.  Depths should be at 

the infiltration depth (between 2.5 and 3 feet) and located in the approximate middle of the planned 

facility.  As a condition of approval, the applicant must provide a revised stormwater report with the 

results of the new infiltration tests for City review and approval. 

 

The applicant is proposing to connect a pool underdrain system that collects groundwater and 

discharges it directly to the stormwater system.  As a condition of approval, the applicant must 

submit a revised stormwater report for City review and approval that includes the groundwater from 

the pool underdrain system in the hydrologic and hydraulic calculations required by Section 4 of the 

PW Design and Construction Standards. 

29 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

PW Design and Construction Standards (Section 4.9.1) states that developers creating less than 2,877 

square feet of impervious surface may use the LIDA Sizing Form, however projects creating more 

than 2,877 square feet of impervious area must be designed by a registered design professional in 

accordance with the PW Design and Construction Standards.  The impervious area for the 

redeveloped site is 142,000 square feet which exceeds the maximum impervious area allowed for 

using the SIM form.  As a condition of approval, the applicant must provide a revised stormwater 

report for City review and approval that includes engineering calculations to size the proposed 

stormwater facilities. 

Erosion control: The size of the project site in the application exceeds 1 acre.  The applicant must 

obtain a 1200-C permit from the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality and provide a copy of 

the approved permit and ESC plan, as required by PW Design and Construction Standards Section 

1.8.7, to the City for review when submitting the construction plans. 

NMC §13.25.190 requires that commercial or industrial operations or businesses not covered by a 

NPDES permit shall follow proper disposal and spill prevention practices.  As a condition of 

approval, the applicant must submit a plan for City review and approval that specifies the steps for 

draining the old pool into the wastewater system along with a timeframe and a requirement that the 

city will monitor Hess Creek and the wastewater system during the draining activity.  

 

(10) Traffic study improvements.  If a traffic study is required, improvements identified in the 

traffic study shall be implemented as required by the Director. 

 

Finding: The Development Code requires a traffic study for any project that generates more than 40 

trips per PM peak hour. The applicant had Lancaster Engineering, a professional engineering firm, 

prepare a traffic impact study for the project. Traffic patterns and volumes were observed at key 

intersections near the site, sight distance and crash data were analyzed, and an operational analysis 

was performed to determine the impact of the project. The aquatic center, upon completion, will 

generate approximately 136 trips in the PM peak hour. All of the study intersections (Portland Road 

at Villa Road, Villa Road at Fulton Street, Villa Road at Haworth Avenue, and Haworth Avenue at 

Sitka Avenue) currently operate at an acceptable level of service, and will continue to operate 

acceptably with the addition of trips due to the new addition. No significant safety concerns were 

identified, and sight distance was found to be adequate, and would be improved by this project. 

Accordingly, the traffic engineer did not recommend any traffic mitigation improvements. 

 

 

III.  CODE ADJUSTMENT: NDC 15.210.020 Type I adjustments and approval criteria. 

 

The director may authorize adjustments from the following requirements through a Type I 

procedure subject to the following: 

C. Dimensional Standards and Minimum Number of Off-Street Parking Spaces. 

1. The director may approve adjustments to the dimensional standards of off-

street parking spaces; standards for minimum number of off-street parking spaces; 

and required spaces to be used for compact cars excepting handicapped parking 

30 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

requirements. 

 

2. Approval Criteria. The director shall find that approval will provide adequate off-

street parking in relation to user demands. The following factors may be considered 

in granting an adjustment: 

a. Special characteristics of users which indicate low demand for off-street parking 

(e.g., low income, elderly). 

b. Opportunities for joint use of nearby off-street parking facilities. 

c. Availability of public transit. 

d. Natural features of the site (topography, vegetation and drainage) which would 

be adversely affected by application of required parking standards. 

e. Possible conversion of the site to other uses in the future. 

f. No adjustment shall be greater than 25 percent of the requirement from which 

the exception is granted. 

 

Finding: The applicant has requested a reduction in the amount of required off-street parking from 

197 spaces to 143 spaces, and believes that amount will be adequate in relation to user demands if 

some traffic demand management steps are taken.  

 

As noted previously in the design review findings, the peak parking demand is expected to be 197 

spaces. This peak demand is expected to occur 4-5 times per year during regional swim meets. The 

applicant believes 143 spaces will be adequate the remainder of the time. 

 

Number of spaces: The maximum code adjustment allowed is a 25% reduction. 25% of 197 spaces is 

49 spaces, so approval of a code adjustment could reduce the amount of required off-street parking to 

148 spaces. The applicant is proposing 143 spaces, so if the code adjustment is approved then the 

applicant will need to add 5 parking spaces somewhere on the site so there are at least 148 spaces. 

 

Special characteristics of users: Many of the children that use the facility are dropped off, and do not 

generate much demand for parking except at pick-up. Some of the users of the facility are nearby 

residents, high school students or George Fox University students that walk or run to the site. 

Newberg High School is half a mile from the Aquatic Center site. These factors would somewhat 

reduce the demand for on-site parking. 

 

Bicycle parking: The development code requires the proposal to include at least 8 bicycle parking 

spaces, and the applicant has proposed building 10 bicycle parking spaces. The applicant is 

proposing to reduce automobile parking demand on the site by encouraging people to bike to the 

aquatic center. The applicant must add at least 10 additional bicycle parking spaces to provide 

enough bicycle parking spaces to encourage users to bike to the site. This step could reduce the 

parking demand by approximately 10 parking spaces. 

 

Shared parking agreement: The applicant has a shared parking agreement with Newberg High 

School. The high school submitted a letter stating that they agree to allow the Chehalem Aquatic 

Center to use at least 20 parking spaces in the school’s south parking lot for overflow parking needs. 

 

On-street parking: Haworth Avenue is a major collector street, which requires bike lanes. The 

31 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

applicant will add striping for bike lanes along their Haworth Avenue frontage, which will remove 

on-street parking along that frontage. The City Engineer will allow the applicant to apply for 

temporary on-street parking approval during major facility events (expected to be 4-5 times per year) 

to provide parking to event participants along the south side of Haworth Avenue.  Parking in the bike 

lane would not be available at other times of the year. This step would provide approximately 20 

additional parking spaces during peak periods.  

 

Retaining natural features on-site: The existing site has many mature trees, and the applicant has tried 

to preserve as many as possible due to strong public demand to save the trees. If the applicant had to 

provide 49 additional parking spaces on the site then nearly all of the mature trees would need to be 

removed. Approving the code adjustment would help retain natural features on the site. 

 

Approval of a code adjustment to reduce the amount of off-street parking from 197 spaces to 148 

spaces will provide adequate off-street parking in relation to user demands as conditioned. The 

applicant must submit a revised site plan that provides at least 148 parking spaces on site and adds at 

least 10 additional bicycle parking spaces. During peak events, the applicant must make use of the 

shared parking agreement with the high school, and must apply to the City Engineer for on-street 

parking approval along the Haworth Avenue frontage.  

 

 

IV. CONCLUSION: 

Based on the above-mentioned findings, the application meets the required criteria within the 

Newberg Development Code, subject to completion of the attached conditions. 

32 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

Exhibit “B” to Planning Commission Order 2016-20 

Conditions –File CUP-16-001/DR2-16-001/ADJC-16-001 

Chehalem Aquatic Facility and Fitness Center 

 
A. CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT CUP-16-001 – CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

1. Lighting plan: Submit a revised lighting plan that meets the 0.5 foot-candle light 

trespass standard along all of the property lines, including the NE and SW corners. 

2. Landscape buffer: The applicant shall submit a revised landscape plan that adds a 

landscape buffer along the eastern property line, where there is room between the 

existing path and the fence, which will grow over time to provide additional visual 

buffering for the residential neighbors. The landscape buffer shall consist of 

deciduous trees (spaced 30 feet apart on center, with a minimum trunk diameter of 1.5 

inches, an anticipated mature height of at least 20 feet and an anticipated mature 

spread of at least 15 feet). 

3. Arborist report/tree preservation: The applicant plans to retain over 60 mature trees on 

the site. Any trees the arborist deems hazardous (based on the health of the tree, not 

the distance to neighboring properties) should be removed, and any dead or broken 

branches should be removed. The arborist report Tree Care and Preservation 

Guidelines state that if some trees are to be preserved then there must be a qualified 

project arborist on-site or on-call for the entire project, especially during any 

excavation near the preserved trees. Submit a report from the project arborist verifying 

that any hazardous trees have been removed, broken or dead branches have been 

pruned, and that the Tree Care and Preservation guidelines have been followed; the 

arborist report is due before occupancy will be approved for the building. 

4. Construction impacts: The applicant will be required to provide an on-site parking 

plan for contractors during construction to minimize off-site impacts. Construction 

work is limited to between 7 AM and 7 PM. The applicant is required to repair any 

city infrastructure, including streets, which are damaged by construction activities. 

The applicant will be required to supply a decommissioning plan for the existing 

chlorine treatment equipment, and verify if the Oregon Dept. of Environmental 

Quality or Yamhill County Health Dept. have any requirements for the equipment. 

B. CODE ADJUSTMENT ADJC-16-001 – CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

1. The City Engineer will allow the applicant to apply for temporary on-street parking 

approval during major facility events (expected to be 4-5 times per year) to provide 

parking to event participants along the south side of Haworth Avenue.  Parking in the 

bike lane would not be available at other times of the year. 

2. The applicant must submit a revised site plan that provides at least 148 parking spaces 

on site and adds at least 10 additional bicycle parking spaces.  

3. During peak events, the applicant must make use of the shared parking agreement 

33 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

with the high school, and must apply to the City Engineer for on-street parking 

approval along the Haworth Avenue frontage. 

C. DESIGN REVIEW DR2-16-001 – CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

THE FOLLOWING MUST BE COMPLETED BEFORE THE CITY WILL ISSUE A 

BUILDING PERMIT: 

1. Permit Submittal:  Submit a building permit application and two (2) complete 

working drawing sets of the proposed project. Show all the features of the plan 

approved through design review, including the following: 

a. ADA accessible route 

b. Existing and finish grade elevations 

c. Grading plan & erosion control plan 

d. Parking lot design, including ADA compliant spaces 

 

2. Conditions of Approval:  Either write or otherwise permanently affix the conditions 

of approval contained within this report onto the first page of the plans submitted for 

building permit review. 

3. Construction impacts: Submit the following items to the Planning Division for 

review and approval: 

a. Supply an on-site parking plan for contractors during construction that 

minimizes off-site impacts. 

b. Supply a decommissioning plan for the existing chlorine treatment equipment, 

and verify if the Oregon Dept. of Environmental Quality or Yamhill County 

Health Dept. have any requirements for the equipment.  

4. Lighting Plan: Submit a revised lighting plan that meets the 0.5 foot-candle light 

trespass standard along all of the property lines, including the NE and SW corners. 

5. Landscaping:  

a. The applicant shall submit a revised landscape plan that adds a landscape 

buffer along the eastern property line, where there is room between the 

existing path and the fence, which will grow over time to provide additional 

visual buffering for the residential neighbors. The landscape buffer shall 

consist of deciduous trees (spaced 30 feet apart on center, with a minimum 

trunk diameter of 1.5 inches, an anticipated mature height of at least 20 feet 

and an anticipated mature spread of at least 15 feet).  

b. Arborist report/tree preservation: The applicant plans to retain over 60 mature 

trees on the site. Any trees the arborist deems hazardous (based on the health 

of the tree, not the distance to neighboring properties) should be removed, and 

any dead or broken branches should be removed. The arborist report Tree Care 

34 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

and Preservation Guidelines state that if some trees are to be preserved then 

there must be a qualified project arborist on-site or on-call for the entire 

project, especially during any excavation near the preserved trees. Submit a 

report from the project arborist verifying that any hazardous trees have been 

removed, broken or dead branches have been pruned, and that the Tree Care 

and Preservation guidelines have been followed; the arborist report is due 

before occupancy will be approved for the building. 

6. Parking:  

a. The applicant must submit a revised site plan that provides at least 148 

parking spaces on site and adds at least 10 additional bicycle parking spaces.  

b. The City Engineer will allow the applicant to apply for temporary on-street 

parking approval during major facility events (expected to be 4-5 times per 

year) to provide parking to event participants along the south side of Haworth 

Avenue.  Parking in the bike lane would not be available at other times of the 

year. During peak events, the applicant must make use of the shared parking 

agreement with the high school, and must apply to the City Engineer for on-

street parking approval along the Haworth Avenue frontage. 

7. Signs: Submit a revised sign plan to the Planning Division for review and approval. 

The 7’6” sign needs to be moved back slightly so it is setback 10 feet from the front 

property line after the right-of-way dedication along Haworth Avenue. The electronic 

message center must be equipped with dimming technology that automatically varies 

the brightness of the display according to ambient light conditions. 

8. Fire Marshal: The project must meet all Fire Code standards. 

9. Engineering: 

a. Utility Plan: 

The locations of water, wastewater, stormwater, and utility lines must comply 

with the requirements of the PW Design and Construction Standards. 

The locations and fire flows of hydrants near the site must comply with the 

requirements of the Fire Code and the PW Design and Construction Standards. 

The utility plan must show that all new utility lines are installed underground 

including power, cable, and telephone lines. 

b. Construction Plans:   

For all utilities and public street improvements, detailed construction plans 

must be submitted to the Engineering Services Department for review and 

approval.  No construction of, or connection to, any existing or proposed 

public utility/improvements will be permitted until all plans are approved and 

35 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

all necessary permits have been obtained.  Please note that additional 

Engineering Services Department plan review application and fees apply for 

reviewing plans.   

c. Water:   

The applicant must provide a revised utility plan showing an 8-inch public 

water line for the Cherry Street cul-de-sac and fire flow calculations showing 

that adequate pressures and flows will be available for the proposed 

redevelopment when submitting the construction plans for review and 

approval.   

 

The applicant must submit a revised utility plan that provides the required 

separation distances between utility lines when submitting the construction 

plans for review and approval. 

 

The applicant must provide a revised utility plan that shows an approved line 

size for the water service line when submitting the construction plans for 

review and approval. 

 

d. Wastewater: 

The applicant must specify the size of the wastewater line being proposed for 

the Cherry Street cul-de-sac in a revised utility plan when submitting the 

construction plans for review and approval. 

 

e. Stormwater: 

The applicant must provide a revised utility plan and a revised stormwater 

report for City review that incorporates the new connection to the stormwater 

system.   

 

The applicant must submit a stormwater report for City review and approval 

that contains all of the information required by PWDCS Section 4.5 

specifically, the hydrological calculations, hydraulic calculations, delineated 

sub-basins for the stormwater facilities, site contours, downstream analysis, 

analysis on the effectiveness of the proposed facilities to achieve the 

stormwater quality and quantity requirements, and a maintenance plan.  

 

The applicant must complete infiltration tests in the six locations shown on the 

preliminary site plan as stormwater facilities.  Depths should be at the 

infiltration depth (between 2.5 and 3 feet) and located in the approximate 

middle of the planned facility.  As a condition of approval, the applicant must 

provide a revised stormwater report with the results of the new infiltration 

tests for City review and approval. 

36 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

 

The applicant must submit a revised stormwater report for City review and 

approval that includes the groundwater from the pool underdrain system in the 

hydrologic and hydraulic calculations required by Section 4 of the PW Design 

and Construction Standards. 

 

The applicant must provide a revised stormwater report for City review and 

approval that includes engineering calculations to size the proposed 

stormwater facilities. 

 

f. Street improvements: 

Setback sidewalks: The applicant must provide a revised site plan showing 

setback sidewalks with planter strips along the Haworth Avenue and Villa 

Road frontages when submitting the construction plans for review and 

approval. 

 

The applicant must provide a revised site plan showing ADA-compliant 

sidewalks on Cherry Street when construction plans are submitted to the City 

for review and approval. 

 

Right-of-way dedications: Submit draft right-of-way dedications to the City 

Engineer for review and approval for the Haworth Avenue frontage and the 

Cherry Street cul-de-sac (part by CPRD, part by Prestige Care). After 

approval, record the right-of-way dedications and return a copy of the recorded 

document to the City Engineer. 

 

The applicant must apply for and obtain a Public Improvements permit for all 

proposed street improvements prior to construction. 

 

The applicant must submit a revised site plan showing ADA-compliant 

sidewalks on Cherry Street when submitting the construction plans for review 

and approval. 

The applicant must coordinate with the City during the Villa Road 

Improvement Project to ensure that bike lanes along Villa Road are complete. 

 

g. Erosion and Sediment Control (ESC): 

The size of the project site in the application exceeds 1 acre.  The applicant 

must obtain a 1200-C permit from the Oregon Department of Environmental 

Quality and provide a copy of the approved permit and ESC plan, as required 

by PW Design and Construction Standards Section 1.8.7, to the City for 

37 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

review when submitting the construction plans. 

   

h. Other: 

NMC §13.25.190 requires that commercial or industrial operations or 

businesses not covered by a NPDES permit shall follow proper disposal and 

spill prevention practices.  As a condition of approval, the applicant must 

submit a plan for City review and approval that specifies the steps for draining 

the old pool into the wastewater system along with a timeframe and a 

requirement that the city will monitor Hess Creek and the wastewater system 

during the draining activity.  

 

D. THE FOLLOWING MUST BE ACCOMPLISHED PRIOR TO OCCUPANCY 

1. Fire Department Requirements:  This project is subject to compliance with all Fire 

Department standards relating to access and fire protection.  

2. Design Review Conditions:  Contact the Planning Division (503-537-1240) to verify 

that all design review conditions have been completed. 

3. Site Inspection:  Contact the Building Division (503-537-1240) for Building, 

Mechanical, and Plumbing final inspections.  Contact the Fire Department (503-537-

1260) for Fire Safety final inspections.  Contact Yamhill County (503-538-7302) for 

electrical final inspections.  Contact the Planning Division (503-537-1240) for 

landscaping final inspections.  Contact Engineering Services (503-537-12373) for 

public improvement final inspections. 

4. Public Works Requirements.  All public improvements shall be completed and 

accepted prior to occupancy.  The applicant shall be responsible for the repair and 

replacement of any off-site city infrastructure, including streets, which are damaged 

by construction activities. 

E. DEVELOPMENT NOTES 

1. Construction hours: Note that construction work is limited to between 7 AM and 7 

PM. 

2. Systems development charges (SDCs) will be collected when building permits are 

issued. For questions regarding SDCs please refer to the Newberg fee packet and 

contact the Engineering Services Division. 

 

38 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

Attachment 1:  Aerial Photo 
 

 

39 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

Attachment 2: Zoning map  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

40 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

Attachment 3:  Site Plan – overall & up close 
 

 

 

41 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

Attachment 4: Public Comment 

 

42 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

43 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

44 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

45 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

46 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

47 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

48 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

 

 

49 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.CUP\2016\CPRD Pool expansion\Final -CUP.DR.ADJC CPRD Pool expansion staff report.doc 

Attachment 5: Application 

50 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

51 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

52 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

53 of 460 



  

 

First American Title Company of Oregon 
825 NE Evans Street  
McMinnville, OR 97128 
Phn - (503)376-7363     
Fax - (866)800-7294 

  

 

First American Title 
 

YAMHILL  COUNTY TITLE UNIT 
FAX (866)800-7294  

  
Title Officer: Larry Ball 

(503)376-7363  
lball@firstam.com 

REVISED LOT BOOK SERVICE 
  
City of Newberg Order No.: 1039-2598963
P.O. Box 970  February 19, 2016
Newberg, OR 97132  
  
Attn:  Steve Olson  
Phone No.: (503)538-9421 - Fax No.: (503)537-1272 
Email: steve.olson@newbergoregon.gov 
  
Re:    
  

Fee:  $0.00  
  
We have searched our Tract Indices as to the following described property: 

The land referred to in this report is described in Exhibit A attached hereto. 

and as of February 16, 2016 at 8:00 a.m.  
  
We find that the last deeds of record run to 

Chehalem Park and Recreation District, a Municipal Corporation, as to Parcel 1; and 
Chehalem Park and Recreation District, a Quasi-Municipal Corporation, as to Parcel 2 

We find the following apparent encumbrances within ten (10) years prior to the effective date hereof: 
  

NONE 
  

1. Taxes, including the current fiscal year, not assessed because of Public Exemption (ORS 
307.090).  If the exempt status is terminated an additional tax may be levied.  Account No. 
34643 and 421323. 

2. City liens, if any, of the City of Newberg. 

3. The rights of the public in and to that portion of the premises herein described lying within the 
limits of streets, roads and highways. 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

54 of 460 



  
Lot Book Service  Guarantee No.: 1039-2598963
 Page 2 of 3
  

 

First American Title 
 

NOTE: The above described property is benefited by an Easement for utility purposes, as disclosed in 
Contract recorded May 11, 1970 in Film Volume 79, Page 996.  

We have also searched our General Index for Judgments and State and Federal Liens against the 
Grantee(s) named above and find: 
  

NONE  

We find the following unpaid taxes and city liens: NONE  

THIS IS NOT a title report since no examination has been made of the title to the above described 
property.  Our search for apparent encumbrances was limited to our Tract Indices, and therefore above 
listings do not include additional matters which might have been disclosed by an examination of the 
record title.  We assume no liability in connection with this Lot Book Service and will not be responsible 
for errors or omissions therein.  The charge for this service will not include supplemental reports, 
rechecks or other services. 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

55 of 460 



  
Lot Book Service  Guarantee No.: 1039-2598963
 Page 3 of 3
  

 

First American Title 
 

  
Exhibit "A" 

  
Real property in the  County of Yamhill, State of Oregon, described as follows:  

  
PARCEL 1: 
 
Beginning at an iron pipe which is 607.50 feet South 0°20' West along the East line of the D. D. Deskins 
D.L.C. #54, and 120.00 feet South 89°48' East from the Northeast corner of the D. D. Deskins D.L.C., 
said pipe being 120.00 feet Easterly from the center line of Villa Road and lying on the South line of 
Haworth Street; thence South 89°48' East along the South line of Haworth Street 652.1 feet, more or less 
to an iron pipe at the Northeast corner of a tract conveyed to Bertha Perkins by deed recorded May 12, 
1925 in Book 92, Page 116, Deed Records of Yamhill County, Oregon; thence South 0°22' East along the 
East line of said Perkins tract for 343.61 feet, more or less to iron pipe at the Southeast corner of said 
Perkins tract in the Northeast corner of a tract conveyed to Harold J. Davis and wife by deed recorded 
December 28, 1961 in Film Volume 20, Page 457, Deed and Mortgage Records, Yamhill County, Oregon; 
thence North 89°48' West along the North line of said Davis tract 656.30 feet, more or less to an iron 
pipe which is 120.00 feet Easterly from the center line of Villa Road; thence North 0°20' East 343.61 feet, 
more or less on a line parallel to Villa Road to the Place of Beginning. 
 
PARCEL 2: 
 
A tract of land in Section 17, Township 3 South, Range 2 West of the Willamette Meridian, Yamhill 
County, Oregon, being part of that certain tract of land described in deed to Harry A. Perkins, et ux., 
recorded in Book 92, Page 116, Yamhill County Deed Records, and being described as follows: 
 
Beginning at a P-K Nail that is South 00°20' West 20.OO feet and South 89°48' East, 20.00 feet from the 
Northwest corner of said Perkins Tract, said P-K Nail being 20 feet East from the East line of the D.D. 
Deskins Donation Land Claim; thence South 89°48' East, 100.00 feet, parallel with the South line of 
Haworth Avenue, to the West line of that certain tract of land described in deed to Chehalem Park and 
Recreation District recorded in Film Volume 105, Page 1334, Yamhill County Deed Records; thence South 
00°20' West, along said West line, (passing an iron rod at 1.09 feet) 75.28 feet to an iron rod; thence 
North 89°40' West, 100.00 feet to an iron rod that is East 20.00 feet from the East line of said Deskins 
Claim; thence North 00°20' East, 75.04 feet to the Point of Beginning. 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATIONATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

56 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

57 of 460 



  

 

First American Title Company of Oregon 
825 NE Evans Street  
McMinnville, OR 97128 
Phn - (503)376-7363     
Fax - (866)800-7294 

  

 

First American Title 
 

YAMHILL  COUNTY TITLE UNIT 
FAX (866)800-7294  

  
Title Officer: Larry Ball 

(503)376-7363  
lball@firstam.com 

REVISED LOT BOOK SERVICE 
  
City of Newberg Order No.: 1039-2598963
P.O. Box 970  February 19, 2016
Newberg, OR 97132  
  
Attn:  Steve Olson  
Phone No.: (503)538-9421 - Fax No.: (503)537-1272 
Email: steve.olson@newbergoregon.gov 
  
Re:    
  

Fee:  $0.00  
  
We have searched our Tract Indices as to the following described property: 

The land referred to in this report is described in Exhibit A attached hereto. 

and as of February 16, 2016 at 8:00 a.m.  
  
We find that the last deeds of record run to 

Chehalem Park and Recreation District, a Municipal Corporation, as to Parcel 1; and 
Chehalem Park and Recreation District, a Quasi-Municipal Corporation, as to Parcel 2 

We find the following apparent encumbrances within ten (10) years prior to the effective date hereof: 
  

NONE 
  

1. Taxes, including the current fiscal year, not assessed because of Public Exemption (ORS 
307.090).  If the exempt status is terminated an additional tax may be levied.  Account No. 
34643 and 421323. 

2. City liens, if any, of the City of Newberg. 

3. The rights of the public in and to that portion of the premises herein described lying within the 
limits of streets, roads and highways. 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

58 of 460 



  
Lot Book Service  Guarantee No.: 1039-2598963
 Page 2 of 3
  

 

First American Title 
 

NOTE: The above described property is benefited by an Easement for utility purposes, as disclosed in 
Contract recorded May 11, 1970 in Film Volume 79, Page 996.  

We have also searched our General Index for Judgments and State and Federal Liens against the 
Grantee(s) named above and find: 
  

NONE  

We find the following unpaid taxes and city liens: NONE  

THIS IS NOT a title report since no examination has been made of the title to the above described 
property.  Our search for apparent encumbrances was limited to our Tract Indices, and therefore above 
listings do not include additional matters which might have been disclosed by an examination of the 
record title.  We assume no liability in connection with this Lot Book Service and will not be responsible 
for errors or omissions therein.  The charge for this service will not include supplemental reports, 
rechecks or other services. 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

59 of 460 



  
Lot Book Service  Guarantee No.: 1039-2598963
 Page 3 of 3
  

 

First American Title 
 

  
Exhibit "A" 

  
Real property in the  County of Yamhill, State of Oregon, described as follows:  

  
PARCEL 1: 
 
Beginning at an iron pipe which is 607.50 feet South 0°20' West along the East line of the D. D. Deskins 
D.L.C. #54, and 120.00 feet South 89°48' East from the Northeast corner of the D. D. Deskins D.L.C., 
said pipe being 120.00 feet Easterly from the center line of Villa Road and lying on the South line of 
Haworth Street; thence South 89°48' East along the South line of Haworth Street 652.1 feet, more or less 
to an iron pipe at the Northeast corner of a tract conveyed to Bertha Perkins by deed recorded May 12, 
1925 in Book 92, Page 116, Deed Records of Yamhill County, Oregon; thence South 0°22' East along the 
East line of said Perkins tract for 343.61 feet, more or less to iron pipe at the Southeast corner of said 
Perkins tract in the Northeast corner of a tract conveyed to Harold J. Davis and wife by deed recorded 
December 28, 1961 in Film Volume 20, Page 457, Deed and Mortgage Records, Yamhill County, Oregon; 
thence North 89°48' West along the North line of said Davis tract 656.30 feet, more or less to an iron 
pipe which is 120.00 feet Easterly from the center line of Villa Road; thence North 0°20' East 343.61 feet, 
more or less on a line parallel to Villa Road to the Place of Beginning. 
 
PARCEL 2: 
 
A tract of land in Section 17, Township 3 South, Range 2 West of the Willamette Meridian, Yamhill 
County, Oregon, being part of that certain tract of land described in deed to Harry A. Perkins, et ux., 
recorded in Book 92, Page 116, Yamhill County Deed Records, and being described as follows: 
 
Beginning at a P-K Nail that is South 00°20' West 20.OO feet and South 89°48' East, 20.00 feet from the 
Northwest corner of said Perkins Tract, said P-K Nail being 20 feet East from the East line of the D.D. 
Deskins Donation Land Claim; thence South 89°48' East, 100.00 feet, parallel with the South line of 
Haworth Avenue, to the West line of that certain tract of land described in deed to Chehalem Park and 
Recreation District recorded in Film Volume 105, Page 1334, Yamhill County Deed Records; thence South 
00°20' West, along said West line, (passing an iron rod at 1.09 feet) 75.28 feet to an iron rod; thence 
North 89°40' West, 100.00 feet to an iron rod that is East 20.00 feet from the East line of said Deskins 
Claim; thence North 00°20' East, 75.04 feet to the Point of Beginning. 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATIONATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

60 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

61 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

62 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

63 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

64 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

65 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

66 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

67 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

68 of 460 



LAND USE REVIEW SUBMITTAL 

 

 

CHEHALEM AQUATIC & FITNESS CENTER 
 
 
1802 Haworth Avenue 
Newberg, OR 97132 
 

 
 

Project No. 1493 

Issue Date: 1/29/2016 

 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

69 of 460 



 
 
 

TYPE II AND III APPLICATIONS 
CHEHALEM AQUATIC AND FITNESS CENTER (CAFC)  
JANUARY 29, 2016 
 
 

 
2525 East Burnside Street  |  Portland, OR 97214  |  p: (503) 226-3617  |  f: (503) 226-3715 |   www.seallp.com 

Applications for: 
TYPE III Conditional Use Review –  
Chapter 15.305 Zoning Use Table – Community Service Facility in R-1 Zone 
Chapter 15.225 Conditional Use Procedures 
 
TYPE II Land Use Review –  
Section 15.220.020.A.2 – Site Design Review 
 
TYPE I Land Use Review –  
Section 15.210.020.C – Code Adjustment for a reduction in the number of off-street parking 
spaces 
 
Section 15.100.080.B Determination of proper procedure type – An application that involves two 
or more procedures may be processed collectively under the highest numbered procedure 
required for any part of the application. 
 
Index 

Application Documents (One set included separately) 
Type III Application – Conditional Use Review 
Type II Application – Site Design Review 
Type I Application – Code Adjustment 
Public Notice Information 
Current Title Report 
 

A. Written Criteria Response 
Introduction  
Type III Conditional Use Criteria Response  
Type III Conditional Use Project Statement  
Type II Site Design Review Criteria Response  
Type I Code Adjustment Criteria Response 
Conclusion 
 

B. Supplemental Information 
Traffic Study (including Transportation Demand Management plan) 
Exterior Lighting Cut Sheets 
Arborist Report 
 

C.       Graphic Information 
G0.00 Cover Sheet 
  Site Survey 
C1.0 Preliminary Site Plan 
C2.0 Preliminary Grading Plan 
C3.0 Preliminary Utility Plan 
L1.0 Color Rendered Landscape Plan 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

70 of 460 



 TYPE I, II AND III APPLICATIONS  |  2/25/2016 

 
 

2525 East Burnside Street  |  Portland, OR 97214  |  p: (503) 226-3617  |  f: (503) 226-3715 |   www.seallp.com 

L1.1 Landscape Details 
AD.01 Existing and Demolition Site Plan 
A1.10 Proposed Site Plan 
A2.10 First Level Plan – Overall 
A2.40 Roof Plan - Overall 
A3.10 Exterior Elevations - Overall 
A3.11 Exterior Elevations – North 
A3.12 Exterior Elevations – East and West 
A3.13 Exterior Elevations – South 
A3.14 Site and Building Perspectives 
A4.11 Building Sections 
A4.12 Building Sections 
A4.13 Building Sections 
E1.11 Site Lighting Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

71 of 460 



 
 
 

TYPE I, II AND III APPLICATIONS 
CHEHALEM AQUATIC AND FITNESS CENTER (CAFC)  
JANUARY 29, 2016 
 
 

 
2525 East Burnside Street  |  Portland, OR 97214  |  p: (503) 226-3617  |  f: (503) 226-3715 |   www.seallp.com 

Introduction 
 
With the passing of a nearly $20 million bond measure in November of 2014 the residents of the 
City of Newberg resoundingly agreed that a new aquatic and fitness center to replace their 45-
year old facility was something they wanted and valued for their community.  Once the design 
team was selected, community, neighbor and stakeholder meetings began and continued with 
frequency through April and May of 2015.  Input and discussions were held over the desired 
uses in the remodeled building, the new aquatics addition and the park areas.  The impact the 
expanded center would have on adjacent neighbors as well as the value of the existing park 
area and trees were also discussed often.  This input in addition to the monthly or more 
meetings with the parks department and pool advisory committee has resulted in a site and 
building design that balances all the wants and expanded uses while mitigating any adverse 
impacts.  In addition the CPRD website and eNewsletter have provided frequent project 
updates, preliminary renderings and site and building plans throughout the process as well as 
offering a place to comment and ask questions.   
The proposed new center includes a 40,390 square foot aquatics addition with a 5,800 sf leisure 
pool, a 6,800 sf competition pool (114’ length overall to include 8-lanes 25-yards long with an 
additional 5-lanes for warm up and additional teaching space) permanent and temporary seating 
for 300, locker rooms, lobby and event spaces as well as mechanical support spaces.  
Construction will be phased so the existing aquatics and fitness center can remain open while 
the addition is constructed. Once the addition is complete and depending on the funds 
available, the existing 21,280 sf aquatics and fitness center will be closed and remodeled to 
include some or all of the following: a new full court gymnasium, second floor running track, 
weights and fitness equipment areas, fitness classrooms, restrooms, staff office areas and a 
2,200 sf outdoor pool.  Site work includes a new 143 space parking lot, 45,000 sf park area with 
basketball court and playground, new sidewalk and driveways off Haworth Avenue and a new 
cul-de-sac and service drive off Cherry Street. 
The project seeks approval for Type III Conditional Use, Type II Site Design Review and Type I 
Code Adjustment. 
 
 
Type III Conditional Use Criteria Response  
 

(A) The location, size, design and operating characteristics of the proposed 
development are such that it can be made reasonably compatible with and have 
minimal impact on the livability or appropriate development of abutting properties 
and the surrounding neighborhood, with consideration to be given to harmony in 
scale, bulk, coverage and density; to the availability of public facilities and utilities; 
to the generation of traffic and the capacity of surrounding streets, and to any 
other relevant impact of the development. 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

72 of 460 



 CAFC WRITTEN CRITERIA RESPONSE  |  2/25/2016 

 
 

2525 East Burnside Street  |  Portland, OR 97214  |  p: (503) 226-3617  |  f: (503) 226-3715 |   www.seallp.com 

 
RESPONSE: 
Location, size and design: 
The majority of the single family and commercial buildings in the area are one and two stories 
tall, with a few taller buildings on the George Fox campus along Villa Road.   The existing 
aquatics and fitness building is just over 21,000 square feet and 28’ tall at the pool and about 
15’ tall at the fitness and entry.   
Cost analysis and structural review of the existing aquatics and fitness building determined that 
there was a better value in remodeling the existing structure versus tearing it down and building 
new. Studies were undertaken to determine the best fit for the new aquatics program which was 
to more than double the existing water area.  Both the existing building and the area to the north 
would not accommodate it and the best fit was to the east of the existing building in what is now 
the main parking area and some park space.  Parking and drop-off areas are then located in 
front to the north of the existing and new buildings.  This site design also allowed for the largest 
park area and the ability to keep approximately 60 mature trees.  The existing pool building will 
then be remodeled either in conjunction with the completion of the aquatics addition or at some 
point in the future to contain new gymnasium, fitness classrooms, weight and fitness equipment 
areas, restrooms and an indoor running track. 
The overall size of the addition is just over 40,000 sf, nearly double the size of the existing 
building.  Its bulk and height though have been kept to a minimum and is only a couple feet 
taller than the existing pool building and about the same width.  Between the existing and new 
aquatics buildings is a one-story connector which matches the height of the one-story fitness 
building and houses the main entry, event spaces and main locker rooms. 
The new addition is a composition of rectilinear forms similar to the existing building, comprised 
of ground face concrete block, metal panel and cement plaster stucco.  Glazing, views and 
natural light are maximized on the north side of the building into the new lobby leisure and 
competition pool spaces.  Window graphics expressing the center’s main activities will also be 
utilized to add scale and visual interest.  Glazing to the south is reduced due to glare issues with 
safety and competition swimming.  A dark earthy palette for both the existing and new buildings 
links them visually and minimizes the perceived mass. 
The view down Haworth heading east is of a long low building screened behind the layers of 
site landscaping, new and existing trees.  Heading west on Haworth from the heavily residential 
side the view will be similar to what it is now with glimpses of the building through the heavily 
treed northeast corner of the site. 
 
Reference Exterior Elevations Sheets A3.10-A3.13, Site and Building Perspective Sheet A3.14 
and Preliminary Landscape Plan sheet L1.0. 

 
Operating characteristics:   
Hours of operation are expected to be essentially the same for the new facility.  Child and adult 
swimming lessons, recreational swim, lap swim, water exercise and aqua Zumba will continue 
along with aquatic sports programs for both private and public swim and water polo teams and 
programs for kayaking.  Program offerings and space for them will be expanded in the new 
facility with separate leisure and competition pools allowing for competitive activities to occur 
while lessons and leisure activities occur in the separate pool.  Weights and fitness equipment 
will be available during normal open hours with the addition of fitness classes and gymnasium 
activities.  The new aquatics and fitness center is not new to the area, but it is expanded in size 
and programming.  Car and bike parking areas have been similarly expanded and strategies are 
in place to mitigate the impacts of larger events.   Reference the Traffic Impact Study and 
Parking Analysis for further information on this topic. 
 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

73 of 460 



 CAFC WRITTEN CRITERIA RESPONSE  |  2/25/2016 

 
 

2525 East Burnside Street  |  Portland, OR 97214  |  p: (503) 226-3617  |  f: (503) 226-3715 |   www.seallp.com 

 
Traffic and street capacity: 
A Traffic Impact Study and Parking Analysis have been prepared by Lancaster Engineering for 
both the existing and new center.  It has been included with this application. 
 
 

(B) The location, design and site planning of the proposed development will provide 
a convenient and functional living, working, shopping or civic environment and 
will be as attractive as the nature of the use and its location and setting warrants.   

RESPONSE: 
When the aquatics and fitness center was originally constructed in the early 70’s the chosen site 
was derided for being too far out of town and away from where most residents lived.  The 
opposite condition exists now as commercial, residential and institutional development has 
grown dense around the existing site.   
The park and center have become convenient and essential fixtures for residents both near and 
farther away, the college students at George Fox, the high school students at Newberg high 
school as well as the senior citizen population in the area.  It is such a vital fixture in the 
community that keeping the existing facility open for the duration of construction was a primary 
requirement for the district, pool committee and residents despite the fact that both construction 
cost and duration would be increased. 
The site design has met and often expanded the required setbacks and existing and new 
landscape screening have been utilized to separate the building and residential uses.  A series 
of paved paths connect the building to Villa, Cherry and Haworth, the accessible parking spaces 
and an extended drop-off area.  Overall site safety is improved with well lit pathways, parking 
areas, sidewalks and passenger drop-off.  The main tree and park space known as Babe 
Nicklous park needed to be reduced to accommodate the expanded building, parking and storm 
water facilities, but a significant continuous area has been maintained with both a basketball 
court and playground as the current park has.  The new center will be open and inviting with 
more glazing and views to activity areas inside. 
Efforts have been made to expand the facility while keeping any negative impacts to a 
minimum. Building height and width are similar to the existing; the two have been joined with 
common roof heights, massing, color and material; required setbacks have been met and in 
many cases increased; both existing and new landscaping and screening have been utilized to 
separate the building from residential areas and a Traffic Demand Management plan has been 
developed to accommodate increased parking demands. 
Reference all attached drawing exhibits. 
 

(C) The proposed development will be consistent with this code. 
RESPONSE: 
The proposed development is in compliance with the base zoning standards in this code with 
the exception of parking.  No required parking standard has been set for this type of use so a 
Traffic Impact Study and Parking Analysis was completed to determine an equivalent 
requirement.  The resulting number of spaces cannot be accommodated on this site with the 
desired program, park and storm water facilities.  A Type I Code Adjustment has been 
requested as part of this application. 
Reference all attached drawing exhibits. 
 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

74 of 460 



 CAFC WRITTEN CRITERIA RESPONSE  |  2/25/2016 

 
 

2525 East Burnside Street  |  Portland, OR 97214  |  p: (503) 226-3617  |  f: (503) 226-3715 |   www.seallp.com 

 
Type III Conditional Use Project Statement 
 

Provide a written statement that addresses the operational data for the project, 
including hours of operation, number of employees, traffic information, odor impacts 
and noise impacts. 

RESPONSE: 
Hours:    
Hours of operation in the existing aquatic and fitness center are from: 
Monday-Thursday  5:15am – 10:00pm (no admission past 9:15pm) 
Friday    5:15am – 8:30pm (no admission past 7:45pm) 
Saturday   8:00am – 8:30pm (no admission past 7:45pm) 
Sunday   12:00pm – 5:00pm (no admission past 4:15pm) 
 
Hours of operation are expected to be roughly the same for the new facility. 
 
 
Employees: 
The existing center has approximately 15 full and part time staff.  Depending on the schedule of 
lessons and activities the number of staff in the building at one time varies from 5-15.  With the 
new center’s increase in size, activity areas as well as seasonal fluctuation the total number of 
staff is expected to approximately double with the number of staff in the building ranging from 
10-30 at one time.   
  
 
Traffic: 
A Traffic Impact Study and Parking Analysis have been prepared by Lancaster Engineering for 
both the existing and new center.  It has been included with this application. 
 
 
Odor Impacts: 
There will be no odor impacts from the new aquatics and fitness center building or site. 
 
 
Noise Impacts: 
Noise at the existing center and park area comes primarily from the small playground area and 
the outdoor basketball court.  There is also a grass volleyball court, two ping pong tables and 
some picnic tables in the southwest corner of the site behind the existing pool building.  This 
area is used primarily in the summer and can be a loud area as sound bounces off the tall 
concrete walls of the building.   
Other than the new outdoor pool no new outdoor uses are being proposed with the new 
construction although the existing activities will be relocated on the site.  Through the several 
neighborhood and community meeting held over the last several months the design team and 
parks district have heard some comments primarily from neighbors directly adjacent to the site 
to the east and west regarding noise from the existing outdoor activities.  To mitigate this the 
proposed location for the basketball court is setback 100’ from the west property line and the 
playground area is just over 50’, while the required setback for parking and play areas is 5’.  
These are still closer to the west property line than they had been previously, but due to the 
building addition area as well as new parking lot the available park area has decreased.  The 
desire to keep as many existing trees and park space as possible has led to their current 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

75 of 460 



 CAFC WRITTEN CRITERIA RESPONSE  |  2/25/2016 

 
 

2525 East Burnside Street  |  Portland, OR 97214  |  p: (503) 226-3617  |  f: (503) 226-3715 |   www.seallp.com 

location. 
The grass volleyball court has been relocated to the east behind the existing pool building and 
away from the single family homes in the corner.  It is setback 10’ from the south property line 
which will be lined with a new fence, evergreen hedge and deciduous trees. 
The proposed outdoor pool is located 5’ from the south property line and will be buffered from 
the adjacent property with a site obscuring fence and landscaping.  The pool’s adjacent 
neighbor to the south is a nursing care facility which is about 120’ from the property line to the 
south across a large parking lot.  It will generate noise in the summer months when use will be 
heaviest, but its impact is lessoned by its distance from adjacent neighbors, limited duration of 
use and landscaping and screening. 
New mechanical equipment for the building addition will be located on the roof over the locker 
rooms and over the pool mechanical rooms and will be entirely screened from view and to 
mitigate any sound by building walls to the east and west and metal panel screen walls to the 
north and south. 
Reference Exterior Elevations, Building Sections, Site and Building Perspective and the Site 
and Landscape plans. 
 
 

Type II Site Design Review Criteria Response 
1. Design Compatibility. The proposed design review request incorporates an 

architectural design which is compatible with and/or superior to existing or 
proposed uses and structures in the surrounding area.  This shall include, but 
not be limited to, building architecture, materials, colors, roof design, landscape 
design and signage. 

 
 
RESPONSE: 
The majority of the single family and commercial buildings in the area are one and two stories 
tall, with a few taller buildings on the George Fox campus along Villa Road.   Common materials 
in the area include wood, cement and vinyl siding and composition shingle roofs.  The 
institutional buildings on the George Fox campus include brick and concrete as common 
exterior materials.  Residential roofs are generally pitched and gabled while institutional 
buildings have both pitched as well as flat roofs.  There is not a predominant architectural style 
in the immediate area or on nearby Highway 99 other than a low scale residential character. 
The existing 21,000 square foot aquatic and fitness center building was constructed in the early 
70’s and consists of a one-story painted concrete block building facing Haworth and wrapping 
around the approximately three-story tall painted concrete pool building.  It is set back nearly 
100’ from the street and 60’ from the side and rear property lines.  Its appearance from the 
street and adjacent residential properties was through parking and landscaped areas.  The 
roofs of both buildings are flat while the top of the one-story building is wrapped with a parapet 
and sloped mansard of forest green standing seam metal about 6 feet tall.   
The overall size of the addition is just over 40,000 sf, nearly double the size of the existing 
building.  Its bulk and height though are kept to a minimum and are only a couple feet taller and 
about the same width as the existing pool building.  Between the existing and new aquatics 
buildings is a one-story connector housing the main entry, event spaces and main locker rooms 
continuing the height of the existing one-story fitness building.  Proposed changes to the 
existing exterior include removing the forest green mansard roof at the front, side and back and 
providing a new metal canopy and parapet to match the new entry canopy.  The building will 
also be painted to match the aquatics addition. 
The new addition is a composition of rectilinear forms similar to the existing building, comprised 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

76 of 460 



 CAFC WRITTEN CRITERIA RESPONSE  |  2/25/2016 

 
 

2525 East Burnside Street  |  Portland, OR 97214  |  p: (503) 226-3617  |  f: (503) 226-3715 |   www.seallp.com 

of ground face concrete block, metal panel and cement stucco.  Glazing, views and natural light 
are maximized on the north side of the building into the new lobby leisure and competition pool 
spaces.  Window graphics expressing the center’s main activities will also be utilized to add 
scale and visual interest.  Glazing to the south is reduced due to glare issues with safety and 
competition swimming.  A dark earthy palette for both the existing and new buildings links them 
visually and minimizes the perceived mass. 
Signage on the site and building is relatively small in scale and consists of a 12 square foot 
freestanding sign on the corner of Villa and Haworth, a larger 37.5 sf freestanding sign at the 
west drive aisle off Haworth which will include a 9.3 sf electronic message center and a 
standard 7.2 sf park and recreation district sign at Babe Nicklous park.  Attached building 
signage consists of a 48 sf cut metal letter sign continuously lit and mounted on the canopy 
above the new main entry.  The two freestanding signs consist of a low concrete base with a 
metal cabinet matching the building panels and internally lit translucent letters.  The electronic 
message center will include alternating messages and images. 
The view down Haworth heading east is of a long low building screened behind the layers of 
site landscaping, new and existing trees.  Heading west on Haworth from the heavily residential 
side the view will be similar to what it is now with glimpses of the building through the heavily 
treed northeast corner of the site. 
Site landscaping consists of existing park areas of lawn and trees at both the northwest and 
east sides of the site.  New sidewalks will be provided through these areas connecting the 
building and the streets as well as new basketball and playground areas.  Existing lawns will be 
reseeded and repaired.  New landscaping in parking areas, rain gardens and building and site 
perimeter consists of a mix of deciduous and coniferous trees, ornamental shrubs, grasses and 
ground covers.  Plants selected are water efficient, suited to the climate area and complement 
the existing plantings.  Water quality and rain garden areas mimic natural conditions and are 
planted in an irregular organic pattern. 
Reference Exterior Elevations, Building Sections, Site and Building Perspectives. 
 
 

2. Parking and on-site circulation.  Parking areas shall meet the requirements of 
15.440.010.  Parking studies may be required to determine if adequate parking 
and circulation are provided for uses not specifically identified in 15.440.010.  
Provisions shall be made to provide efficient and adequate on-site circulation 
without using the public streets as part of the parking lot circulation pattern.  
Parking areas shall be designed so that vehicles can efficiently enter and exit 
the public streets with a minimum impact on the functioning of the public 
street. 

RESPONSE: 
No required parking standard has been set for this type of use per section 15.440.010 so a 
Traffic Impact Study and Parking Analysis was completed to determine an equivalent 
requirement.  197 spaces were determined to be needed at peak demand periods.  This number 
cannot be accommodated on site with the desired program, park and storm water facilities.  A 
request for a Type I Code Adjustment has been requested as part of this application.   
143 parking stalls are proposed, 42 of which are compact stalls, 6 are dedicated for carpools 
and 7 are accessible stalls.  Site circulation through the main parking and passenger drop-off 
areas is accessed off Haworth through two driveways, one at the location of the existing eastern 
drive and one 190’ to the east.  A service yard is proposed off a new cul-de-sac from Cherry 
Street at the southeast corner of the site 125’ long by 23’ wide allowing for two loading spaces 
to access pool mechanical and chemical rooms, the main electrical room, exterior pool storage 
and the trash and recycling area. 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

77 of 460 



 CAFC WRITTEN CRITERIA RESPONSE  |  2/25/2016 

 
 

2525 East Burnside Street  |  Portland, OR 97214  |  p: (503) 226-3617  |  f: (503) 226-3715 |   www.seallp.com 

Reference Site and Landscape plans. 
 

3. Setbacks and general requirements.  The proposal shall comply with 15.415.010 
through 15.415.060 dealing with height restrictions and public access; and 
15.410.010 through 15.405.040 dealing with setbacks, coverage, vision 
clearance and yard requirements.   

RESPONSE: 
Height and public access requirements have been met per section 15.415.  The height of the 
existing aquatics and fitness center building varies from about 15’ to just over 28’.  The height to 
the tallest point of the proposed aquatic is 30’.  Public access to the site and building exists 
along Haworth Avenue as well as from a service drive off the new cul-de-sac extension off 
Cherry Street. 
Setbacks, coverage and vision clearance requirements have been met per section 15.410.  The 
front yard setback along Haworth is 15’ and contains only landscaping and sidewalks.  Interior 
setbacks on the remaining three sides where abutting residential properties is 5’ for parking and 
play areas and 25’ for buildings per section 15.410.040.  Vision clearance requirements have 
been addressed within the Traffic Impact Study and Parking Analysis and shown on the 
Preliminary Site Plan sheet C1.0. 
Reference Exterior Elevations, Building Sections, Site and Building Perspective and the Site 
and Landscape plans. 
 
 

4. Landscaping requirements.  The proposal shall comply with 15.420.010 dealing 
with landscape requirements and landscape screening. 

RESPONSE: 
Landscape requirements and landscape screening have been provided per section 15.420.010. 
Site landscaping accounts for 30% of the overall site area.  Landscaping has been provided 
throughout the parking area in strips and islands not less than 5’ in width.  Parking along the 
north property line along Haworth has been set back from the property line 15’ and on the south 
property line both parking and loading areas are set back from 5’ to 11’ and are screened from 
adjacent residential properties with a combination of fencing and landscaping.  Parking is 
similarly set back and screened along the west property line where abutting residential 
properties. A portion of the landscaped area is made up of the existing park at the east side of 
the site containing lawn and existing mature trees.  These areas will be reseeded and repaired 
including a new half-court basketball court, playground and walkways connecting the building 
and the street (both Haworth and Cherry).  The existing park area at the northwest corner of the 
site at the intersection of Villa and Haworth will also remain essentially intact with the additional 
of new pathways.  
Reference Landscape Plan sheet L1.0. 
 
 

5. Signs.  Signs shall comply with 15.435.010 et sep. dealing with signs. 
RESPONSE: 
Signage on the site and building is relatively small in scale and consists of a 12 square foot 
freestanding sign on the corner of Villa and Haworth, a larger 37.5 sf freestanding sign at the 
west drive aisle off Haworth which will include a 9.3 sf electronic message center and a 
standard 7.2 sf park and recreation district sign at Babe Nicklous park.  Attached building 
signage consists of a 48 sf cut metal letter sign continuously lit and mounted on the canopy 
above the new main entry.  The two freestanding signs consist of a low concrete base with a 
metal cabinet matching the building panels and internally lit translucent letters.  The electronic 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

78 of 460 



 CAFC WRITTEN CRITERIA RESPONSE  |  2/25/2016 

 
 

2525 East Burnside Street  |  Portland, OR 97214  |  p: (503) 226-3617  |  f: (503) 226-3715 |   www.seallp.com 

message center will include alternating messages and images. 
All proposed signs comply with the size, location and display methods outlined with this code. 
See Exterior Elevation Sheet A3.11 and Site and Building Perspective Sheet A3.14. 
 
 

6. Manufactured home, mobile home and RV parks. 
RESPONSE: 
The project is not a manufactured home, mobile home or RV park, this criteria is not applicable. 
 
 

7. Zoning district compliance.  The proposed use shall be listed as a permitted or 
conditionally permitted use in the zoning district in which it is located as found 
in 15.302 through 15.370.  Through this site review process, the Director may 
make a determination that a use is determined to be similar to those listed in the 
applicable zoning district, if it is not already specifically listed.  In this case, the 
Director shall make a finding that the use shall not have any different or more 
detrimental effects upon the adjoining neighborhood area than those 
specifically listed. 

RESPONSE: 
The existing and proposed use is a Community Service Facility in an R-1 zone requiring 
conditional use approval.  See included Type III Conditional Use Application and documents. 
 
 

8. Sub-district compliance.  Properties located within sub-districts shall comply 
with the provisions of those sub-districts located in 15.334 through 15.354. 

RESPONSE: 
The property is not located within a sub-district, this criteria is not applicable. 
 
 

9. Alternative circulation, roadway frontage improvements and utility 
improvements. Where applicable, new developments shall provide for access for 
vehicles and pedestrians to adjacent properties which are currently developed or 
will be developed in the future.  This may be accomplished through the 
provision of local public streets or private access and utility easements.  At the 
time of development of a parcel, provisions shall be made to develop the 
adjacent street frontage in accordance with city street standards and the 
standards contained in the transportation plan.  At the discretion of the city, 
these improvements may be deferred through use of a deferred improvement 
agreement or other form of security. 

RESPONSE: 
This criteria is not applicable although a new cul-de-sac off Cherry Street is proposed to serve a 
service drive to the new aquatic and fitness center.  The parks district has worked throughout 
the project with the owner of the adjacent nursing care facility, Prestige Care, Inc. to attain their 
approval and make sure this access will work well for both properties.  They can eventually 
provide their own driveway access if needed and will complete the sidewalk and planting area in 
their half of the cul-de-sac in the future.  All utilities will be extended from Sitka Avenue into the 
cul-de-sac, and gas, storm water, domestic water and sanitary sewer connections will all be 
utilized for the aquatics addition. 
 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

79 of 460 



 CAFC WRITTEN CRITERIA RESPONSE  |  2/25/2016 

 
 

2525 East Burnside Street  |  Portland, OR 97214  |  p: (503) 226-3617  |  f: (503) 226-3715 |   www.seallp.com 

 
10. Traffic study improvements.  If a traffic study is required, improvements 

identified in the traffic study shall be implemented as required by the Director. 
RESPONSE: 
A Traffic Impact Study and Parking Analysis have been prepared by Lancaster Engineering for 
both the existing and new center.  It has been included with this application. 

 
 
Type I Code Adjustment Written Criteria Response 

Adjustment to (C) dimensional standards and minimum number of off-street 
parking spaces. 

RESPONSE: 
No required parking standard has been set for an aquatic and fitness center use per section 
15.440.010 so a Traffic Impact Study and Parking Analysis was completed to determine an 
equivalent requirement.  197 spaces were determined to be needed at peak demand periods.  
An adjustment to reduce that required number of stalls to 143 is requested.  
Reference the included Traffic Impact Study, Parking Analysis and Transportation Demand 
Management Plan along with response below.  
 

(a) Special characteristics of users which indicate low demand for off-street 
parking (e.g. low income, elderly). 

RESPONSE: 
The aquatic and fitness center is used by young and old alike and is arrived at through a variety 
of means.  Many may drive on their own or in carpools, but children are driven to the center and 
either dropped off or waited on by a parent or guardian, high school students walk from nearby 
Newberg High School or are dropped off by busses, college students at George Fox walk from 
school housing and elderly users are also often bussed and dropped off at the center.  The 
center’s location in a residential area also gets many people coming on foot or bicycle.   
 

(b) Opportunities for joint use of nearby off-street parking facilities. 
RESPONSE: 
The 4-5 times a year the center hosts regional meets or competitions is when the greatest 
demand for parking exists.  These events are often held on weekends allowing for shared 
parking opportunities with the nearby George Fox maintenance yard, the Riverspirit Wellness 
Center and Newberg High School.  These three sites have roughly 40, 17 and over 200 parking 
spaces available.   
There are also roughly 37 on-street parking spaces on Haworth, but these will be reduced by 
about half as a new striped bike lane instead of a shared car/bike lane has been required by the 
city’s public works department. This will eventually improve the bike connection to the site once 
the bike lane is extended beyond the aquatic and fitness center but it will also remove a source 
of nearby overflow parking.  Six additional on-street spaces will also be created when the cul-
de-sac off Cherry is constructed. 
 

(c) Availability of public transit. 
RESPONSE: 
Public transit is not generally available in the area.  Users who are bussed to the site are either 
high school students or elderly residents of nearby retirement communities. 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

80 of 460 



 CAFC WRITTEN CRITERIA RESPONSE  |  2/25/2016 

 
 

2525 East Burnside Street  |  Portland, OR 97214  |  p: (503) 226-3617  |  f: (503) 226-3715 |   www.seallp.com 

 
(d) Natural features of the site (topography, vegetation, drainage) which would be 

adversely affected by application of required parking standards. 
RESPONSE: 
A major component of the site design and one discussed often in the public and stakeholder 
meetings held to date is the existing Babe Nicklous park.  A reduction in its size to 
accommodate the desired building program, parking and storm water facilities was necessary, 
but not wanted.  A mature stand of about 60 trees and continuous park area of about 45,000 
square feet was able to be maintained however and still keep a basketball area, playground and 
open lawn space similar to the existing larger park. Providing the 54 additional required spaces 
on site would nearly obliterate all of the mature trees and significantly reduce the open park 
space.  The park is a valuable piece of the community which has been reiterated to the district 
and design team at several public forums, the requested reduction in parking is a necessary 
trade-off to keep this vital entity intact. 
 
 

(e) Possible conversion of the site to other uses in the future. 
RESPONSE: 
As part of the Chehalem Parks System and with funding through a public bond for this specific 
use it is unlikely the site will be converted to another use in the future. 
 
 

(f) No adjustment shall be greater than 25% of the requirement from which the 
exception is granted. 

RESPONSE: 
197 spaces were determined to be needed at peak demand periods.  A 25% reduction results in 
49 less spaces for a total required of 148.  As part of the Traffic Impact Study and Parking 
Analysis, a Transportation Demand Management Plan was included to address the 25% parking 
reduction plus five additional space deficit on site.  The goal of the plan is to reduce the number 
of single occupancy vehicle trips to the site in favor of other modes less taxing to available 
parking and surrounding streets.  Many of these have been covered in response to the above 
criteria including carpooling, walking from the nearby high school and college, biking, walking 
and off-site shared parking with nearby businesses and schools.  In addition the centers 
administrators will schedule classes and events to reduce overlap and therefore increased 
parking demand. 
 

 
Conclusion 
 
The Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center has been a part of the Newberg community for 45 
years.  The parks district has maintained and upgraded it and the adjacent Babe Nicklous pool 
park throughout that time, but the time has come for it to be replaced.  With the passing of the 
nearly $20 million bond measure in 2014 the community agreed.  Approval of these applications 
for Site Design and Conditional Use review and a Code Adjustment is part of the process and 
the eventual construction of the new center.  The responses provided to the approval criteria for 
each review as well as the supporting drawings and studies have shown the project has met the 
requirements of each.  The building and site design is compatible with the surrounding area; 
provides adequate parking and safe circulation for pedestrians, bicycles and vehicles; is 
landscaped for storm water management, visual interest and screening and to maintain Babe 
Nicklous park; and provides expanded aquatic and fitness uses in a state of the art facility. 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

81 of 460 



 CAFC WRITTEN CRITERIA RESPONSE  |  2/25/2016 

 
 

2525 East Burnside Street  |  Portland, OR 97214  |  p: (503) 226-3617  |  f: (503) 226-3715 |   www.seallp.com 

 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

82 of 460 



Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

A

Drawn By:

Checked By:

CHEHALEM 

AQUATIC AND

FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.

NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

12.23.2015

-

-

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

N

O

T

 

F

O

R

C

O

N

S

T

R

U

C

T

I

O

N

COVER SHEET

G0.00

CHEHALEM AQUATIC AND FITNESS CENTER

LAND USE REVIEW SUBMITTAL

ALL CONSTRUCTION SHALL COMPLY WITH THE 2014 OREGON STRUCTURAL SPECAILTY CODE, AND ALL

LOCAL GOVERNING BUILDING CODES AND ORDINANCES.

THE ARCHITECT WILL REVIEW SHOP DRAWINGS AND SAMPLES FOR CONFORMANCE WITH THE DESIGN

CONCEPT OF THE PROJECT.  THE ARCHITECT'S REVIEW OF A SEPARATE ITEM SHALL NOT INDICATE

APPROVAL OF AN ASSEMBLY IN WHICH THE ITEM FUNCTIONS.

ALL REQUIRED CITY AND/OR COUNTY LICENSE SHALL BE ACQUIRED AND PAID FOR BY THE INDIVIDUAL

TRADE.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REPORT TO THE ARCHITECT ANY ERRORS, INCONSISTENCIES OR OMISSIONS HE

OR SHE MAY DISCOVER.  THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR CORRECTING ANY ERROR AFTER THE

START OF CONSTRUCTION WHICH HAS NOT BEEN BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION OF THE ARCHITECT.  THE

MEANS OF CORRECTING ANY ERROR SHALL FIRST BE APPROVED BY THE ARCHITECT.

ALL DIMENSIONS ON PLANS ARE FROM FACE OF STUD UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

10.

11.

12.

CITY APPROVED PLANS SHALL BE KEPT IN A SECURE PLACE AND SHALL NOT BE USED BY WORKERS.  THE

CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE THAT ALL SUBCONTRACTORS' CONSTRUCTION SETS REFLECT THE

SAME INFORMATION.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL ALSO MAINTAIN, IN GOOD CONDITION, ONE COMPLETE SET

OF STAMPED CITY APPROVED PLANS WITH ALL REVISIONS, ADDENDUMS, AND CHANGE ORDERS, ON THE

PREMISES AT ALL TIMES.  THESE ARE TO BE UNDER THE CARE OF THE JOB SUPERINTENDENT AND MUST

BE MADE AVAILABLE TO BUILDING AND FIRE INSPECTORS FOR REFERENCE DURING CONSTRUCTION.

ALL DEBRIS SHALL BE REMOVED FROM THE PREMISES AND ALL AREAS SHALL BE LEFT IN A BROOM CLEAN

CONDITION AT ALL TIMES.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL TAKE ALL NECESSARY PRECAUTIONS TO ENSURE THE SAFETY OF THE

OCCUPANTS AND WORKERS AT ALL TIMES.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE COMPLETE SECURITY OF THE SITE WHILE THE JOB IS

IN PROGRESS AND UNTIL JOB COMPLETION.

IT SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY LOCATION OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES

WHETHER SHOWN HEREIN OR NOT AND TO PROTECT THEM FROM DAMAGE.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL

BEAR ALL EXPENSES OF REPAIR OR REPLACEMENT OF UTILITIES OR OTHER PROPERTY DAMAGED BY

OPERATIONS IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE EXECUTION OF THE WORK.

GENERAL CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBLE FOR MAINTENANCE OF STAGING AREA, AND TO ENSURE THAT

MATERIALS DELIVERY AND STORAGE DOES NOT INTERFERE WITH DAILY OPERATION OF ADJACENT

PROPERTIES.

18.

17. CONTRACTOR TO PROTECT ALL TREES AND ROOTS NOT SLATED FOR REMOVAL DURING CONSTRUCTION

15.

16.

ALL ELECTRICAL, MECHANICAL AND PLUMBING WORK SHALL CONFORM TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE

CURRENT NEC, OMSC, UPC  RESPECTIVELY

CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE BACKING OR BLOCKING AS REQUIRED FOR MOUNTING ALL WALL MOUNTED

SHELVES, EQUIPMENT, ACCESSORIES, CABINETS, ETC.

13.

14.

THE CONTRACTOR IS SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL CONSTRUCTION MEANS AND METHODS AND SHALL

MAINTAIN THE STRUCTURAL INTEGRITY AND FIRE RATING OF ANY CONSTRUCTION UNTIL ALL FINAL

LATERAL AND VERTICAL LOAD CARRYING SYSTEMS ARE COMPLETED.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR AND SHALL REPLACE OR REMEDY ANY FAULTY,

IMPROPER OR INFERIOR MATERIALS OR WORKMANSHIP WHICH SHALL APPEAR, WITHIN ONE (1) YEAR

AFTER THE COMPLETION AND ACCEPTANCE OF THE WORK UNDER THIS CONTRACT.

DIMENSIONS TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER DRAWING:  DO NOT SCALE DRAWINGS TO DETERMINE ANY

LOCATIONS.  THE ARCHITECT SHALL BE NOTIFIED OF ANY DISCREPANCY PRIOR TO CONTINUING WITH

WORK.

GENERAL NOTES

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD VERIFY ALL CONDITIONS AND DIMENSIONS PRIOR TO ANY WORK AND

SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL WORK AND MATERIALS INCLUDING THOSE FURNISHED BY

SUBCONTRACTORS.

3.  

4.  

5.  

6.

7.

8.

9.

1.  

2.  

PROJECT DIRECTORY:

PROJECT SUMMARY

VICINITY MAP

GRAPHIC SYMBOLS

TOP OF SHEATHINGT.O.S.

QUARRY TILE

RUBBER BASE

REINFORCED

RADIUS

QT       

RB       

R        

REINF    

REQUIRED

ROOF DRAIN

RIGHT OF WAY

ROOM

SCHEDULE

SHEATHING

SIMILAR

RO       

RM       

REQ'D    

ROW      

RD       

SF       

SCHED    

SHTHG    

SIM      

SPEC     

STAIN

STANDARD

STEEL

SUSPENDED

SHEET VINYL

TOP OF CURB

TREADS

STORAGE

S.S.

ST       

STD      

STL      

SV       

SUSP     

T.O.C.

T        

STOR     

SQ       SQUARE

ALT      

AFF      

ALUM     

APPROX   

ANOD     

BLKG     

BOT      

BRG      

BM       

BLOCKING

BOTTOM

BEAM

BEARING

APPROXIMATELY

ALTERNATE

ALUMINUM

ANODIZED

BUR      

CLG      

CFM      

CJ       

CB       

CO       

CLR      

CMU      

CONT     

COL      

CONC     

BUILT-UP ROOFING

CONTROL JOINT

CLEAN OUT

COLUMN

CONCRETE

CONTINUOUS

CATCH BASIN

CEILING

CLEAR

BTWN     BETWEEN

CUBIC FEET PER MINUTE

CONCRETE MASONRY UNITS

ABOVE FINISH FLOOR

ROUGH OPENING

SQUARE FOOT (FEET)

SPECIFICATIONS

STAINLESS STEEL

METAL

MISCELLANEOUS

MINIMUM

MANHOLE

NOT TO SCALE

NOMINAL

ON CENTER

PLYWOOD

PLASTIC LAMINATE

NOT IN CONTRACT

NUMBER

OUTSIDE DIAMETER

POUNDS PER SQUARE INCH

PRESSURE TREATED

POURED IN PLACE

POLYVINYL CHLORIDE

POUNDS PER SQUARE FOOT

MISC     

MTL      

MIN      

MH       

OC & O/C 

NIC      

NOM      

NTS      

PLAM 

PLYWD    

OD       

NO & #   

CW       

CPT      

CT       

DEG      

DET & DTL

DIM      

DS       

DIAG     

EXIST (E)

DWG

DIA      

DIMENSION

DOWNSPOUT

DRAWING

EXISTING

COLD WATER

DEGREE

DETAIL

DIAMETER

DIAGONAL

CARPET

CERAMIC TILE

ELEC     

EXT      

EQ       

ELEV & EL

FD       

FDN      

FOC      

FOF      

FLR      

FIN      

FACE OF 

FINISH

FLOOR

ELECTRICAL

EQUAL

EXTERIOR

FLOOR DRAIN

FOUNDATION

ELEVATION

EXPANSION JOINTEJ       

PVC      

PSI      

PT       

PIP      

FTG      

FOS      

FRP      

FOOTING

FACE OF STUD

FIBERGLASS REINF. PANEL

FACE OF FINISH

PSF      

TOP OF CONCRETET.O.CONC.

PL PLATE (PROPERTY LINE)

GAUGE

GALVANIZED

HOSE BIB

GYPSUM

HOUR

HOLLOW METAL

HORSE POWER

HORIZONTAL

HARDWARE

HEADER

HIGH PRESSURE LAMINATE

GYPSUM WALL BOARD

HANDICAP

HOT WATER TANK

INSULATION

INTERIOR

KILOWATT

POUNDS

LOW PRESSURE LAMINATE

HEATING-VENTILATING-AC

INVERT ELEVATION

HEIGHT

INSIDE DIAMETER

GLUE LAM

GALV     

GA       

HC       

HB       

GYP      

GWB      

HDWR     

HM       

HOR      

HPL

HP       

HR       

HDR      

HVAC     

INSUL    

HWT       

INT      

ID       

IE       

LB & #   

KW       

LPL

HT       

GL       

TEMPERATURE

TUBE STEEL

TYPICAL

VERTICAL

T&G      

TYP      

TEMP     

TS       

VB       

U.O.N.

VCT      

VG       

VERT     

UL       

WITH

WITHOUT

WOOD

WATERPROOF

W/       

W/O      

WC       

WD       

WR       

WRB     

WP       

VAPOR BARRIER

VINYL COMPOSITION TILE

VERTICAL GRAIN

WATER CLOSET

WATER RESISTANT

WEATHER RESISTIVE BARRIER

TONGUE & GROOVED

UNDERWRITER'S LABORATORY

UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED

TOP OF SLABT.O.SLAB

TOP OF SUB-FLOORT.O.S.F.

T.O.P. TOP OF PARAPET

AB       

AC       

@        

ANCHOR BOLT

AT

ACT       ACOUSTIC CEILING TILE

ASPHALTIC CONCRETE

MECHANICAL

MANUFACTURER

MECH     

MFR      

MATERIAL

MAXIMUM

MAT      

MAX      

OFOI

OFCI

TOOL JOINTTJ

OWNER FURNISHED OWNER

ADO AUTOMATIC DOOR OPENER

IC INTERCOM

ABBREVIATIONS:

UPTD UNPAINTED

INSTALLED

OWNER FURNISHED CONTRACTOR

INSTALLED

PAINTEDPTD

FCB       FIBER CEMENT BOARD

WWF      WELDED WIRE FABRIC

SELF ADHERING MEMBRANESAM    

TOP OF DECKT.O.D.

C       

L       

CENTER LINE MIRR.    MIRROR

REVERSEREV.    

STRUCT.    STRUCTURAL

PLUMB PLUMBINGGYP BD     GYPSUM BOARD

DTL #

SHT #

-

BLDG SECTION FLAG

INTERIOR ELEVATION TAG

DTL #

SHT #

FIXTURE/EQUIPMENT TAG -

SEE EQPT SCHEDULE

KEYNOTE

-

-

DOOR TAG - SEE DOOR

SCHEDULE

WINDOW TAG - SEE WINDOW

SCHEDULE

ROOM NAME TAG

ROOM

FINISH TAG -

SEE SHEET FINISH

SCHEDULE

-

EXTERIOR ELEVATION FLAG

DTL #

SHT #

BUILDING ASSEMBLY TAG

SEE BUILDING ASSEMBLY SCHEDULE

DTL#

SHT #

DETAIL FLAG

1

3

4 2

GRADE BASE POINT /

BENCHMARK, SEE A1.0

FOR LOCATION OF BASE

ELEVATION FOR

BUILDING HEIGHT.

FIRE

EXTINGUISHER

-

-

FOM      FACE OF MASONRY

RAIN WATER LEADERRWL      

OVERO/ 

UNO UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE 

TOP OF MULLIONT.O.MUL

F.O.      FACE OF CONCRETE

G0.00

ISSUED :

INDEX OF DRAWINGS:

0
1

-
2

9
-
2

0
1

6

C2.0

C3.0

A2.10

LEGEND:

AD0.01

A1.10

A3.10

A3.11

A3.12

A3.13

L1.0

A3.14

E1.11

C1.0

L1.1

ATTN:

FAX:

TEL:

ARCHITECT: SCOTT | EDWARDS ARCHITECTURE, LLP

2525 E BURNSIDE STREET

PORTLAND, OREGON 97214

503.226.3617

503.226.3715

JENNIFER MARSICEK, ERICA BRYANT

TEL:

FAX:

ATTN:

OWNER:

CHEHALEM PARK & RECREATION DISTRICT

125 SOUTH ELLIOTT ROAD

NEWBERG, OR  97132

503.209.2222

503.538.9669

JIM MCMASTER

ATTN:

FAX:

TEL:

CIVIL: W & H PACIFIC 

9755 SW BARNES ROAD, SUITE 300

PORTLAND, OR  97225

503.626.0455

503.526.0775

SARAH JONES, BRADY BERRY

ATTN:

FAX:

TEL:

M/E/P: INTERFACE ENGINEERING

100 SW MAIN STREET, SUITE 1600

PORTLAND, OR 97204

503.382.2266

503.

ROB MATTESON

TEL:

FAX:

ATTN:

STRUCTURAL: WDY

6443 SW BEAVERTON-HILLSDALE HWY, SUITE 210

PORTLAND, OR  97202

503.203.8111

503.

DALE DILORETO

TEL:

FAX:

ATTN:

PLANNING: CITY OF NEWBERG

414 EAST FIRST STREET

NEWBERG, OR  97132

503.537.1215

503.537.1272

STEVE OLSON

ATTN:

FAX:

TEL:

CONTRACTOR: TRIPLETT WELLMAN

1717 MT. JEFFERSON AVE.

WOODBURN, OR  97071

503.982.4188

503.982.0390

GENE WELLMAN

ATTN:

FAX:

TEL:

AQUATICS: COUNSILMAN-HUNSAKER

10733 SUNSET OFFICE DRIVE, 4TH FLOOR

ST. LOUIS, MO  63127

314.894.1245

314.894.0109

SCOTT HESTER

ATTN:

FAX:

TEL:

LANDSCAPE: W & H PACIFIC 

9755 SW BARNES ROAD, SUITE 300

PORTLAND, OR  97225

503.372.3606

503.526.0775

MARK HADLEY, MATT SIMPSON

ATTN:

FAX:

TEL:

GEOTECHNICAL: CARLSON GEOTECHNICAL

PO BOX 230997

TIGARD, OR  97281

503.601.8250

503.601.8254

JEFF JONES

MECHANICAL: TROY LOWELL, PLUMBING: CHRIS SCOTT,

ELECTRICAL: THOMAS PHUONG, MARK O'LEARY

LA OFFICE: MICHAEL MOREHART, PH: 310.734.2282

1802 HAWORTH AVENUE, NEWBERG, OREGON

NORTH

P

A

C

I

F

I

C

 

H

W

Y

 

W

9

9

W

V
I
L
L
A

 
R

D

HAWORTH AVE

RENOVATION OF EXISTING AQUATICS AND FITNESS CENTER TO NEW GYM AND FITNESS AREAS AND ADDITION OF

NEW 40,316 SF AQUATICS FACILITY TO INCLUDE SEPARATE LEISURE AND COMPETITION POOLS, LOCKER ROOMS,

OFFICES, EVENT SPACES. SITE WORK TO INCLUDE PARKING AREAS WITH NEW DRIVEWAYS OFF HAWORTH, AND

LOADING OFF NEW CUL DE SAC OFF CHERRY AS WELL AS RENOVATED PARK AND PATHWAYS.

THE EXISTING POOL AND FITNESS CENTER TO REMAIN OPERATIONAL THROUGH THE DURATION OF CONSTRUCTION.

S
H

T
 
#

S
H

T
 
#

MATCHLINE / PLAN DESIGNATION

A2.40

01.29.16 LAND USE REVIEW

SUBMITTAL

A2.20

A4.11

A4.12

A4.13

IN ADDITION TO THE BASE BUILDING BID, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING ALTERNATES:

SEE ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS FOR ADDITIONAL SCOPE OF ALTERNATES.

1. REMODEL EXISTING LOCKER AND FITNESS AREAS TO INCLUDE SEISMIC UPGRADE, FITNESS AREAS,

OFFICE SPACE AND RESTROOMS AS WELL AS NEW WINDOWS, ROOF AND MECHANICAL SYSTEMS.

2. REMODEL EXISTING NATATORIUM SPACE TO INCLUDE SEISMIC UPGRADE, GYM, FITNESS AND

WEIGHT ROOMS AS WELL AS NEW WINDOWS, ROOF AND MECHANICAL SYSTEMS.

3. ADD 6,533 SF SECOND FLOOR WALKING/JOGGING TRACK AND FITNESS AREAS INCLUDING TWO

STAIRS AND ELEVATOR OVER NEW GYM SPACE.

4. ADD 2,200 SF OUTDOOR LEISURE AND LAP POOL, CONCRETE DECK AND FENCING.

ITEMS:

ADD ALTERNATES

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

83 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

84 of 460 



8
"
S

S
8
"
S

S
8
"
S

S
8
"
S

S

Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

A

Drawn By:

Checked By:

CHEHALEM 

AQUATIC AND

FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.

NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

01.27.2016

-

-

9755 SW Barnes Rd, Suite 300

Portland, OR  97225

503-626-0455   Fax 503-526-0775

www.whpacific.com

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

85 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

86 of 460 



10"SD
10"SD

10"SD

8
"
S

S
8
"
S

S
8
"
S

S
8
"
S

S

6"W
6"W

6"W
6"W

8

"

S

D

8

"

S

D

8

"

S

D

F

S

F
S

F
S

F
S

F
S

F
S

F
S

F

S

F

S

FS FS
FS FS

FS FS
FS

FS

SD

SD

SD
SD SD SD

SD

S

D

S
D

S

D

S

D

S

D

S

D

S

D

S
D

S

D

S

D

6"SD6"SD6

"

S

D

6"SD 6"SD

S

D

S

D

S

D

S

D

F
S

F
S

S

D

SS SS SS SS SS
SS SS SS

F
S

F
S

F
S

F

S

F

S

F

S

F

S

F

S

F

S

F

S

F

S

F

S

F
S

F

S

F

S

F

S

F

S

F

S

F
S

G

G

G

G

G

G G
G

G
G G

G
G G

3

"

W

6
"
S

D
6
"
S

D

S

S

S

S

U

G

P

U

G

P

U

G

P

U

G

P

U

G

P

U

G

P

U

G

P

U

G

P

U

G

P

U

G

P

U

G

P

U

G

P

U
G

P
U

G
P

U
G

P
U

G
P

UGP
UGP

UGP
UGP UGP UGP UGP UGP

UGP
UGP

UGP
UGP

U

G

P

SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS

S

S

S

S

S

S

W

Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

A

Drawn By:

Checked By:

CHEHALEM 

AQUATIC AND

FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.

NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

01.27.2016

-

-

9755 SW Barnes Rd, Suite 300

Portland, OR  97225

503-626-0455   Fax 503-526-0775

www.whpacific.com

SD SD

T T

W W

SS SS

G G

G G

W W

FS FS

SD SD

SS SS

UGP

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

87 of 460 



COMPACT COMPACTCOMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT

VANCOMPACTCOMPACT COMPACTCOMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT

COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT

CARPOOL CARPOOL CARPOOL

CARPOOL CARPOOL CARPOOL

V
A

N

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

CO
M

PACT

CO
M

PACT

CO
M

PACT

CO
M

PACT

HAWORTH AVENUE

VI
LL

A 
RO

AD

CHERRY STREET

SI
TK

A 
AV

EN
UE

P

V
A

N

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T

COMPACT COMPACTCOMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT

VANCOMPACTCOMPACT COMPACTCOMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T

CO
M

PACT

CO
M

PACT

CO
M

PACT

CO
M

PACT

COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT

CARPOOL CARPOOL CARPOOL

CARPOOL CARPOOL CARPOOL

CHEHALEM AQUATIC AND FITNESS CENTER

GRASS VOLLEYBALL COURT

BASKETBALL COURT

PLAY AREA

EVERGREEN SCREEN / BUFFER
PLANTING ALONG SOUTH PERIMETER.

EVERGREEN SCREEN / BUFFER
PLANTING ALONG WEST PERIMETER.

WATER QUALITY / RAIN GARDEN
FEATURES (TYP)

WATER QUALITY FLOW THRU
PLANTER FEATURE (TYP)

LAWN AREA (TYP)

ORNAMENTAL LANDSCAPE. SEE
PLANT MATERIALS LEGEND. (TYP)

EXISTING PARK LAWN / OPEN
SPACE TO REMAIN (TYP)

WATER QUALITY / RAIN
GARDEN FEATURE (TYP)

WATER QUALITY / RAIN
GARDEN FEATURE (TYP)

WATER QUALITY / RAIN
GARDEN FEATURE (TYP)

WATER QUALITY / RAIN
GARDEN FEATURE (TYP)

ORNAMENTAL LANDSCAPE. SEE
PLANT MATERIALS LEGEND. (TYP)

EXISTING PARK LAWN / OPEN
SPACE TO REMAIN (TYP)

EXISTING DECIDUOUS AND
EVERGREEN TREES TO REMAIN
(TYP)

SIGHT OBSCURING SCREEN / BUFFER FENCE AT
SOUTH PERIMETER ALONG OUTDOOR POOL AND
LOADING / SERVICE AREA.

PROPOSED OUTDOOR POOL
(ALTERNATE #4) LOADING / SERVICE AREA

WATER QUALITY
FEATURE

ORNAMENTAL LANDSCAPE. SEE
PLANT MATERIALS LEGEND. (TYP)

WATER QUALITY / RAIN
GARDEN FEATURE (TYP)

ORNAMENTAL LANDSCAPE. SEE
PLANT MATERIALS LEGEND. (TYP)

SCOTT EDWARDS ARCHITECTURE LLP|

2525 E. Burnside St., Portland, OR 97214
phone:(503) 226-3617 www.seallp.com

Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

Drawn By:

Checked By:

S E| A

CHEHALEM
AQUATIC AND
FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.
NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

01.27.2016

-

-

9755 SW Barnes Rd, Suite 300
Portland, OR 97225
503-626-0455 Fax 503-526-0775
www.whpacific.com

L1.0

MPS

MAH

PRELIMINARY LANDSCAPE
PLAN

WHP# 9297W

C

RE

A
N

D
S

L

G RE

I T

OREGON

A P E A R CH

D

C
E

T

TI S E
62 1

MATTHEW P. SIMPSON

12/19/89

CAREX OPNUPTA
JUNCUS PATENS
SCIRPTUS AMERICANUS

SLOUGH SEDGE
SPREADING RUSH
AMERICAN BULRUSH

6" PLUG
6" PLUG
6" PLUG

12" O.C
12" O.C
12" O.C

THE PLANTING DESIGN SHALL BE INSTALLED TO MIMIC NATURAL CONDITIONS. THEREFORE, TREES AND SHRUBS
SHOULD NOT BE INSTALLED IN A GRID OR LINEAR PATTERN IN ORDER TO AVOID PLANTING IN AN UN-NATURAL
APPEARANCE.

ACER CIRCINATUM VINE MAPLE 6'-7' B&B

CORNUS SERICEA 'KELSEYII' KELSEY DOGWOOD 1 GAL CAN.
MAHONIA AQUIFOLIUM OREGON GRAPE 1 GAL CAN.
SYMPHORICARPOS ALBUS SNOWBERRY 1 GAL CAN.

ARCTOSTAPHYLOS UVA-URSI KINNIKINNICK 1 GAL CAN @ 12" O.C

PHILADELPHUS LEWISII MOCK ORANGE 3 GAL CAN.
SALIX PURPUREA 'NANA' BLUE ARCTIC WILLOW 3 GAL CAN.

24" O.C
36" O.C

48" O.C
72" O.C

SAMBUCUS RACEMOSA RED ELDERBERRY 3 GAL CAN. 120" O.C

36" O.C

CAREX OPNUPTA SLOUGH SEDGE 1 GAL CAN 12" O.C

CORNUS SERICEA 'KELSEYII' KELSEY DOGWOOD 1 GAL CAN. 24" O.C

DESCHAMPSIA CESPITOSA TUFTED HAIR GRASS
IRIS DOUGLASII DOUGLAS IRIS

1 GAL CAN 12" O.C
1 GAL CAN 12" O.C

CAN3 GALCAMELLIASCAMELLIA VARIETIES

B&B7' -8WEEPING ALASKAN CEDARCHAMAECYPARIS NOOTKENSIS 'PENDULA'

EXISTING TREES ALONG PORTLAND AVENUE TO REMAIN

AC

APSK

NS

RV

NDFP

MV
RGKA B&B18"-24"RHODODENDRONRHODODENDRON 'GIRARD'S KATHY ANN'

CAN

CAN

CAN

3 GAL

MANZANITA

FIRE POWER HEAVENLY BAMBOO

ROSE

MANZANITA VARIETIES

NANDINA DOMESTICA 'FIRE POWER'

ROSA VARIETIES

B&B2" CALTUPELO TOWER BLACKGUMNYSSA SYLVATICA 'TUPELO TOWER'

B&B8'-10'SANGO KAKU JAPANESE MAPLEACER PALMATUM 'SANGO KAKU'

B&B, 3 STEM8'-10'VINE MAPLEACER CIRCINATUM

BV CAN3 GALBARBERRYBERBERIS VARIETIES

PENNISETUM ALOPECUROIDES 'HAMELN'PAH CANDWARF FOUNTAIN GRASS

IMPERATA CYLINDRICAIC CANCOGON GRASS

ARCTOSTAPHYLOS UVA-URSIAUU 1 GAL.KINNIKINNICK
EFC PLANT 24" OC1 GAL.WINTERCREEPEREUONYMUS FOTRUNEI COLORATUS

OPHIOPOGON PLANISCAPUSOP CANMONDO GRASS

SBAW CAN3 GALANTHONY WATERER SPIREASPIREA BUMALDA 'ANTHONY WATERER'

CSB CAN3 GALMAGENTA ROCK ROSECISTUS 'SUNSET BRILLIANCY'

CALAMAGROSTIS 'KARL FORESTER'CKF CAN1 GAL.FEATHER REED GRASS

HSO PLANT 24" OC1 GAL.DAYLILLIESHERMEROCALLIS 'STELLA D' ORO'

PLANT 24" OC

CNP B&B

CV
3 GAL

3 GAL

1 GAL.

1 GAL.
1 GAL.

LANDSCAPE ACCENT BOULDERS - MOSS ROCK AT VARIOUS SIZES /
QUANTITIES.

LIT B&B1.5" CALTUSCARORA CRAPE MYRTLELAGERSTROEMIA INDICA 'TUSCARORA'

SP B&B1.5" CALJAPANESE STEWARTIASTEWARTIA PSUEDOCAMELLIA

QRF B&B2" CALCOLUMNAR RED OAKQUERCUS ROBUR 'FASTIGIATA'

EAC CAN3 GALCOMPACT BURNING BUSHEUONYMUS ALATUS COMPACTA
LV CAN3 GALLAVENDERLAVANDULA VARIETIES
CTV CAN3 GALVICTORIA CALIFORNIA LILACCEANOTHUS THYRSIFLORUS 'VICTORIA'
EV CAN3 GALHEATHERICA VARIETIES

PROJECT SITE AREA 221,788 SQUARE FEET (5.1 AC)

SITE LANDSCAPE AREA (EXISTING & PROPOSED) 73,817 SQUARE FEET (1.69 AC)
SITE LANDSCAPE PROVIDED 33 %

IMAGE ILLUSTRATES LANDSCAPE DESIGN INTENT. FOR REFERENCE ONLY

SEE DETAIL SHEET FOR FLOW THROUGH PLANTER TEMPLATE 2 PLANT LAYOUT DESIGN.

PREPARED BY WHPACIFIC LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS.
A COMPLETE IRRIGATION PLAN, RELATED DETAILS, AND TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS WILL BE

PREVENTION DEVICES WILL BE INSTALLED TO MEET APPLICABLE CODES. THE IRRIGATION
SYSTEM WILL BE DESIGNED AND CONSTRUCTED TO BE AS EFFICIENT IN TERMS OF WATER

THE IRRIGATION SYSTEM WILL BE A FULLY AUTOMATIC UNDERGROUND SYSTEM. BACKFLOW

USAGE AS POSSIBLE.

PROVIDE AND INSTALL NEW SEEDED LAWN AT NEW CONSTRUCTION AREAS. REPAIR ALL EXISTING LAWN AREAS DISTURBED DURING SITE CONSTRUCTION.

WATER QUALITY / RAIN GARDEN FEATURE PLANT MATERIALS LISTING

TREES

HERBACEOUS
BOTTOM PLANTING = 4,285 S.F.

SIDE SLOPE PLANTING = 6,068 S.F.

WATER QUALITY / RAIN GARDEN SHRUB MIX GENERAL NOTE

LARGE

G.C.

SHRUBS

MED/SM
SHRUBS

FLOW THROUGH PLANTER - TEMPLATE 2 PLANT MATERIALS LISTING

HERBACEOUS
PLANTER AREA = 630 S.F.

SHRUB

DECIDUOUS TREES

EVERGREEN SCREEN TREES

LARGE / MEDIUM / SMALL ORNAMENTAL WATER EFFICIENT SHRUBS, GRASSES, AND GROUNDCOVER

GENERAL LEGEND

ORNAMENTAL DECIDUOUS TREES

MULTI-STEM SMALL ORNAMENTAL TREE

SEEDED LAWN

SITE LANDSCAPE DATA

WATER QUALITY / RAIN GARDEN DESIGN IMAGERY

NOTE:

IRRIGATION DESIGN NOTE

PRELIMINARY

PLANT MATERIALS LISTINGSUGGESTED

4,285 HERBACIOUS PLANTS REQUIRED.

1 TREE / 200SF = 30 TREES REQUIRED

3 LG SHRUBS / 100 SF = 182 SHRUBS REQUIRED.

70 G.C. / 100 SF = 4,248 G.C. REQUIRED

4 MED/SM SHRUBS / 100 SF = 243 SHRUBS REQUIRED.

SIZE / SPACINGCOMMON NAMEBOTANICAL NAMESYMBOL

( FEET )

SCALE

1 INCH = 30 FT.

30 30 60150

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

88 of 460 



Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

A

Drawn By:

Checked By:

CHEHALEM 

AQUATIC AND

FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.

NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

01.27.2016

-

-

9755 SW Barnes Rd, Suite 300

Portland, OR  97225

503-626-0455   Fax 503-526-0775

www.whpacific.com

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

89 of 460 



2

1

5

6

7

4

8

8

9

9

9

5

4

5

7

5

9

4

4

10

11

11

5

3

3

11

3

Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

A

Drawn By:

Checked By:

CHEHALEM 

AQUATIC AND

FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.

NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

12.23.2015

-

-

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

N

O

T

 

F

O

R

C

O

N

S

T

R

U

C

T

I

O

N

EXISTING SITE AND 

DEMOLITION PLAN

AD0.01

1"=30'-0"

EXISTING SITE  & DEMOLITION PLAN

NORTH

GENERAL NOTES:

1. PROTECT ALL BUILDINGS, UTILITIES, SITE WORK,

VEGETATION, ETC. TO REMAIN.

2.

3. SEE SITE PLAN FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.

4. SEE CIVIL DRAWINGS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.

5. MOVE (E) UTILITIES & UTILITY MONUMENTS AS NECESSARY

FOR NEW CONSTRUCTION.

6. MAINTAIN EXISTING WALKS, PARKING, ADA ETC...AS

NECESSARY FOR CONSTRUCTION PHASING. ALL

DEMOLITION MAY NOT OCCUR AT ONCE.

KEYNOTES - DEMOLITION SITE PLAN:

1
(E) CURB & DRIVEWAY TO BE ABANDONED

EXISTING WALKWAYS, LANDSCAPING AND SITE

FURNISHINGS TO REMAIN. REPAIR AS NECESSARY

EXISTING SITE FENCING TO REMAIN.

EXISTING TREES TO REMAIN, TYP.  TREE DRIPLINES

AND TREE PROTECTION AREA ARE APPROXIMATE,

VERIFY WITH ARBORIST.

EXISTING TREES AND SHRUBS TO BE REMOVED, TYP.

UNO.

REMOVE EXISTING VOLLEYBALL STANDARDS AND

CONCRETE PATIO.  PRESERVE AND PROTECT

EXISTING PATIO FURNITURE AND (2) CONCRETE PING

PONG TABLES FOR USE IN NEW PATIO.

REMOVE EXISTING ASPHALT PARKING, CURBS,

SIGNAGE, LIGHTING AND UTILITIES THIS AREA FOR

NEW WORK.

REMOVE EXISITING PLAYGROUND, BASKETBALL

COURT AND SITE FURNISHINGS.

2

3

4

5

6

DRAWING LEGEND:

EXISTING BLDG TO REMAIN:

EXISTING SITE WORK

TO REMAIN:

EXISTING CONST & SITE

WORK TO BE REMOVED:

OUTLINE OF NEW PARKING

AND BUILDING AREA:

TREE PROTECTION AREA:

PROVIDE 6' TALL GALV.

CHAINLINK FENCING W/ 2"Ø

POSTS 8' OC MAX.

7

8

EXISTING ASPHALT WALKWAYS AND PADS TO BE

REMOVED.

REMOVE EXISTING TREES, LANDSCAPING AND SITE

FURNISHINGS FOR NEW CUL-DE-SAC.

REMOVE EXISTING SITE FENCING.

9

10

11

01.29.16 LAND USE REVIEW

SUBMITTAL

0 10' 20' 30' 60'

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

90 of 460 



V
A

N

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T

COMPACT COMPACTCOMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT

VAN
COMPACTCOMPACT COMPACTCOMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T

C

O

M

P

A

C

T

C

O

M

P

A

C

T

C

O

M

P

A

C

T

C

O

M

P

A

C

T

COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT

CARPOOL CARPOOL CARPOOL

CARPOOL CARPOOL CARPOOL

10 STALLS

10 STALLS

14

STALLS

335'-0"147'-4"

17 STALLS

21 STALLS

NEW

HALF COURT

BASKETBALL

10 STALLS

HAWORTH AVENUE

P
A

R
K

I
N

G
 
A

N
D

 
P

L
A

Y
 
S

E
T

B
A

C
K

B
U

I
L

D
I
N

G
 
S

E
T

B
A

C
K

9 STALLS

9 STALLS

5 SPACES

1 SPACE

1 SPACE

CHERRY STREET

5'-0"

25'-0"

16'-0"

20'-0"

PARKING

 62,706 SF 143 STALLS

PARK AREA

44,221 SF

7

STALLS

14 STALLS

~
3

6
'
-
0

"

6
0

'
-
0

"

R
O

W
 
W

I
D

T
H

~
1

7
'
-
0

"
~

4
2

'
-
1

1
"

1
0

'
-
0

"

EXISTING UTILITY

EASEMENT

V
I
L
L
A

 
R

O
A

D

NEW

PLAYGROUND

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 
L

I
N

E

30

3

3

2 SPACES 2 SPACES
2 SPACES 2 SPACES

3 SPACES

4

4

6

6

12

6

6

R

2

8

'
-
0

"

2
4

'
-
0

"

2
4

'
-
0

"

25'-0"

3
0

'
-
3

"

8

9

10

10

13

13

14

14

15

18

18

19

20

22

23

16

7

EXISTING BUILDING

21,280 SF

FF 206.58'

NEW BUILDING

40,390 SF

FF 206.58'

(E) CONC. WALKWAYS

TO REMAIN

1
1

'
-
2

"
1

6
'
-
0

"
1

0
'
-
1

1
"

1
6

'
-
0

"
2

4
'
-
0

"
1

4
'
-
0

"

1
6

'
-
0

"
1

6
'
-
0

"

16'-0"

2
2

'
-
7

 
5

/
8

"

5
6

'
-
0

"

R

2

8

'

-

0

"

24'-0"

4

STALLS

7

STALLS

4

STALLS

24'-0"

6
'
-
0

"
8

2
'
-
1

1
"

2
0

'
-
1

"
1

6
'
-
0

"
3

2
'
-
0

"

120'-0"

1

1

1

25

2
2

'
-
0

"

1
8

'
-
0

"

26

26

2
4

'
-
4

"
3

5
'
-
7

"

1
8

'
-
0

"

4
8

'
-
1

1
"

9
9

'
-
7

 
1

/
2

"

112'-5"

2
7

'
-
1

1
"

R

2

6

'

-

0

"

R

4

6

'

-

0

"

7

STALLS

5
6

'
-
0

"
6

'
-
0

"

R

2

8

'

-

0

"

R

2

8

'

-

0

"

R

5

2

'
-

0

"

R
4
8
'
-
0
"

NEW GRASS

VOLLEYBALL

2

17

5

5

2

7

2

11

11

1
3

'
-
2

"

7
'
-
0

"

7'-0"

27

27

ALTERNATE #4

SEE 2/A1.10

28

28

28

28

28

2828

28

28

1
5

'
-
0

"

5
'
-
0

"

1
1

'
-
9

 
3

/
4

"

P
R

I
V

A
T

E
 
S

T
R

E
E

T
 
/
 
4
0
'
 
W

I
D

E

W
I
L
L
I
A

M
S

 
S

T
R

E
E

T

EXISTING EASEMENT

AREA

5' X 8' TALL FREESTANDING

ELECTRONIC IMAGE SIGN

4' X 2'-9" TALL CPRD PARK SIGN

4' X 3.5' TALL

FREESTANDING

SIGN

1
0

'
-
0

"

5'-0"

OUTDOOR

PATIO

21

R

2

1

'
-

0

"

R

2

8

'

-

0

"

R

3

0

'

-

0

"

18

2222 22 22 22

22

22

2222

11

11

29

29

ACCESSIBLE ROUTE

24

OUTDOOR POOL

Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

A

Drawn By:

Checked By:

CHEHALEM 

AQUATIC AND

FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.

NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

12.23.2015

-

-

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

N

O

T

 

F

O

R

C

O

N

S

T

R

U

C

T

I

O

N

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

A1.10

1"=30'-0"

SITE  PLAN

NORTH

1/16"=1'-0"

OUTDOOR POOL PLAN - ALTERNATE # 4

NORTH

GENERAL NOTES - SITE PLAN:

1. PROTECT ALL BUILDINGS, UTILITIES, VEGETATION, ETC. TO

REMAIN.

2. SEE CIVIL DRAWINGS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.

3. MAINTAIN 2% MAX CROSS SLOPE AT ALL NEW  CONCRETE

WALKWAYS & ACCESSIBLE AISLES.

4. MOVE (E) UTILITIES & UTILITY MONUMENTS AS NECESSARY

FOR NEW CONSTRUCTION.

5. APPROXIMATELY 35,000 SF OF LANDSCAPING (OFOI) IN

BASE BID

6. ALTERNATE #5:  INCLUDE 35,000 SF OF LANDSCAPING,

BASKETBALL COURT AND PLAYGROUND IN CONTRACTOR'S

SCOPE

KEYNOTES - SITE PLAN:

1

NEW FIRE HYDRANT, SEE CIVIL

NEW 6' WIDE PAVED PATH THROUGH PARK.

EXISTING SIDEWALK TO REMAIN, REPAIR AS NEEDED. INFILL

AT EXISTING DRIVEWAY TO BE REMOVED.

EXISTING ON STREET PARKING.

NEW BIKE LANE PER CITY OF NEWBERG STANDARD.

NEW TREES, SEE LANDSCAPE.

EXISTING TREES TO REMAIN.

NEW CUL-DE-SAC W/ NEW 5' WIDE SIDEWALK AND 6'-6" WIDE

PLANTING STRIP WITHIN PROPERTY LINE ONLY, ADJACENT

SITE OWNER TO COMPLETE SIDEWALK AND PLANTING

STRIP ON ADJACENT SITE

EXISTING DRIVEWAY LOCATION, PROVIDE NEW CONCRETE

DRIVEWAY APRON PER CITY OF NEWBERG STANDARD.

NEW DRIVEWAY WITH CONCRETE APRON PER CITY OF

NEWBERG STANDARD.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

NEW CONCRETE WALK OR PLAZA AROUND EXISTING AND

NEW BUILDINGS.

RELOCATED BALLOT DROP BOX.

PASSENGER DROP OFF AREA.

ADA PARKING SPACES W/ ACCESSIBLE AISLE, CURB RAMP

AND SIGNAGE.

NEW 2,940 SF PLAYGROUND  W/ NEW EQUIPMENT, SOFT

SURFACE AND BENCHES (OFOI)

NEW 42' BY 50' ASPHALT BASKETBALL COURT W/ NEW

EQUIPMENT AND BENCHES (OFOI)

NEW GRASS VOLLEYBALL COURT AND STANDARDS.

NEW BIKE RACKS; 5 RACKS FOR 10 SPACES.

TRASH AND RECYCLING ENCLOSURE, CMU W/ SLIDING

STEEL GATE.

NEW ASPHALT SERVICE YARD.

5,140 SF CONCRETE PATIO WITH  RELOCATED PICNIC

TABLES AND PING PONG TABLES.

LANDSCAPE ISLAND, SEE CIVIL AND LANDSCAPE.

FIRE APPARATUS TURN AROUND.

ALTERNATE #4: 2,200 SF OUTDOOR POOL W/ ADDITIONAL

700 SF OF CONCRETE PATIO SURROUNDING POOL,

REFERENCE SWIMMING POOL DRAWINGS.

NEW DRINKING FOUNTAIN.

RIGHT OF WAY DEDICATION.

NEW CHAINLINK FENCE, MATCH EXISTING HEIGHT, PROVIDE

TWO PAIRS OF GATES W/ PANIC HARDWARE.

WATER QUALITY PLANTERS, SEE CIVIL AND LANDSCAPE.

SITE BENCH.

NEW CURB TIGHT SIDEWALK.

11

25

26

27

28

29

30

01.29.16 LAND USE REVIEW

SUBMITTAL

SITE PLAN SUMMARY:

PARKING:

STANDARD STALLS: 101

(INCLUDES 6 CARPOOL AND 7 ACCESSIBLE STALLS)

COMPACT STALLS: 42

TOTAL: 143

LOADING:

TWO SPACES REQUIRED, TWO PROVIDED, 10'X35'

BIKE PARKING:

REQUIRED NEW COMMERCIAL: 1 PER 10,000 GSF; 7 SPACES

REQUIRED PARKS: 2 WITHIN 50' OF DEVELOPED PLAY-GROUND

PROVIDED:

NEW COMMERCIAL: 8

PARK: 4

0 10' 20' 30' 60'

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

91 of 460 



E7 E6 E5 E4 E3 E2 E1

EA

EB

EC

ED

EE

EF

EG

C

D

E

F

262524232221201918171615141312111098765432

1

27

A

B

NATATORIUM POOL AND DECK

25,051 SF

ENTRY LOBBY

2,193 SF

AQUA.

MNGR.

190 SF

WOMEN'S LOCKERS

1,041 SF

MEN'S LOCKERS

1,041 SF

(4) FAMILY

83 SF EA

PERMANENT ELEVATED SEATING

1,232 SF 206 SEATS

302 SEATS TOTAL

POOL MECH

1,269 SF

LEISURE POOL

WET

CLASSROOM

600 SF

EVENT

RENTAL

344 SF

(2) RR

56 SF EA

VEST.

205 SF

LIFE GUARD

190 SF

MEN'S

DRESS / RR

340 SF

WOMEN'S

DRESS / RR

366 SF

COMPETITION / LAP POOL

OFFICE/

STAFF

ROOM

587 SF

MECH / ELEC /

STORAGE

1,104 SF

113'-7 1/4"

9
9
'
-
8
"

OFFICE

193 SF

ELEC.

80 SF

CUST.

74 SF

VEST.

115 SF

335'-0 3/16"

9'-3 13/16" 43'-2 1/2"

108'-7"

19'-8"88'-4"81'-7"

3
3
'
-
5
"

1
2
'
-
0
"

BUILDING EXPANSION

(2) EMPL.

60 SF EA

SPA

28'-11 1/4"

144'-11 5/8"

147'-4"

EXISTING BUILDING

111'-0"

30 SEATS
18 SEATS

18 SEATS

2
0
'
-
1
1
 
5
/
8
"

30 SEATS

52'-2 1/4"

ACID

64 SF

CHLOR

64 SF

ELEC

300 SF

POOL STORAGE

335 SF

BUILDING

MECH

647 SF

3

A4.11

1

A4.11

2

A4.11

1

A4.12

1

A4.12

1

A4.10

1

A4.10

1

A3.10

4

A3.10

3

A3.12

1

A3.12

1

A3.11

3

A3.10

1

A3.13

2

A3.10

1

A4.13

TELE.

77 SF

2
1
'
-
4
"

72'-3"

FIRE

RISER

GYMNASIUM

8,457 SF

WEIGHTS AND

FITNESS EQUIP.

2,062 SF

FITNESS CLASSROOM

669 SF

LOBBY

589 SF

FITNESS CLASSROOM

1,240 SF

WEIGHTS

884 SF

WEIGHTS

1,832 SF

STORAGE

1,327 SF

WMNS

RR

461 SF

MENS

RR

327 SF

114'-0 3/4"

6
0
'
-
4
 
3
/
4
"

AREA SUMMARY

EXISTING BUILDING AREA: 21,280 GSF

SECOND FLOOR AREA: 6,223 GSF

ADDITION AREA: 40,390 GSF

TOTAL: 67,893 GSF

ALTERNATE #1

ALTERNATES #2

AND #3

Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

A

Drawn By:

Checked By:

CHEHALEM 

AQUATIC AND

FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.

NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

12.23.2015

-

-

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

N

O

T

 

F

O

R

C

O

N

S

T

R

U

C

T

I

O

N

FIRST LEVEL PLAN - 

OVERALL

A2.10

1/16" = 1'-0"

FIRST LEVEL PLAN - OVERALL

NORTH

GENERAL NOTES:

1. ALL DIMENSIONS & GRIDLINES TO CENTERLINE OF COLUMN,

FACE OF CMU, STUD U.N.O.

2. EPOXY PAINT ALL EXPOSED STRUCTURE, PLASTER WALLS

& CMU. PROTECT PRE FINISHED ACOUSTICAL ROOF DECK.

3. SEE POOL DRAWINGS FOR SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION &

MATERIALS TREATMENT.

4. EXTERIOR WALLS TO BE 1A U.N.O.

5. INTERIOR WALLS TO BE I1A U.N.O.

6. FLOOR ASSEMBLY TO BE F1 U.N.O.

7. ROOF ASSEMBLY TO BE R1 U.N.O.

8. EXISTING EXTERIOR WALL IS 5A U.N.O.

9. REF A4.11 BUILDING SECTIONS FOR ASSEMBLIES

01.29.16 LAND USE REVIEW

SUBMITTAL

0 4' 12' 16' 32'

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

92 of 460 



E7 E6 E5 E4 E3 E2 E1

EA

EB

EC

ED

EE

EF

EG

C

D

E

F

262524232221201918171615141312111098765432

1

27

A

B

STRETCHING

963 SF

STRETCHING

1,527 SF

TRACK

2,414 SF

3

A4.11

1

A4.11

2

A4.11

1

A4.12

1

A4.12

1

A4.10

1

A4.10

1

A3.10

4

A3.10

3

A3.12

1

A3.12

1

A3.11

3

A3.10

1

A3.13

2

A3.10

1

A4.13

ALTERNATE #3

2

A3.12

Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

A

Drawn By:

Checked By:

CHEHALEM 

AQUATIC AND

FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.

NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

12.23.2015

-

-

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

N

O

T

 

F

O

R

C

O

N

S

T

R

U

C

T

I

O

N

SECOND LEVEL PLAN - 

OVERALL

A2.20

1/16" = 1'-0"

FIRST LEVEL PLAN - OVERALL

NORTH

GENERAL NOTES:

1. ALL DIMENSIONS & GRIDLINES TO CENTERLINE OF COLUMN,

FACE OF CMU, STUD U.N.O.

2. EPOXY PAINT ALL EXPOSED STRUCTURE, PLASTER WALLS

& CMU. PROTECT PRE FINISHED ACOUSTICAL ROOF DECK.

3. SEE POOL DRAWINGS FOR SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION &

MATERIALS TREATMENT.

4. EXTERIOR WALLS TO BE 1A U.N.O.

5. INTERIOR WALLS TO BE I1A U.N.O.

6. FLOOR ASSEMBLY TO BE F1 U.N.O.

7. ROOF ASSEMBLY TO BE R1 U.N.O.

8. EXISTING EXTERIOR WALL IS 5A U.N.O.

9. REF A4.11 BUILDING SECTIONS FOR ASSEMBLIES

LAND USE REVIEW

SUBMITTAL

01.29.16

0 4' 12' 16' 32'

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

93 of 460 



E7 E6 E5 E4 E3 E2 E1

EA

EB

EC

ED

EE

EF

EG

C

D

E

F

262524232221201918171615141312111098765432

1

27

A

B

E7 E6 E5 E4 E3 E2

EA

EB

EC

ED

EE

EF

EG

3

A4.11

1

A4.11

2

A4.11

1

A4.12

1

A4.12

1

A4.10

1

A4.10

1

A3.10

4

A3.10

3

A3.12

1

A3.12

1

A3.11

3

A3.10

1

A3.13

2

A3.10

1

A4.13

A
2
.
4
1

A
2
.
4
2

A
2
.
4
1

A
2
.
4
2

A
2
.
4
2

A
2
.
4
3

A
2
.
4
2

A
2
.
4
3

2

5

2

(E) RD

(E) DS

(E) DS

(E) RD

(E) RD

(
E

)
 
S

O
F

F
I
T

(
N

)
 
S

O
F

F
I
T

3
/
8

"
 
/
 
1

2
"
 
S

L
O

P
E

3
/
8

"
 
/
 
1

2
"
 
S

L
O

P
E

3
/
8

"
 
/
 
1

2
"
 
S

L
O

P
E

3
/
8

"
 
/
 
1

2
"

S
L

O
P

E

3
/
8

"
 
/
 
1

2
"

S
L

O
P

E

3

3

1

5

4
4

6

6

6

7

2

A3.12

8

8

Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

A

Drawn By:

Checked By:

CHEHALEM 

AQUATIC AND

FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.

NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

12.23.2015

-

-

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

N

O

T

 

F

O

R

C

O

N

S

T

R

U

C

T

I

O

N

ROOF PLAN -

OVERALL

A2.40

1/16" = 1'-0"

ROOF PLAN - OVERALL

NORTH

3'X4' ROOF HATCH.

MEMBRANE ROOFING, SEE ASSEMBLIES.

EXISTING BUILT UP OR MEMBRANE ROOFING, MECHANICAL

EQUIPMENT, VANS, VENTS, ETC. TO REMAIN.

SEE ALTERNATES FOR NEW WORK.

PHOTOVOLTAIC SYSTEM (BIDDER DESIGNED): 70 KW GRID

TIED PV SYSTEM, 300 WATT MODULE, 240 TOTAL, SLOPE

PANELS 5°.

BUILT-UP ROOFING, SEE ASSEMBLIES.

1

2

KEYNOTES - ROOF PLAN OVERALL:

3

1.  PROTECT (E) ROOF SYSTEM FROM DAMAGE DURING

CONSTRUCTION.

2. PROVIDE ROOF PROTECTION WALKWAY FROM ROOF

ACCESS TO AND AROUND ALL NEW MECHANICAL

EQUIPMENT.

3. PROVIDE OSHA COMPLIANT ROOF TIE-OFF SYSTEM AT

BUILDING ADDITION.

4. SEE ENLARGED ROOF PLANS FOR FURTHER INFORMATION.

GENERAL NOTES:

4

5

MECHANICAL SCREEN, SEE ASSEMBLIES.

PRE-FINISHED METAL GUTTER AND DOWNSPOUTS.

ROOF TOP EQUIPMENT, SEE MECHANICAL.

6

7

8

01.29.16 LAND USE REVIEW

SUBMITTAL

0 4' 12' 16' 32'

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

94 of 460 



SWIM

PLAY

E7E6E5E4E3E2E1

3456789101112131415161718192021222324252627

2 1

1/16"=1'-0"

NORTH ELEVATION 

FIN FL

0'-0" (206.50' ASL)

T.O.  PARAPET 

14'-0"

T.O. (E) ROOF

+/- 28'-3"

FIN FL

0'-0" (206.50' ASL)

3

A4.11

1

A4.11

2

A4.11

T.O.  ROOF

30'-0"

1

A4.13

1
/
A

3
.
1
1

2
/
A

3
.
1
1

ALT 2

F E D C B A

EA EB EC ED EE EF EG

1/16"=1'-0"

EAST ELEVATION

FIN FL

0'-0" (206.50' ASL)

T.O.  PARAPET 

14'-0"

T.O.  ROOF

30'-0"

1

A4.12

1

A4.10

E7 E6 E5 E4 E3 E2 E1

3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 2621 27

1/16"=1'-0"

SOUTH ELEVATION 

T.O. (E) ROOF

+/- 28'-3"

FIN FL

0'-0" (206.50' ASL)

FIN FL

0'-0" (206.50' ASL)

T.O.  PARAPET 

14'-0"

T.O.  ROOF

30'-0"

3

A4.11

1

A4.11

2

A4.11

1

A4.13

1
/
A

3
.
1
3

2
/
A

3
.
1
3

ALT 3

ALT 2

ALT 2

FEDCBA

EG EF EE ED EC EB EA

1/16"=1'-0"

WEST ELEVATION

ALT 3

T.O. (E) ROOF

+/- 28'-3"

FIN FL

0'-0" (206.50' ASL)

1

A4.12

1

A4.10

ALT 2

ALT 2

Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

A

Drawn By:

Checked By:

CHEHALEM 

AQUATIC AND

FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.

NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

12.23.2015

-

-

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

N

O

T

 

F

O

R

C

O

N

S

T

R

U

C

T

I

O

N

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

OVERALL

A3.10

GENERAL NOTES - ELEVATION:

LEGEND - ELEVATION :

1. ALL DIMENSIONS & GRIDLINES TO CENTERLINE OF COLUMN,

FACE OF STUD U.N.O.

2. ALL GLAZING TEMPERED BELOW 18" & WITHIN 12" TO DOOR.

3. SEE POOL DRAWINGS FOR SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION &

MATERIALS TREATMENT.

01.29.16 LAND USE REVIEW

SUBMITTAL

0 4' 8' 16' 32'

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

95 of 460 



PLAY

E7E6E5E4E3E2E1

34567

2 1

1/8"=1'-0"

NORTH ELEVATION - WEST

T.O. (E) ROOF

+/- 28'-3"

2
'
-
8

"

9
'
-
2

"

2
'
-
0

"

2
'
-
0

"

1
4

'
-
0

"

1
0

'
-
0

"

FIN FL

0'-0" (206.50' ASL)

T.O.  PARAPET 

14'-0"

T.O. ROOF

30'-0"

2

15

4

2

17

5

5

7

8

13

13

13

1616

14

20

21

3

A4.11

1

A4.11

6

1

A4.11

11

26

ALT 2

SWIM

89101112131415161718192021222324252627

1/8"=1'-0"

NORTH ELEVATION -EAST

FIN FL

0'-0" (206.50' ASL)

T.O.  PARAPET 

14'-0"

T.O. ROOF

30'-0"

2
'
-
0

"
1

2
'
-
0

"

2
'
-
0

"

2
'
-
8

"
8

'
-
4

"
3

'
-
0

"
9

'
-
0

"
3

'
-
0

"

1

2

4

5

17

2

A4.11

17

3

9

10

7 7 7 11

CHEHALEM
AQUATIC
AND FITNESS
CENTER

CHEHALEM AQUATIC
AND FITNESS

CENTER

1/2"=1'-0"

SIGNAGE ELEVATIONS

4'-0"

1
'
-
9

 
5

/
8

"
1

'
-
0

"

5'-0"

7
'
-
6

"
6

"

3
'
-
0

"
6

"

4'-0"

SINGLE SIDED

ENGRAVED

REYCYCLED PLASTIC

CHEHALEM PARK AND

RECREATION

DISTRICT STANDARD

SIGN, MOUNTED TO

TWO 6X6 STAINED

POSTS EA. SIDE.

MAJOR

FREESTANDING SIGN

HAWORTH, 7.2 SF (50

SF ALLOWED)

DOUBLE SIDED METAL

CABINET SIGN,

MOUNTED TO

CONCRETE BASE

WITH INTERNALLY LIT

CUT TRANSLUCENT

LETTERS AND

ELECTRONIC

MESSAGE CENTER.

MAJOR

FREESTANDING SIGN

HAWORTH, 37.5 SF (50

SF ALLOWED)

ELECTRONIC

MESSAGE CENTER,

9.3 SF (30 SF

ALLOWED)

EMC

DOUBLE SIDED METAL

CABINET SIGN,

MOUNTED TO

CONCRETE BASE

WITH INTERNALLY LIT

CUT TRANSLUCENT

LETTERS.

MAJOR

FREESTANDING SIGN

VILLA, 12 SF (14.6 SF

ALLOWED)

6
"

EQ.

5
 
5

/
8

"

3
"

EQ.

Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

A

Drawn By:

Checked By:

CHEHALEM 

AQUATIC AND

FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.

NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

12.23.2015

-

-

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

N

O

T

 

F

O

R

C

O

N

S

T

R

U

C

T

I

O

N

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

NORTH

A3.11

GENERAL NOTES - ELEVATION:

LEGEND - ELEVATION :

1. ALL DIMENSIONS & GRIDLINES TO CENTERLINE OF COLUMN,

FACE OF STUD U.N.O.

2. ALL GLAZING TEMPERED BELOW 18" & WITHIN 12" TO DOOR.

3. SEE POOL DRAWINGS FOR SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION &

MATERIALS TREATMENT.

EXISTING BUILDING, PAINTED

EXIST. STOREFRONT WINDOWS TO REMAIN

GROUND FACE CMU W/ GRAFFITI SEALER

NEW STOREFRONT IN NEW OPEN'G @ EXISTING BLDG

ALTERNATE #2

KEYNOTES - ELEVATION:

1

BUILT-UP ROOFING

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

NEW METAL CANOPY @ EXISTING BUILDING

10

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

11

PHOTOVOLTAIC ARRAY (BIDDER DESIGNED) VALUE @

1.5% OF CONSTRUCTION COST.

BACK PAINTED SPANDREL GLASS PANEL - WHITE

ALTERNATE #3

21

NEW FLAG POLE.  (3) FLAGS OFOI

22

SEISMIC JOINT AT EXIST'G TO NEW CONSTRUCTION

23

ALUM & GLASS STOREFRONT GARAGE DOOR

25

26

PERFORATED METAL SCREEN FOR VENTILATION OF

MECHANICAL EQUIP

ALUM STOREFRONT SYSTEM W/ SOLAR BAN 60 PPG

GLAZING, KYNAR FINISH. TYP.

MTL CLAD COLUMN WRAP TO MATCH STOREFRONT

CEMENT BOARD STUCCO

MEDIUM STYLE STOREFRONT ENTRANCE DOORS

MECHANICAL SCREEN W/ VERTICAL METAL PANEL

-

PREFINISHED METAL PANEL WALL (VERTICAL) W/

CONCEALED FASTENERS. AEP SPAN FLUSH PANEL OR EQ.

12

VINYL WINDOW GRAPHIC

CUT METAL SIGNAGE ON CONTINUOUS CHANNEL

-

NEW CIP CONCRETE STAIR W/ FLAT BAR RAILING, PAINT.

ALTERNATE #2

24

MTL CLAD HORIZ. STEEL STRUCTURE FOR TRANSOM

SUPPORT

NEW STL STAIR W/ PRECAST CONCRETE RISERS

& FLAT BAR RAILING, PAINT. ALTERNATE #3

1'-4" TALL X 36' LONG CUT METAL LETTER SIGN

MOUNTED TO TOP OF ENTRY CANOPY, CONTINUOUSLY

LIT FROM BASE. MAJOR ATTACHED SIGN 48 SF

(50 SF ALLOWED)

27

TRASH ENCLOSURE - GROUND FACE CMU WALLS W/

GRAFFITI SEALER AND PAINTED STEEL FRAME GATES

WITH VERTICAL METAL PANEL.

01.29.16 LAND USE REVIEW

SUBMITTAL

0 2' 4' 8' 16'

0 6" 1' 2' 4'

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

96 of 460 



F E D C B A

EA EB EC ED EE EF EG

1/8"=1'-0"

EAST ELEVATION

1
'
-
6

"
9

'
-
2

"
3

'
-
0

"

T.O. (E) ROOF

+/- 28'-3"

FIN FL

0'-0" (206.50' ASL)

T.O.  PARAPET 

14'-0"

T.O. ROOF

30'-0"

1

15

2

17

5

13

17

18

20

1

A4.10

1

A4.12

3

13

8

27

FEDCBA

EG EF EE ED EC EB EA

1/8"=1'-0"

WEST ELEVATION

T.O. (E) ROOF

+/- 28'-3"

FIN FL

0'-0" (206.50' ASL)

T.O.  PARAPET 

14'-0"

T.O. ROOF

30'-0"

2

15 13

13

13

14

17

16

20

19

25

ALT 3

2
0

'
-
2

"

9
'
-
1

0
"

9
'
-
1

0
"

1

A4.10

1

A4.12

17

24

2

8

ALT 2

ALT 2

27

EA EB EC ED EE EF EG

T.O. (E) ROOF

+/- 28'-3"

FIN FL

0'-0" (206.50' ASL)

T.O.  PARAPET 

14'-0"

1/8"=1'-0"

EAST ELEVATION BEYOND

13

1

A4.10

1

A4.12

13

15

17

Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

A

Drawn By:

Checked By:

CHEHALEM 

AQUATIC AND

FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.

NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

12.23.2015

-

-

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

N

O

T

 

F

O

R

C

O

N

S

T

R

U

C

T

I

O

N

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

EAST AND WEST

A3.12

GENERAL NOTES - ELEVATION:

LEGEND - ELEVATION :

1. ALL DIMENSIONS & GRIDLINES TO CENTERLINE OF COLUMN,

FACE OF STUD U.N.O.

2. ALL GLAZING TEMPERED BELOW 18" & WITHIN 12" TO DOOR.

3. SEE POOL DRAWINGS FOR SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION &

MATERIALS TREATMENT.

KEYNOTES - ELEVATION:

1

BUILT-UP ROOFING

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

PERFORATED METAL SCREEN FOR VENTILATION OF

MECHANICAL EQUIP

ALUM STOREFRONT SYSTEM W/ SOLAR BAN 60 PPG

GLAZING, KYNAR FINISH. TYP.

MTL CLAD COLUMN WRAP TO MATCH STOREFRONT

CEMENT BOARD STUCCO

MEDIUM STYLE STOREFRONT ENTRANCE DOORS

MECHANICAL SCREEN W/ VERTICAL METAL PANEL

-

PREFINISHED METAL PANEL WALL (VERTICAL) W/

CONCEALED FASTENERS. AEP SPAN FLUSH PANEL OR E

12

VINYL WINDOW GRAPHIC

CUT METAL SIGNAGE ON CONTINUOUS CHANNEL

MTL CLAD HORIZ. STEEL STRUCTURE FOR TRANSOM

SUPPORT

EXISTING BUILDING, PAINTED

EXIST. STOREFRONT WINDOWS TO REMAIN

GROUND FACE CMU W/ GRAFFITI SEALER

NEW STOREFRONT IN NEW OPEN'G @ EXISTING BLDG

ALTERNATE #2

NEW METAL CANOPY @ EXISTING BUILDING

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

PHOTOVOLTAIC ARRAY (BIDDER DESIGNED) VALUE @

1.5% OF CONSTRUCTION COST.

BACK PAINTED SPANDREL GLASS PANEL - WHITE

ALTERNATE #3

21

NEW FLAG POLE.  (3) FLAGS OFOI

22

SEISMIC JOINT AT EXIST'G TO NEW CONSTRUCTION

23

ALUM & GLASS STOREFRONT GARAGE DOOR

.

-

NEW CIP CONCRETE STAIR W/ FLAT BAR RAILING, PAINT.

24

25

26

NEW STL STAIR W/ PRECAST CONCRETE RISERS

& FLAT BAR RAILING, PAINT. ALTERNATE #3

1'-4" TALL X 36' LONG CUT METAL LETTER SIGN

MOUNTED TO TOP OF ENTRY CANOPY, CONTINUOUSLY

LIT FROM BASE. MAJOR ATTACHED SIGN 48 SF

(50 SF ALLOWED)

27

TRASH ENCLOSURE - GROUND FACE CMU WALLS W/

GRAFFITI SEALER AND PAINTED STEEL FRAME GATES

WITH VERTICAL METAL PANEL.

01.29.16 LAND USE REVIEW

SUBMITTAL

0 2' 4' 8' 16'

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

97 of 460 



7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27

1/8"=1'-0"

SOUTH ELEVATION - EAST

FIN FL

0'-0" (206.50' ASL)

T.O.  PARAPET 

14'-0"

T.O. EAVE

27'-0"

T.O. ROOF

30'-0"

1

2

2

17

4

5

7

17

2

A4.11

1
4

'
-
0

"

1
'
-
6

"
9

'
-
2

"
3

'
-
0

"

2
'
-
0

"
6

'
-
0

"
3

'
-
0

"
2

'
-
0

"

1
'
-
6

"
9

'
-
2

"
3

'
-
0

"

1
0

'
-
0

"

9

8

27

7
'
-
4

"

18

E7 E6 E5 E4 E3 E2 E1

3 4 5 6 7 821

1/8"=1'-0"

SOUTH ELEVATION - WEST

1/8"=1'-0"

SOUTH ELEVATION - EAST

T.O. (E) ROOF

+/- 28'-3"

FIN FL

0'-0" (206.50' ASL)

T.O.  PARAPET 

14'-0"

T.O. ROOF

30'-0"

1

2

4

5

5

7

8

13

14

14

17

18

21

22

19

3

A4.11

1

A4.11

2
0

'
-
2

"

9
'
-
1

0
"

9
'
-
1

0
"

7
'
-
0

"

1
4

'
-
0

"

1
'
-
6

"
9

'
-
2

"
3

'
-
0

"

2
'
-
0

"
6

'
-
0

"
3

'
-
0

"
2

'
-
0

"

9

1

A4.13

2

ALT 3

ALT 2

ALT 2

Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

A

Drawn By:

Checked By:

CHEHALEM 

AQUATIC AND

FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.

NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

12.23.2015

-

-

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

N

O

T

 

F

O

R

C

O

N

S

T

R

U

C

T

I

O

N

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

SOUTH

A3.13

GENERAL NOTES - ELEVATION:

LEGEND - ELEVATION :

1. ALL DIMENSIONS & GRIDLINES TO CENTERLINE OF COLUMN,

FACE OF STUD U.N.O.

2. ALL GLAZING TEMPERED BELOW 18" & WITHIN 12" TO DOOR.

3. SEE POOL DRAWINGS FOR SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION &

MATERIALS TREATMENT.

EXISTING BUILDING, PAINTED

EXIST. STOREFRONT WINDOWS TO REMAIN

GROUND FACE CMU W/ GRAFFITI SEALER

NEW STOREFRONT IN NEW OPEN'G @ EXISTING BLDG

ALTERNATE #2

KEYNOTES - ELEVATION:

1

BUILT-UP ROOFING

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

NEW METAL CANOPY @ EXISTING BUILDING

10

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

11

PHOTOVOLTAIC ARRAY (BIDDER DESIGNED) VALUE @

1.5% OF CONSTRUCTION COST.

BACK PAINTED SPANDREL GLASS PANEL - WHITE

ALTERNATE #3

21

NEW FLAG POLE.  (3) FLAGS OFOI

22

SEISMIC JOINT AT EXIST'G TO NEW CONSTRUCTION

23

ALUM & GLASS STOREFRONT GARAGE DOOR

25

26

PERFORATED METAL SCREEN FOR VENTILATION OF

MECHANICAL EQUIP

ALUM STOREFRONT SYSTEM W/ SOLAR BAN 60 PPG

GLAZING, KYNAR FINISH. TYP.

MTL CLAD COLUMN WRAP TO MATCH STOREFRONT

CEMENT BOARD STUCCO

MEDIUM STYLE STOREFRONT ENTRANCE DOORS

MECHANICAL SCREEN W/ VERTICAL METAL PANEL

-

PREFINISHED METAL PANEL WALL (VERTICAL) W/

CONCEALED FASTENERS. AEP SPAN FLUSH PANEL OR EQ.

12

VINYL WINDOW GRAPHIC

CUT METAL SIGNAGE ON CONTINUOUS CHANNEL

-

NEW CIP CONCRETE STAIR W/ FLAT BAR RAILING, PAINT.

ALTERNATE #2

24

MTL CLAD HORIZ. STEEL STRUCTURE FOR TRANSOM

SUPPORT

NEW STL STAIR W/ PRECAST CONCRETE RISERS

& FLAT BAR RAILING, PAINT. ALTERNATE #3

1'-4" TALL X 36' LONG CUT METAL LETTER SIGN

MOUNTED TO TOP OF ENTRY CANOPY, CONTINUOUSLY

LIT FROM BASE. MAJOR ATTACHED SIGN 48 SF

(50 SF ALLOWED)

27

TRASH ENCLOSURE - GROUND FACE CMU WALLS W/

GRAFFITI SEALER AND PAINTED STEEL FRAME GATES

WITH VERTICAL METAL PANEL.

01.29.16 LAND USE REVIEW

SUBMITTAL

0 2' 4' 8' 16'

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

98 of 460 



Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

A

Drawn By:

Checked By:

CHEHALEM 

AQUATIC AND

FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.

NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

12.23.2015

-

-

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

N

O

T

 

F

O

R

C

O

N

S

T

R

U

C

T

I

O

N

PERSPECTIVES

SITE AND BUILDING

A3.14

NTS

AERIAL VIEW LOOKING NORTHWEST

NTS

AERIAL VIEW LOOKING SOUTHWEST

NTS

PERSPECTIV VIEW FROM HAWORTH LOOKING SOUTHEAST

NTS

AERIAL VIEW LOOKING EAST

01.29.16 LAND USE REVIEW

SUBMITTAL

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

99 of 460 



1/8"=1'-0"

SECTION @  LEISURE POOL LOOKING EAST

A B D E FC

FIN FL

0'-0" (206.50' ASL)

T.O.  PARAPET 

14'-0"

T.O. ROOF

30'-0" +-

3A

R
1

R
2

R
4

1
'
-
6

"
9

'
-
6

"
3

'
-
0

"
6

'
-
0

"

2
0

'
-
0

"

EVENT RENTALREST ROOMSVEST

LEISURE POOL

OUTDOOR POOL

&CONCRETE DECK

ALTERNATE # 4

F
1

1

2

3

4

5

9

ENTRY CANOPY

3A

10

SLOPE: 

3

8

" / 1'

I4A

1

R
4

1/8"=1'-0"

SECTION @  COMPETITION POOL LOOKING EAST

D E FC

COMPETITION POOL

POOL MECHANICAL

F
1

R
2

R
1

FIN FL

0'-0" (206.50' ASL)

1A

1A

SIM

3A

T.O.  SPEC. SEATING

7'-0"

7

3

9

3A

10

SLOPE: 

3

8

" / 1'

T.O.  PARAPET 

14'-0"

T.O. ROOF

30'-0" +-

14

1 1

1

4

6

I3A

1
'
-
6

"
1

2
'
-
6

"2
0

'
-
0

"

2

6A

1/8"=1'-0"

SECTION @ EXISTING GYM LOOKING WEST

EA EB EC ED EE EF EG

216.44' B.O. JOIST

218.77' T.O. JOIST

204.33' T.O. FLOOR SLAB MECH RM

206.50' T.O. FLOOR SLAB

234.77' T.O. PARAPET

FIN FL

0'-0" (206.50' ASL)

T.O.  PARAPET 

14'-0" +-

T.O. (E) PARAPET

28'.77' +-

(E) MECH LEVEL

0'-0" (204.33' ASL)

R
3

F
3

(
E

)

R
3

R
2

3C

GYMNASIUM

WALKING/JOGGING

TRACK

ALTERNATE # 3

REMODELED FITNESS

SPACE ALTERNATE #1

BASE BID: NO WORK

1213

11

F
2

Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

A

Drawn By:

Checked By:

CHEHALEM 

AQUATIC AND

FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.

NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

12.23.2015

-

-

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

N

O

T

 

F

O

R

C

O

N

S

T

R

U

C

T

I

O

N

BUILDING SECTIONS 

A4.11

GENERAL NOTES - SECTIONS

LEGEND - SECTIONS :

1. ALL DIMENSIONS & GRIDLINES TO CENTERLINE OF COLUMN,

FACE OF STUD U.N.O.

2. EPOXY PAINT ALL EXPOSED STRUCTURE, PLASTER WALLS

& CMU. PROTECT PRE FINISHED ACOUST ROOF DECK

3. ALL EXTERIOR STOREFRONT & CLERESTORY SYSTEM IS

KAWNEER TRIFAB 601 T OR EQ. GLAZING IS SOLARBAN 60

PPG  OR EQ. FINISH TO BE KYNAR, TYP

4. SEE POOL DRAWINGS FOR SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION &

MATERIALS TREATMENT.

5. SEE NARRATIVES FOR STRUC, M.E.P.T FOR BALANCE OF

INFORMATION.

TYPICAL ASSEMBLIES:

TYPE DESCRIPTION

R2 TPO ROOF

60 MIL TPO MECHANICALLY FASTENED over

COVER BOARD over

4" NOM (R-20.ci)  RIGID INSULATION over

VAPOR RETARDER over

GYPSUM SHEATHING over

STEEL PAN DECKING PER STRUCT. over

STEEL FRAMING PER STRUCT.

*PROVIDE WALKING PATH FOR MECH ACCESS

*PROVIED TAPERED INSUL FOR SLOPE WHERE

REQ'D

R4 ENTRY CANOPY ROOF W/ COMPOSITE MTL SOFFIT

4 PLY BUILT UP  ROOFING over

COVER BOARD over

4" NOM (R-20.ci) RIGID INSULATION over

GYPSUM SHEATHING over

STEEL PAN DECKING PER STRUCT over

STEEL FRAMING PER STRUCT. over

COMPOSITE MTL PANEL SYSTEM with

CONCEALED FASTENERS PER MTL. PANEL MANUF.

R1

R3 @ EXISTING ROOF DECK over

EXISTING  STRUCT.

F1 SLAB ON GRADE FLOOR

FINISH FLOORING PER PLAN over

CONC. S.O.G. PER STRUCTURAL over

UNDER-SLAB VAPOR RETARDER / SOIL GAS RETARDER over

COMPACTED ROCK BASE PER SOILS REPORT over

COMPACTED SUBGRADE

* SEE PLAN FOR EXPOSED CONC SLAB AS FIN. FLOOR.

  POLISH AND SEAL

F2 CONCRETE FLOOR OVER STEEL PAN

FINISH FLOORING PER PLAN over

3.5" CONC. PER STRUCTURAL over

STEEL PAN DECK PER STRUCT over

STEEL FRAMING PER STRUCT over

* RUNNING TRACK AT (E) GYM  - ALTERNATE #3

F3 NEW SLAB @ EXISTING COND

FINISH FLOORING PER PLAN over

CONC. S.O.G. PER STRUCTURAL over

UNDER-SLAB VAPOR RETARDER / SOIL GAS RETARDER over

COMPACTED ROCK BASE PER SOILS REPORT over

COMPACTED SUBGRADE

1A EXTERIOR - MTL PANELS  (AEP SPAN FLUSH PANEL

OR EQ) W/ MTL STUD

PREFINISHED METAL PANEL (VERTICAL) with

CONCEALED FASTENERS PER MTL. PANEL MANUF. over

1 1/2" (R-7.5) CONTINUOUS RIGID INSULATION with

METAL 'Z' CLIPS over

3/8 " DRAIN MAT over

LIQUID APPLIED WRB  over

5/8" GYPSUM SHEATHING over

10" 18 GA. METAL STUDS @ 16" O.C. with

R-13 BATT INSULATION over

5

8

" DENS GLASS GOLD over

CEMENT BOARD STUCCO SYSTEM

*  EPOXY PAINT FINISH, TYP

1B

@ 6" METAL FRAMING

2A

5A EXTERIOR - EXISTING CONC WALL CONST

(EXISTING GYM BUILDING)

NEW ELASTOMERIC PAINT over

EXIST'G CONCRETE/CMU WALL CONST over

2 

1

2

" (R-11.ci) RIGID INSULATION with

3" METAL 'Z' CLIPS over

(1) LAYER 5/8" IMPACT RESISTANT GWB @ INTERIOR

EXTERIOR - GROUND FACE CMU VENEER  W/

MASONRY WALL CONST.

GROUND FACE CMU (4") VENEER with

ADJUSTABLE VENEER ANCHORS @ 16" O.C. EA WAY over

2 

1

4

" AIR SPACE over

2 

1

2

" NOM (R-11.4) CONTINUOUS RIGID INSULATION over

LIQUID APPLIED WRB  over

8" CMU (CAVITY MAY OCCUR) over

* EPOXY PAINT (MECHANICAL/STORAGE ROOMS)

* CERAMIC WALL TILE @ LOCKER ROOMS

* GROUND FACE CMU W/ SEALER @ NATATORIUM

3A

4A EXTERIOR - CEMENT BOARD STUCCO W/

MTL STUD

CEMENT BOARD STUCCO SYSTEM over

2 1/2" NOM(R-11.4ci) CONTINUOUS RIGID INSULATION with

METAL 'Z' CLIPS over

3/8 " DRAIN MAT over

LIQUID APPLIED WRB  over

5/8" DENS GLASS GOLD over

6" 18 GA. METAL STUDS @ 16" O.C. with

R-21 BATT INSULATION over

VAPOR BARRIER

TYPE
DESCRIPTION

ROOF ASSEMBLIES: (DOES NOT INCLD CEILING FINISH) EXTERIOR WALL ASSEMBLIES:

FLOOR ASSEMBLIES:

INTERIOR WALL ASSEMBLIES:

I5A INTERIOR - FURRED METAL STUD

4" 20 GA. METAL STUDS @ 16" O.C. over

(1) LAYER 5/8" GWB with ACOUSTIC BATT INSULATION

I6A INTERIOR - 1-HR WALL

5

8

" TYPE 'X' GYPSUM WALLBOARD over

6" 18 GA. STEEL STUDS @ 16" O.C. over

5

8

" TYPE 'X' GYPSUM WALLBOARD

GWB APPLIED PARALLEL OR AT RIGHT ANGLES TO EACH

SIDE OF STUDS WITH 1" TYPE S DRYWALL SCREWS 8" O.C.

AT VERTICAL JOINTS AND 12" O.C. AT FLOOR AND CEILING

RUNNERS AND INTERMEDIATE STUDS.

*STC 45 TO 49 WHEN INSTALLED WITH 3 

1

2

" GLASS  FIBER

INSULATION FRICTION FIT IN STUD SPACE.

I4A
INTERIOR - 6" METAL STUD

(1) LAYER 5/8" GWB over

6" 18 GA. METAL STUDS @ 16" O.C. W/ ACOUSTIC BATT

INSULATION over

(1) LAYER 5/8" GWB

I4B @ 4" 20 GA MTL STUD

XX

WALL TYPES:

(PLAN VIEW TYP)

XX

FLOOR AND ROOF TYPES:

(SECTION VIEW TYP)

I6B @ 4" 20 GA MTL STUD

I2A INTERIOR - FURRED CMU WALL

INTERIOR OR EXTERIOR WALL over

(2") ELEC, (6") PLUMB OR (14") TOILET CHASE over

6" CMU

* GROUND FACE W/ CLEAR SEALER WHERE EXPOSED TO

VIEW

* CERAMIC WALL TILE @ LOCKER ROOM

I3A INTERIOR - PLASTER ON 6" MTL STUD

CEMENT BOARD STUCCO SYSTEM over

5

8

" DENS GLASS GOLD over

6" 18 GA. METAL STUDS  @ 16" O.C. over

5

8

" DENS GLASS GOLD over

CEMENT BOARD STUCCO SYSTEM over

EPOXY PAINT CEMENT BOARD STUCCO

I1A
INTERIOR - TYP CMU BEARING WALL

8" CMU

* GROUND FACE W/ CLEAR SEALER WHERE

EXPOSED TO VIEW

* CERAMIC WALL TILE @ LOCKER ROOM

INTERIOR WALL ASSEMBLIES (CONT'D):

6A EXTERIOR - MECHANICAL SCREEN WALL

PREFINISHED MTL PANEL (VERTICAL) AEP SPAN

BOX RIB OR EQUAL on

STRUC STEEL FRAMING PER STRUC.

KEY NOTES:

ALUMINUM STORE FRONT SYSTEM W/ CLEAR INSULATED

GLAZING, KYNAR FINISH. TYP.

18" CONCRETE CURB

ACOUSTIC DRAPED PANELS, CONTINUOUS LENGTH OF

NATATORIUM EA WAY (BOTH POOL AREAS) JUST BELOW

ROOF DECK. G&S ACOUSTICS' BANNERS (BN) OR EQ.

PHOTOVOLTAIC ARRAY (BIDDER DESIGNED) VALUE @

1.5% OF CONSTRUCTION COST.

NEW FLAG POLE

ADA LIFT TO UPPER PLATFORM

'TIP AND ROLL' BLEACHER SEATING

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

LONG SPAN STEEL TRUSS, EPOXY PAINT ALL EXPOSED

SURFACES. SEE STRUCT FOR INFORMATION .

CONCRETE PLATFORM FOR BLEACHER SEATING. MED

BROOM FINISH

NO DIVING. WATER IN POOL IS DIAGRAMMATIC ONLY.

CABLE RAILING W/ PAINTED STL MTL SUPPORT

NEW HARDWOOD GYM FLOOR @ NEW SLAB & INFILL @

(E) POOL

NEW STOREFRONT @ NEW OPEN'G IN (E) BUILDING.

ALTERNATE #2

36" X 80" HVAC RETURN

1'-4" TALL X 36' LONG CUT METAL LETTER SIGN

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

6. EXTERIOR WALLS  1A  U.N.O.

7. INTERIOR WALLS   I1A U.N.O.

8. FLOOR ASSEMBLY  F1 U.N.O.

9. ROOF ASSEMBLY   R1 U.N.O.

10. (E) EXTERIOR WALL  5A U.N.O.

TPO ROOF AT NATATORIUM

80 MIL TPO FULLY ADHERED over

COVER BOARD over

4" NOM (R-20.ci)  RIGID INSULATION over

VAPOR RETARDER over

GYPSUM SHEATHING over

STEEL PAN DECKING PER STRUCT. over

STEEL FRAMING PER STRUCT.

*PROVIDE WALKING PATH FOR MECH ACCESS

*PROVIED TAPERED INSUL FOR SLOPE WHERE

REQ'D

EXTERIOR - MTL PANELS  (AEP SPAN FLUSH PANEL

OR EQ) W/ MASONRY

PREFINISHED METAL PANEL (VERTICAL) with

CONCEALED FASTENERS PER MTL. PANEL MANUF. over

2 1/2" (R-11.4) CONTINUOUS RIGID INSULATION with

METAL 'Z' CLIPS over

3/8 " DRAIN MAT over

LIQUID APPLIED WRB  over

5/8" GYPSUM SHEATHING over

12" THICK CMU over

7

8

" METAL HAT CHANNELS over

5

8

" DENS GLASS GOLD over

VEMENT BOARD STUCCO SYSTEM

* EPOXY PAINT FINISH, TYP

EXTERIOR - GROUND FACE CMU VENEER @

EXISTING MASONRY WALL

3B

EXTERIOR - GROUND FACE CMU VENEER W/ 6"

MTL STUD

3C

I1B
INTERIOR - 12" CMU WALL

* GROUND FACE W/ CLEAR SEALER WHERE

EXPOSED TO VIEW

I1C
INTERIOR - 6" CMU WALL

* GROUND FACE W/ CLEAR SEALER WHERE

EXPOSED TO VIEW

I3B INTERIOR - CEMENT BOARD PLASTER W/ 12"

CMU WALL

15

0 2' 4' 8' 16'

01.29.16 LAND USE REVIEW

SUBMITTAL

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

100 of 460 



1/8"=1'-0"

LONGITUDINAL SECTION - WEST

E7 E6 E5 E4 E3 E2 E1

3 4 5 6 721

1

GYMNASIUM

ALTERNATE #3

WALKING/JOGGING

TRACK

ALTERNATE # 3

13 13

12

11

F
2

R
1

R
3

R
2

6A

F
1

LEISURE POOL

5A

5A

F
3

10

EMPLOYEE

LOCKER

ROOM

FAMILY

CHANGING

ROOM

FAMILY

CHANGING

ROOM

CORRIDOR

WEIGHTS AND FITNESS

ALTERNATE #3

MECHANICAL

PENTHOUSE

14

1A

I3A

I1C

2

1/8"=1'-0"

LONGITUDINAL SECTION - EAST

8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27

FIN FL

0'-0" (206.50' ASL)

T.O.  PARAPET 

14'-0"

T.O. ROOF

30'-0" +-

1

1

1

1

11

1

DIVING WELL COMPETITION POOL
9

6

8

14

3

1A

3A

I1C

I3A

2

R
1

7
'
-
0

"
7

'
-
0

"

Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

A

Drawn By:

Checked By:

CHEHALEM 

AQUATIC AND

FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.

NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

12.23.2015

-

-

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

N

O

T

 

F

O

R

C

O

N

S

T

R

U

C

T

I

O

N

BUILDING SECTIONS - 

ENLARGED

A4.12

KEY NOTES:

ALUMINUM STORE FRONT SYSTEM W/ CLEAR INSULATED

GLAZING, KYNAR FINISH. TYP.

18" CONCRETE CURB

ACOUSTIC DRAPED PANELS, CONTINUOUS LENGTH OF

NATATORIUM EA WAY (BOTH POOL AREAS) JUST BELOW

ROOF DECK. G&S ACOUSTICS' BANNERS (BN) OR EQ.

PHOTOVOLTAIC ARRAY (BIDDER DESIGNED) VALUE @

1.5% OF CONSTRUCTION COST.

NEW FLAG POLE

ADA LIFT TO UPPER PLATFORM

'TIP AND ROLL' BLEACHER SEATING

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

LONG SPAN STEEL TRUSS, EPOXY PAINT ALL EXPOSED

SURFACES. SEE STRUCT FOR INFORMATION .

CONCRETE PLATFORM FOR BLEACHER SEATING. MED

BROOM FINISH

NO DIVING. WATER IN POOL IS DIAGRAMMATIC ONLY.

CABLE RAILING W/ PAINTED STL MTL SUPPORT

NEW HARDWOOD GYM FLOOR @ NEW SLAB & INFILL @

(E) POOL

NEW STOREFRONT @ NEW OPEN'G IN (E) BUILDING.

ALTERNATE #2

36" X 80" HVAC RETURN

1'-4" TALL X 36' LONG CUT METAL LETTER SIGN

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

GENERAL NOTES - SECTIONS

LEGEND - SECTIONS :

1. ALL DIMENSIONS & GRIDLINES TO CENTERLINE OF COLUMN,

FACE OF STUD U.N.O.

2. EPOXY PAINT ALL EXPOSED STRUCTURE, PLASTER WALLS

& CMU. PROTECT PRE FINISHED ACOUST ROOF DECK

3. ALL EXTERIOR STOREFRONT & CLERESTORY SYSTEM IS

KAWNEER TRIFAB 601 T OR EQ. GLAZING IS SOLARBAN 60

PPG  OR EQ. FINISH TO BE KYNAR, TYP

4. SEE POOL DRAWINGS FOR SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION &

MATERIALS TREATMENT.

5. SEE NARRATIVES FOR STRUC, M.E.P.T FOR BALANCE OF

INFORMATION.

XX

WALL TYPES:

(PLAN VIEW TYP)

XX

FLOOR AND ROOF TYPES:

(SECTION VIEW TYP)

6. EXTERIOR WALLS  1A  U.N.O.

7. INTERIOR WALLS   I1A U.N.O.

8. FLOOR ASSEMBLY  F1 U.N.O.

9. ROOF ASSEMBLY   R1 U.N.O.

10. (E) EXTERIOR WALL  5A U.N.O.

01.29.16 LAND USE REVIEW

SUBMITTAL

0 2' 4' 8' 16'

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

101 of 460 



A B D E FC

1/8"=1'-0"

SECTION @  COMPETITION POOL LOOKING EAST

FIN FL

0'-0" (206.50' ASL)

T.O.  PARAPET 

14'-0"

T.O. ROOF

30'-0" +-

4

R
2

R
4

LOBBY AQUA

MANAGER

WOMEN'S LOCKER ROOM MEN'S LOCKER ROOMLIFE GUARD FAMILY

CHANGING

ROOM

FAMILY

CHANGING

ROOM

CORRIDOR

3A

SLOPE: 

3

8

" / 1'

I1CI1CI1A

F
1

6A

6A

1

5

R
1

1
0

'
-
0

"

1
2

'
-
0

"
2

'
-
0

"
2

'
-
0

"

15

Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

A

Drawn By:

Checked By:

CHEHALEM 

AQUATIC AND

FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.

NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

12.23.2015

-

-

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

N

O

T

 

F

O

R

C

O

N

S

T

R

U

C

T

I

O

N

BUILDING SECTIONS - 

A4.13

GENERAL NOTES - SECTIONS

LEGEND - SECTIONS :

1. ALL DIMENSIONS & GRIDLINES TO CENTERLINE OF COLUMN,

FACE OF STUD U.N.O.

2. EPOXY PAINT ALL EXPOSED STRUCTURE, PLASTER WALLS

& CMU. PROTECT PRE FINISHED ACOUST ROOF DECK

3. ALL EXTERIOR STOREFRONT & CLERESTORY SYSTEM IS

KAWNEER TRIFAB 601 T OR EQ. GLAZING IS SOLARBAN 60

PPG  OR EQ. FINISH TO BE KYNAR, TYP

4. SEE POOL DRAWINGS FOR SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION &

MATERIALS TREATMENT.

5. SEE NARRATIVES FOR STRUC, M.E.P.T FOR BALANCE OF

INFORMATION.

TYPICAL ASSEMBLIES:

TYPE DESCRIPTION

R2 TPO ROOF

60 MIL TPO MECHANICALLY FASTENED over

COVER BOARD over

4" NOM (R-20.ci)  RIGID INSULATION over

VAPOR RETARDER over

GYPSUM SHEATHING over

STEEL PAN DECKING PER STRUCT. over

STEEL FRAMING PER STRUCT.

*PROVIDE WALKING PATH FOR MECH ACCESS

*PROVIED TAPERED INSUL FOR SLOPE WHERE

REQ'D

R4 ENTRY CANOPY ROOF W/ COMPOSITE MTL SOFFIT

4 PLY BUILT UP  ROOFING over

COVER BOARD over

4" NOM (R-20.ci) RIGID INSULATION over

GYPSUM SHEATHING over

STEEL PAN DECKING PER STRUCT over

STEEL FRAMING PER STRUCT. over

COMPOSITE MTL PANEL SYSTEM with

CONCEALED FASTENERS PER MTL. PANEL MANUF.

R1

R3 @ EXISTING ROOF DECK over

EXISTING  STRUCT.

F1 SLAB ON GRADE FLOOR

FINISH FLOORING PER PLAN over

CONC. S.O.G. PER STRUCTURAL over

UNDER-SLAB VAPOR RETARDER / SOIL GAS RETARDER over

COMPACTED ROCK BASE PER SOILS REPORT over

COMPACTED SUBGRADE

* SEE PLAN FOR EXPOSED CONC SLAB AS FIN. FLOOR.

  POLISH AND SEAL

F2 CONCRETE FLOOR OVER STEEL PAN

FINISH FLOORING PER PLAN over

3.5" CONC. PER STRUCTURAL over

STEEL PAN DECK PER STRUCT over

STEEL FRAMING PER STRUCT over

* RUNNING TRACK AT (E) GYM  - ALTERNATE #3

F3 NEW SLAB @ EXISTING COND

FINISH FLOORING PER PLAN over

CONC. S.O.G. PER STRUCTURAL over

UNDER-SLAB VAPOR RETARDER / SOIL GAS RETARDER over

COMPACTED ROCK BASE PER SOILS REPORT over

COMPACTED SUBGRADE

1A EXTERIOR - MTL PANELS  (AEP SPAN FLUSH PANEL

OR EQ) W/ MTL STUD

PREFINISHED METAL PANEL (VERTICAL) with

CONCEALED FASTENERS PER MTL. PANEL MANUF. over

1 1/2" (R-7.5) CONTINUOUS RIGID INSULATION with

METAL 'Z' CLIPS over

3/8 " DRAIN MAT over

LIQUID APPLIED WRB  over

5/8" GYPSUM SHEATHING over

10" 18 GA. METAL STUDS @ 16" O.C. with

R-13 BATT INSULATION over

5

8

" DENS GLASS GOLD over

CEMENT BOARD STUCCO SYSTEM

*  EPOXY PAINT FINISH, TYP

1B

@ 6" METAL FRAMING

2A

5A EXTERIOR - EXISTING CONC WALL CONST

(EXISTING GYM BUILDING)

NEW ELASTOMERIC PAINT over

EXIST'G CONCRETE/CMU WALL CONST over

2 

1

2

" (R-11.ci) RIGID INSULATION with

3" METAL 'Z' CLIPS over

(1) LAYER 5/8" IMPACT RESISTANT GWB @ INTERIOR

EXTERIOR - GROUND FACE CMU VENEER  W/

MASONRY WALL CONST.

GROUND FACE CMU (4") VENEER with

ADJUSTABLE VENEER ANCHORS @ 16" O.C. EA WAY over

2 

1

4

" AIR SPACE over

2 

1

2

" NOM (R-11.4) CONTINUOUS RIGID INSULATION over

LIQUID APPLIED WRB  over

8" CMU (CAVITY MAY OCCUR) over

* EPOXY PAINT (MECHANICAL/STORAGE ROOMS)

* CERAMIC WALL TILE @ LOCKER ROOMS

* GROUND FACE CMU W/ SEALER @ NATATORIUM

3A

4A EXTERIOR - CEMENT BOARD STUCCO W/

MTL STUD

CEMENT BOARD STUCCO SYSTEM over

2 1/2" NOM(R-11.4ci) CONTINUOUS RIGID INSULATION with

METAL 'Z' CLIPS over

3/8 " DRAIN MAT over

LIQUID APPLIED WRB  over

5/8" DENS GLASS GOLD over

6" 18 GA. METAL STUDS @ 16" O.C. with

R-21 BATT INSULATION over

VAPOR BARRIER

TYPE
DESCRIPTION

ROOF ASSEMBLIES: (DOES NOT INCLD CEILING FINISH) EXTERIOR WALL ASSEMBLIES:

FLOOR ASSEMBLIES:

INTERIOR WALL ASSEMBLIES:

I5A INTERIOR - FURRED METAL STUD

4" 20 GA. METAL STUDS @ 16" O.C. over

(1) LAYER 5/8" GWB with ACOUSTIC BATT INSULATION

I6A INTERIOR - 1-HR WALL

5

8

" TYPE 'X' GYPSUM WALLBOARD over

6" 18 GA. STEEL STUDS @ 16" O.C. over

5

8

" TYPE 'X' GYPSUM WALLBOARD

GWB APPLIED PARALLEL OR AT RIGHT ANGLES TO EACH

SIDE OF STUDS WITH 1" TYPE S DRYWALL SCREWS 8" O.C.

AT VERTICAL JOINTS AND 12" O.C. AT FLOOR AND CEILING

RUNNERS AND INTERMEDIATE STUDS.

*STC 45 TO 49 WHEN INSTALLED WITH 3 

1

2

" GLASS  FIBER

INSULATION FRICTION FIT IN STUD SPACE.

I4A
INTERIOR - 6" METAL STUD

(1) LAYER 5/8" GWB over

6" 18 GA. METAL STUDS @ 16" O.C. W/ ACOUSTIC BATT

INSULATION over

(1) LAYER 5/8" GWB

I4B @ 4" 20 GA MTL STUD

XX

WALL TYPES:

(PLAN VIEW TYP)

XX

FLOOR AND ROOF TYPES:

(SECTION VIEW TYP)

I6B @ 4" 20 GA MTL STUD

I2A INTERIOR - FURRED CMU WALL

INTERIOR OR EXTERIOR WALL over

(2") ELEC, (6") PLUMB OR (14") TOILET CHASE over

6" CMU

* GROUND FACE W/ CLEAR SEALER WHERE EXPOSED TO

VIEW

* CERAMIC WALL TILE @ LOCKER ROOM

I3A INTERIOR - PLASTER ON 6" MTL STUD

CEMENT BOARD STUCCO SYSTEM over

5

8

" DENS GLASS GOLD over

6" 18 GA. METAL STUDS  @ 16" O.C. over

5

8

" DENS GLASS GOLD over

CEMENT BOARD STUCCO SYSTEM over

EPOXY PAINT CEMENT BOARD STUCCO

I1A
INTERIOR - TYP CMU BEARING WALL

8" CMU

* GROUND FACE W/ CLEAR SEALER WHERE

EXPOSED TO VIEW

* CERAMIC WALL TILE @ LOCKER ROOM

INTERIOR WALL ASSEMBLIES (CONT'D):

6A EXTERIOR - MECHANICAL SCREEN WALL

PREFINISHED MTL PANEL (VERTICAL) AEP SPAN

BOX RIB OR EQUAL on

STRUC STEEL FRAMING PER STRUC.

KEY NOTES:

ALUMINUM STORE FRONT SYSTEM W/ CLEAR INSULATED

GLAZING, KYNAR FINISH. TYP.

18" CONCRETE CURB

ACOUSTIC DRAPED PANELS, CONTINUOUS LENGTH OF

NATATORIUM EA WAY (BOTH POOL AREAS) JUST BELOW

ROOF DECK. G&S ACOUSTICS' BANNERS (BN) OR EQ.

PHOTOVOLTAIC ARRAY (BIDDER DESIGNED) VALUE @

1.5% OF CONSTRUCTION COST.

NEW FLAG POLE

ADA LIFT TO UPPER PLATFORM

'TIP AND ROLL' BLEACHER SEATING

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

LONG SPAN STEEL TRUSS, EPOXY PAINT ALL EXPOSED

SURFACES. SEE STRUCT FOR INFORMATION .

CONCRETE PLATFORM FOR BLEACHER SEATING. MED

BROOM FINISH

NO DIVING. WATER IN POOL IS DIAGRAMMATIC ONLY.

CABLE RAILING W/ PAINTED STL MTL SUPPORT

NEW HARDWOOD GYM FLOOR @ NEW SLAB & INFILL @

(E) POOL

NEW STOREFRONT @ NEW OPEN'G IN (E) BUILDING.

ALTERNATE #2

36" X 80" HVAC RETURN

1'-4" TALL X 36' LONG CUT METAL LETTER SIGN

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

6. EXTERIOR WALLS  1A  U.N.O.

7. INTERIOR WALLS   I1A U.N.O.

8. FLOOR ASSEMBLY  F1 U.N.O.

9. ROOF ASSEMBLY   R1 U.N.O.

10. (E) EXTERIOR WALL  5A U.N.O.

TPO ROOF AT NATATORIUM

80 MIL TPO FULLY ADHERED over

COVER BOARD over

4" NOM (R-20.ci)  RIGID INSULATION over

VAPOR RETARDER over

GYPSUM SHEATHING over

STEEL PAN DECKING PER STRUCT. over

STEEL FRAMING PER STRUCT.

*PROVIDE WALKING PATH FOR MECH ACCESS

*PROVIED TAPERED INSUL FOR SLOPE WHERE

REQ'D

EXTERIOR - MTL PANELS  (AEP SPAN FLUSH PANEL

OR EQ) W/ MASONRY

PREFINISHED METAL PANEL (VERTICAL) with

CONCEALED FASTENERS PER MTL. PANEL MANUF. over

2 1/2" (R-11.4) CONTINUOUS RIGID INSULATION with

METAL 'Z' CLIPS over

3/8 " DRAIN MAT over

LIQUID APPLIED WRB  over

5/8" GYPSUM SHEATHING over

12" THICK CMU over

7

8

" METAL HAT CHANNELS over

5

8

" DENS GLASS GOLD over

VEMENT BOARD STUCCO SYSTEM

* EPOXY PAINT FINISH, TYP

EXTERIOR - GROUND FACE CMU VENEER @

EXISTING MASONRY WALL

3B

EXTERIOR - GROUND FACE CMU VENEER W/ 6"

MTL STUD

3C

I1B
INTERIOR - 12" CMU WALL

* GROUND FACE W/ CLEAR SEALER WHERE

EXPOSED TO VIEW

I1C
INTERIOR - 6" CMU WALL

* GROUND FACE W/ CLEAR SEALER WHERE

EXPOSED TO VIEW

I3B INTERIOR - CEMENT BOARD PLASTER W/ 12"

CMU WALL

15

01.29.16 LAND USE REVIEW

SUBMITTAL

0 2' 4' 8' 16'

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

102 of 460 



NORTH

Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

A

Drawn By:

Checked By:

CHEHALEM 

AQUATIC AND

FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.

NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

12.23.2015

-

-

100% SCHEMATIC

DESIGN

12.23.15

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

N

O

T

 

F

O

R

C

O

N

S

T

R

U

C

T

I

O

N

CONTACT

PROJECT

100 SW Main Street

Suite 1600

Portland, OR 97204

TEL 503.382.2266

FAX 503.382.2262

www.interfaceengineering.com

Deborah Raines

2015-0172

SITE PLAN

LIGHTING

E1.11

0 25' 50'

SCALE: 1"=25'-0"

1  SITE PLAN - LIGHTING               

UL/IP

RATING BALLAST

LAMP(S)

MFG/CATALOG # NOTES

SA EXTERIOR ARCHITECTURAL FULL-CUTOFF LED

SITE LUMINAIRE WITH TYPE III DISTRIBUTION

NOMINAL 40-INCH LONG BY 3.5-INCH HIGH BY

5.9-INCHES WIDE EXTRUDED ALUMINUM AND

LOW COPPER.

TEMPERED GLASS

LENS

20-FOOT HIGH, STRAIGHT STEEL SQUARE

POLE. POLE TO WITHSTAND 100 MILE PER

HOUR WINDS WITH A GUST FACTOR OF 1.3.

AS SELECTED BY

ARCHITECT

WET ELECTRONIC

DIMMING

55.5 WATT LED, 4000K 56 WATTS LIGMAN LIGHTING ULI-21171, OR

APPROVED

SA1 EXTERIOR ARCHITECTURAL FULL-CUTOFF LED

SITE LUMINAIRE WITH TYPE III DISTRIBUTION

NOMINAL 40-INCH LONG BY 3.5-INCH HIGH BY

5.9-INCHES WIDE EXTRUDED ALUMINUM AND

LOW COPPER.

TEMPERED GLASS

LENS

12-FOOT HIGH, STRAIGHT STEEL SQUARE

POLE. POLE TO WITHSTAND 100 MILE PER

HOUR WINDS WITH A GUST FACTOR OF 1.3.

AS SELECTED BY

ARCHITECT

WET ELECTRONIC

DIMMING

55.5 WATT LED, 4000K 56 WATTS LIGMAN LIGHTING ULI-21171, OR

APPROVED

SA2 EXTERIOR ARCHITECTURAL FULL-CUTOFF LED

SITE DOUBLE HEADED LUMINAIRE WITH TYPE III

DISTRIBUTION

NOMINAL 82-INCH LONG BY 3.5-INCH HIGH BY

5.9-INCHES WIDE EXTRUDED ALUMINUM AND

LOW COPPER.

TEMPERED GLASS

LENS

20-FOOT HIGH, STRAIGHT STEEL SQUARE

POLE. POLE TO WITHSTAND 100 MILE PER

HOUR WINDS WITH A GUST FACTOR OF 1.3.

AS SELECTED BY

ARCHITECT

WET ELECTRONIC

DIMMING

TWO 55.5 WATT LED, 4000K 112 WATTS LIGMAN LIGHTING ULI-21181, OR

APPROVED

SB EXTERIOR ARCHITECTURAL FULL-CUTOFF LED

SITE LUMINAIRE WITH TYPE IV DISTRIBUTION

NOMINAL 40-INCH LONG BY 3.5-INCH HIGH BY

5.9-INCHES WIDE EXTRUDED ALUMINUM AND

LOW COPPER.

TEMPERED GLASS

LENS

20-FOOT HIGH, STRAIGHT STEEL SQUARE

POLE. POLE TO WITHSTAND 100 MILE PER

HOUR WINDS WITH A GUST FACTOR OF 1.3.

AS SELECTED BY

ARCHITECT

WET ELECTRONIC

DIMMING

78 WATT LED, 4000K 78 WATTS LIGMAN LIGHTING ULI-21173, OR

APPROVED

SB1 EXTERIOR ARCHITECTURAL FULL-CUTOFF LED

SITE LUMINAIRE WITH TYPE IV DISTRIBUTION

NOMINAL 40-INCH LONG BY 3.5-INCH HIGH BY

5.9-INCHES WIDE EXTRUDED ALUMINUM AND

LOW COPPER.

TEMPERED GLASS

LENS

20-FOOT HIGH, STRAIGHT STEEL SQUARE

POLE. POLE TO WITHSTAND 100 MILE PER

HOUR WINDS WITH A GUST FACTOR OF 1.3.

AS SELECTED BY

ARCHITECT

WET ELECTRONIC

DIMMING

78 WATT LED, 4000K 78 WATTS LIGMAN LIGHTING ULI-21173, OR

APPROVED

PROVIDE HOUSE-SIDE

SHIELD

SB2 EXTERIOR ARCHITECTURAL FULL-CUTOFF LED

SITE DOUBLE HEADED LUMINAIRE WITH TYPE IV

DISTRIBUTION

NOMINAL 82-INCH LONG BY 3.5-INCH HIGH BY

5.9-INCHES WIDE EXTRUDED ALUMINUM AND

LOW COPPER.

TEMPERED GLASS

LENS

20-FOOT HIGH, STRAIGHT STEEL SQUARE

POLE. POLE TO WITHSTAND 100 MILE PER

HOUR WINDS WITH A GUST FACTOR OF 1.3.

AS SELECTED BY

ARCHITECT

WET ELECTRONIC

DIMMING

TWO 78 WATT LED, 4000K 156 WATTS LIGMAN LIGHTING ULI-21183, OR

APPROVED

SD EXTERIOR LED WALL WASHER WITH SYMETRIC

DISTRIBUTION, SPECULAR ANODIZED ALUMINUM

REFLECTOR

NOMINAL 9.5-INCH WIDE BY 4-INCH TALL WITH

8-INCH PROJECTION DIE-CAST ALUMINUM

TEMPERED GLASS

LENS

COORDINATE MOUNTING HEIGHT WITH

ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS

AS SELECTED BY

ARCHITECT

WET ELECTRONIC

DIMMING

25.3 WATT LED, 4000K 26 WATTS BEGA 2392LED, OR APPROVED

LAND USE LUMINAIRE SCHEDULE

TYPE DESCRIPTION HOUSING SHIELDING MOUNTING FINISH

INPUT

WATTS

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

103 of 460 



V
A

N

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T

COMPACT COMPACTCOMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT

VAN
COMPACTCOMPACT COMPACTCOMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T

C

O

M

P

A

C

T

C

O

M

P

A

C

T

C

O

M

P

A

C

T

C

O

M

P

A

C

T

COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT

CARPOOL CARPOOL CARPOOL

CARPOOL CARPOOL CARPOOL

10 STALLS

10 STALLS

14

STALLS

335'-0"147'-4"

17 STALLS

21 STALLS

NEW

HALF COURT

BASKETBALL

10 STALLS

HAWORTH AVENUE

P
A

R
K

I
N

G
 
A

N
D

 
P

L
A

Y
 
S

E
T

B
A

C
K

B
U

I
L

D
I
N

G
 
S

E
T

B
A

C
K

9 STALLS

9 STALLS

5 SPACES

1 SPACE

1 SPACE

CHERRY STREET

5'-0"

25'-0"

16'-0"

20'-0"

PARKING

 62,706 SF 143 STALLS

PARK AREA

44,221 SF

7

STALLS

14 STALLS

~
3

6
'
-
0

"

6
0

'
-
0

"

R
O

W
 
W

I
D

T
H

~
1

7
'
-
0

"
~

4
2

'
-
1

1
"

1
0

'
-
0

"

EXISTING UTILITY

EASEMENT

V
I
L
L
A

 
R

O
A

D

NEW

PLAYGROUND

S
I
T

K
A

 
A

V
E

N
U

E

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 
L

I
N

E

30

3

3

2 SPACES 2 SPACES
2 SPACES 2 SPACES

3 SPACES

4

4

6

6

12

6

6

R

2

8

'
-
0

"

2
4

'
-
0

"

2
4

'
-
0

"

25'-0"

3
0

'
-
3

"

8

9

10

10

13

13

14

14

15

18

18

19

20

22

23

16

7

EXISTING BUILDING

21,280 SF

FF 206.58'

NEW BUILDING

40,390 SF

FF 206.58'

(E) CONC. WALKWAYS

TO REMAIN

1
1

'
-
2

"
1

6
'
-
0

"
1

0
'
-
1

1
"

1
6

'
-
0

"
2

4
'
-
0

"
1

4
'
-
0

"

1
6

'
-
0

"
1

6
'
-
0

"

16'-0"

2
2

'
-
7

 
5

/
8

"

5
6

'
-
0

"

R

2

8

'

-

0

"

24'-0"

4

STALLS

7

STALLS

4

STALLS

24'-0"

6
'
-
0

"
8

2
'
-
1

1
"

2
0

'
-
1

"
1

6
'
-
0

"
3

2
'
-
0

"

120'-0"

1

1

1

25

2
2

'
-
0

"

1
8

'
-
0

"

26

26

2
4

'
-
4

"
3

5
'
-
7

"

1
8

'
-
0

"

4
8

'
-
1

1
"

9
9

'
-
7

 
1

/
2

"

112'-5"

2
7

'
-
1

1
"

R

2

6

'

-

0

"

R

4

6

'

-

0

"

7

STALLS

5
6

'
-
0

"
6

'
-
0

"

R

2

8

'

-

0

"

R

2

8

'

-

0

"
R

5

2

'
-

0

"

R
4
8
'
-
0
"

NEW GRASS

VOLLEYBALL

2

17

5

5

2

7

2

11

11

1
3

'
-
2

"

7
'
-
0

"

7'-0"

27

27

ALTERNATE #4

SEE 2/A1.10

28

28

28

28

28

2828

28

28

1
5

'
-
0

"

5
'
-
0

"

1
1

'
-
9

 
3

/
4

"

FULTON STREET

P
R

I
V

A
T

E
 
S

T
R

E
E

T
 
/
 
4
0
'
 
W

I
D

E

E
A

S
E

M
E

N
T

W
I
L
L
I
A

M
S

 
S

T
R

E
E

T

EXISTING EASEMENT

AREA

5' X 8' TALL FREESTANDING

ELECTRONIC IMAGE SIGN

4' X 2'-9" TALL CPRD PARK SIGN

4' X 3.5' TALL

FREESTANDING

SIGN

1
0

'
-
0

"

5'-0"

OUTDOOR

PATIO

21

R

2

1

'
-

0

"

R

2

8

'

-

0

"

R

3

0

'

-

0

"

18

2222 22 22 22

22

22

2222

11

11

29

29

ACCESSIBLE ROUTE

CHEHALEM HEALTH AND

REHABILITATION CENTER

(PRESTIGE CARE)

APPROXIMATELY 30,000 SF,

1-STORY

EXISTING PARKING

EXISTING LAWN AREA

EXISTING LAWN AREA

EXISTING FIRE

HYDRANT

GEORGE FOX

UNIVERSITY

GEORGE FOX

UNIVERSITY

RIVERSPIRIT WELLNESS

CENTER

Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

A

Drawn By:

Checked By:

CHEHALEM 

AQUATIC AND

FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.

NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

12.23.2015

-

-

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

N

O

T

 

F

O

R

C

O

N

S

T

R

U

C

T

I

O

N

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

A1.10

1"=30'-0"

SITE  PLAN

NORTH

GENERAL NOTES - SITE PLAN:

1. PROTECT ALL BUILDINGS, UTILITIES, VEGETATION, ETC. TO

REMAIN.

2. SEE CIVIL DRAWINGS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.

3. MAINTAIN 2% MAX CROSS SLOPE AT ALL NEW  CONCRETE

WALKWAYS & ACCESSIBLE AISLES.

4. MOVE (E) UTILITIES & UTILITY MONUMENTS AS NECESSARY

FOR NEW CONSTRUCTION.

5. APPROXIMATELY 35,000 SF OF LANDSCAPING (OFOI) IN

BASE BID

6. ALTERNATE #5:  INCLUDE 35,000 SF OF LANDSCAPING,

BASKETBALL COURT AND PLAYGROUND IN CONTRACTOR'S

SCOPE

7. INFORMATION ON THIS SITE PLAN SHOWN BEYOND THE

BOUNDARY OF THE INCLUDED ALTA/LAND TITLE SURVEY IS

APPROXIMATE AND WAS DEVELOPED FROM AERIAL

PHOTOS AND SITE OBSERVATION AND NOT A

PROFESSIONAL SURVEY.  IT IS INTENDED TO SHOW THE

ADJACENT PROPERTIES AND APPROXIMATE BUILDING

SIZES AND LOCATIONS.  NOT ALL SURFACE FEATURES OR

UTILITIES MAY BE SHOWN.

KEYNOTES - SITE PLAN:

1

NEW FIRE HYDRANT, SEE CIVIL

NEW 6' WIDE PAVED PATH THROUGH PARK.

EXISTING SIDEWALK TO REMAIN, REPAIR AS NEEDED. INFILL

AT EXISTING DRIVEWAY TO BE REMOVED.

EXISTING ON STREET PARKING.

NEW BIKE LANE PER CITY OF NEWBERG STANDARD.

NEW TREES, SEE LANDSCAPE.

EXISTING TREES TO REMAIN.

NEW CUL-DE-SAC W/ NEW 5' WIDE SIDEWALK AND 6'-6" WIDE

PLANTING STRIP WITHIN PROPERTY LINE ONLY, ADJACENT

SITE OWNER TO COMPLETE SIDEWALK AND PLANTING

STRIP ON ADJACENT SITE

EXISTING DRIVEWAY LOCATION, PROVIDE NEW CONCRETE

DRIVEWAY APRON PER CITY OF NEWBERG STANDARD.

NEW DRIVEWAY WITH CONCRETE APRON PER CITY OF

NEWBERG STANDARD.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

NEW CONCRETE WALK OR PLAZA AROUND EXISTING AND

NEW BUILDINGS.

RELOCATED BALLOT DROP BOX.

PASSENGER DROP OFF AREA.

ADA PARKING SPACES W/ ACCESSIBLE AISLE, CURB RAMP

AND SIGNAGE.

NEW 2,940 SF PLAYGROUND  W/ NEW EQUIPMENT, SOFT

SURFACE AND BENCHES (OFOI)

NEW 42' BY 50' ASPHALT BASKETBALL COURT W/ NEW

EQUIPMENT AND BENCHES (OFOI)

NEW GRASS VOLLEYBALL COURT AND STANDARDS.

NEW BIKE RACKS; 5 RACKS FOR 10 SPACES.

TRASH AND RECYCLING ENCLOSURE, CMU W/ SLIDING

STEEL GATE.

NEW ASPHALT SERVICE YARD.

5,140 SF CONCRETE PATIO WITH  RELOCATED PICNIC

TABLES AND PING PONG TABLES.

LANDSCAPE ISLAND, SEE CIVIL AND LANDSCAPE.

FIRE APPARATUS TURN AROUND.

ALTERNATE #4: 2,200 SF OUTDOOR POOL W/ ADDITIONAL

700 SF OF CONCRETE PATIO SURROUNDING POOL,

REFERENCE SWIMMING POOL DRAWINGS.

NEW DRINKING FOUNTAIN.

RIGHT OF WAY DEDICATION.

NEW CHAINLINK FENCE, MATCH EXISTING HEIGHT, PROVIDE

TWO PAIRS OF GATES W/ PANIC HARDWARE.

WATER QUALITY PLANTERS, SEE CIVIL AND LANDSCAPE.

SITE BENCH.

NEW CURB TIGHT SIDEWALK.

11

25

26

27

28

29

30

01.29.16 LAND USE REVIEW

SUBMITTAL

SITE PLAN SUMMARY:

PARKING:

STANDARD STALLS: 101

(INCLUDES 6 CARPOOL AND 7 ACCESSIBLE STALLS)

COMPACT STALLS: 42

TOTAL: 143

LOADING:

TWO SPACES REQUIRED, TWO PROVIDED, 10'X35'

BIKE PARKING:

REQUIRED NEW COMMERCIAL: 1 PER 10,000 GSF; 7 SPACES

REQUIRED PARKS: 2 WITHIN 50' OF DEVELOPED PLAY-GROUND

PROVIDED:

NEW COMMERCIAL: 8

PARK: 4

0 10' 20' 30' 60'

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

104 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

105 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

106 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

107 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

108 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

109 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

110 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

111 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

112 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

113 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

114 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

115 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

116 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

117 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

118 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

119 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

120 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

121 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

122 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

123 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

124 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

125 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

126 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

127 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

128 of 460 



FELL IN STORM, 12.24.15

FELL IN STORM, 12.24.15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

129 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

130 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

131 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

132 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

133 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

134 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

135 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

136 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

137 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

138 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

139 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

140 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

141 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

142 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

143 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

144 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

145 of 460 

jennifer
Line

jennifer
Line

jennifer
Line

jennifer
Line

jennifer
Callout
FELL IN STORM, 12.24.15



 

 

Exterior 

Lighting Cut 

Sheets 
Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center 

Renovation and Expansion  

2015-0172  

prepared for: 

Scott/Edwards Architecture 

prepared by: 

Brianne Adams-Rice 

January 26, 2016  

 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

146 of 460 



IP65 : Suitable for Wet Locations         

PROJECT: DATE:                

Head O�ce:
7144 NW Progress Ct
Hillsboro, Oregon 97124

www.ligmanlightingusa.com

Tel:  503-645-0500
Fax: 503-645-8100LUMINAIRE SPECIFICATION

ULI-21171
IK07 : Impact Resistant (Vandal Resistant) 

Ordering Example : ULI - 21171 - 55.5w - W30 - T2 - 120v - Options

Light Linear post top 

Rev: 11/13

LED Color  (Please Specify) 
     W30 - 3000K
     W40 - 4000K
     W50 - 5000K

Physical Data 
Length: 40”

55.5w - White - LED
Lamp 

Height: Specify
Weight: 65 lbs

     HGT - Specify custom pole height ____________ft.

Light Linear PT es an elegant lighting column that is suitable for both modern and 
classic architecture. Ideal for creating visual guidance with exceptional visual comfort 
using energy optically controlled LED’s.
A sleek and minimalist shape provides distinctive lighting e�ects by night and 
decorative urban e�ect during the day. Suitable for pedestrian precincts, building 
surrounds, shopping centers, squares and parks 
Extruded aluminum column  and low copper content die cast luminaire with high 
corrosion resistance. Stainless steel screws. Durable silicone rubber gasket and impact 
resistant tempered glass lens. Housing is treated with a chemical chromatized 
protection before powder coating, ensuring high corrosion resistance. Available with a 
selection of integral electronic drivers and dimming electronic ballast ensures 
extended lamp life, energy saving capabilities and integration with building manage-
ment systems. Easy access to the luminaire for maintenance.
NOTE:
These single head luminaires are available in Type II, Type III, and Type IV distributions 
using 55.5w or 78w LED options. Single or twin arm variations of these products are 
standard. 
Please contact factory  for dimming options.   

     DIM - 0-10v Dimming

TYPE:             NOTE:
Ligman Lighting USA reserves the right to change speci�cations without prior notice, please contact factory for latest information. 
Due to the continual improvements in LED technology data and components may change without notice. 

QUANTITY:        

For 110w - See code ULI-21172

     Wireless Lighting Controls (Contact Factory)

Options  (Please Specify) 

Voltage  (Please Specify) 
     120V

Color (Please Specify)     
     01-Black - RAL 9011                        02-  Dark Grey - RAL 7043
     03-White - RAL 9003                       
     05-Matt Silver - RAL 9006              
     06-Bronze - RAL 6014

01 02 03 04 05 06

04 - Metallic Silver - RAL 9006
07-  Custom - RAL __________

     277V
     Other _________

     Occupancy Sensor

Specify

12.59”

5.9”

3.5” x 5.9”

40”

39.37”

3.
5”

5.
9”

4.
1”

12.6”

Mounting Detail

8.34”

11.81”

8.
34

”

11
.8

1”

0.86”x1.96”

Distribution Type
T2 - Type II
T3 - Type III
T4 - Type IV

     RMK - Root Mount Kit

Root Mount Kit

  3.5” x 6”

23.6”

   3” x 7.9”

2” x 6”

23.6” 20”

4”

■

■ ■

■ 20

SA

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

147 of 460 



IP65 : Suitable for Wet Locations         

PROJECT: DATE:                

Head O�ce:
7144 NW Progress Ct
Hillsboro, Oregon 97124

www.ligmanlightingusa.com

Tel:  503-645-0500
Fax: 503-645-8100LUMINAIRE SPECIFICATION

ULI-21171
IK07 : Impact Resistant (Vandal Resistant) 

Ordering Example : ULI - 21171 - 55.5w - W30 - T2 - 120v - Options

Light Linear post top 

Rev: 11/13

LED Color  (Please Specify) 
     W30 - 3000K
     W40 - 4000K
     W50 - 5000K

Physical Data 
Length: 40”

55.5w - White - LED
Lamp 

Height: Specify
Weight: 65 lbs

     HGT - Specify custom pole height ____________ft.

Light Linear PT es an elegant lighting column that is suitable for both modern and 
classic architecture. Ideal for creating visual guidance with exceptional visual comfort 
using energy optically controlled LED’s.
A sleek and minimalist shape provides distinctive lighting e�ects by night and 
decorative urban e�ect during the day. Suitable for pedestrian precincts, building 
surrounds, shopping centers, squares and parks 
Extruded aluminum column  and low copper content die cast luminaire with high 
corrosion resistance. Stainless steel screws. Durable silicone rubber gasket and impact 
resistant tempered glass lens. Housing is treated with a chemical chromatized 
protection before powder coating, ensuring high corrosion resistance. Available with a 
selection of integral electronic drivers and dimming electronic ballast ensures 
extended lamp life, energy saving capabilities and integration with building manage-
ment systems. Easy access to the luminaire for maintenance.
NOTE:
These single head luminaires are available in Type II, Type III, and Type IV distributions 
using 55.5w or 78w LED options. Single or twin arm variations of these products are 
standard. 
Please contact factory  for dimming options.   

     DIM - 0-10v Dimming

TYPE:             NOTE:
Ligman Lighting USA reserves the right to change speci�cations without prior notice, please contact factory for latest information. 
Due to the continual improvements in LED technology data and components may change without notice. 

QUANTITY:        

For 110w - See code ULI-21172

     Wireless Lighting Controls (Contact Factory)

Options  (Please Specify) 

Voltage  (Please Specify) 
     120V

Color (Please Specify)     
     01-Black - RAL 9011                        02-  Dark Grey - RAL 7043
     03-White - RAL 9003                       
     05-Matt Silver - RAL 9006              
     06-Bronze - RAL 6014

01 02 03 04 05 06

04 - Metallic Silver - RAL 9006
07-  Custom - RAL __________

     277V
     Other _________

     Occupancy Sensor

Specify

12.59”

5.9”

3.5” x 5.9”

40”

39.37”

3.
5”

5.
9”

4.
1”

12.6”

Mounting Detail

8.34”

11.81”

8.
34

”

11
.8

1”

0.86”x1.96”

Distribution Type
T2 - Type II
T3 - Type III
T4 - Type IV

     RMK - Root Mount Kit

Root Mount Kit

  3.5” x 6”

23.6”

   3” x 7.9”

2” x 6”

23.6” 20”

4”

■

■ ■

■ 12

SA1

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

148 of 460 



IP65 : Suitable for Wet Locations         

PROJECT: DATE:                

Head O�ce:
7144 NW Progress Ct
Hillsboro, Oregon 97124

www.ligmanlightingusa.com

Tel:  503-645-0500
Fax: 503-645-8100LUMINAIRE SPECIFICATION

ULI-21181
IK07 : Impact Resistant (Vandal Resistant) 

Ordering Example : ULI - 21181 - 2x55w - W30 - T2 - 120v - Options

Light Linear Double PT 5

Rev: 11/13

Physical Data 
Length: 82.4”

2x55w Heads - White
Lamp 

Height: Specify
Weight: 80 lbs

Light Linear PT is an elegant lighting column that is suitable for both modern and 
classic architecture. Ideal for creating visual guidance with exceptional visual comfort 
using energy optically controlled LEDs.
A sleek and minimalist shape provides distinctive lighting e�ects by night and 
decorative urban e�ect during the day. Suitable for pedestrian precincts, building 
surrounds, shopping centers, squares and parks 
Extruded aluminum column and low copper content die cast luminaire with high 
corrosion resistance. Stainless steel screws. Durable silicone rubber gasket and impact 
resistant tempered glass lens. Housing is treated with a chemical chromatized 
protection before powder coating, ensuring high corrosion resistance. Available with a 
selection of integral electronic drivers and dimming electronic ballast ensures 
extended lamp life, energy saving capabilities and integration with building manage-
ment systems. Easy access to the luminaire for maintenance.
NOTE:
These luminaires are available in Type II, Type III, and Type IV distributions using 2x55w 
or 2x78w LED options. Single or twin arm variations of these products are standard. 
Please contact factory  for dimming options.   

LED Color  (Please Specify) 
     W30 - 3000K
     W40 - 4000K
     W50 - 5000K

TYPE:             NOTE:
Ligman Lighting USA reserves the right to change speci�cations without prior notice, please contact factory for latest information. 
Due to the continual improvements in LED technology data and components may change without notice. 

QUANTITY:        

Options  (Please Specify) 

Voltage  (Please Specify) 
     120V

Color (Please Specify)     
     01-Black - RAL 9011                        02-  Dark Grey - RAL 7043
     03-White - RAL 9003                       
     05-Matt Silver - RAL 9006              
     06-Bronze - RAL 6014

01 02 03 04 05 06

04 - Metallic Silver - RAL 9006
07-  Custom - RAL __________

     277V
     Other _________

For 2x110w - See code ULI-21182

Mounting Detail

8.34”

11.81”

8.
34

”

11
.8

1”

0.86”x1.96”

82.4”

3.
54

”

4.
09

”

12.59”

Specify

5.9”

3.54”x5.90”

42.91”

5.
90

”

     HGT - Specify custom pole height ____________ft.
     DIM - 0-10v Dimming
     Wireless Lighting Controls (Contact Factory)
     Occupancy Sensor
     RMK - Root Mount Kit

Root Mount Kit

  3.5” x 6”

23.6”

   3” x 7.9”

2” x 6”

23.6” 20”

4”

Distribution Type
T2 - Type II
T3 - Type III
T4 - Type IV

■

■ ■

■

SA2

20

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

149 of 460 



IP65 : Suitable for Wet Locations         

PROJECT: DATE:                

Head O�ce:
7144 NW Progress Ct
Hillsboro, Oregon 97124

www.ligmanlightingusa.com

Tel:  503-645-0500
Fax: 503-645-8100LUMINAIRE SPECIFICATION

ULI-21173
IK07 : Impact Resistant (Vandal Resistant) 

Ordering Example : ULI - 21173 - 78w - W30 - T2 - 120v - Options

Light Linear post top 

Rev: 11/13

LED Color  (Please Specify) 
     W30 - 3000K
     W40 - 4000K
     W50 - 5000K

Physical Data 
Length: 40”

78w - White - LED
Lamp 

Height: Specify
Weight: 65 lbs

     HGT - Specify custom pole height ____________ft.

Light Linear PT es an elegant lighting column that is suitable for both modern and 
classic architecture. Ideal for creating visual guidance with exceptional visual comfort 
using energy optically controlled LED’s.
A sleek and minimalist shape provides distinctive lighting e�ects by night and 
decorative urban e�ect during the day. Suitable for pedestrian precincts, building 
surrounds, shopping centers, squares and parks 
Extruded aluminum column  and low copper content die cast luminaire with high 
corrosion resistance. Stainless steel screws. Durable silicone rubber gasket and impact 
resistant tempered glass lens. Housing is treated with a chemical chromatized 
protection before powder coating, ensuring high corrosion resistance. Available with a 
selection of integral electronic drivers and dimming electronic ballast ensures 
extended lamp life, energy saving capabilities and integration with building manage-
ment systems. Easy access to the luminaire for maintenance.
NOTE:
These single head luminaires are available in Type II, Type III, and Type IV distributions 
using 55.5w or 78w LED options. Single or twin arm variations of these products are 
standard. 
Please contact factory  for dimming options.   

     DIM - 0-10v Dimming

TYPE:             NOTE:
Ligman Lighting USA reserves the right to change speci�cations without prior notice, please contact factory for latest information. 
Due to the continual improvements in LED technology data and components may change without notice. 

QUANTITY:        

For 156w - See code ULI-21291

     Wireless Lighting Controls (Contact Factory)

Options  (Please Specify) 

Voltage  (Please Specify) 
     120V

Color (Please Specify)     
     01-Black - RAL 9011                        02-  Dark Grey - RAL 7043
     03-White - RAL 9003                       
     05-Matt Silver - RAL 9006              
     06-Bronze - RAL 6014

01 02 03 04 05 06

04 - Metallic Silver - RAL 9006
07-  Custom - RAL __________

     277V
     Other _________

     Occupancy Sensor

Specify

12.59”

5.9”

3.5” x 5.9”

40”

39.37”

3.
5”

5.
9”

4.
1”

12.6”

Mounting Detail

8.34”

11.81”

8.
34

”

11
.8

1”

0.86”x1.96”

Distribution Type
T2 - Type II
T3 - Type III
T4 - Type IV

     RMK - Root Mount Kit

Root Mount Kit

  3.5” x 6”

23.6”

   3” x 7.9”

2” x 6”

23.6” 20”

4”

■

■

■

■ 20

SB

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

150 of 460 



IP65 : Suitable for Wet Locations         

PROJECT: DATE:                

Head O�ce:
7144 NW Progress Ct
Hillsboro, Oregon 97124

www.ligmanlightingusa.com

Tel:  503-645-0500
Fax: 503-645-8100LUMINAIRE SPECIFICATION

ULI-21173
IK07 : Impact Resistant (Vandal Resistant) 

Ordering Example : ULI - 21173 - 78w - W30 - T2 - 120v - Options

Light Linear post top 

Rev: 11/13

LED Color  (Please Specify) 
     W30 - 3000K
     W40 - 4000K
     W50 - 5000K

Physical Data 
Length: 40”

78w - White - LED
Lamp 

Height: Specify
Weight: 65 lbs

     HGT - Specify custom pole height ____________ft.

Light Linear PT es an elegant lighting column that is suitable for both modern and 
classic architecture. Ideal for creating visual guidance with exceptional visual comfort 
using energy optically controlled LED’s.
A sleek and minimalist shape provides distinctive lighting e�ects by night and 
decorative urban e�ect during the day. Suitable for pedestrian precincts, building 
surrounds, shopping centers, squares and parks 
Extruded aluminum column  and low copper content die cast luminaire with high 
corrosion resistance. Stainless steel screws. Durable silicone rubber gasket and impact 
resistant tempered glass lens. Housing is treated with a chemical chromatized 
protection before powder coating, ensuring high corrosion resistance. Available with a 
selection of integral electronic drivers and dimming electronic ballast ensures 
extended lamp life, energy saving capabilities and integration with building manage-
ment systems. Easy access to the luminaire for maintenance.
NOTE:
These single head luminaires are available in Type II, Type III, and Type IV distributions 
using 55.5w or 78w LED options. Single or twin arm variations of these products are 
standard. 
Please contact factory  for dimming options.   

     DIM - 0-10v Dimming

TYPE:             NOTE:
Ligman Lighting USA reserves the right to change speci�cations without prior notice, please contact factory for latest information. 
Due to the continual improvements in LED technology data and components may change without notice. 

QUANTITY:        

For 156w - See code ULI-21291

     Wireless Lighting Controls (Contact Factory)

Options  (Please Specify) 

Voltage  (Please Specify) 
     120V

Color (Please Specify)     
     01-Black - RAL 9011                        02-  Dark Grey - RAL 7043
     03-White - RAL 9003                       
     05-Matt Silver - RAL 9006              
     06-Bronze - RAL 6014

01 02 03 04 05 06

04 - Metallic Silver - RAL 9006
07-  Custom - RAL __________

     277V
     Other _________

     Occupancy Sensor

Specify

12.59”

5.9”

3.5” x 5.9”

40”

39.37”

3.
5”

5.
9”

4.
1”

12.6”

Mounting Detail

8.34”

11.81”

8.
34

”

11
.8

1”

0.86”x1.96”

Distribution Type
T2 - Type II
T3 - Type III
T4 - Type IV

     RMK - Root Mount Kit

Root Mount Kit

  3.5” x 6”

23.6”

   3” x 7.9”

2” x 6”

23.6” 20”

4”

■

■

■

■ 20

SB1

USES HOUSE SIDE SHIELD

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

151 of 460 



IP65 : Suitable for Wet Locations         

PROJECT: DATE:                

Head O�ce:
7144 NW Progress Ct
Hillsboro, Oregon 97124

www.ligmanlightingusa.com

Tel:  503-645-0500
Fax: 503-645-8100LUMINAIRE SPECIFICATION

ULI-21183
IK07 : Impact Resistant (Vandal Resistant) 

Ordering Example : ULI - 21183 - 2x78w - W30 - T2 - 120v - Options

Light Linear Double PT 5

Rev: 11/13

Physical Data 
Length: 82.4”

2x78w Heads - White
Lamp 

Height: Specify
Weight: 80 lbs

Light Linear PT is an elegant lighting column that is suitable for both modern and 
classic architecture. Ideal for creating visual guidance with exceptional visual comfort 
using energy optically controlled LEDs.
A sleek and minimalist shape provides distinctive lighting e�ects by night and 
decorative urban e�ect during the day. Suitable for pedestrian precincts, building 
surrounds, shopping centers, squares and parks 
Extruded aluminum column and low copper content die cast luminaire with high 
corrosion resistance. Stainless steel screws. Durable silicone rubber gasket and impact 
resistant tempered glass lens. Housing is treated with a chemical chromatized 
protection before powder coating, ensuring high corrosion resistance. Available with a 
selection of integral electronic drivers and dimming electronic ballast ensures 
extended lamp life, energy saving capabilities and integration with building manage-
ment systems. Easy access to the luminaire for maintenance.
NOTE:
These luminaires are available in Type II, Type III, and Type IV distributions using 2x55w 
or 2x78w LED options. Single or twin arm variations of these products are standard. 
Please contact factory  for dimming options.   

LED Color  (Please Specify) 
     W30 - 3000K
     W40 - 4000K
     W50 - 5000K

TYPE:             NOTE:
Ligman Lighting USA reserves the right to change speci�cations without prior notice, please contact factory for latest information. 
Due to the continual improvements in LED technology data and components may change without notice. 

QUANTITY:        

Options  (Please Specify) 

Voltage  (Please Specify) 
     120V

Color (Please Specify)     
     01-Black - RAL 9011                        02-  Dark Grey - RAL 7043
     03-White - RAL 9003                       
     05-Matt Silver - RAL 9006              
     06-Bronze - RAL 6014

01 02 03 04 05 06

04 - Metallic Silver - RAL 9006
07-  Custom - RAL __________

     277V
     Other _________

For 2x156w - See code ULI-21321

Mounting Detail

8.34”

11.81”

8.
34

”

11
.8

1”

0.86”x1.96”

82.4”

3.
54

”

4.
09

”

12.59”

Specify

5.9”

3.54”x5.90”

42.91”

5.
90

”

     HGT - Specify custom pole height ____________ft.
     DIM - 0-10v Dimming
     Wireless Lighting Controls (Contact Factory)
     Occupancy Sensor
     RMK - Root Mount Kit

Root Mount Kit

  3.5” x 6”

23.6”

   3” x 7.9”

2” x 6”

23.6” 20”

4”

Distribution Type
T2 - Type II
T3 - Type III
T4 - Type IV

20

SB2

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

152 of 460 



page 1 of 2  |  Rev. 10-29-15

QUOTE/ORDER FORM

LIGHT COLUMN BOLLARD

T 800.451.0410  |  www.forms-surfaces.com

© 2015 Forms+Surfaces®  |  All dimensions are nominal. Specifications and pricing subject to change without notice. For the most current version of this document, please refer to our website at www.forms-surfaces.com.

PROJECT NAME: _________________________________________         DATE:         _________________________________________________

JOB LOCATION:   _________________________________________         COMPANY: _________________________________________________

PLEASE USE ADOBE READER OR ADOBE ACROBAT TO FILL OUT AND SAVE FORM. USING OTHER PROGRAMS COULD RESULT IN UNSAVED DATA.

MODEL

QUANTITY MODEL

_______  LBLCO-504 Light Column Bollard, Series 500 - 5" diameter column, illuminated
_______  LBLCO-604 Light Column Bollard, Series 600 - 6" diameter column, illuminated 
_______  LBLCO-504-N Light Column Bollard, Series 500 - 5" diameter column, non-illuminated
_______  LBLCO-604-N Light Column Bollard, Series 600 - 6" diameter column, non-illuminated 
       

OPTIONS

 

Finish Options

Please select one option below.

Standard Stainless Steel Finish

       Satin

Standard Texture/Gloss from Forms+Surfaces Powdercoat Chart 
(Please call for pricing information)    

         Aluminum Texture                  Evergreen Texture                                               

       Argento Texture                     Fog Gloss                      

       Black Gloss                         Silver Texture  

       Black Texture                        Slate Gloss

       Bright Silver Gloss                  Slate Texture

        Cobalt Texture                       Taupe Grey Texture

       Cream Texture                        White Texture  

       Evergreen Gloss                     

Premium Texture from Forms+Surfaces Powdercoat Chart 
(Please call for pricing information)     

         Azure Texture                         Seafoam Texture 

         Lime Texture                           Weathered Iron Texture 

         Rust Texture                                                 

Custom RAL Powdercoat Color
(Please call for pricing information)   

         RAL Color: ____________________________________

FIG. 1 LIGHT COLUMN BOLLARD
(180˚ perforated shield shown - pattern not shown for clarity)

FIG. 2 LIGHT COLUMN BOLLARD
(non-illuminated bollard shown)

1

1

1

2

SCATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

153 of 460 



page 2 of 2  |  Rev. 10-29-15

QUOTE/ORDER FORM

LIGHT COLUMN BOLLARD

T 800.451.0410  |  www.forms-surfaces.com

© 2015 Forms+Surfaces®  |  All dimensions are nominal. Specifications and pricing subject to change without notice. For the most current version of this document, please refer to our website at www.forms-surfaces.com.

Shield and Pattern Options (for illuminated bollards)

Please select one option below. Please call for pricing information.

                    No shield                                          180˚ shield with Bubbles                            360˚ shield with Bubbles       

          180˚ shield with Kente*              180˚ custom shield                                   360˚ custom shield

             180˚ shield with Perforation               360˚ shield with Perforation

             180˚ shield with Scape                      360˚ shield with Scape

             *Kente shield is only available in Series 600, 180˚ configuration.

Lamp Options (for illuminated bollards) Driver (for LED lamps)

Please select one option below. Please call for pricing information. Please select one option below.

           17W LED (17W custom LED light engine)
           Please select one color temperature below.

                 3000K                 4000K

        (2x) F14T5 (14W T5 linear fluorescent)

        (2x) F24T5/HO (24W T5HO linear fluorescent)

Dimmable Driver          Yes             No

GFCI Outlet (for Series 600 illuminated, non-security bollards)

Please select one option below. Please call for pricing information.

             Yes              No

Mounting Options

Please select one option below. Please call for pricing information.

           Surface Mount with J-bolts

           Surface Mount with Removable Base

          Embedded Security Core* 

           *Security core mounting is only available with Series 600.   

2

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

154 of 460 



Type:
BEGA Product:

Project:
Voltage:

Color:
Options:

Modified:

BEGA-US  1000 BEGA Way, Carpinteria, CA 93013  (805) 684-0533  FAX (805) 566-9474   www.bega-us .com      
©copyright BEGA-US 2014    Updated 05/14

Housing: Constructed of marine grade, copper free die-cast 
aluminum alloy. The housing uses stainless steel inserts for 
enclosure attachement. Mounts over a standard 3 1/2” or 4” 
octagonal wiring box. Die castings are marine grade, copper free 
(≤ 0.3% copper content) A360.0 aluminum alloy.

Enclosure: One piece die-cast aluminum cover frame secured 
by captive socket head, stainless steel screws threaded into 
stainless steel inserts. Semi-specular, anodized aluminum internal 
reflector. Safety glass lens installed flush with aluminum frame. 
Fully gasketed for weather tight operation using a molded silicone 
rubber gasket. Can be installed in upward or downward facing 
positions.

Electrical: 25.3W LED luminaire, 30 total system watts, -30°C 
start temperature. Integral 120V through 277V electronic LED 
driver, 0-10V dimming. LED module(s) are available from factory for 
easy replacement. Standard LED color temperature is 3000K with 
an >80 CRI. Available in 4000K (>80 CRI); add suffix K4 to order. 

Note: LEDs supplied with luminaire. Due to the dynamic nature 
of LED technology, LED luminaire data on this sheet is subject 
to change at the discretion of BEGA-US. For the most current 
technical data, please refer to www.bega-us.com.

Finish: All BEGA standard finishes are polyester powder coat with 
minimum 3 mil thickness. Available in four standard BEGA colors: 
Black (BLK); White (WHT); Bronze (BRZ); Silver (SLV). To specify, 
add appropriate suffix to catalog number. Custom colors supplied 
on special order.

CSA certified to U.S. and Canadian standards, suitable for wet 
locations. Protection class IP65

Weight: 6.8 lbs.

Luminaire Lumens: 1926 
Tested in accordance with LM-79-08

                     Lamps  A B C

2383 LED 25.3W LED 9 1⁄2 4 1⁄8 7 7⁄8

LED wall washers · wide spread light distribution

Wide spread light distribution

B

A

C

SD

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

155 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

156 of 460 



 

 

 

 

Table of Contents 
 

Executive Summary 3 

Project Description 4 

Trip Generation & Distribution 11 

Safety Analysis 15 

Operational Analysis 17 

Parking Analysis 24 

Transportation Demand Management Plan 27 

Conclusions 29 

APPENDIX 30 

 

 
  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

157 of 460 



 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 3 

Executive Summary 
 
 
1. The Chehalem Park and Recreation District has awarded a $19.9 million bond to the Chehalem 

Aquatic and Fitness Center to expand its existing facility from 21,280 square feet to 61,670 

square feet. The new space would include an indoor gymnasium, additional fitness rooms and 

equipment, a recreational pool, and a competitive lap pool. The facility is expected to complete 

construction in Spring 2017.  

 

2. Traffic patterns and volumes were observed at key intersections in the surrounding area and on 

the existing site during typical weekdays in October and November 2015.  Information gained 

through these counts and observations was analyzed and used to determine the trip generation 

and expected distribution of the expanded facility. 

 

3. Access to the expanded facility is provided by two driveways: one in the location of the current 

site’s eastern driveway and a new one located farther east. Intersection sight distance was meas-

ured on Haworth Avenue at both these locations and was found to be adequate in both directions. 

Full development of the site will only increase the available sight distance.  

 

4. Based on the most recent five years of crash data at the study intersections, crash rates are not 

indicative of a significant safety concern, crash severity was relatively low, and no significant 

crash patterns area evident. Accordingly, no safety mitigations are recommended.  

 

5. An operational analysis was conducted at the intersections of East Portland Road (OR-HWY99) 

at Villa Road, Villa Road at Fulton Street, Villa Road at Haworth Avenue, and Haworth Avenue 

at Sitka Avenue. All study intersections currently operate at an acceptable level of service and 

will continue to operate at an acceptable level of service with the addition of background and site 

generated trips. 

 

6. A parking analysis was performed to determine the current and future parking supply and de-

mand to ensure adequate parking is available. Current site plans propose parking supply to be 

slightly under the expected peak demand. Accordingly, a Transportation Demand Management 

Plan has been prepared to explore options to strategically reduce the number of single occupancy 

vehicle trips to the site.  

 

 

  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

158 of 460 



 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 4 

Project Description 

INTRODUCTION 

 

The Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center (CAFC), located at 1802 Haworth Avenue in Newberg, 

Oregon, has been awarded a $19.9 million bond measure (M36-170) by the Chehalem Park and Rec-

reation District for a renovation and expansion of their current facility. The current building is 

21,280 square feet and the improvements will include the construction of a 40,390 square foot build-

ing to the east of the existing building, resulting in a total building footprint of 61,670 square feet.  

 

This report assesses the traffic impacts of the proposed expansion on the nearby street system and 

provides recommendations regarding any mitigations to maintain safe and efficient operation. The 

analysis will include level of service and capacity calculations and examine parking conditions for 

the new facility.  

 

A detailed site plan and information on traffic counts, trip generation calculations, and level of ser-

vice calculations are included in the appendix to this report.  

LOCATION DESCRIPTION 

 

Located in the southeast corner of Villa Road and Haworth Avenue in Newberg, the current CAFC is 

a 21,280 square foot building that contains a pool and rooms for fitness classes and activities. The 

proposed concept plan, as of December 18, 2015, will convert the existing building into the new fit-

ness center and construct a new building to the east that will become the aquatic center with a recrea-

tional pool and a separate competitive lap pool.  

 

Access to the site will be through two driveways on Haworth Avenue, one existing and one new, 

located to the east of the existing two driveways. Service access will be available via a proposed cul-

de-sac located on East Cherry Street in the southeast corner of the project site. 

 

The City of Newberg’s Public Work Standards state that the study area is defined as those roads, 

ramps, and intersections at which at peak hour site traffic makes up at least 5 percent of the existing 

capacity or where “accident character or residential traffic character is expected to be significantly 

impacted.”  Based on these standards, the following intersections and site access points have been 

identified for analysis of impacts related to the development: 

 

 E Portland Road (OR-99W) at Villa Road; 

 Villa Road at Fulton Street; 

 Villa Road at Haworth Avenue; 

 Haworth Avenue at Sitka Avenue; 

 West Site Access at Haworth Avenue; and 

 East Site Access at Haworth Avenue. 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

159 of 460 



 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 5 

VICINITY STREETS 

 

East Portland Road (OR-99W) is under the jurisdiction of the Oregon Department of Transportation 

and is classified as a major arterial in the City of Newberg’s Transportation System Plan. East of Vil-

la Road, E Portland Road is generally a five lane arterial with two travel lanes in either direction and 

a center turn lane that acts as a dedicated left turn lane at major intersections. West of Villa Road, 

westbound travel continues onto E Hancock Road which forms a couplet with eastbound E 1
st
 Street. 

Bike lanes and sidewalks are present in both directions along OR-99W in the study area.  

 

Villa Road is under the jurisdiction of the City of Newberg and is classified as a major collector. It is 

generally a two-lane street with wide shoulders providing enough space for on-street parking. Side-

walks are intermittent along Villa Road. In the area near the CAFC, they are present on the west side 

of the street along George Fox University’s baseball field and on the east side of the street immedi-

ately south of Haworth Avenue. Bicycle sharrows are provided in both directions north of Fulton 

Street.  

 

Fulton Street and Haworth Avenue are both under the jurisdiction of the City of Newberg and are 

classified as major collectors. Both streets are two-lane roads with wide shoulders allowing for on-

street parking when not marked otherwise. Bicycle sharrows are provided in both directions for both 

streets.  Sidewalks are present on both sides of each street except along the site’s Haworth Avenue 

frontage east of the site access driveways.  

 

Sitka Avenue is under the jurisdiction of the City of Newberg and is classified as a local street. It is 

an unstriped two-way street with on-street parking on both sides. Sidewalks and curbs are present on 

both sides.  

 

East Cherry Street is a cul-de-sac under the jurisdiction of City of Newberg and is classified as a lo-

cal street. Currently it acts solely as access to two single family homes. 

ANALYSIS INTERSECTIONS 

 

The intersection of E Portland Road (OR-99W) and Villa Road is a four-legged intersection con-

trolled by a traffic signal. The southbound approach on Villa Road contains a protected left turn lane, 

a through lane, a bike lane, and a dedicated right-turn lane. The northbound approach on Villa Road 

contains two protected left turn lanes and a shared through-right lane. A striped bike lane appears to 

be present to the right of the through/right lane, but there are no bicycle symbols in the immediate 

area. Both the eastbound and westbound approaches on E Portland Road (OR-99W) contain a pro-

tected left turn lane, a through lane, a shared through-right lane, and a bike lane. Marked crosswalks 

with pedestrian signals are in place crossing all four legs of the intersection. 

 

The intersection of Villa Road and Fulton Street is an offset four-legged intersection that is con-

trolled by STOP signs on the eastbound and westbound Fulton Street approaches. All approaches are 

single lane with the exception of the stop-controlled eastbound approach which contains separate 

right and left turn lanes. There is no outlet on the east leg of the intersection and it is primarily used 

as access to private single-family dwellings. Bicycle sharrows are present in the eastbound approach 

and continue north on Villa Road. A marked crosswalk is provided on the west side of the intersec-

tion. All other intersection crosswalks are unmarked. 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

160 of 460 



 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 6 

 

The intersection of Villa Road and Haworth Avenue is a four-legged intersection that operates under 

stop control for the eastbound and westbound approaches. All approaches are single lane with the 

exception of the westbound approach which contains separate right and left turn lanes. The western 

leg is an access to a George Fox University building and athletic field and serves primarily parking. 

Bicycle sharrows are present at the three public-street approaches. A marked crosswalk is provided 

on the south side of the intersection, and the sidewalk extends across the west leg of the intersection 

to provide a marked crossing there. The other crosswalks at the intersection are unmarked. 

 

The intersection of Haworth Avenue and Sitka Avenue is a four-legged intersection that is controlled 

by an all-way STOP. All approaches are single lane. Bicycle sharrows are present on both Haworth 

Avenue approaches. All four legs of the intersection have marked crosswalks in place. 

 

Figure 1 on page seven shows the project study area and the location of the site.  

TRAFFIC COUNTS 

 

Manual turning movement counts were made at each of the study intersections on Tuesday, Septem-

ber 29 for evening peak hours and Wednesday, September 30 for morning peak hours. Counts at 

both the east and west access points of the CAFC facility on Haworth Avenue were also collected.  

 

Located directly across from the east access point on Haworth Avenue is a parking lot access for the 

existing office building. Vehicle counts into and out of this facility were collected but were negligi-

ble and were therefore omitted from the analysis.  

 

Figure 2 on page eight and Figure 3 on page nine show the existing traffic volumes at the study area 

intersections for the morning and evening peak hours, respectively. Detailed traffic count data is in-

cluded in the appendix to this report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

161 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

162 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

163 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

164 of 460 



 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 10 

CITY OF NEWBERG IMPROVEMENTS 

 

Based on conversations between the City of Newberg, Chehalem Park and Recreation District 

(CPRD), and Scott | Edwards Architecture (SEA) at two pre-application meetings on August 4 and 

August 19, a number of street and transportation improvements are necessary on the CAFC site to 

update existing conditions to the current standards. 

 

As described above, there is an existing curb tight sidewalk along the south side of Haworth Avenue 

from Villa Road to the east approximately 320 feet. This sidewalk does not meet current width 

standards, but is in good condition and is proposed to remain. The remaining frontage is served by a 

curving internal asphalt path which varies from 50 to 20 feet off the existing curb face. Its condition 

is very poor and it is proposed to be replaced by a new sidewalk which varies from curb tight to 25 

feet off the existing cur face in order to preserve existing trees. As part of the proposed CAFC ex-

pansion, the City of Newberg is requiring the existing driveway and sidewalk ramps to be updated to 

meet current design standards and the new driveway needs to be constructed to the current standard.  

 

Haworth Avenue is classified as a major collector but currently does not meet the design standards 

for that classification. The standards state that a major collector should have striped bike lanes and 

no on-street parking; however Haworth Avenue currently has sharrows and allows on-street parking. 

The addition of a bike lane and the removal of on-street parking on the south side of Haworth Ave-

nue for the length of the CAFC site will be required as part of the expansion, per City of Newberg 

standards.  

 

Similar to Haworth Avenue, Villa Road currently does not meet the City of Newberg design stand-

ards and a capital project led by the city to make the required updates is underway. Villa Road be-

tween Haworth Avenue and Crestview Drive, north of the CAFC site, will be getting bike lanes and 

sidewalks in addition to roadway surface improvements. Construction is scheduled to start in sum-

mer 2016 and will be concurrent with the construction of the proposed CAFC expansion. Final plans 

for the Villa Road Improvement Project have not been determined to date, but may include signifi-

cant improvements to the intersection of Haworth Avenue and Villa Road. Coordination between 

construction projects will be required by the City of Newberg.  

 

The analysis done in this report will discuss primarily the existing conditions, but these City of New-

berg required improvements should not have any negative impact on the surrounding transportation 

system. The conclusions and recommendations resulting from this report will remain valid if and 

when these planned improvements take place.  

 
  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

165 of 460 

jennifer
Line

jennifer
Line

jennifer
Line

jennifer
Line

jennifer
Text Box
curb tight sidewalk per City of Newberg Standards.

jennifer
Arrow

jennifer
PolyLine



 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 11 

Trip Generation & Distribution 

TRIP GENERATION 

 

To evaluate the impacts of the proposed CAFC expansion, the generated trips for the current and 

new facilities were calculated and compared. To estimate the trip generation of this expansion, trip 

rates from the TRIP GENERATION MANUAL, Ninth Edition, published by the Institute of Transpor-

tation Engineers (ITE), were used. Trip rates for land-use code 495, Recreational Community Center, 

were used based on the gross floor area for the existing and proposed building footprints.  

 

The trip generation calculations show that the proposed 61,670 square foot building will generate up 

to 178 trips in the morning peak period, 207 trips in the evening peak period, and 2,086 total trips on 

the typical weekday. Compared to the existing 21,280 square foot building, 117 additional trips are 

projected during the morning peak hour, 136 additional trips are projected during the evening peak 

hour and 1,366 additional trips are projected during the typical weekday. Trip generation for the ex-

isting facilities as measured at the driveways was compared to the ITE TRIP GENERATION MAN-

UAL data and found to correlate well. Accordingly, no adjustments to the standard trip generation 

data were necessary to account for local conditions. 

 

A summary of the trip generation calculations for the expansion is shown in the following table. De-

tailed trip generation calculations are included in the appendix to this report.  

 

AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour Weekday

Entering Exiting Total Entering Exiting Total Total

Trips Trips Trips Trips Trips Trips Trips

Existing Size

21,280 sf 27 34 61 40 31 71 720

Proposed Size

61,670 sf 80 98 178 118 89 207 2,086

Net New Trips 53 64 117 78 58 136 1,366

TRIP GENERATION SUMMARY

 
 

TRIP DISTRIBUTION 

 

The CAFC serves primarily residents of Newberg and nearby surrounding cities. Based on the counts 

taken during morning and evening peak hours at the site driveways, approximately 70 percent of ve-

hicles entering the CAFC facility are coming from the west. Each driveway sees about half of the 

entering and exiting traffic. Figure 4 on page 12 shows the expected distribution of trips in the area 

surrounding the CAFC site. 

 

Figures 5 on page 13 and Figure 6 on page 14 show the expected site generated trips at each study 

intersection for the morning and evening peak hours, respectively.   

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

166 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

167 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

168 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

169 of 460 



 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 15 

Safety Analysis 

SIGHT DISTANCE 

 

The proposed CAFC expansion will include a relocation of the two existing driveways. Based on the 

site plan from December 18, 2015, the new west access will be in the location of the current east ac-

cess and a new sidewalk and driveway will be added approximately 200 feet to the east.  

 

Sight distance measurements were made along Haworth Avenue at the existing east driveway and 

the location of the proposed driveway. Required intersection sight distance was calculated from the 

equations given in A POLICY ON GEOMETRIC DESIGN OF HIGHWAYS AND STREETS, pub-

lished in 2011 by the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASH-

TO). The measurements are based on a driver’s eye height of 3.5 feet above the roadway and an ob-

ject height of 3.5 feet, with the driver’s eye 15 feet behind the edge of the near side travel lane. 

Based upon the posted speed of 25 mph on Haworth Avenue, the intersection sight distance required 

is 280 feet in each direction. 

 

Looking west on Haworth Avenue from the future west driveway location, intersection sight distance 

was measured to be 355 feet, reaching all the way to the intersection at Villa Road. Looking east on 

Haworth Avenue, intersection sight distance was measured to be 320 feet. Trees, a parked car, and 

an existing sign were the limiting factors. Thus, the proposed driveway location can meet the inter-

section sight distance requirements for both directions. 

 

Looking west on Haworth Avenue from the future east driveway location, intersection sight distance 

was measured to be 85 feet. Looking east on Haworth Avenue, intersection sight distance was meas-

ured to be 475 feet. In the west direction, the limiting factor was primarily existing trees along the 

site frontage. With the proposed development, sidewalks, curbs, and a driveway will be built. The 

design of the site frontage including vegetation should be prepared in a configuration that provides at 

least 280 feet of intersection sight distance to the west. Based on the analysis, the proposed east 

driveway can also meet the required intersection sight distance for both directions.  

 

As discussed previously, the City of Newberg is requiring that the existing driveway be brought up 

to current design standards and that the new driveway be built to current design standards. Based on 

the existing conditions and sight distance analysis described above, these new and improved drive-

ways can meet the intersection sight distance standards.  

 

CRASH HISTORY 

 

A review of crashes occurring at the study area intersections was conducted using the most recent 

five years of available data (January 2010 to December  2014) obtained from the Oregon Department 

of Transportation’s Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit. The crash data was evaluated based on the 

number of crashes, the types of collisions, the severity of the collisions, and the crash rate for the 

intersections. Crash rates allow comparison of safety risks at different intersections by accounting for 

both the number of crashes occurring and the number of vehicles that travel through the intersection. 

Crash rates were calculated using the common assumption that traffic counted during the PM peak 

period represents 10% of the average daily traffic (ADT) at the intersection. Crash rates in excess of 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

170 of 460 



 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 16 

one to two crashes per million entering vehicles (CMEV) may be indicative of safety hazards that 

should be further investigated and mitigated. 

 

The intersection of Villa Road and E Portland Road (OR-99W) had 49 reported crashes during the 

analysis period. Thirty-nine of the reported crashes were rear-end collisions, five crashes involved a 

turning movement, two were sideswipe-overtaking collisions, one was a fixed-object collision, and 

two were turning movement collisions involving a bicyclist. Of the reported crashes, 28 of the crash-

es resulted in property damage only, 19 resulted in possible injury or complaint of pain (Injury-C), 

and 2 crashes resulted in non-incapacitating injuries (Injury-B). The crash rate for the intersection 

was calculated to be 0.83 CMEV.  

 

Of the crashes at the intersection involving a bicyclist, one resulted in property damage only and the 

other resulted in a non-incapacitating injury to the cyclist. The crash resulting in an injury occurred 

when a person riding a bicycle westbound through the intersection was struck by an eastbound driver 

turning left onto Villa Road who did not yield the right-of-way. The motorist sustained no injuries.  

 

The intersection of Haworth Avenue and Villa Road had four reported crashes during the analysis 

period. Two of the reported crashes involved a turning movement, one was hitting a parked vehicle, 

and one was a turning movement involving a bicyclist. Two of the four crashes resulted in possible 

injury or complaint of pain (Injury-C), one resulted in a non-incapacitating injury (Injury-B), and one 

resulted in property damage only. The crash rate for the intersection was calculated to be 0.30 

CMEV.  

 

The crash involving a bicyclist occurred when a northbound vehicle on Villa Road and a left-turning 

bicyclist turning southbound off of Haworth Avenue collided. The bicyclist sustained a non-

incapacitating injury (Injury-B) and the passenger vehicle driver was uninjured. 

 

There were no reported crashes at the intersections of Villa Road at Fulton Street or Haworth Ave-

nue at Sitka Avenue.  

 

The area around the CAFC currently has no significant safety deficiencies for any mode of transpor-

tation, and will not be adversely affected by the proposed expansion. 

PEDESTRIAN AND BICYCLE FACILITIES 

 

As described previously, all of the vicinity streets have some kind of bicycle facility and sidewalks 

present. Gaps are present, including the poor conditioned internal walkway along the north side of 

the CAFC facility on Haworth Avenue. But, as discussed previously, many of these gaps will be 

filled with the City of Newberg requirements that came out of the August pre-application meetings 

or the City’s Villa Road Improvement Project that is currently in the design phase.  

 

 
  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

171 of 460 



 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 17 

Operational Analysis 

BACKGROUND TRAFFIC 

 

To provide analysis of the impacts on the nearby transportation facilities for a full build-out scenario 

of the proposed project, an estimate of future traffic volumes is required. In order to calculate the 

future traffic volumes, a growth rate was applied to the measured existing traffic volumes.  

 

The CAFC expansion is currently scheduled to open in 2017. To determine the background traffic at 

the time of the project’s end date, an exponential growth rate of 2.0 percent per year was used for the 

studied intersections.  

 

Since East Portland Road (OR-99W) is under the jurisdiction of Oregon Department of Transporta-

tion (ODOT) and is a state highway, a separate growth rate is required for the through movements. 

This growth rate is determined in accordance with the methodology detailed in ODOT’s Analysis 

Procedures Manual, and is based off of values given in the 2033 Future Highway Volume Table. A 

linear growth rate of 0.53 percent was calculated using the year 2013 and 2033 traffic volumes at 

mile post 22.94 on OR-99W, approximately 0.05 miles west of Villa Road. This growth rate applies 

to the through movements along East Portland Road (OR-99W) only.  

 

Figure 7 on page 18 and Figure 8 on page 19 show the background traffic for year 2017 at each of 

the study intersections for the morning and evening peak hours, respectively.  
 

Peak hour trips calculated to be generated from the proposed development, as described earlier with-

in the Trip Generation section, were added to the projected year 2017 background traffic volumes to 

obtain background plus site trips traffic volumes. 

 

Figure 9 on page 20 and Figure 10 on page 21 show the combined background traffic and site gener-

ated traffic for the morning and evening peak hours, respectively.   

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

172 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

173 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

174 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

175 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

176 of 460 



 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 22 

CAPACITY ANALYSIS 

 

To determine the level of service at the study intersections, a capacity analysis was conducted. The 

analysis was conducted according to the signalized and unsignalized intersection analysis methodol-

ogies in the HIGHWAY CAPACITY MANUAL (HCM) published by the Transportation Research 

Board. Level of service can range from A, which indicates little or no delay, to F, which indicates a 

significant amount of congestion and delay. The City of Newberg requires that intersections operate 

at level of service D or better and with a volume-to-capacity ratio (v/c) of 0.90 or less. Detailed level 

of service descriptions are included in the appendix to this report. 

 

The intersection of East Portland Road (OR-99W) at Villa Road currently operates at a level of ser-

vice B during the morning peak hour and at a level of service C during the evening peak hour. Under 

year 2017 background conditions, the intersection is projected to operate at level of service C during 

the morning and evening peak hours. With the addition of site generated trips, the intersection is pro-

jected to continue to operate at a level of service C during the morning and evening peak hours. 

 

The intersection of Villa Road at Fulton Street currently operates at a level of service B during the 

morning peak hour and a level of service C during evening peak hours. With the addition of back-

ground traffic and site generated trips, the intersection will continue to operate at a level of service B 

during the morning peak hour and a level of service D during the evening peak hour.  

 

The intersection of Villa Road at Haworth currently operates at a level of service C during the morn-

ing peak and evening peak hours. With the addition of background traffic and site generated trips, 

the intersection will decrease to a level of service D during the morning and evening peak hours.  

 

The intersection of Haworth Avenue at Sitka Avenue currently operates at a level of service C during 

the morning peak hour and a level of service B during evening peak hours. With the addition of 

background traffic and site generated trips, the intersection will decrease to a level of service C dur-

ing the morning peak hour and continue to operate at a level of service B during the evening peak 

hour.  

 

Upon completion of the proposed development, the west site access driveway is projected to operate 

at a level of service B during both the morning and evening peak hours. 

 

Upon completion of the proposed development, the east site access driveway is projected to operate 

at a level of service B during both the morning and evening peak hours.  

 

The results of the capacity analysis, along with the Levels of Service (LOS) and delay are shown in 

the following table. Detailed capacity analysis results are included in the appendix to this report. 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

177 of 460 



 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 23 

LOS Delay V/C LOS Delay V/C 

E Portland Road(OR-99W)/Villa Road

Existing Conditions C 20 0.61 C 26 0.64

Background (2017) C 21 0.63 C 27 0.69

Background + Site Trips C 21 0.63 C 28 0.67

Villa Road/Fulton Street

Existing Conditions B 12 0.16 C 24 0.41

Background (2017) B 12 0.17 D 27 0.45

Background + Site Trips B 12 0.20 D 33 0.56

Villa Road/Haworth Avenue

Existing Conditions C 19 0.33 C 21 0.49

Background (2017) C 21 0.38 C 23 0.53

Background + Site Trips D 28 0.53 D 32 0.68

Haworth Avenue/Sitka Avenue

Existing Conditions C 19 -- B 12 --

Background (2017) C 21 -- B 12 --

Background + Site Trips D 25 -- B 13 --

West Driveway on Haworth Avenue

Existing Conditions B 12 -- B 12 --

Background + Site Trips B 14 -- B 14 --

East Driveway on Haworth Avenue

Existing Conditions B 12 -- B 12 --

Background + Site Trips B 14 -- B 13 --

LOS = Level of Service

Delay = Average Delay per Vehicle in Seconds

V/C = Volume-to-Capacity ratio

LEVEL OF SERVICE SUMMARY

AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour

 
 

As shown in the table above, all study intersections currently operate acceptably during the morning 

and evening peak hours and will continue to operate acceptably with the expansion of the CAFC site. 

No operational mitigations are necessary or recommended. 

 

 

  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

178 of 460 



 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 24 

Parking Analysis 

FACILITY PARKING GENERATION 
 

The parking demand that will be generated as a result of the proposed facility expansion was esti-

mated using rates from PARKING GENERATION, Fourth Edition, published by the Institute of 

Transportation Engineers (ITE). The data utilized to determine the parking demand for the expanded 

facility were for land use #495, Recreational Community Center. Calculations were made for the 

existing and proposed building size. Based upon these data, the peak parking demand for the pro-

posed facility size is projected to be 197 parking spaces, an increase of 129 needed parking spaces.  

 

A summary of the parking generation calculations for the expansion is shown in the following table. 

Detailed parking generation calculations are included in the appendix to this report.  

 

Peak Demand

Existing Size

21,280 sf 68

Proposed Size

61,670 sf 197

Net New Demand 129

PARKING GENERATION SUMMARY

 

EXISTING PARKING CONDITIONS 

 

The current parking for the facility is made up of a small front lot consisting of two “15 Minute” 

spaces and seven handicapped spaces, a larger back lot consisting of four rows of angled parking 

making up a total of 61 spaces, and a small alley along the west side of the building consisting of 2 

spaces. Additionally there is on-street parking along the north and south side of Haworth Avenue 

that is currently providing up to 37 spaces that are being used partially for the facility.  

 

To determine the current demand and availability of parking for the site, field visits were conducted 

at different times of the day and the parking occupancy was observed. Visits were made on Wednes-

day, October 20 at 9:30 AM and then on Thursday, November 12 at 6:50 AM and 6:00 PM.  

 

Figure 11 on page 25 shows the existing parking configuration for the facility. A table summarizing 

site visit observations is also shown in the figure. There is a total parking supply of 109 spaces and 

an observed peak parking demand of 67 spaces at 6:00 PM on Thursday, November 12.  

 

 

 

  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

179 of 460 



ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

180 of 460 



 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 26 

PROPOSED FUTURE PARKING CONDITIONS 

 

The most recent site plan for the expanded facility, dated December 18, 2015, shows 143 parking 

stalls in the new parking lot, and an additional 38 spaces of on-street parking available along the 

north and south sides of Haworth Avenue. Six additional spaces will be provided on the proposed 

new cul-de-sac in the southeastern corner of the lot. A new service drive is also proposed on the 

south side of the building to provide direct access to pool and building mechanical spaces as well as 

trash and recycling areas. Chemical and supply deliveries as well as trash and recycling pick-ups will 

take place there instead of using participant parking spaces and access aisles. This results in a total of 

187 spaces, which is less than the ITE Parking Generation manual projects as the new peak demand.  

 

As discussed previously, the City of Newberg is requiring that Haworth Avenue be brought up to the 

current design standards of a major collector as part of the CAFC expansion. They are required to 

remove the on-street parking and replace it with a bike lane along the south side of the roadway. The 

City would not remove on-street parking on the north side or continue the bike lane east of the 

CAFC site. This improvement would be completed at a later date when the City has funding and is 

ready to re-stripe the entire segment of Haworth Avenue between Villa Road and North Springbrook 

Road, as called out in the City of Newberg’s Transportation System Plan. 

 

With the removal of on-street parking on the south side of Haworth Avenue, 20 on-street parking 

spaces will be lost, leaving the facility with 167 spaces. Further, the remaining 18 on-street parking 

spaces would be removed at a later date, leaving the facility with even fewer spaces.  

 

To mitigate this issue, a Transportation Demand Management (TDM) Plan was developed to explore 

options for the worst-case scenario of only 149 available parking spaces. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

181 of 460 



 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 27 

Transportation Demand Management Plan 

INTRODUCTION 

 

The goal of a transportation demand management (TDM) plan is to reduce the number of single oc-

cupancy vehicle trips to a site in favor of modes less taxing to the system. A robust TDM plan in-

cludes strategies to maximize all available transportation options, including ridesharing, transit, and 

active modes like biking and walking. For best results, this TDM plan should be periodically re-

viewed and adjusted to emphasize the measures and modes that are yielding the best results, while 

less successful measures can be revised or replaced. 

 

The TDM plan presented below contains a number of strategies that could potentially reduce the 

number of vehicular trips to the CAFC and thus alleviate the potential shortage of available parking 

spaces. Reducing the vehicular trips also reduces traffic impacts to the neighborhood and the greater 

transportation system. The strategies below are not intended to be followed exhaustively or rigidly, 

but rather to present the facility with a menu of options from which to choose. Based upon discus-

sions with staff and visitors, the facility may choose one or more of the strategies below, some com-

bination or variation of the strategies, or other strategies not mentioned here.  

RIDESHARING 

 
Being in a suburban area with limited transit and alternative travel options, driving to and from the 

facility is an inevitable choice for many employees and visitors of the CAFC. Ridesharing (or car-

pooling) can be an effective way to reduce trips by matching staff or visitors with comparable travel 

schedules and needs. By sharing transportation responsibilities, parents taking kids to swim classes, 

employees commuting to work, and fitness center or pool users can free up time in their schedules 

and reduce their gas expenditures. Additionally, high school aged students can carpool to practices 

and meets from the nearby high school.  

  

The opening of the expanded facility represents an ideal time for the CAFC to support ridesharing 

opportunities. Since the class schedules and open hours will be adjusted with the newly added ser-

vices, people travelling to the facility will be changing their travel behavior in most cases. The facili-

ty should work to actively match staff or visitors with similar travel routes and schedules. This can 

be accomplished by communicating the benefits of ridesharing and providing ways for visitors to 

identify and connect with potential ridesharing partners in their neighborhood.  

 

Strategies to accomplish this may include: 

 

1. Convert the parking stalls nearest to the entrances to “Carpool Only” parking. This will incentiv-

ize those that commit to ridesharing by guaranteeing them the most desirable parking spaces. It 

is recommended that CAFC set up a system such as placards to identify ridesharing vehicles and 

have enforcement in place for those parking in the space as a single occupant. 

2. Provide resources to match visitors with others that live in their respective neighborhoods. 

CAFC could provide a blank map and let users indicate their interest in finding rideshare part-

ners by adding a sticker to indicate their home location and desired timing of CAFC visits on the 

map. CAFC staff can connect interested families and individuals.  

 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

182 of 460 



 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 28 

WALKING & BIKING 

 
Having staff and visitors walking and biking to the facility would reduce the overall demand of park-

ing spaces. As described above, the suburban area is not ideal for these alternative modes of trans-

portation and it is assumed that many visitors live outside of the immediate vicinity.  
 
For those that are able to walk or bike, having safe and comfortable access onto the site is important. 

The current site plan shows a number of paved pedestrian paths leading from various corners of the 

site to the entrance. To encourage bicycling, the facility should install bicycle parking on the site at 

an easily accessible and convenient location. 
 
With the City of Newberg’s future upgrades to Villa Road and eventually Haworth Avenue to have 

dedicated bike lanes and no on-street parking, the immediate area will be much more accessible for 

bicycle commuting. Encouraging staff and visitors to use this option is recommended. Riding bicy-

cles and walking may be excellent options for students from George Fox University and Newberg 

High School as well. 
 

OFF-SITE PARKING COORDINATION  

 

With adequate transportation demand management, the proposed facility can provide the necessary 

parking availability on most days. However, for larger events like collegiate and regional swim 

meets as well as water polo tournaments parking demands may exceed the available supply, particu-

larly where participants are not regular users of the CAFC facilities and have not been exposed to the 

carpooling program and other TDM measures implemented at the site. The owner of the facility has 

pointed out that numbers attending these events are not expected to change with the expansion of the 

facility. Several near-by sites have additional parking opportunities that could facilitate the parking 

demand, minimizing the impacts of such events on the surrounding community.  

 

1. The George Fox University maintenance yard is located on the east side of Villa Road directly 

across from Haworth Avenue. This site is mainly used as parking for various George Fox needs, 

but could serve as an additional lot for the CAFC’s larger events. 

2. Riverspirit Wellness Center is a small natural health center located directly across Haworth Ave-

nue from the CAFC site. A parking lot with 17 stalls and one handicapped stall is provided and 

could be used as a second additional lot for larger events. 

3. Newberg High School is located just a quarter mile from the site and could serve as off-site bus 

parking. Participants will be dropped off at CAFC and busses go park at the high school until the 

event is finished and the busses are needed again.   

 

A Memorandum of Understanding or a similar document between the CAFC and each respective 

facility outlining the coordination agreement should be created and approved upon.  

EVENT SCHEDULING 

 

In addition to the programs and coordination described above, the CAFC administration can strategi-

cally schedule classes and events to reduce overlap and therefore lower the parking demand. Regu-

larly scheduled classes can be postponed or rescheduled to minimize conflicts with larger events.   

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

183 of 460 



 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 29 

IMPLEMENTED PLAN 

 
Based on draft recommendations and conversations with Scott | Edwards Architecture (SEA) staff 

and the property owner, some of the above recommendations have already begun to be implemented 

in the site design.  

 

 The six parking stalls closest to the main entry have been designated as Carpool as shown on 

the attached site plan.  

 Five new bike racks distributed between the two entries have been provided in the design for 

a total of 10 bike parking spaces.  

 High school students attending practices or meets will be asked to park at Newberg High 

School and walk to the CAFC.  

 The property owner will no longer allow RV parking on weekends or during large meets to 

allow for maximum use of the provided parking stalls.  

  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

184 of 460 



 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 30 

Conclusions 
 

The Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center has been awarded a $19.9 million bond measure by the 

Chehalem Park and Recreation District for an expansion of the facility. The proposed plan has the 

facility nearly tripling in size and an increase in traffic near the site will be present once construction 

is complete in 2017.  

 

A capacity analysis was conducted at the intersections of East Portland Road (OR-HWY 99) at Villa 

Road, Villa Road at Fulton Street, Villa Road at Haworth Avenue, and Haworth Avenue at Sitka Av-

enue. All intersections are currently operating at an acceptable level of service during the morning 

peak hour. With the addition of site trips, all intersections will continue to operate at an acceptable 

level of service. 

 

Intersection sight distance was measured at the existing eastern driveway and the location of the pro-

posed new driveway east of the current one. At the existing driveway, intersection sight distance was 

measured as 355 feet and 320 feet to the west and east, respectively. At the proposed new driveway 

location, intersection sight distance was measured as 85 feet and 475 feet to the west and east, re-

spectively. Based on the posted speed of 25 mph and the flat grade, the required intersection sight 

distance for both driveways is 280 feet in either direction. Currently the location of the proposed new 

driveway is filled with trees and has no development. With the planned removal of trees and con-

struction of a driveway, intersection sight distance will be adequate. 

 

The most recent five years of crash data at the study intersection show that there is no significant 

safety concern, as crash severity was relatively low and no apparent crash patterns are evident.  

 

An exhaustive parking analysis was performed to determine the current and future parking supply 

and demand to ensure adequate parking is available. Current site plans propose parking supply to be 

slightly under the expected peak demand. Accordingly, a Transportation Demand Management Plan 

has been prepared to explore options to strategically reduce the number of single occupancy vehicle 

trips to the site. Several options have been recommended and CAFC administration can use any 

combination of the possible strategies to resolve any potential parking shortfalls: 

 Publicize ridesharing and promote a robust carpool program for staff and visitors; 

 Encourage biking by staff and visitors by providing convenient bicycle parking; 

 Coordinate with George Fox University, Riverspirit Wellness Center, and Newberg High 

School to provide off-site overflow and bus parking during large events; and 

 Schedule classes and events to reduce overlap in parking demand. 
  
With implementation of the strategies within the TDM, excess parking demand at peak demand 

hours and special events can be mitigated without adverse effect to the surrounding neighborhood 

and roadways.   

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

185 of 460 



 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 31 

APPENDIX 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

186 of 460 



 

 

 

 

 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 

APPENDIX A: SITE PLAN 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

187 of 460 



V
A

N

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T

COMPACT COMPACTCOMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT

VAN

COMPACTCOMPACT COMPACTCOMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T
C

O
M

P
A

C
T

C
O

M
P

A
C

T

C

O

M

P

A

C

T

C

O

M

P

A

C

T

C

O

M

P

A

C

T

C

O

M

P

A

C

T

COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT
COMPACT

COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT COMPACT

CARPOOL CARPOOL CARPOOL

CARPOOL CARPOOL CARPOOL

10 STALLS

10 STALLS

14

STALLS

335'-0"147'-4"

17 STALLS

21 STALLS

NEW

HALF COURT

BASKETBALL

10 STALLS

HAWORTH AVENUE

P
A

R
K

I
N

G
 
A

N
D

 
P

L
A

Y
 
S

E
T

B
A

C
K

B
U

I
L

D
I
N

G
 
S

E
T

B
A

C
K

9 STALLS

9 STALLS

5 SPACES

1 SPACE

1 SPACE

CHERRY STREET

5'-0"

25'-0"

16'-0"

20'-0"

PARKING

 62,706 SF 143 STALLS

PARK AREA

44,169 SF

7

STALLS

14 STALLS

~
3

6
'
-
0

"

6
0

'
-
0

"

R
O

W
 
W

I
D

T
H

~
1

7
'
-
0

"
~

4
2

'
-
1

1
"

1
0

'
-
0

"

EXISTING UTILITY

EASEMENT

V
I
L
L
A

 
R

O
A

D

NEW

PLAYGROUND

S
I
T

K
A

 
A

V
E

N
U

E

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 
L

I
N

E

2

3

3

2 SPACES 2 SPACES

2 SPACES 2 SPACES

3 SPACES

4

4

6

6

12

6

6

R

2

8

'
-
0

"

2
4

'
-
0

"

2
4

'
-
0

"

25'-0"

3
0

'
-
3

"

8

9

10

10

13

13

14

14

15

18

18

19

20

24

OUTDOOR POOL

22

23

16

2

7

EXISTING BUILDING

21,280 SF

FF 206.58'

NEW BUILDING

40,316 SF

FF 206.58'

(E) CONC. WALKWAYS

TO REMAIN

1
5

'
-
2

"
1

6
'
-
0

"
1

0
'
-
1

1
"

1
6

'
-
0

"
2

4
'
-
0

"
1

4
'
-
0

"

1
6

'
-
0

"
1

6
'
-
0

"

16'-0"

28

2
2

'
-
7

 
5

/
8

"

5
6

'
-
0

"

R

2

8

'

-

0

"

24'-0"

4

STALLS

7

STALLS

4

STALLS

24'-0"

6
'
-
0

"
8

2
'
-
1

1
"

2
0

'
-
1

"
1

6
'
-
0

"
3

2
'
-
0

"

120'-0"

1

1

1

25

2
2

'
-
0

"

1
4

'
-
0

"

26

26

2
4

'
-
4

"
3

5
'
-
7

"

1
8

'
-
0

"

4
8

'
-
1

1
"

9
9

'
-
7

 
1

/
2

"

112'-5"

2
7

'
-
1

1
"

R

2

1

'

-

0

"

R

2

8

'

-

0

"

R

2

6

'

-

0

"

R

4

6

'

-

0

"

7

STALLS

5
6

'
-
0

"
6

'
-
0

"

R

2

8

'

-

0

"

R

2

8

'

-

0

"

R

5

2

'
-

0

"

R
4
8
'
-
0
"

NEW GRASS

VOLLEYBALL

2

17

5

5

2

7

2

11

11

1
3

'
-
2

"

7
'
-
0

"

7'-0"

5
'
-
0

"

27

27

ALTERNATE #4

SEE 2/A1.10

28

28

28

28

28

2828

28

28

1
5

'
-
0

"

5
'
-
0

"

1
1

'
-
9

 
3

/
4

"

P
R

I
V

A
T

E
 
S

T
R

E
E

T
 
/
 
4
0
'
 
W

I
D

E

W
I
L
L
I
A

M
S

 
S

T
R

E
E

T

EXISTING EASEMENT

AREA

6' X 8' TALL FREESTANDING

ELECTRONIC IMAGE SIGN

4' X 2' TALL CPRD PARK SIGN

4' X 3.5' TALL

FREESTANDING

SIGN

OUTDOOR PATIO

21

Drawing:

Date:

Job No:

Sheet No:

A

Drawn By:

Checked By:

CHEHALEM 

AQUATIC AND

FITNESS CENTER

1802 HAWORTH AVE.

NEWBERG, OREGON 97132

1493

12.23.2015

-

-

100% SCHEMATIC

DESIGN

12.18.15

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

N

O

T

 

F

O

R

C

O

N

S

T

R

U

C

T

I

O

N

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

A1.10

1"=30'-0"

SITE  PLAN

NORTH

1/16"=1'-0"

OUTDOOR POOL PLAN - ALTERNATE # 4

NORTH

GENERAL NOTES - SITE PLAN:

1. PROTECT ALL BUILDINGS, UTILITIES, VEGETATION, ETC. TO

REMAIN.

2. SEE CIVIL DRAWINGS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.

3. MAINTAIN 2% MAX CROSS SLOPE AT ALL NEW  CONCRETE

WALKWAYS & ACCESSIBLE AISLES.

4. MOVE (E) UTILITIES & UTILITY MONUMENTS AS NECESSARY

FOR NEW CONSTRUCTION.

5. APPROXIMATELY 35,000 SF OF LANDSCAPING (OFOI) IN

BASE BID

6. ALTERNATE #5:  INCLUDE 35,000 SF OF LANDSCAPING,

BASKETBALL COURT AND PLAYGROUND IN CONTRACTOR'S

SCOPE

KEYNOTES - SITE PLAN:

1

NEW FIRE HYDRANT, SEE CIVIL

NEW 6' WIDE CONCRETE SIDEWALK THROUGH PARK.

EXISTING SIDEWALK TO REMAIN, REPAIR AS NEEDED. INFILL

AT EXISTING DRIVEWAY TO BE REMOVED.

EXISTING ON STREET PARKING.

NEW BIKE LANE PER CITY OF NEWBERG STANDARD.

NEW TREES, SEE LANDSCAPE.

EXISTING TREES TO REMAIN.

NEW CUL-DE-SAC W/ NEW 5' WIDE SIDEWALK AND 6'-6" WIDE

PLANTING STRIP WITHIN PROPERTY LINE ONLY, ADJACENT

SITE OWNER TO COMPLETE SIDEWALK AND PLANTING

STRIP ON ADJACENT SITE

EXISTING DRIVEWAY LOCATION, PROVIDE NEW CONCRETE

DRIVEWAY APRON PER CITY OF NEWBERG STANDARD.

NEW DRIVEWAY WITH CONCRETE APRON PER CITY OF

NEWBERG STANDARD.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

NEW CONCRETE WALK AROUND EXISTING AND NEW

BUILDINGDS.

RELOCATED BALLOT DROP BOX.

PASSENGER DROP OFF AREA.

ADA PARKING SPACES W/ ACCESSIBLE AISLE, CURB RAMP

AND SIGNAGE.

NEW 2,940 SF PLAYGROUND  W/ NEW EQUIPMENT, SOFT

SURFACE AND BENCHES (OFOI)

NEW 42' BY 50' ASPHALT BASKETBALL COURT W/ NEW

EQUIPMENT AND BENCHES (OFOI)

NEW GRASS VOLLEYBALL COURT AND STANDARDS.

NEW BIKE RACKS; 5 RACKS FOR 10 SPACES.

TRASH AND RECYCLING ENCLOSURE, CMU W/ SLIDING

STEEL GATE.

NEW ASPHALT SERVICE YARD.

3,400 SF CONCRETE PATIO WITH  RELOCATED PICNIC

TABLES AND PING PONG TABLES.

LANDSCAPE ISLAND.

FIRE APPARATUS TURN AROUND.

ALTERNATE #4: 2,200 SF OUTDOOR POOL W/ ADDITIONAL

700 SF OF CONCRETE PATIO SURROUNDING POOL,

REFERENCE SWIMMING POOL DRAWINGS.

NEW DRINKING FOUNTAIN.

RIGHT OF WAY DEDICATION.

NEW CHAINLINK FENCE, MATCH EXISTING HEIGHT, PROVIDE

TWO PAIRS OF GATES W/ PANIC HARDWARE.

WATER QUALITY PLANTERS, SEE CIVIL AND LANDSCAPE.

11

25

26

27

28

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

188 of 460 

jennifer
Text Box
INCLUDE 11X17 PLAN



 

 

 

 

 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 

APPENDIX B: AM TRAFFIC COUNTS 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

189 of 460 



Total Vehicle Summary

Villa Rd & Hwy 99W

7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

5-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Hwy 99W Hwy 99W Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

7:00 AM 20 5 0 0 13 1 3 0 8 104 0 0 0 51 4 0 209 0 0 0 0
7:05 AM 40 2 0 0 7 4 1 0 3 124 0 0 0 38 3 0 222 0 0 0 0
7:10 AM 22 7 1 0 10 6 3 0 2 107 0 1 0 43 5 0 206 0 0 0 1
7:15 AM 40 4 1 0 14 1 3 0 3 119 0 0 0 77 3 0 265 0 0 0 0
7:20 AM 35 4 0 0 5 4 5 0 4 114 0 0 1 65 2 0 239 0 0 0 0
7:25 AM 29 2 1 0 12 7 4 0 8 112 0 0 1 67 7 1 250 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 49 10 3 0 15 4 6 0 4 81 0 0 0 84 8 0 264 0 0 0 0
7:35 AM 42 2 1 0 8 4 2 0 7 114 0 0 1 57 6 0 244 1 0 0 0
7:40 AM 30 8 1 0 8 0 6 0 6 88 0 0 1 75 8 0 231 0 0 1 0
7:45 AM 36 11 1 0 13 5 2 0 3 87 0 0 0 82 9 0 249 0 0 0 0
7:50 AM 47 16 1 4 8 5 6 0 7 100 1 0 0 74 10 0 275 0 2 1 0
7:55 AM 29 8 0 0 17 7 4 1 12 107 0 0 0 60 13 0 257 0 1 0 0
8:00 AM 23 9 0 0 13 5 5 0 8 96 0 0 0 60 7 0 226 0 2 1 0
8:05 AM 26 8 0 0 13 3 4 0 12 112 0 0 0 77 6 0 261 0 0 0 0
8:10 AM 32 9 1 0 8 5 4 0 11 90 0 0 2 71 12 0 245 0 0 0 0
8:15 AM 26 6 1 0 12 2 5 0 13 110 0 0 0 64 16 0 255 0 0 0 0
8:20 AM 30 4 0 0 8 5 6 0 18 119 1 0 1 73 14 0 279 0 0 0 0
8:25 AM 30 8 0 0 7 2 7 0 14 96 0 1 3 84 25 0 276 0 0 0 0
8:30 AM 24 5 1 0 5 5 6 0 13 121 0 0 0 83 17 0 280 0 0 0 0
8:35 AM 30 7 0 0 6 5 7 0 5 89 1 0 1 93 10 0 254 0 0 0 0
8:40 AM 36 8 0 0 5 3 8 0 4 112 2 0 1 81 7 0 267 1 1 1 0
8:45 AM 31 9 0 0 11 3 2 0 6 95 0 0 0 82 10 0 249 0 1 1 0
8:50 AM 34 15 2 0 11 4 6 0 6 89 1 0 1 84 17 0 270 0 0 1 0
8:55 AM 36 5 0 0 24 4 8 0 3 83 0 0 1 78 8 0 250 0 0 1 0

Total 
Survey

777 172 15 4 253 94 113 1 180 2,469 6 2 14 1,703 227 1 6,023 2 7 7 1

Wednesday, September 30, 2015

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

120

1,239

5

146

902

8

5369

52 11564

1

6

0 3

99

47365
InOut

365231
OutIn

1,364In 

1,335Out

Out1,359

In1,056

0.
79

P
H

F
 

11
.4

%
H

V

0.84PHF 
6.8%HV

0.89PHF 
3.8%HV

0.
81

P
H

F
 

3.
0%

H
V

Peak Hour Summary
7:45 AM   to   8:45 AM

15-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Hwy 99W Hwy 99W Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

7:00 AM 82 14 1 0 30 11 7 0 13 335 0 1 0 132 12 0 637 0 0 0 1
7:15 AM 104 10 2 0 31 12 12 0 15 345 0 0 2 209 12 1 754 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 121 20 5 0 31 8 14 0 17 283 0 0 2 216 22 0 739 1 0 1 0
7:45 AM 112 35 2 4 38 17 12 1 22 294 1 0 0 216 32 0 781 0 3 1 0
8:00 AM 81 26 1 0 34 13 13 0 31 298 0 0 2 208 25 0 732 0 2 1 0
8:15 AM 86 18 1 0 27 9 18 0 45 325 1 1 4 221 55 0 810 0 0 0 0
8:30 AM 90 20 1 0 16 13 21 0 22 322 3 0 2 257 34 0 801 1 1 1 0
8:45 AM 101 29 2 0 46 11 16 0 15 267 1 0 2 244 35 0 769 0 1 3 0

Total 
Survey

777 172 15 4 253 94 113 1 180 2,469 6 2 14 1,703 227 1 6,023 2 7 7 1

Peak Hour Summary
7:45 AM   to   8:45 AM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Villa Rd Villa Rd Hwy 99W Hwy 99W Total Crosswalk

In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes North South East West
Volume 473 65 538 4 231 365 596 1 1,364 1,335 2,699 1 1,056 1,359 2,415 0 3,124 1 6 3 0

%HV 11.4% 3.0% 3.8% 6.8% 5.9%
PHF 0.79 0.81 0.89 0.84 0.94

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Villa Rd Villa Rd Hwy 99W Hwy 99W Total

L T R L T R L T R L T R
Volume 369 99 5 115 52 64 120 1,239 5 8 902 146 3,124

%HV 13.0% 5.1% 20.0% 0.9% 3.8% 6.3% 3.3% 3.9% 0.0% 0.0% 7.9% 0.7% 5.9%
PHF 0.82 0.71 0.63 0.67 0.76 0.76 0.67 0.92 0.42 0.50 0.87 0.65 0.94

Rolling Hour Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Hwy 99W Hwy 99W Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

7:00 AM 419 79 10 4 130 48 45 1 67 1,257 1 1 4 773 78 1 2,911 1 3 2 1
7:15 AM 418 91 10 4 134 50 51 1 85 1,220 1 0 6 849 91 1 3,006 1 5 3 0
7:30 AM 400 99 9 4 130 47 57 1 115 1,200 2 1 8 861 134 0 3,062 1 5 3 0
7:45 AM 369 99 5 4 115 52 64 1 120 1,239 5 1 8 902 146 0 3,124 1 6 3 0
8:00 AM 358 93 5 0 123 46 68 0 113 1,212 5 1 10 930 149 0 3,112 1 4 5 0

473

0.79 0.84

1,056

0.89

1,364

0.81

231
6.8%3.8%

By 
Movement

By 
Approach

Total TotalTotalTotal

3.0%11.4%

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

190 of 460 



Heavy Vehicle Summary

Villa Rd & Hwy 99W

7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Heavy Vehicle   5-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Hwy 99W Hwy 99W Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

7:00 AM 3 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 5 0 3 0 3 11
7:05 AM 8 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 2 0 2 11
7:10 AM 4 1 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 0 2 0 2 10
7:15 AM 7 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 6 0 4 0 4 17
7:20 AM 5 1 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 0 6 0 6 15
7:25 AM 4 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 5 0 2 1 3 12
7:30 AM 7 1 0 8 0 1 0 1 0 2 0 2 0 5 0 5 16
7:35 AM 1 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 0 5 0 5 10
7:40 AM 7 1 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 5 0 3 0 3 16
7:45 AM 3 0 1 4 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 0 5 0 5 12
7:50 AM 4 1 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 4 0 4 13
7:55 AM 3 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 4 0 4 11
8:00 AM 2 2 0 4 0 0 1 1 0 6 0 6 0 3 0 3 14
8:05 AM 6 0 0 6 0 0 2 2 0 3 0 3 0 6 0 6 17
8:10 AM 3 1 0 4 0 0 1 1 1 5 0 6 0 9 1 10 21
8:15 AM 5 1 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 3 0 3 13
8:20 AM 4 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 1 0 1 9
8:25 AM 10 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 0 8 0 8 20
8:30 AM 2 0 0 2 1 1 0 2 2 11 0 13 0 11 0 11 28
8:35 AM 3 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 10 0 10 14
8:40 AM 3 0 0 3 0 1 0 1 0 2 0 2 0 7 0 7 13
8:45 AM 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 1 5 0 6 0 9 0 9 17
8:50 AM 6 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 1 6 0 7 17
8:55 AM 4 1 0 5 1 0 0 1 1 1 0 2 1 9 2 12 20

Total 
Survey

106 11 1 118 2 3 4 9 6 91 0 97 2 127 4 133 357

Wednesday, September 30, 2015

4

48

0

1

71

0

148

2 14

5

542
InOut

107
OutIn

52In 

123Out

Peak Hour Summary
7:45 AM   to   8:45 AM

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

Heavy Vehicle   15-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Hwy 99W Hwy 99W Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

7:00 AM 15 1 0 16 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 9 0 7 0 7 32
7:15 AM 16 1 0 17 0 0 0 0 0 14 0 14 0 12 1 13 44
7:30 AM 15 3 0 18 0 1 0 1 0 10 0 10 0 13 0 13 42
7:45 AM 10 1 1 12 0 0 0 0 0 11 0 11 0 13 0 13 36
8:00 AM 11 3 0 14 0 0 4 4 1 14 0 15 0 18 1 19 52
8:15 AM 19 1 0 20 0 0 0 0 1 9 0 10 0 12 0 12 42
8:30 AM 8 0 0 8 1 2 0 3 2 14 0 16 0 28 0 28 55
8:45 AM 12 1 0 13 1 0 0 1 2 10 0 12 2 24 2 28 54

Total 
Survey

106 11 1 118 2 3 4 9 6 91 0 97 2 127 4 133 357

Heavy Vehicle   Peak Hour Summary
7:45 AM   to   8:45 AM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Villa Rd Villa Rd Hwy 99W Hwy 99W

In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total
Volume 54 2 56 7 10 17 52 123 175 72 50 122 185

PHF 0.68 0.44 0.68 0.62 0.75

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Villa Rd Villa Rd Hwy 99W Hwy 99W

L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total
Volume 48 5 1 54 1 2 4 7 4 48 0 52 0 71 1 72 185

PHF 0.63 0.42 0.25 0.68 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.44 0.33 0.75 0.00 0.68 0.00 0.61 0.25 0.62 0.75

Heavy Vehicle   Rolling Hour Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval
Start Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

7:00 AM 56 6 1 63 0 1 0 1 0 44 0 44 0 45 1 46 154
7:15 AM 52 8 1 61 0 1 4 5 1 49 0 50 0 56 2 58 174
7:30 AM 55 8 1 64 0 1 4 5 2 44 0 46 0 56 1 57 172
7:45 AM 48 5 1 54 1 2 4 7 4 48 0 52 0 71 1 72 185
8:00 AM 50 5 0 55 2 2 4 8 6 47 0 53 2 82 3 87 203

By 
Movement

Total

By 
Approach

Villa Rd Villa Rd Hwy 99W
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Total

Hwy 99W
Westbound

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

191 of 460 



     Peak Hour Summary

7:45 AM   to   8:45 AM
Wednesday, September 30, 2015

  

  

 231 365  

  

 64 52 115  

 � � �  

          

                      

  � 146

0 1335    902 1056 0

  � 8

  
  

120 �   

0 1364 1239 �   1359 0

Hwy 99W

0 0

Villa Rd & Hwy 99W

V
ill

a 
R

d

0Bikes

1
Bikes

1Peds

P
ed

s
0

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

P
ed

s
3

0 1364 1239 �   1359 0

5 �   

                      

          

 � � �  

 369 99 5  

  

 65 473  

  

  

Count Period: 7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

0

5.9%

231

3,124

Hwy 99W

Approach HV%PHF Volume

NB 0.79 11.4% 473

SB 0.81 3.0%

Intersection 0.94

EB 0.89 3.8%

0 V
ill

a 
R

d

1,364

1,056WB 0.84 6.8%

0Bikes

1
Bikes

1Peds

P
ed

s
0

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

4

Bikes

6Peds

P
ed

s
3

1Bikes

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

192 of 460 



Total Vehicle Summary

Villa Rd & Fulton St

7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

5-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Fulton St Fulton St Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

7:00 AM 3 9 0 0 0 10 0 0 11 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 41 0 0 0 0
7:05 AM 2 2 1 0 0 8 1 0 6 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 25 0 0 0 0
7:10 AM 2 11 0 0 0 10 1 0 2 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 33 0 0 0 0
7:15 AM 1 8 0 0 0 11 1 0 4 0 6 1 0 0 0 0 31 0 0 0 0
7:20 AM 3 5 0 0 0 10 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 23 0 0 0 1
7:25 AM 0 6 0 0 0 14 3 0 8 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 40 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 7 7 1 0 0 15 1 0 4 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 43 0 0 0 0
7:35 AM 3 4 0 0 0 13 2 0 7 0 6 1 1 0 1 0 37 0 0 0 0
7:40 AM 8 8 1 0 1 10 5 0 5 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 44 0 0 0 0
7:45 AM 9 2 0 1 1 9 9 0 4 0 5 0 1 0 0 0 40 0 0 0 1
7:50 AM 11 6 0 0 0 17 11 2 5 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 57 0 0 1 3
7:55 AM 10 12 0 1 0 12 6 2 12 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 61 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 4 10 0 0 0 16 6 0 11 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 53 0 0 0 0
8:05 AM 3 10 0 0 0 13 5 0 9 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 47 0 0 0 0
8:10 AM 8 11 0 0 0 15 4 0 13 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 59 0 0 0 0
8:15 AM 3 10 0 0 0 13 4 0 9 0 7 1 0 0 0 0 46 0 0 0 0
8:20 AM 3 5 1 0 0 17 5 0 11 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 45 0 0 0 1
8:25 AM 8 7 0 0 0 13 2 0 17 0 5 1 0 0 0 0 52 0 0 0 1
8:30 AM 7 18 2 0 0 9 7 0 12 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 61 0 0 0 1
8:35 AM 9 6 1 0 0 9 17 3 3 1 5 0 0 0 2 0 53 0 0 0 0
8:40 AM 7 8 0 0 0 7 6 1 6 0 4 0 0 0 1 1 39 1 0 0 1
8:45 AM 8 8 0 0 0 14 12 0 4 1 8 0 0 0 1 0 56 0 0 0 0
8:50 AM 16 8 2 0 0 25 2 0 7 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 67 0 0 0 2
8:55 AM 13 5 1 0 0 15 10 0 6 0 11 1 1 1 0 0 63 0 0 0 1

Total 
Survey

148 186 10 2 2 305 122 8 178 2 153 5 3 1 6 1 1,116 1 0 1 12

Wednesday, September 30, 2015

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

108

2

77

4

1

1

789

166 080

1

0

7 0

106

202244
InOut

218246
OutIn

187In 

170Out

Out9

In6

0.
83

P
H

F
 

5.
9%

H
V

0.38PHF 
33.3%HV

0.87PHF 
3.2%HV

0.
79

P
H

F
 

2.
0%

H
V

Peak Hour Summary
8:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

15-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Fulton St Fulton St Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

7:00 AM 7 22 1 0 0 28 2 0 19 0 20 0 0 0 0 0 99 0 0 0 0
7:15 AM 4 19 0 0 0 35 6 0 14 0 15 1 0 0 1 0 94 0 0 0 1
7:30 AM 18 19 2 0 1 38 8 0 16 0 20 1 1 0 1 0 124 0 0 0 0
7:45 AM 30 20 0 2 1 38 26 4 21 0 21 0 1 0 0 0 158 0 0 1 4
8:00 AM 15 31 0 0 0 44 15 0 33 0 21 0 0 0 0 0 159 0 0 0 0
8:15 AM 14 22 1 0 0 43 11 0 37 0 15 2 0 0 0 0 143 0 0 0 2
8:30 AM 23 32 3 0 0 25 30 4 21 1 15 0 0 0 3 1 153 1 0 0 2
8:45 AM 37 21 3 0 0 54 24 0 17 1 26 1 1 1 1 0 186 0 0 0 3

Total 
Survey

148 186 10 2 2 305 122 8 178 2 153 5 3 1 6 1 1,116 1 0 1 12

Peak Hour Summary
8:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Villa Rd Villa Rd Fulton St Fulton St Total Crosswalk

In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes North South East West
Volume 202 244 446 0 246 218 464 4 187 170 357 3 6 9 15 1 641 1 0 0 7

%HV 5.9% 2.0% 3.2% 33.3% 3.9%
PHF 0.83 0.79 0.87 0.38 0.86

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Villa Rd Villa Rd Fulton St Fulton St Total

L T R L T R L T R L T R
Volume 89 106 7 0 166 80 108 2 77 1 1 4 641

%HV 2.2% 7.5% 28.6% 0.0% 2.4% 1.3% 3.7% 0.0% 2.6% 0.0% ##### 25.0% 3.9%
PHF 0.60 0.83 0.58 0.00 0.77 0.57 0.68 0.25 0.74 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.86

Rolling Hour Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Fulton St Fulton St Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

7:00 AM 59 80 3 2 2 139 42 4 70 0 76 2 2 0 2 0 475 0 0 1 5
7:15 AM 67 89 2 2 2 155 55 4 84 0 77 2 2 0 2 0 535 0 0 1 5
7:30 AM 77 92 3 2 2 163 60 4 107 0 77 3 2 0 1 0 584 0 0 1 6
7:45 AM 82 105 4 2 1 150 82 8 112 1 72 2 1 0 3 1 613 1 0 1 8
8:00 AM 89 106 7 0 0 166 80 4 108 2 77 3 1 1 4 1 641 1 0 0 7

202

0.83 0.38

6

0.87

187

0.79

246
33.3%3.2%

By 
Movement

By 
Approach

Total TotalTotalTotal

2.0%5.9%

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

193 of 460 



Heavy Vehicle Summary

Villa Rd & Fulton St

7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Heavy Vehicle   5-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Fulton St Fulton St Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:05 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:10 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:20 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
7:25 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
7:35 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
7:40 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:50 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
7:55 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
8:05 AM 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
8:10 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2
8:15 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
8:20 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:25 AM 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
8:30 AM 0 1 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 3
8:35 AM 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 3
8:40 AM 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
8:45 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2
8:50 AM 0 1 1 2 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 4
8:55 AM 1 2 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 1 0 1 5

Total 
Survey

2 14 2 18 0 4 1 5 4 0 2 6 0 1 1 2 31

Wednesday, September 30, 2015

4

0

2

1

1

0

22

4 01

8

126
InOut

135
OutIn

6In 

4Out

Peak Hour Summary
8:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

Heavy Vehicle   15-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Fulton St Fulton St Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

7:00 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
7:15 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
7:30 AM 0 3 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
7:45 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
8:00 AM 0 2 0 2 0 2 0 2 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 5
8:15 AM 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
8:30 AM 1 1 1 3 0 1 1 2 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 7
8:45 AM 1 4 1 6 0 0 0 0 3 0 1 4 0 1 0 1 11

Total 
Survey

2 14 2 18 0 4 1 5 4 0 2 6 0 1 1 2 31

Heavy Vehicle   Peak Hour Summary
8:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Villa Rd Villa Rd Fulton St Fulton St

In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total
Volume 12 6 18 5 13 18 6 4 10 2 2 4 25

PHF 0.50 0.63 0.38 0.50 0.57

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Villa Rd Villa Rd Fulton St Fulton St

L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total
Volume 2 8 2 12 0 4 1 5 4 0 2 6 0 1 1 2 25

PHF 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.00 0.50 0.25 0.63 0.33 0.00 0.50 0.38 0.00 0.25 0.25 0.50 0.57

Heavy Vehicle   Rolling Hour Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval
Start Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

7:00 AM 0 6 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
7:15 AM 0 7 0 7 0 2 0 2 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 10
7:30 AM 0 7 0 7 0 3 0 3 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 11
7:45 AM 1 5 1 7 0 4 1 5 1 0 1 2 0 0 1 1 15
8:00 AM 2 8 2 12 0 4 1 5 4 0 2 6 0 1 1 2 25

By 
Movement

Total

By 
Approach

Villa Rd Villa Rd Fulton St
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Total

Fulton St
Westbound

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

194 of 460 



     Peak Hour Summary

8:00 AM   to   9:00 AM
Wednesday, September 30, 2015

  

  

 246 218  

  

 80 166 0  

 � � �  

          

                      

  � 4

0 170    1 6 0

  � 1

  
  

108 �   

0 187 2 �   9 0

Fulton St

0 0

Villa Rd & Fulton St

V
ill

a 
R

d

1Bikes

4
Bikes

1Peds

P
ed

s
7

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

P
ed

s
0

0 187 2 �   9 0

77 �   

                      

          

 � � �  

 89 106 7  

  

 244 202  

  

  

Count Period: 7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

0

3.9%

246

641

Fulton St

Approach HV%PHF Volume

NB 0.83 5.9% 202

SB 0.79 2.0%

Intersection 0.86

EB 0.87 3.2%

0 V
ill

a 
R

d

187

6WB 0.38 33.3%

1Bikes

4
Bikes

1Peds

P
ed

s
7

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

0

Bikes

0Peds

P
ed

s
0

3Bikes

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

195 of 460 



Total Vehicle Summary

Villa Rd & Haworth Ave

7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

5-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

7:00 AM 0 4 16 0 8 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 35 0 0 0 0
7:05 AM 0 3 6 0 6 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 4 0 31 0 0 0 0
7:10 AM 1 9 4 0 5 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 31 0 0 0 0
7:15 AM 0 5 4 0 2 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 23 0 0 0 0
7:20 AM 0 7 3 0 6 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 5 0 37 0 1 0 0
7:25 AM 1 5 8 0 10 14 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 44 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 1 4 4 0 7 11 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 0 34 0 0 0 0
7:35 AM 2 3 9 1 4 14 1 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 2 0 41 0 0 0 0
7:40 AM 1 8 5 0 8 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 2 0 38 0 0 0 1
7:45 AM 1 0 5 0 9 17 1 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 1 0 41 0 0 1 1
7:50 AM 3 6 6 1 8 13 0 0 0 0 1 0 10 0 3 3 50 0 0 1 0
7:55 AM 3 6 14 0 11 17 0 1 0 0 1 0 4 0 7 0 63 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 1 5 14 0 7 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 6 0 53 0 1 0 0
8:05 AM 2 6 9 0 16 9 0 0 0 0 2 0 8 0 6 0 58 0 2 0 0
8:10 AM 1 5 20 0 17 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 5 0 63 0 1 0 0
8:15 AM 1 4 15 0 22 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 5 0 65 0 3 3 1
8:20 AM 0 3 9 0 28 10 0 0 0 0 1 0 11 0 6 0 68 0 0 0 0
8:25 AM 1 4 26 0 28 7 0 0 0 0 1 0 7 0 14 0 88 0 0 0 1
8:30 AM 0 8 16 0 9 6 0 0 0 0 1 0 10 0 16 1 66 0 1 1 1
8:35 AM 0 5 3 0 10 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 0 6 2 48 0 0 0 0
8:40 AM 0 7 7 0 7 7 0 0 0 0 1 0 6 0 7 0 42 0 0 0 0
8:45 AM 1 3 9 0 7 13 0 0 1 0 1 0 12 0 2 0 49 0 0 0 0
8:50 AM 2 5 8 0 7 25 1 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 6 0 60 0 0 0 3
8:55 AM 1 6 5 0 7 10 0 0 0 1 3 0 9 0 2 0 44 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

23 121 225 2 249 263 5 1 2 1 12 0 157 0 114 6 1,172 0 9 6 8

Wednesday, September 30, 2015

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

1

0

8

86

0

101

15012

134 1691

0

8

6 4

61

223243
InOut

148304
OutIn

9In 

13Out

Out319

In187

0.
83

P
H

F
 

4.
5%

H
V

0.64PHF 
1.1%HV

0.75PHF 
11.1%HV

0.
73

P
H

F
 

2.
3%

H
V

Peak Hour Summary
7:55 AM   to   8:55 AM

15-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

7:00 AM 1 16 26 0 19 23 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 5 0 97 0 0 0 0
7:15 AM 1 17 15 0 18 33 1 0 1 0 0 0 8 0 10 0 104 0 1 0 0
7:30 AM 4 15 18 1 19 33 2 0 0 0 0 0 15 0 7 0 113 0 0 0 1
7:45 AM 7 12 25 1 28 47 1 1 0 0 2 0 21 0 11 3 154 0 0 2 1
8:00 AM 4 16 43 0 40 36 0 0 0 0 2 0 16 0 17 0 174 0 4 0 0
8:15 AM 2 11 50 0 78 26 0 0 0 0 2 0 27 0 25 0 221 0 3 3 2
8:30 AM 0 20 26 0 26 17 0 0 0 0 2 0 36 0 29 3 156 0 1 1 1
8:45 AM 4 14 22 0 21 48 1 0 1 1 4 0 27 0 10 0 153 0 0 0 3

Total 
Survey

23 121 225 2 249 263 5 1 2 1 12 0 157 0 114 6 1,172 0 9 6 8

Peak Hour Summary
7:55 AM   to   8:55 AM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Villa Rd Villa Rd Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Total Crosswalk

In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes North South East West
Volume 223 243 466 0 304 148 452 1 9 13 22 0 187 319 506 3 723 0 8 4 6

%HV 4.5% 2.3% 11.1% 1.1% 2.8%
PHF 0.83 0.73 0.75 0.64 0.81

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Villa Rd Villa Rd Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Total

L T R L T R L T R L T R
Volume 12 61 150 169 134 1 1 0 8 101 0 86 723

%HV 8.3% 4.9% 4.0% 2.4% 2.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 12.5% 1.0% 0.0% 1.2% 2.8%
PHF 0.50 0.76 0.74 0.54 0.74 0.25 0.25 0.00 0.67 0.66 0.00 0.60 0.81

Rolling Hour Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

7:00 AM 13 60 84 2 84 136 4 1 1 0 2 0 51 0 33 3 468 0 1 2 2
7:15 AM 16 60 101 2 105 149 4 1 1 0 4 0 60 0 45 3 545 0 5 2 2
7:30 AM 17 54 136 2 165 142 3 1 0 0 6 0 79 0 60 3 662 0 7 5 4
7:45 AM 13 59 144 1 172 126 1 1 0 0 8 0 100 0 82 6 705 0 8 6 4
8:00 AM 10 61 141 0 165 127 1 0 1 1 10 0 106 0 81 3 704 0 8 4 6

223

0.83 0.64

187

0.75

9

0.73

304
1.1%11.1%

By 
Movement

By 
Approach

Total TotalTotalTotal

2.3%4.5%

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

196 of 460 



Heavy Vehicle Summary

Villa Rd & Haworth Ave

7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Heavy Vehicle   5-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:05 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:10 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:20 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
7:25 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
7:35 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
7:40 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:50 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2
7:55 AM 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
8:00 AM 0 1 0 1 1 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 4
8:05 AM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
8:10 AM 0 0 2 2 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
8:15 AM 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
8:20 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
8:25 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1
8:30 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
8:35 AM 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 2
8:40 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:45 AM 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
8:50 AM 1 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
8:55 AM 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Total 
Survey

1 11 6 18 4 3 0 7 0 0 1 1 1 0 2 3 29

Wednesday, September 30, 2015

0

0

1

1

0

1

61

3 40

3

105
InOut

47
OutIn

1In 

1Out

Peak Hour Summary
7:55 AM   to   8:55 AM

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

Heavy Vehicle   15-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

7:00 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
7:15 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
7:30 AM 0 3 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
7:45 AM 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 3
8:00 AM 0 1 2 3 3 1 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 8
8:15 AM 0 1 1 2 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 4
8:30 AM 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 3
8:45 AM 1 2 3 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6

Total 
Survey

1 11 6 18 4 3 0 7 0 0 1 1 1 0 2 3 29

Heavy Vehicle   Peak Hour Summary
7:55 AM   to   8:55 AM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Villa Rd Villa Rd Haworth Ave Haworth Ave

In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total
Volume 10 5 15 7 4 11 1 1 2 2 10 12 20

PHF 0.63 0.44 0.25 0.50 0.63

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Villa Rd Villa Rd Haworth Ave Haworth Ave

L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total
Volume 1 3 6 10 4 3 0 7 0 0 1 1 1 0 1 2 20

PHF 0.25 0.38 0.50 0.63 0.33 0.38 0.00 0.44 0.00 0.00 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.00 0.25 0.50 0.63

Heavy Vehicle   Rolling Hour Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval
Start Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

7:00 AM 0 6 0 6 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 8
7:15 AM 0 6 2 8 3 2 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 15
7:30 AM 0 6 3 9 4 2 0 6 0 0 1 1 0 0 2 2 18
7:45 AM 0 4 3 7 4 3 0 7 0 0 1 1 1 0 2 3 18
8:00 AM 1 5 6 12 4 2 0 6 0 0 1 1 1 0 1 2 21

By 
Movement

Total

By 
Approach

Villa Rd Villa Rd Haworth Ave
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Total

Haworth Ave
Westbound

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

197 of 460 



     Peak Hour Summary

7:55 AM   to   8:55 AM
Wednesday, September 30, 2015

  

  

 304 148  

  

 1 134 169  

 � � �  

          

                      

  � 86

0 13    0 187 0

  � 101

  
  

1 �   

0 9 0 �   319 0

Haworth Ave

0 0

Villa Rd & Haworth Ave

V
ill

a 
R

d

3Bikes

1
Bikes

0Peds

P
ed

s
6

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

P
ed

s
4

0 9 0 �   319 0

8 �   

                      

          

 � � �  

 12 61 150  

  

 243 223  

  

  

Count Period: 7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

0

2.8%

304

723

Haworth Ave

Approach HV%PHF Volume

NB 0.83 4.5% 223

SB 0.73 2.3%

Intersection 0.81

EB 0.75 11.1%

0 V
ill

a 
R

d

9

187WB 0.64 1.1%

3Bikes

1
Bikes

0Peds

P
ed

s
6

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

0

Bikes

8Peds

P
ed

s
4

0Bikes

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

198 of 460 



Total Vehicle Summary

West Access & Haworth Ave

7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

5-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start West Access West Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L R Bikes Bikes T R Bikes L T Bikes Total North South East West

7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 22 1 0 0 0 0 23 0 0 0 0
7:05 AM 0 0 0 0 11 0 0 0 8 0 19 0 0 0 0
7:10 AM 0 0 0 0 11 0 0 0 3 0 14 0 1 1 0
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 4 0 12 0 0 0 0
7:20 AM 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 10 0 16 0 1 0 0
7:25 AM 0 0 0 0 21 0 0 0 5 0 26 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 7 1 0 0 6 0 14 0 0 0 0
7:35 AM 0 0 0 0 13 2 1 0 6 0 21 0 1 0 0
7:40 AM 0 0 0 0 10 1 0 0 9 0 20 0 0 0 0
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 14 0 0 2 7 0 23 0 0 0 0
7:50 AM 0 0 0 0 9 1 1 0 12 3 22 0 0 0 0
7:55 AM 0 0 0 0 26 2 1 0 14 0 42 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0 22 1 0 0 11 0 34 0 1 0 0
8:05 AM 0 0 0 0 24 1 0 0 14 0 39 0 2 0 0
8:10 AM 0 0 0 0 39 0 0 0 8 0 47 0 1 0 0
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0 29 2 1 0 15 0 46 0 0 0 0
8:20 AM 0 0 0 0 36 0 0 1 17 0 54 0 0 0 0
8:25 AM 0 0 0 0 56 0 0 0 22 0 78 0 0 0 0
8:30 AM 0 0 0 0 33 1 0 0 21 1 55 0 0 0 0
8:35 AM 0 0 0 0 11 1 0 1 30 2 43 0 0 0 0
8:40 AM 0 0 0 0 13 1 0 0 13 0 27 0 0 0 0
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0 14 1 0 0 14 0 29 0 1 0 0
8:50 AM 0 0 0 0 17 0 0 0 10 0 27 0 0 0 0
8:55 AM 0 0 0 0 11 0 0 0 12 0 23 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

0 0 0 0 463 16 4 4 271 6 754 0 8 1 0

Wednesday, September 30, 2015

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740 320

10

189

2

00

0

5

0 0

012
InOut

00
OutIn

330In 

189Out

Out320

In191

0.
00

P
H

F
 

0.
0%

H
V

0.65PHF 
1.6%HV

0.65PHF 
3.0%HV

0.
00

P
H

F
 

0.
0%

H
V

Peak Hour Summary
7:55 AM   to   8:55 AM

15-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start West Access West Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L R Bikes Bikes T R Bikes L T Bikes Total North South East West

7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 44 1 0 0 11 0 56 0 1 1 0
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 35 0 0 0 19 0 54 0 1 0 0
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 30 4 1 0 21 0 55 0 1 0 0
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 49 3 2 2 33 3 87 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0 85 2 0 0 33 0 120 0 4 0 0
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0 121 2 1 1 54 0 178 0 0 0 0
8:30 AM 0 0 0 0 57 3 0 1 64 3 125 0 0 0 0
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0 42 1 0 0 36 0 79 0 1 0 0

Total 
Survey

0 0 0 0 463 16 4 4 271 6 754 0 8 1 0

Peak Hour Summary
7:55 AM   to   8:55 AM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
West Access West Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Total Crosswalk

In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes North South East West
Volume 0 12 12 0 0 0 0 0 330 189 519 2 191 320 511 3 521 0 5 0 0

%HV 0.0% 0.0% 3.0% 1.6% 2.5%
PHF 0.00 0.00 0.65 0.65 0.70

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
West Access West Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Total

L R T R L T
Volume 0 0 320 10 2 189 521

%HV 0.0% NA 0.0% NA NA NA NA 2.8% 10.0% 0.0% 1.6% NA 2.5%
PHF 0.00 0.00 0.64 0.63 0.50 0.65 0.70

Rolling Hour Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start West Access West Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L R Bikes Bikes T R Bikes L T Bikes Total North South East West

7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 158 8 3 2 84 3 252 0 3 1 0
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 199 9 3 2 106 3 316 0 6 0 0
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 285 11 4 3 141 3 440 0 5 0 0
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 312 10 3 4 184 6 510 0 4 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0 305 8 1 2 187 3 502 0 5 0 0

0

0.00 0.65

191

0.65

330

0.00

0
1.6%3.0%

By 
Movement

By 
Approach

Total TotalTotalTotal

0.0%0.0%

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

199 of 460 



Heavy Vehicle Summary

West Access & Haworth Ave

7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Heavy Vehicle   5-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start West Access West Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval
Time L R Total Total T R Total L T Total Total

7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 1
7:05 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:10 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:20 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:25 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:35 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:40 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:50 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:55 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 1
8:05 AM 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 1 2
8:10 AM 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 2
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 2
8:20 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:25 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:35 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1
8:40 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 0 0 0 2
8:50 AM 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 2
8:55 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

0 0 0 0 10 1 11 0 3 3 14

Wednesday, September 30, 2015

9

1

3

0

00

01
InOut

00
OutIn

10In 

3Out

Peak Hour Summary
7:55 AM   to   8:55 AM

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

Heavy Vehicle   15-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start West Access West Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval
Time L R Total Total T R Total L T Total Total

7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 1
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 1 1 5
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 2
8:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0 3 1 4 0 0 0 4

Total 
Survey

0 0 0 0 10 1 11 0 3 3 14

Heavy Vehicle   Peak Hour Summary
7:55 AM   to   8:55 AM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
West Access West Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave

In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total
Volume 0 1 1 0 0 0 10 3 13 3 9 12 13

PHF 0.00 0.00 0.50 0.38 0.54

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
West Access West Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave

L R Total Total T R Total L T Total
Volume 0 0 0 0 9 1 10 0 3 3 13

PHF 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.45 0.25 0.50 0.00 0.38 0.38 0.54

Heavy Vehicle   Rolling Hour Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval
Start Interval
Time L R Total Total T R Total L T Total Total

7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 1 2
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 2 2 6
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 6 0 6 0 2 2 8
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 6 0 6 0 3 3 9
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0 9 1 10 0 2 2 12

By 
Movement

Total

By 
Approach

West Access West Access Haworth Ave
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Total

Haworth Ave
Westbound

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

200 of 460 



     Peak Hour Summary

7:55 AM   to   8:55 AM
Wednesday, September 30, 2015

 

 

 

 

 

 

              

  

0 189   � 189 191 0

  � 2

  
  

  

0 330 320 �   320 0

Haworth Ave

0 0

West Access & Haworth Ave

3Bikes

0
Bikes

0Peds

P
ed

s
0

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

P
ed

s
0

0 330 320 �   320 0

10 �   

                      

          

 � �  

 0 0  

  

 12 0  

  

  

Count Period: 7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

0

2.5%

0

521

Haworth Ave

Approach HV%PHF Volume

NB 0.00 0.0% 0

SB 0.00 0.0%

Intersection 0.70

EB 0.65 3.0%

0 W
es

t 
A

cc
es

s

330

191WB 0.65 1.6%

3Bikes

0
Bikes

0Peds

P
ed

s
0

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

0

Bikes

5Peds

P
ed

s
0

2Bikes

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

201 of 460 



Total Vehicle Summary

East Access & Haworth Ave

7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

5-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start East Access East Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

7:00 AM 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 1 0 0 3 0 0 30 0 0 0 0
7:05 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 5 0 0 15 0 0 0 0
7:10 AM 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 2 0 0 4 0 0 11 0 0 0 1
7:15 AM 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 7 0 0 2 2 0 0 13 0 1 0 2
7:20 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 1 0 0 8 0 0 24 0 0 0 0
7:25 AM 4 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 2 0 0 4 0 0 22 1 0 0 0
7:30 AM 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 1 1 0 3 0 0 15 0 0 0 0
7:35 AM 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 7 0 0 17 0 1 0 1
7:40 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 0 1 5 0 0 16 0 1 0 0
7:45 AM 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 14 1 0 0 12 0 2 29 0 0 0 0
7:50 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 2 1 2 11 0 2 26 0 0 0 0
7:55 AM 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 2 0 0 12 0 0 36 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 21 1 0 0 12 0 0 36 0 1 0 0
8:05 AM 2 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 27 0 1 0 10 0 0 43 0 2 0 0
8:10 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 40 1 1 0 9 0 0 50 1 2 0 0
8:15 AM 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 33 0 0 1 20 0 0 56 1 0 0 0
8:20 AM 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 46 0 0 2 13 0 0 63 0 0 0 0
8:25 AM 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 46 0 0 1 19 0 0 68 0 0 0 0
8:30 AM 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 0 0 0 29 0 2 55 0 0 0 0
8:35 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 7 0 0 0 22 0 1 30 0 0 0 0
8:40 AM 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 16 0 0 0 12 0 0 30 0 0 0 0
8:45 AM 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 13 0 0 0 8 0 0 25 0 0 0 0
8:50 AM 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 14 0 0 0 10 0 0 27 0 0 0 0
8:55 AM 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 2 0 0 10 0 0 25 0 0 0 1

Total 
Survey

23 0 17 0 0 0 1 0 1 445 16 4 9 250 0 7 762 3 8 0 5

Wednesday, September 30, 2015

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

1

306

7

0

181

6

138

0 00

2

5

0 0

0

2113
InOut

10
OutIn

314In 

189Out

Out319

In187

0.
53

P
H

F
 

0.
0%

H
V

0.66PHF 
1.1%HV

0.63PHF 
2.5%HV

0.
00

P
H

F
 

0.
0%

H
V

Peak Hour Summary
7:45 AM   to   8:45 AM

15-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start East Access East Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

7:00 AM 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 39 3 0 0 12 0 0 56 0 0 0 1
7:15 AM 4 0 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 33 3 0 2 14 0 0 59 1 1 0 2
7:30 AM 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 29 1 1 1 15 0 0 48 0 2 0 1
7:45 AM 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 45 5 1 2 35 0 4 91 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 2 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 88 2 2 0 31 0 0 129 1 5 0 0
8:15 AM 3 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 125 0 0 4 52 0 0 187 1 0 0 0
8:30 AM 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 48 0 0 0 63 0 3 115 0 0 0 0
8:45 AM 7 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 38 2 0 0 28 0 0 77 0 0 0 1

Total 
Survey

23 0 17 0 0 0 1 0 1 445 16 4 9 250 0 7 762 3 8 0 5

Peak Hour Summary
7:45 AM   to   8:45 AM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
East Access East Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Total Crosswalk

In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes North South East West
Volume 21 13 34 0 0 1 1 0 314 189 503 3 187 319 506 7 522 2 5 0 0

%HV 0.0% 0.0% 2.5% 1.1% 1.9%
PHF 0.53 0.00 0.63 0.66 0.70

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
East Access East Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Total

L T R L T R L T R L T R
Volume 8 0 13 0 0 0 1 306 7 6 181 0 522

%HV 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 2.6% 0.0% 0.0% 1.1% 0.0% 1.9%
PHF 0.50 0.00 0.46 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.25 0.61 0.35 0.38 0.65 0.00 0.70

Rolling Hour Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start East Access East Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

7:00 AM 9 0 5 0 0 0 1 0 0 146 12 2 5 76 0 4 254 1 3 0 4
7:15 AM 9 0 11 0 0 0 1 0 0 195 11 4 5 95 0 4 327 2 8 0 3
7:30 AM 8 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 287 8 4 7 133 0 4 455 2 7 0 1
7:45 AM 8 0 13 0 0 0 0 0 1 306 7 3 6 181 0 7 522 2 5 0 0
8:00 AM 14 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 1 299 4 2 4 174 0 3 508 2 5 0 1

21

0.53 0.66

187

0.63

314

0.00

0
1.1%2.5%

By 
Movement

By 
Approach

Total TotalTotalTotal

0.0%0.0%

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

202 of 460 



Heavy Vehicle Summary

East Access & Haworth Ave

7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Heavy Vehicle   5-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start East Access East Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:05 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:10 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:20 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:25 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:35 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:40 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:50 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:55 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 2
8:05 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 2
8:10 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 2
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 2
8:20 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:25 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:35 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1
8:40 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
8:50 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
8:55 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 10 0 2 0 2 12

Wednesday, September 30, 2015

0

8

0

0

2

0

00

0 00

0

00
InOut

00
OutIn

8In 

2Out

Peak Hour Summary
7:45 AM   to   8:45 AM

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

Heavy Vehicle   15-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start East Access East Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 5 0 1 0 1 6
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 2
8:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 2
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 2

Total 
Survey

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 10 0 2 0 2 12

Heavy Vehicle   Peak Hour Summary
7:45 AM   to   8:45 AM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
East Access East Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave

In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total
Volume 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 2 10 2 8 10 10

PHF 0.00 0.00 0.33 0.50 0.42

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
East Access East Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave

L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total
Volume 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 8 0 2 0 2 10

PHF 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.33 0.00 0.33 0.00 0.50 0.00 0.50 0.42

Heavy Vehicle   Rolling Hour Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval
Start Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 5 0 1 0 1 6
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 7 0 1 0 1 8
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 8 0 2 0 2 10
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 10 0 2 0 2 12

By 
Movement

Total

By 
Approach

East Access East Access Haworth Ave
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Total

Haworth Ave
Westbound

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

203 of 460 



     Peak Hour Summary

7:45 AM   to   8:45 AM
Wednesday, September 30, 2015

  

  

 0 1  

  

 0 0 0  

 � � �  

          

                      

  � 0

0 189    181 187 0

  � 6

  
  

1 �   

0 314 306 �   319 0

Haworth Ave

0 0

East Access & Haworth Ave

E
as

t 
A

cc
es

s

7Bikes

0
Bikes

2Peds

P
ed

s
0

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

P
ed

s
0

0 314 306 �   319 0

7 �   

                      

          

 � � �  

 8 0 13  

  

 13 21  

  

  

Count Period: 7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

0

1.9%

0

522

Haworth Ave

Approach HV%PHF Volume

NB 0.53 0.0% 21

SB 0.00 0.0%

Intersection 0.70

EB 0.63 2.5%

0 E
as

t 
A

cc
es

s

314

187WB 0.66 1.1%

7Bikes

0
Bikes

2Peds

P
ed

s
0

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

0

Bikes

5Peds

P
ed

s
0

3Bikes

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

204 of 460 



Total Vehicle Summary

Sitka Ave & Haworth Ave

7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

5-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Sitka Ave Sitka Ave Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

7:00 AM 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 7 10 2 0 0 1 0 0 22 0 2 0 0
7:05 AM 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 5 8 0 0 2 4 0 0 22 1 3 0 0
7:10 AM 0 2 1 0 0 1 2 0 4 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 16 1 0 0 0
7:15 AM 0 3 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 5 0 1 1 3 0 0 16 0 0 0 1
7:20 AM 0 1 3 0 0 0 1 0 1 4 0 0 1 8 0 0 19 0 0 0 0
7:25 AM 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 5 13 0 0 1 3 0 0 25 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 8 3 0 1 3 0 0 19 0 0 0 1
7:35 AM 0 1 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 8 2 0 0 2 0 0 19 0 0 0 0
7:40 AM 0 0 1 0 1 1 1 0 2 7 0 0 0 7 0 0 20 0 0 0 0
7:45 AM 2 1 2 0 4 2 2 0 0 13 0 1 0 6 0 0 32 0 0 0 2
7:50 AM 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 9 0 1 0 12 0 2 25 0 0 0 0
7:55 AM 0 0 1 1 1 0 1 0 3 16 2 1 1 11 0 0 36 0 0 1 0
8:00 AM 1 0 0 1 0 0 2 0 7 15 2 0 0 7 0 0 34 1 0 0 0
8:05 AM 0 1 1 0 0 1 3 0 8 18 0 0 0 10 0 0 42 0 0 0 0
8:10 AM 0 0 1 0 1 0 5 0 18 17 1 1 0 3 0 0 46 0 2 1 1
8:15 AM 2 1 3 0 0 0 6 0 16 13 1 1 1 8 2 0 53 1 0 0 0
8:20 AM 0 4 2 0 2 4 6 0 19 21 1 0 1 9 0 0 69 0 0 0 0
8:25 AM 0 1 2 0 2 5 11 0 31 14 3 0 1 13 0 0 83 0 0 0 2
8:30 AM 1 4 1 0 0 7 14 0 31 9 0 0 4 10 1 0 82 0 0 0 1
8:35 AM 1 0 3 0 2 1 9 0 6 6 1 0 1 17 0 1 47 0 1 1 0
8:40 AM 2 0 2 0 1 0 3 0 3 9 0 0 1 7 0 0 28 0 0 0 1
8:45 AM 2 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 3 10 2 0 1 8 0 0 30 0 0 0 1
8:50 AM 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 14 5 0 4 11 1 0 37 1 0 0 1
8:55 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 8 0 0 0 7 0 0 16 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

14 22 31 2 15 24 75 1 176 261 25 6 21 170 4 3 838 5 8 3 11

Wednesday, September 30, 2015

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

145

162

18

4

114

15

1810

18 1062

3

3

7 3

11

3951
InOut

16090
OutIn

325In 

186Out

Out190

In133

0.
65

P
H

F
 

2.
6%

H
V

0.71PHF 
1.5%HV

0.63PHF 
3.1%HV

0.
44

P
H

F
 

2.
2%

H
V

Peak Hour Summary
7:55 AM   to   8:55 AM

15-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Sitka Ave Sitka Ave Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

7:00 AM 1 2 3 0 0 2 3 0 16 24 2 0 2 5 0 0 60 2 5 0 0
7:15 AM 0 4 6 0 0 1 2 0 8 22 0 1 3 14 0 0 60 0 0 0 1
7:30 AM 0 2 2 0 1 1 5 0 6 23 5 0 1 12 0 0 58 0 0 0 1
7:45 AM 3 3 3 1 5 2 3 1 4 38 2 3 1 29 0 2 93 0 0 1 2
8:00 AM 1 1 2 1 1 1 10 0 33 50 3 1 0 20 0 0 122 1 2 1 1
8:15 AM 2 6 7 0 4 9 23 0 66 48 5 1 3 30 2 0 205 1 0 0 2
8:30 AM 4 4 6 0 3 8 26 0 40 24 1 0 6 34 1 1 157 0 1 1 2
8:45 AM 3 0 2 0 1 0 3 0 3 32 7 0 5 26 1 0 83 1 0 0 2

Total 
Survey

14 22 31 2 15 24 75 1 176 261 25 6 21 170 4 3 838 5 8 3 11

Peak Hour Summary
7:55 AM   to   8:55 AM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Sitka Ave Sitka Ave Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Total Crosswalk

In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes North South East West
Volume 39 51 90 2 90 160 250 0 325 186 511 3 133 190 323 1 587 3 3 3 7

%HV 2.6% 2.2% 3.1% 1.5% 2.6%
PHF 0.65 0.44 0.63 0.71 0.63

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Sitka Ave Sitka Ave Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Total

L T R L T R L T R L T R
Volume 10 11 18 10 18 62 145 162 18 15 114 4 587

%HV 0.0% 9.1% 0.0% 0.0% 5.6% 1.6% 1.4% 4.3% 5.6% 6.7% 0.9% 0.0% 2.6%
PHF 0.50 0.31 0.64 0.63 0.28 0.46 0.45 0.79 0.64 0.63 0.71 0.50 0.63

Rolling Hour Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Sitka Ave Sitka Ave Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

7:00 AM 4 11 14 1 6 6 13 1 34 107 9 4 7 60 0 2 271 2 5 1 4
7:15 AM 4 10 13 2 7 5 20 1 51 133 10 5 5 75 0 2 333 1 2 2 5
7:30 AM 6 12 14 2 11 13 41 1 109 159 15 5 5 91 2 2 478 2 2 2 6
7:45 AM 10 14 18 2 13 20 62 1 143 160 11 5 10 113 3 3 577 2 3 3 7
8:00 AM 10 11 17 1 9 18 62 0 142 154 16 2 14 110 4 1 567 3 3 2 7

39

0.65 0.71

133

0.63

325

0.44

90
1.5%3.1%

By 
Movement

By 
Approach

Total TotalTotalTotal

2.2%2.6%

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

205 of 460 



Heavy Vehicle Summary

Sitka Ave & Haworth Ave

7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Heavy Vehicle   5-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start Sitka Ave Sitka Ave Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:05 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:10 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:20 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:25 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:35 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
7:40 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:50 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:55 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2
8:05 AM 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 2
8:10 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 2
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 2
8:20 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
8:25 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:30 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
8:35 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1
8:40 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 2
8:50 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 0 0 0 0 2
8:55 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

0 1 0 1 0 1 1 2 2 8 1 11 1 1 0 2 16

Wednesday, September 30, 2015

2

7

1

0

1

1

00

1 01

1

13
InOut

32
OutIn

10In 

2Out

Peak Hour Summary
7:55 AM   to   8:55 AM

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

Heavy Vehicle   15-Minute Interval Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start Sitka Ave Sitka Ave Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 1 3 0 4 0 0 0 0 6
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 0 0 0 0 3
8:30 AM 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 2
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 3 1 0 0 1 4

Total 
Survey

0 1 0 1 0 1 1 2 2 8 1 11 1 1 0 2 16

Heavy Vehicle   Peak Hour Summary
7:55 AM   to   8:55 AM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Sitka Ave Sitka Ave Haworth Ave Haworth Ave

In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total
Volume 1 3 4 2 3 5 10 2 12 2 7 9 15

PHF 0.25 0.25 0.50 0.25 0.63

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Sitka Ave Sitka Ave Haworth Ave Haworth Ave

L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total
Volume 0 1 0 1 0 1 1 2 2 7 1 10 1 1 0 2 15

PHF 0.00 0.25 0.00 0.25 0.00 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.50 0.35 0.25 0.50 0.25 0.25 0.00 0.25 0.63

Heavy Vehicle   Rolling Hour Summary
7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

Interval
Start Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 1 4 0 5 0 0 0 0 7
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 1 7 0 8 0 0 0 0 10
7:45 AM 0 1 0 1 0 1 1 2 1 6 0 7 0 1 0 1 11
8:00 AM 0 1 0 1 0 1 1 2 2 7 1 10 1 1 0 2 15

By 
Movement

Total

By 
Approach

Sitka Ave Sitka Ave Haworth Ave
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Total

Haworth Ave
Westbound

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

206 of 460 



     Peak Hour Summary

7:55 AM   to   8:55 AM
Wednesday, September 30, 2015

  

  

 90 160  

  

 62 18 10  

 � � �  

          

                      

  � 4

0 186    114 133 0

  � 15

  
  

145 �   

0 325 162 �   190 0

Haworth Ave

0 0

Sitka Ave & Haworth Ave

S
it

ka
 A

ve

1Bikes

0
Bikes

3Peds

P
ed

s
7

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

P
ed

s
3

0 325 162 �   190 0

18 �   

                      

          

 � � �  

 10 11 18  

  

 51 39  

  

  

Count Period: 7:00 AM   to   9:00 AM

0

2.6%

90

587

Haworth Ave

Approach HV%PHF Volume

NB 0.65 2.6% 39

SB 0.44 2.2%

Intersection 0.63

EB 0.63 3.1%

0 S
it

ka
 A

ve

325

133WB 0.71 1.5%

1Bikes

0
Bikes

3Peds

P
ed

s
7

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

2

Bikes

3Peds

P
ed

s
3

3Bikes

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

207 of 460 



 

 

 

 

 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 

APPENDIX C: PM TRAFFIC COUNTS 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

208 of 460 



Total Vehicle Summary

Villa Rd & Hwy 99W

4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

5-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Hwy 99W Hwy 99W Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 48 9 7 0 15 11 7 0 4 85 0 0 1 124 9 0 320 0 0 0 0
4:05 PM 70 8 2 0 20 7 8 0 3 81 0 0 1 109 11 0 320 0 3 1 1
4:10 PM 25 12 1 0 6 9 7 0 7 86 1 0 1 144 8 0 307 0 2 5 0
4:15 PM 67 5 1 0 15 8 11 0 4 73 0 0 4 132 14 0 334 1 2 2 0
4:20 PM 36 8 3 0 14 14 9 0 6 124 0 0 1 115 11 0 341 1 1 0 0
4:25 PM 58 6 2 0 15 4 13 0 5 93 0 0 2 111 20 0 329 0 3 1 3
4:30 PM 38 8 2 0 6 8 13 0 3 103 0 0 0 105 11 0 297 0 0 1 0
4:35 PM 59 9 1 0 19 4 10 0 5 100 0 0 1 129 8 0 345 2 1 6 0
4:40 PM 44 14 2 0 9 8 7 0 11 116 0 1 2 117 11 0 341 0 2 0 0
4:45 PM 60 8 0 1 23 3 8 0 2 95 0 0 1 112 12 1 324 0 1 1 0
4:50 PM 42 8 1 0 10 9 9 0 4 96 1 1 0 93 12 0 285 0 2 3 1
4:55 PM 65 3 1 0 27 8 7 0 1 84 1 0 1 133 9 0 340 4 0 0 0
5:00 PM 41 10 1 0 15 11 9 0 7 106 1 0 1 104 12 0 318 0 2 4 0
5:05 PM 71 11 0 0 20 5 12 0 5 94 0 0 0 123 12 0 353 1 1 0 0
5:10 PM 50 12 2 0 9 9 6 1 6 97 0 0 1 117 12 0 321 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 57 7 1 0 26 9 5 0 7 79 1 1 3 121 10 0 326 0 0 0 1
5:20 PM 34 16 2 0 10 9 8 0 5 121 0 0 3 144 11 0 363 2 1 0 1
5:25 PM 65 8 0 0 13 4 9 0 7 82 0 0 1 115 13 0 317 0 3 0 1
5:30 PM 63 11 1 0 15 11 6 0 1 86 2 0 1 107 7 0 311 1 0 3 0
5:35 PM 60 4 1 0 18 3 11 0 8 83 0 1 7 123 11 0 329 1 0 2 0
5:40 PM 32 15 2 1 13 9 10 0 8 125 0 0 2 127 10 0 353 1 0 2 1
5:45 PM 61 6 1 0 21 4 7 0 7 80 0 0 3 115 8 0 313 1 1 1 1
5:50 PM 37 7 7 0 14 4 11 0 6 102 0 0 4 132 11 0 335 2 3 1 0
5:55 PM 64 15 1 0 11 3 4 0 4 80 0 0 2 125 9 0 318 0 2 1 0

Total 
Survey

1,247 220 42 2 364 174 207 1 126 2,271 7 4 43 2,877 262 1 7,840 17 30 34 10

Tuesday, September 29, 2015

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

68

1,139

5

126

1,461

27

19636

86 201101

13

11

5 13

110

765118
InOut

304388
OutIn

1,212In 

2,198Out

Out1,359

In1,614

0.
90

P
H

F
 

3.
4%

H
V

0.96PHF 
1.1%HV

0.92PHF 
2.9%HV

0.
85

P
H

F
 

0.
3%

H
V

Peak Hour Summary
4:55 PM   to   5:55 PM

15-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Hwy 99W Hwy 99W Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 143 29 10 0 41 27 22 0 14 252 1 0 3 377 28 0 947 0 5 6 1
4:15 PM 161 19 6 0 44 26 33 0 15 290 0 0 7 358 45 0 1,004 2 6 3 3
4:30 PM 141 31 5 0 34 20 30 0 19 319 0 1 3 351 30 0 983 2 3 7 0
4:45 PM 167 19 2 1 60 20 24 0 7 275 2 1 2 338 33 1 949 4 3 4 1
5:00 PM 162 33 3 0 44 25 27 1 18 297 1 0 2 344 36 0 992 1 3 4 0
5:15 PM 156 31 3 0 49 22 22 0 19 282 1 1 7 380 34 0 1,006 2 4 0 3
5:30 PM 155 30 4 1 46 23 27 0 17 294 2 1 10 357 28 0 993 3 0 7 1
5:45 PM 162 28 9 0 46 11 22 0 17 262 0 0 9 372 28 0 966 3 6 3 1

Total 
Survey

1,247 220 42 2 364 174 207 1 126 2,271 7 4 43 2,877 262 1 7,840 17 30 34 10

Peak Hour Summary
4:55 PM   to   5:55 PM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Villa Rd Villa Rd Hwy 99W Hwy 99W Total Crosswalk

In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes North South East West
Volume 765 118 883 1 388 304 692 1 1,212 2,198 3,410 2 1,614 1,359 2,973 0 3,979 13 11 13 5

%HV 3.4% 0.3% 2.9% 1.1% 2.0%
PHF 0.90 0.85 0.92 0.96 0.98

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Villa Rd Villa Rd Hwy 99W Hwy 99W Total

L T R L T R L T R L T R
Volume 636 110 19 201 86 101 68 1,139 5 27 1,461 126 3,979

%HV 3.8% 0.0% 10.5% 0.0% 1.2% 0.0% 0.0% 3.1% 0.0% 3.7% 1.2% 0.0% 2.0%
PHF 0.85 0.79 0.48 0.81 0.80 0.90 0.74 0.93 0.63 0.56 0.96 0.88 0.98

Rolling Hour Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Hwy 99W Hwy 99W Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 612 98 23 1 179 93 109 0 55 1,136 3 2 15 1,424 136 1 3,883 8 17 20 5
4:15 PM 631 102 16 1 182 91 114 1 59 1,181 3 2 14 1,391 144 1 3,928 9 15 18 4
4:30 PM 626 114 13 1 187 87 103 1 63 1,173 4 3 14 1,413 133 1 3,930 9 13 15 4
4:45 PM 640 113 12 2 199 90 100 1 61 1,148 6 3 21 1,419 131 1 3,940 10 10 15 5
5:00 PM 635 122 19 1 185 81 98 1 71 1,135 4 2 28 1,453 126 0 3,957 9 13 14 5

765

0.90 0.96

1,614

0.92

1,212

0.85

388
1.1%2.9%

By 
Movement

By 
Approach

Total TotalTotalTotal

0.3%3.4%

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

209 of 460 



Heavy Vehicle Summary

Villa Rd & Hwy 99W

4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Heavy Vehicle   5-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Hwy 99W Hwy 99W Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

4:00 PM 2 0 0 2 0 1 0 1 0 3 0 3 0 2 0 2 8
4:05 PM 4 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 2 0 2 8
4:10 PM 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 6 0 4 0 4 11
4:15 PM 4 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 5 1 3 0 4 13
4:20 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
4:25 PM 4 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 1 0 1 9
4:30 PM 4 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 3 0 3 11
4:35 PM 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 0 4 0 4 9
4:40 PM 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 5 0 2 0 2 8
4:45 PM 3 0 0 3 0 0 1 1 0 2 0 2 1 2 1 4 10
4:50 PM 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 0 1 0 1 5
4:55 PM 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 6 0 0 0 0 7
5:00 PM 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 3 0 3 0 0 0 0 5
5:05 PM 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 0 2 0 2 7
5:10 PM 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 3 0 3 9
5:15 PM 3 0 1 4 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 6
5:20 PM 5 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 0 1 0 1 9
5:25 PM 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 1 0 1 7
5:30 PM 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 5 0 3 0 3 10
5:35 PM 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 5
5:40 PM 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 3 0 3 6
5:45 PM 3 0 1 4 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 6
5:50 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 1 0 1 3
5:55 PM 5 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 1 2 0 3 10

Total 
Survey

55 0 2 57 0 2 1 3 0 75 0 75 4 43 1 48 183

Tuesday, September 29, 2015

0

35

0

0

17

1

224

1 00

0

262
InOut

01
OutIn

35In 

41Out

Peak Hour Summary
4:55 PM   to   5:55 PM

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

Heavy Vehicle   15-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Hwy 99W Hwy 99W Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

4:00 PM 7 0 0 7 0 1 0 1 0 11 0 11 0 8 0 8 27
4:15 PM 8 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 10 1 4 0 5 23
4:30 PM 7 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 12 0 9 0 9 28
4:45 PM 5 0 0 5 0 0 1 1 0 11 0 11 1 3 1 5 22
5:00 PM 5 0 0 5 0 1 0 1 0 10 0 10 0 5 0 5 21
5:15 PM 10 0 1 11 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 8 1 2 0 3 22
5:30 PM 5 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 7 0 9 0 9 21
5:45 PM 8 0 1 9 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 6 1 3 0 4 19

Total 
Survey

55 0 2 57 0 2 1 3 0 75 0 75 4 43 1 48 183

Heavy Vehicle   Peak Hour Summary
4:55 PM   to   5:55 PM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Villa Rd Villa Rd Hwy 99W Hwy 99W

In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total
Volume 26 2 28 1 0 1 35 41 76 18 37 55 80

PHF 0.59 0.25 0.73 0.50 0.77

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Villa Rd Villa Rd Hwy 99W Hwy 99W

L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total
Volume 24 0 2 26 0 1 0 1 0 35 0 35 1 17 0 18 80

PHF 0.60 0.00 0.50 0.59 0.00 0.25 0.00 0.25 0.00 0.73 0.00 0.73 0.25 0.47 0.00 0.50 0.77

Heavy Vehicle   Rolling Hour Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval
Start Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

4:00 PM 27 0 0 27 0 1 1 2 0 44 0 44 2 24 1 27 100
4:15 PM 25 0 0 25 0 1 1 2 0 43 0 43 2 21 1 24 94
4:30 PM 27 0 1 28 0 1 1 2 0 41 0 41 2 19 1 22 93
4:45 PM 25 0 1 26 0 1 1 2 0 36 0 36 2 19 1 22 86
5:00 PM 28 0 2 30 0 1 0 1 0 31 0 31 2 19 0 21 83

By 
Movement

Total

By 
Approach

Villa Rd Villa Rd Hwy 99W
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Total

Hwy 99W
Westbound

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

210 of 460 



     Peak Hour Summary

4:55 PM   to   5:55 PM
Tuesday, September 29, 2015

  

  

 388 304  

  

 101 86 201  

 � � �  

          

                      

  � 126

0 2198    1461 1614 0

  � 27

  
  

68 �   

0 1212 1139 �   1359 0

Hwy 99W

0 0

Villa Rd & Hwy 99W

V
ill

a 
R

d

0Bikes

1
Bikes

13Peds

P
ed

s
5

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

P
ed

s
13

0 1212 1139 �   1359 0

5 �   

                      

          

 � � �  

 636 110 19  

  

 118 765  

  

  

Count Period: 4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

0

2.0%

388

3,979

Hwy 99W

Approach HV%PHF Volume

NB 0.90 3.4% 765

SB 0.85 0.3%

Intersection 0.98

EB 0.92 2.9%

0 V
ill

a 
R

d

1,212

1,614WB 0.96 1.1%

0Bikes

1
Bikes

13Peds

P
ed

s
5

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

1

Bikes

11Peds

P
ed

s
13

2Bikes

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

211 of 460 



Total Vehicle Summary

Villa Rd & Fulton St

4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

5-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Fulton St Fulton St Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 8 10 0 0 0 13 9 0 10 0 5 2 1 0 0 0 56 0 0 0 0
4:05 PM 12 14 0 0 0 12 16 0 11 1 7 0 0 0 0 0 73 0 0 0 1
4:10 PM 6 10 1 0 0 13 12 0 13 0 8 0 0 1 0 0 64 0 0 0 2
4:15 PM 8 14 1 0 1 12 13 1 13 0 7 1 0 0 1 0 70 0 0 1 1
4:20 PM 5 15 0 0 0 14 12 0 10 0 13 0 0 0 0 0 69 0 0 0 0
4:25 PM 10 19 0 0 0 7 7 0 14 0 7 1 0 0 0 0 64 0 2 1 1
4:30 PM 6 16 0 0 0 13 15 1 3 0 8 0 1 0 0 0 62 0 0 0 1
4:35 PM 2 21 0 1 1 13 10 0 9 0 15 0 1 0 1 0 73 0 0 0 3
4:40 PM 2 12 1 0 0 4 9 0 10 0 5 1 0 0 0 0 43 1 0 0 2
4:45 PM 8 23 1 0 0 16 11 0 8 0 7 0 0 0 1 0 75 0 0 0 0
4:50 PM 12 12 0 0 1 16 9 0 9 0 9 0 0 0 1 2 69 0 1 1 2
4:55 PM 8 14 0 0 0 14 10 1 6 0 4 0 1 0 0 0 57 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 10 18 0 0 0 13 6 0 11 0 7 0 0 0 0 2 65 0 0 0 1
5:05 PM 6 19 0 0 0 12 11 0 13 0 8 1 1 0 1 0 71 0 0 0 1
5:10 PM 10 22 1 0 0 15 8 0 8 0 6 0 2 0 0 0 72 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 9 14 2 0 0 18 9 1 8 0 5 0 1 0 0 0 66 0 0 0 4
5:20 PM 4 23 0 0 0 9 10 0 9 0 8 0 1 0 0 0 64 0 0 0 0
5:25 PM 5 22 0 0 0 13 9 0 8 0 2 1 1 0 0 0 60 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 6 11 1 0 0 16 17 0 14 0 6 0 0 0 1 0 72 0 0 0 1
5:35 PM 1 20 0 1 0 19 13 0 16 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 75 0 0 0 0
5:40 PM 9 14 0 0 0 18 19 1 8 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 76 1 0 0 0
5:45 PM 3 21 0 0 0 13 4 0 9 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 54 0 0 0 0
5:50 PM 6 12 0 0 0 13 13 0 14 0 11 1 0 0 0 0 69 0 0 0 0
5:55 PM 6 23 2 0 0 7 9 1 6 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 62 2 0 0 3

Total 
Survey

162 399 10 2 3 313 261 6 240 1 175 8 10 1 6 4 1,581 4 3 3 23

Tuesday, September 29, 2015

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

118

0

76

4

0

7

588

179 1132

1

1

9 1

212

305262
InOut

334312
OutIn

194In 

220Out

Out6

In11

0.
89

P
H

F
 

0.
7%

H
V

0.55PHF 
0.0%HV

0.84PHF 
0.5%HV

0.
76

P
H

F
 

1.
3%

H
V

Peak Hour Summary
4:45 PM   to   5:45 PM

15-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Fulton St Fulton St Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 26 34 1 0 0 38 37 0 34 1 20 2 1 1 0 0 193 0 0 0 3
4:15 PM 23 48 1 0 1 33 32 1 37 0 27 2 0 0 1 0 203 0 2 2 2
4:30 PM 10 49 1 1 1 30 34 1 22 0 28 1 2 0 1 0 178 1 0 0 6
4:45 PM 28 49 1 0 1 46 30 1 23 0 20 0 1 0 2 2 201 0 1 1 2
5:00 PM 26 59 1 0 0 40 25 0 32 0 21 1 3 0 1 2 208 0 0 0 2
5:15 PM 18 59 2 0 0 40 28 1 25 0 15 1 3 0 0 0 190 0 0 0 4
5:30 PM 16 45 1 1 0 53 49 1 38 0 20 0 0 0 1 0 223 1 0 0 1
5:45 PM 15 56 2 0 0 33 26 1 29 0 24 1 0 0 0 0 185 2 0 0 3

Total 
Survey

162 399 10 2 3 313 261 6 240 1 175 8 10 1 6 4 1,581 4 3 3 23

Peak Hour Summary
4:45 PM   to   5:45 PM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Villa Rd Villa Rd Fulton St Fulton St Total Crosswalk

In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes North South East West
Volume 305 262 567 1 312 334 646 3 194 220 414 2 11 6 17 4 822 1 1 1 9

%HV 0.7% 1.3% 0.5% 0.0% 0.9%
PHF 0.89 0.76 0.84 0.55 0.92

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Villa Rd Villa Rd Fulton St Fulton St Total

L T R L T R L T R L T R
Volume 88 212 5 1 179 132 118 0 76 7 0 4 822

%HV 1.1% 0.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.6% 2.3% 0.0% 0.0% 1.3% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.9%
PHF 0.73 0.90 0.42 0.25 0.84 0.67 0.78 0.00 0.90 0.44 0.00 0.50 0.92

Rolling Hour Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Fulton St Fulton St Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 87 180 4 1 3 147 133 3 116 1 95 5 4 1 4 2 775 1 3 3 13
4:15 PM 87 205 4 1 3 149 121 3 114 0 96 4 6 0 5 4 790 1 3 3 12
4:30 PM 82 216 5 1 2 156 117 3 102 0 84 3 9 0 4 4 777 1 1 1 14
4:45 PM 88 212 5 1 1 179 132 3 118 0 76 2 7 0 4 4 822 1 1 1 9
5:00 PM 75 219 6 1 0 166 128 3 124 0 80 3 6 0 2 2 806 3 0 0 10

305

0.89 0.55

11

0.84

194

0.76

312
0.0%0.5%

By 
Movement

By 
Approach

Total TotalTotalTotal

1.3%0.7%

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

212 of 460 



Heavy Vehicle Summary

Villa Rd & Fulton St

4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Heavy Vehicle   5-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Fulton St Fulton St Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2
4:05 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:10 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:20 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:25 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:35 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:40 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
4:50 PM 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
4:55 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1
5:05 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:10 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:20 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
5:25 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:35 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:40 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:50 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1
5:55 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

1 1 0 2 0 2 4 6 1 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 11

Tuesday, September 29, 2015

0

0

1

0

0

0

01

1 03

1

22
InOut

14
OutIn

1In 

4Out

Peak Hour Summary
4:45 PM   to   5:45 PM

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

Heavy Vehicle   15-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Fulton St Fulton St Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 3
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 1 1 0 2 0 1 2 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1

Total 
Survey

1 1 0 2 0 2 4 6 1 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 11

Heavy Vehicle   Peak Hour Summary
4:45 PM   to   5:45 PM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Villa Rd Villa Rd Fulton St Fulton St

In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total
Volume 2 2 4 4 1 5 1 4 5 0 0 0 7

PHF 0.25 0.33 0.25 0.00 0.35

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Villa Rd Villa Rd Fulton St Fulton St

L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total
Volume 1 1 0 2 0 1 3 4 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 7

PHF 0.25 0.25 0.00 0.25 0.00 0.25 0.38 0.33 0.00 0.00 0.25 0.25 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.35

Heavy Vehicle   Rolling Hour Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval
Start Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

4:00 PM 1 1 0 2 0 2 3 5 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 8
4:15 PM 1 1 0 2 0 1 2 3 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 6
4:30 PM 1 1 0 2 0 1 3 4 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 7
4:45 PM 1 1 0 2 0 1 3 4 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 7
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 3

By 
Movement

Total

By 
Approach

Villa Rd Villa Rd Fulton St
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Total

Fulton St
Westbound

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

213 of 460 



     Peak Hour Summary

4:45 PM   to   5:45 PM
Tuesday, September 29, 2015

  

  

 312 334  

  

 132 179 1  

 � � �  

          

                      

  � 4

0 220    0 11 0

  � 7

  
  

118 �   

0 194 0 �   6 0

Fulton St

0 0

Villa Rd & Fulton St

V
ill

a 
R

d

4Bikes

3
Bikes

1Peds

P
ed

s
9

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

P
ed

s
1

0 194 0 �   6 0

76 �   

                      

          

 � � �  

 88 212 5  

  

 262 305  

  

  

Count Period: 4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

0

0.9%

312

822

Fulton St

Approach HV%PHF Volume

NB 0.89 0.7% 305

SB 0.76 1.3%

Intersection 0.92

EB 0.84 0.5%

0 V
ill

a 
R

d

194

11WB 0.55 0.0%

4Bikes

3
Bikes

1Peds

P
ed

s
9

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

1

Bikes

1Peds

P
ed

s
1

2Bikes

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

214 of 460 



Total Vehicle Summary

Villa Rd & Haworth Ave

4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

5-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 0 11 10 2 4 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 0 12 0 65 0 1 0 1
4:05 PM 0 10 11 0 4 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 16 1 12 0 63 0 1 0 0
4:10 PM 0 15 14 0 8 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 10 0 73 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 2 9 12 0 3 10 0 2 0 0 1 0 14 0 5 0 56 0 1 0 1
4:20 PM 0 12 18 0 7 6 0 0 0 0 1 0 13 0 11 0 68 0 2 0 0
4:25 PM 0 13 14 1 4 5 1 0 0 0 2 0 11 1 6 0 57 0 0 0 1
4:30 PM 0 18 6 0 6 10 0 0 0 0 2 0 13 2 7 1 64 0 0 1 1
4:35 PM 0 13 14 0 8 7 0 0 1 0 3 0 12 0 7 0 65 0 2 0 1
4:40 PM 2 12 15 1 14 7 0 0 0 0 2 0 9 0 9 0 70 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 0 16 9 0 9 10 0 0 0 0 2 0 10 0 5 0 61 0 2 0 1
4:50 PM 1 10 13 1 9 14 0 0 0 0 1 0 16 0 10 1 74 0 1 0 1
4:55 PM 1 8 7 0 10 13 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 7 0 58 0 2 0 0
5:00 PM 1 14 14 0 4 5 0 0 0 0 1 0 11 0 21 0 71 0 1 0 0
5:05 PM 1 17 14 0 5 11 0 0 0 0 1 0 17 0 12 0 78 0 0 0 0
5:10 PM 0 18 15 0 9 13 0 0 0 1 0 0 10 0 14 0 80 0 3 3 0
5:15 PM 0 8 12 0 4 13 0 0 1 0 0 0 11 0 10 0 59 0 0 0 0
5:20 PM 0 22 12 0 11 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 16 0 79 1 0 0 1
5:25 PM 0 17 13 0 7 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 16 0 13 0 76 0 1 0 0
5:30 PM 0 9 17 0 12 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 23 0 17 0 89 0 0 0 0
5:35 PM 0 12 22 1 8 13 0 0 0 0 2 0 20 0 23 0 100 0 0 0 0
5:40 PM 0 12 16 0 10 11 0 1 0 0 0 0 19 0 13 0 81 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 1 14 6 0 9 9 0 0 0 1 0 0 17 0 9 0 66 0 0 0 0
5:50 PM 1 9 18 1 9 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 8 1 57 0 0 0 0
5:55 PM 0 16 7 0 5 11 0 0 0 0 1 0 12 0 12 0 64 0 1 0 0

Total 
Survey

10 315 309 7 179 236 1 3 2 2 19 0 328 4 269 3 1,674 1 18 4 8

Tuesday, September 29, 2015

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

1

2

5

165

0

180

1615

133 980

1

8

2 3

161

327318
InOut

327231
OutIn

8In 

5Out

Out261

In345

0.
87

P
H

F
 

0.
3%

H
V

0.75PHF 
1.2%HV

0.67PHF 
0.0%HV

0.
89

P
H

F
 

0.
0%

H
V

Peak Hour Summary
4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM

15-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 0 36 35 2 16 33 0 0 0 0 0 0 46 1 34 0 201 0 2 0 1
4:15 PM 2 34 44 1 14 21 1 2 0 0 4 0 38 1 22 0 181 0 3 0 2
4:30 PM 2 43 35 1 28 24 0 0 1 0 7 0 34 2 23 1 199 0 2 1 2
4:45 PM 2 34 29 1 28 37 0 0 0 0 3 0 38 0 22 1 193 0 5 0 2
5:00 PM 2 49 43 0 18 29 0 0 0 1 2 0 38 0 47 0 229 0 4 3 0
5:15 PM 0 47 37 0 22 33 0 0 1 0 0 0 35 0 39 0 214 1 1 0 1
5:30 PM 0 33 55 1 30 35 0 1 0 0 2 0 62 0 53 0 270 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 2 39 31 1 23 24 0 0 0 1 1 0 37 0 29 1 187 0 1 0 0

Total 
Survey

10 315 309 7 179 236 1 3 2 2 19 0 328 4 269 3 1,674 1 18 4 8

Peak Hour Summary
4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Villa Rd Villa Rd Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Total Crosswalk

In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes North South East West
Volume 327 318 645 2 231 327 558 1 8 5 13 0 345 261 606 1 911 1 8 3 2

%HV 0.3% 0.0% 0.0% 1.2% 0.5%
PHF 0.87 0.89 0.67 0.75 0.84

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Villa Rd Villa Rd Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Total

L T R L T R L T R L T R
Volume 5 161 161 98 133 0 1 2 5 180 0 165 911

%HV 0.0% 0.0% 0.6% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.7% 0.0% 0.6% 0.5%
PHF 0.42 0.82 0.73 0.82 0.90 0.00 0.25 0.50 0.63 0.73 0.00 0.78 0.84

Rolling Hour Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 6 147 143 5 86 115 1 2 1 0 14 0 156 4 101 2 774 0 12 1 7
4:15 PM 8 160 151 3 88 111 1 2 1 1 16 0 148 3 114 2 802 0 14 4 6
4:30 PM 6 173 144 2 96 123 0 0 2 1 12 0 145 2 131 2 835 1 12 4 5
4:45 PM 4 163 164 2 98 134 0 1 1 1 7 0 173 0 161 1 906 1 10 3 3
5:00 PM 4 168 166 2 93 121 0 1 1 2 5 0 172 0 168 1 900 1 6 3 1

327

0.87 0.75

345

0.67

8

0.89

231
1.2%0.0%

By 
Movement

By 
Approach

Total TotalTotalTotal

0.0%0.3%

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

215 of 460 



Heavy Vehicle Summary

Villa Rd & Haworth Ave

4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Heavy Vehicle   5-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
4:05 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1
4:10 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:20 PM 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
4:25 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:35 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:40 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
4:50 PM 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 2
4:55 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:05 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:10 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:20 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1
5:25 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:35 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:40 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:50 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:55 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

0 0 2 2 3 2 1 6 0 0 0 0 4 0 1 5 13

Tuesday, September 29, 2015

0

0

0

1

0

3

10

0 00

0

13
InOut

10
OutIn

0In 

0Out

Peak Hour Summary
4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

Heavy Vehicle   15-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start Villa Rd Villa Rd Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 2
4:15 PM 0 0 1 1 1 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
4:45 PM 0 0 1 1 1 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 5
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

0 0 2 2 3 2 1 6 0 0 0 0 4 0 1 5 13

Heavy Vehicle   Peak Hour Summary
4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Villa Rd Villa Rd Haworth Ave Haworth Ave

In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total
Volume 1 3 4 0 1 1 0 0 0 4 1 5 5

PHF 0.25 0.00 0.00 0.50 0.42

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Villa Rd Villa Rd Haworth Ave Haworth Ave

L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total
Volume 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 1 4 5

PHF 0.00 0.00 0.25 0.25 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.38 0.00 0.25 0.50 0.42

Heavy Vehicle   Rolling Hour Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval
Start Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

4:00 PM 0 0 2 2 3 2 1 6 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 11
4:15 PM 0 0 2 2 3 1 1 5 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 10
4:30 PM 0 0 1 1 2 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 3 0 1 4 8
4:45 PM 0 0 1 1 1 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 3 0 1 4 7
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 2 2

By 
Movement

Total

By 
Approach

Villa Rd Villa Rd Haworth Ave
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Total

Haworth Ave
Westbound

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

216 of 460 



     Peak Hour Summary

4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM
Tuesday, September 29, 2015

  

  

 231 327  

  

 0 133 98  

 � � �  

          

                      

  � 165

0 5    0 345 0

  � 180

  
  

1 �   

0 8 2 �   261 0

Haworth Ave

0 0

Villa Rd & Haworth Ave

V
ill

a 
R

d

1Bikes

1
Bikes

1Peds

P
ed

s
2

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

P
ed

s
3

0 8 2 �   261 0

5 �   

                      

          

 � � �  

 5 161 161  

  

 318 327  

  

  

Count Period: 4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

0

0.5%

231

911

Haworth Ave

Approach HV%PHF Volume

NB 0.87 0.3% 327

SB 0.89 0.0%

Intersection 0.84

EB 0.67 0.0%

0 V
ill

a 
R

d

8

345WB 0.75 1.2%

1Bikes

1
Bikes

1Peds

P
ed

s
2

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

2

Bikes

8Peds

P
ed

s
3

0Bikes

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

217 of 460 



Total Vehicle Summary

West Access & Haworth Ave

4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

5-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start West Access West Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L R Bikes Bikes T R Bikes L T Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 15 1 1 0 25 0 41 0 1 0 0
4:05 PM 0 0 0 0 15 2 0 1 33 0 51 0 1 0 0
4:10 PM 0 0 0 0 15 1 0 1 24 0 41 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 20 0 0 4 17 0 41 0 0 0 0
4:20 PM 0 0 0 0 13 4 1 0 27 0 44 0 3 0 0
4:25 PM 0 0 0 0 19 4 1 2 18 0 43 0 1 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 11 3 0 0 22 1 36 0 0 0 0
4:35 PM 0 0 0 0 21 1 0 0 20 0 42 0 2 0 0
4:40 PM 0 0 0 0 21 3 0 0 19 0 43 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 22 0 0 0 15 0 37 0 2 0 0
4:50 PM 0 0 0 0 18 2 0 3 24 0 47 0 0 0 0
4:55 PM 0 0 0 0 20 0 0 0 21 1 41 0 2 0 0
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 16 1 0 0 30 0 47 0 2 0 0
5:05 PM 0 0 0 0 19 1 3 0 28 0 48 0 0 0 0
5:10 PM 0 0 0 0 22 0 0 0 26 0 48 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 18 1 0 0 21 1 40 0 0 0 0
5:20 PM 0 0 0 0 17 1 0 2 24 0 44 0 1 0 0
5:25 PM 0 0 0 0 19 4 0 1 27 0 51 0 1 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 30 0 0 1 39 0 70 0 0 0 0
5:35 PM 0 0 0 0 22 7 1 1 43 2 73 0 0 0 0
5:40 PM 0 0 0 0 19 0 0 1 35 0 55 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 25 3 0 1 25 0 54 0 0 0 0
5:50 PM 0 0 0 0 21 4 1 0 18 1 43 0 0 0 0
5:55 PM 0 0 0 0 13 2 0 4 23 0 42 0 2 0 0

Total 
Survey

0 0 0 0 451 45 8 22 604 6 1,122 0 18 0 0

Tuesday, September 29, 2015

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740 245

20

343

10

00

0

6

0 0

030
InOut

00
OutIn

265In 

343Out

Out245

In353

0.
00

P
H

F
 

0.
0%

H
V

0.74PHF 
0.8%HV

0.81PHF 
0.4%HV

0.
00

P
H

F
 

0.
0%

H
V

Peak Hour Summary
4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM

15-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start West Access West Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L R Bikes Bikes T R Bikes L T Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 45 4 1 2 82 0 133 0 2 0 0
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 52 8 2 6 62 0 128 0 4 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 53 7 0 0 61 1 121 0 2 0 0
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 60 2 0 3 60 1 125 0 4 0 0
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 57 2 3 0 84 0 143 0 2 0 0
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 54 6 0 3 72 1 135 0 2 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 71 7 1 3 117 2 198 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 59 9 1 5 66 1 139 0 2 0 0

Total 
Survey

0 0 0 0 451 45 8 22 604 6 1,122 0 18 0 0

Peak Hour Summary
4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
West Access West Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Total Crosswalk

In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes North South East West
Volume 0 30 30 0 0 0 0 0 265 343 608 4 353 245 598 4 618 0 6 0 0

%HV 0.0% 0.0% 0.4% 0.8% 0.6%
PHF 0.00 0.00 0.81 0.74 0.78

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
West Access West Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Total

L R T R L T
Volume 0 0 245 20 10 343 618

%HV 0.0% NA 0.0% NA NA NA NA 0.4% 0.0% 0.0% 0.9% NA 0.6%
PHF 0.00 0.00 0.86 0.45 0.63 0.73 0.78

Rolling Hour Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start West Access West Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L R Bikes Bikes T R Bikes L T Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 210 21 3 11 265 2 507 0 12 0 0
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 222 19 5 9 267 2 517 0 12 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 224 17 3 6 277 3 524 0 10 0 0
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 242 17 4 9 333 4 601 0 8 0 0
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 241 24 5 11 339 4 615 0 6 0 0

0

0.00 0.74

353

0.81

265

0.00

0
0.8%0.4%

By 
Movement

By 
Approach

Total TotalTotalTotal

0.0%0.0%

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

218 of 460 



Heavy Vehicle Summary

West Access & Haworth Ave

4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Heavy Vehicle   5-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start West Access West Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval
Time L R Total Total T R Total L T Total Total

4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 1
4:05 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:10 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:20 PM 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1
4:25 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:35 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:40 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 1
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 1
4:50 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 1 2
4:55 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:05 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:10 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:20 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1
5:25 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:35 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:40 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:50 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:55 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

0 0 0 0 4 1 5 0 4 4 9

Tuesday, September 29, 2015

1

0

3

0

00

00
InOut

00
OutIn

1In 

3Out

Peak Hour Summary
4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

Heavy Vehicle   15-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start West Access West Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval
Time L R Total Total T R Total L T Total Total

4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 1 2
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 1
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 2 2 4
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

0 0 0 0 4 1 5 0 4 4 9

Heavy Vehicle   Peak Hour Summary
4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
West Access West Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave

In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total
Volume 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 3 4 3 1 4 4

PHF 0.00 0.00 0.25 0.38 0.33

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
West Access West Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave

L R Total Total T R Total L T Total
Volume 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 3 3 4

PHF 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.25 0.00 0.25 0.00 0.38 0.38 0.33

Heavy Vehicle   Rolling Hour Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval
Start Interval
Time L R Total Total T R Total L T Total Total

4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 4 1 5 0 3 3 8
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 3 1 4 0 2 2 6
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 0 3 3 6
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 3 3 5
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1

By 
Movement

Total

By 
Approach

West Access West Access Haworth Ave
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Total

Haworth Ave
Westbound

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

219 of 460 



     Peak Hour Summary

4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM
Tuesday, September 29, 2015

 

 

 

 

 

 

              

  

0 343   � 343 353 0

  � 10

  
  

  

0 265 245 �   245 0

Haworth Ave

0 0

West Access & Haworth Ave

4Bikes

0
Bikes

0Peds

P
ed

s
0

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

P
ed

s
0

0 265 245 �   245 0

20 �   

                      

          

 � �  

 0 0  

  

 30 0  

  

  

Count Period: 4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

0

0.6%

0

618

Haworth Ave

Approach HV%PHF Volume

NB 0.00 0.0% 0

SB 0.00 0.0%

Intersection 0.78

EB 0.81 0.4%

0 W
es

t 
A

cc
es

s

265

353WB 0.74 0.8%

4Bikes

0
Bikes

0Peds

P
ed

s
0

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

0

Bikes

6Peds

P
ed

s
0

4Bikes

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

220 of 460 



Total Vehicle Summary

East Access & Haworth Ave

4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

5-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start East Access East Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 1 0 35 0 0 47 0 1 0 0
4:05 PM 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 13 1 0 0 26 0 0 41 0 0 0 0
4:10 PM 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 2 0 1 22 0 0 45 1 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 3 0 2 27 0 0 48 2 0 0 0
4:20 PM 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 16 1 1 2 20 0 0 41 0 0 0 2
4:25 PM 3 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 1 0 1 25 0 0 47 0 1 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 0 0 1 16 0 1 34 0 0 0 0
4:35 PM 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 6 1 2 18 1 0 40 0 1 0 0
4:40 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 24 2 0 0 17 1 0 45 0 1 0 0
4:45 PM 0 0 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 18 1 0 4 18 0 0 44 1 1 0 0
4:50 PM 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 1 0 0 24 0 1 45 0 0 0 0
4:55 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 15 2 0 1 17 0 2 36 0 1 0 0
5:00 PM 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 0 0 0 28 0 0 50 0 1 1 0
5:05 PM 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 16 0 2 1 27 0 0 46 0 1 0 0
5:10 PM 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 23 1 0 0 21 0 1 49 1 0 0 0
5:15 PM 4 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 17 3 0 2 20 0 0 48 1 0 0 0
5:20 PM 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 17 0 0 0 25 0 0 44 0 0 0 1
5:25 PM 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 0 0 1 31 0 0 50 0 1 0 1
5:30 PM 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 27 1 0 1 42 0 1 75 0 0 0 0
5:35 PM 4 0 4 0 1 0 1 0 1 21 3 1 1 31 0 0 67 0 0 0 0
5:40 PM 3 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 3 0 1 23 0 0 52 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 3 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 17 4 0 1 27 0 0 56 0 0 0 0
5:50 PM 5 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 7 0 0 12 0 1 44 0 1 0 0
5:55 PM 5 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 1 0 1 19 0 0 33 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

41 0 47 0 1 0 3 0 2 394 43 6 23 571 2 7 1,127 6 10 1 4

Tuesday, September 29, 2015

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

2

224

18

0

316

9

2126

0 11

2

4

2 1

0

4727
InOut

22
OutIn

244In 

343Out

Out246

In325

0.
56

P
H

F
 

2.
1%

H
V

0.76PHF 
0.6%HV

0.81PHF 
0.4%HV

0.
25

P
H

F
 

0.
0%

H
V

Peak Hour Summary
4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM

15-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start East Access East Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 43 3 1 1 83 0 0 133 1 1 0 0
4:15 PM 4 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 43 5 1 5 72 0 0 136 2 1 0 2
4:30 PM 0 0 7 0 0 0 1 0 0 47 8 1 3 51 2 1 119 0 2 0 0
4:45 PM 2 0 2 0 0 0 1 0 1 51 4 0 5 59 0 3 125 1 2 0 0
5:00 PM 4 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 58 1 2 1 76 0 1 145 1 2 1 0
5:15 PM 7 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 49 3 0 3 76 0 0 142 1 1 0 2
5:30 PM 10 0 8 0 1 0 1 0 1 67 7 1 3 96 0 1 194 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 13 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 36 12 0 2 58 0 1 133 0 1 0 0

Total 
Survey

41 0 47 0 1 0 3 0 2 394 43 6 23 571 2 7 1,127 6 10 1 4

Peak Hour Summary
4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
East Access East Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Total Crosswalk

In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes North South East West
Volume 47 27 74 0 2 2 4 0 244 343 587 3 325 246 571 5 618 2 4 1 2

%HV 2.1% 0.0% 0.4% 0.6% 0.6%
PHF 0.56 0.25 0.81 0.76 0.80

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
East Access East Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Total

L T R L T R L T R L T R
Volume 26 0 21 1 0 1 2 224 18 9 316 0 618

%HV 3.8% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.4% 0.0% 0.0% 0.6% 0.0% 0.6%
PHF 0.65 0.00 0.48 0.25 0.00 0.25 0.50 0.84 0.45 0.75 0.76 0.00 0.80

Rolling Hour Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start East Access East Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 7 0 18 0 0 0 2 0 1 184 20 3 14 265 2 4 513 4 6 0 2
4:15 PM 10 0 21 0 0 0 2 0 1 199 18 4 14 258 2 5 525 4 7 1 2
4:30 PM 13 0 18 0 0 0 2 0 1 205 16 3 12 262 2 5 531 3 7 1 2
4:45 PM 23 0 19 0 1 0 2 0 2 225 15 3 12 307 0 5 606 3 5 1 2
5:00 PM 34 0 29 0 1 0 1 0 1 210 23 3 9 306 0 3 614 2 4 1 2

47

0.56 0.76

325

0.81

244

0.25

2
0.6%0.4%

By 
Movement

By 
Approach

Total TotalTotalTotal

0.0%2.1%

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

221 of 460 



Heavy Vehicle Summary

East Access & Haworth Ave

4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Heavy Vehicle   5-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start East Access East Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
4:05 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1
4:10 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:20 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:25 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:35 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1
4:40 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
4:50 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 2 0 2 3
4:55 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:05 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:10 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
5:20 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:25 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:35 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:40 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:50 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:55 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 3 1 4 9

Tuesday, September 29, 2015

0

1

0

0

2

0

01

0 00

0

10
InOut

00
OutIn

1In 

3Out

Peak Hour Summary
4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

Heavy Vehicle   15-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start East Access East Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 2
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 1 2
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 2 0 2 4
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 3 1 4 9

Heavy Vehicle   Peak Hour Summary
4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
East Access East Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave

In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total
Volume 1 0 1 0 0 0 1 3 4 2 1 3 4

PHF 0.25 0.00 0.25 0.25 0.33

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
East Access East Access Haworth Ave Haworth Ave

L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total
Volume 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 2 0 2 4

PHF 0.25 0.00 0.00 0.25 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.25 0.00 0.25 0.00 0.25 0.00 0.25 0.33

Heavy Vehicle   Rolling Hour Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval
Start Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 3 1 4 8
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 0 2 1 3 6
4:30 PM 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 0 2 1 3 7
4:45 PM 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 2 0 2 5
5:00 PM 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

By 
Movement

Total

By 
Approach

East Access East Access Haworth Ave
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Total

Haworth Ave
Westbound

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

222 of 460 



     Peak Hour Summary

4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM
Tuesday, September 29, 2015

  

  

 2 2  

  

 1 0 1  

 � � �  

          

                      

  � 0

0 343    316 325 0

  � 9

  
  

2 �   

0 244 224 �   246 0

Haworth Ave

0 0

East Access & Haworth Ave

E
as

t 
A

cc
es

s

5Bikes

0
Bikes

2Peds

P
ed

s
2

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

P
ed

s
1

0 244 224 �   246 0

18 �   

                      

          

 � � �  

 26 0 21  

  

 27 47  

  

  

Count Period: 4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

0

0.6%

2

618

Haworth Ave

Approach HV%PHF Volume

NB 0.56 2.1% 47

SB 0.25 0.0%

Intersection 0.80

EB 0.81 0.4%

0 E
as

t 
A

cc
es

s

244

325WB 0.76 0.6%

5Bikes

0
Bikes

2Peds

P
ed

s
2

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

0

Bikes

4Peds

P
ed

s
1

3Bikes

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

223 of 460 



Total Vehicle Summary

Sitka Ave & Haworth Ave

4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

5-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Sitka Ave Sitka Ave Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 1 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 3 11 0 1 1 26 1 0 46 0 0 1 0
4:05 PM 4 0 1 0 0 0 5 0 1 10 1 0 2 25 0 0 49 1 2 0 2
4:10 PM 2 0 2 0 0 1 1 0 1 13 1 0 0 21 0 0 42 0 2 0 0
4:15 PM 2 0 2 0 1 0 4 0 1 16 1 0 1 18 0 1 46 3 0 0 3
4:20 PM 1 0 3 0 0 1 5 0 3 11 1 1 1 21 0 0 47 0 0 0 1
4:25 PM 3 0 1 0 0 1 2 0 1 17 0 1 0 16 1 0 42 0 2 0 0
4:30 PM 0 1 1 0 1 1 1 0 0 15 1 0 3 18 0 1 42 0 0 0 0
4:35 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 14 0 0 2 20 0 0 40 0 0 0 1
4:40 PM 1 0 0 1 0 0 2 0 1 15 1 0 0 18 1 0 39 0 0 0 1
4:45 PM 0 1 0 0 0 2 1 0 1 22 1 0 2 19 1 0 50 1 0 0 0
4:50 PM 1 0 5 0 0 0 0 1 2 14 2 0 0 22 0 0 46 0 0 0 0
4:55 PM 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 3 11 0 0 4 17 0 2 38 0 2 0 0
5:00 PM 2 1 4 0 0 0 1 2 2 17 0 0 1 23 0 0 51 0 1 0 0
5:05 PM 1 0 3 0 2 2 4 0 1 20 0 0 0 24 0 0 57 1 0 0 1
5:10 PM 1 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 3 15 1 0 1 19 1 1 44 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 4 15 2 0 2 20 0 0 45 1 1 0 1
5:20 PM 2 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 16 3 0 1 23 3 0 51 0 0 0 1
5:25 PM 1 0 3 0 0 0 3 0 2 14 0 0 3 22 0 0 48 1 1 0 1
5:30 PM 0 0 1 0 0 0 6 0 2 26 0 0 1 36 1 1 73 0 0 0 0
5:35 PM 1 1 3 0 1 2 5 0 3 20 2 1 4 33 0 0 75 0 1 0 0
5:40 PM 0 1 1 0 0 0 3 0 0 19 1 0 1 24 1 0 51 1 0 0 1
5:45 PM 1 0 0 0 0 1 6 1 1 26 0 0 0 17 1 0 53 0 1 1 1
5:50 PM 1 0 3 0 0 0 1 0 1 18 1 0 1 14 0 1 40 0 0 0 0
5:55 PM 4 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 12 2 0 3 15 0 0 37 0 0 0 1

Total 
Survey

30 7 36 1 8 11 58 5 38 387 21 4 34 511 11 7 1,152 9 13 2 15

Tuesday, September 29, 2015

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

23

213

11

7

280

18

2211

5 434

4

7

6 1

4

3734
InOut

3443
OutIn

247In 

325Out

Out239

In305

0.
66

P
H

F
 

0.
0%

H
V

0.75PHF 
0.7%HV

0.85PHF 
0.4%HV

0.
60

P
H

F
 

2.
3%

H
V

Peak Hour Summary
4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM

15-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Sitka Ave Sitka Ave Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 7 0 4 0 2 1 6 0 5 34 2 1 3 72 1 0 137 1 4 1 2
4:15 PM 6 0 6 0 1 2 11 0 5 44 2 2 2 55 1 1 135 3 2 0 4
4:30 PM 1 2 1 1 1 1 4 1 3 44 2 0 5 56 1 1 121 0 0 0 2
4:45 PM 2 1 5 0 0 2 3 1 6 47 3 0 6 58 1 2 134 1 2 0 0
5:00 PM 4 2 8 0 2 2 6 2 6 52 1 0 2 66 1 1 152 1 1 0 1
5:15 PM 3 0 4 0 1 0 6 0 6 45 5 0 6 65 3 0 144 2 2 0 3
5:30 PM 1 2 5 0 1 2 14 0 5 65 3 1 6 93 2 1 199 1 1 0 1
5:45 PM 6 0 3 0 0 1 8 1 2 56 3 0 4 46 1 1 130 0 1 1 2

Total 
Survey

30 7 36 1 8 11 58 5 38 387 21 4 34 511 11 7 1,152 9 13 2 15

Peak Hour Summary
4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Sitka Ave Sitka Ave Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Total Crosswalk

In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes North South East West
Volume 37 34 71 0 43 34 77 4 247 325 572 1 305 239 544 4 632 4 7 1 6

%HV 0.0% 2.3% 0.4% 0.7% 0.6%
PHF 0.66 0.60 0.85 0.75 0.79

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Sitka Ave Sitka Ave Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Total

L T R L T R L T R L T R
Volume 11 4 22 4 5 34 23 213 11 18 280 7 632

%HV 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 25.0% 0.0% 0.0% 4.3% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.7% 0.0% 0.6%
PHF 0.69 0.50 0.61 0.33 0.42 0.61 0.72 0.82 0.46 0.56 0.75 0.44 0.79

Rolling Hour Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start Sitka Ave Sitka Ave Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 16 3 16 1 4 6 24 2 19 169 9 3 16 241 4 4 527 5 8 1 8
4:15 PM 13 5 20 1 4 7 24 4 20 187 8 2 15 235 4 5 542 5 5 0 7
4:30 PM 10 5 18 1 4 5 19 4 21 188 11 0 19 245 6 4 551 4 5 0 6
4:45 PM 10 5 22 0 4 6 29 3 23 209 12 1 20 282 7 4 629 5 6 0 5
5:00 PM 14 4 20 0 4 5 34 3 19 218 12 1 18 270 7 3 625 4 5 1 7

37

0.66 0.75

305

0.85

247

0.60

43
0.7%0.4%

By 
Movement

By 
Approach

Total TotalTotalTotal

2.3%0.0%

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

224 of 460 



Heavy Vehicle Summary

Sitka Ave & Haworth Ave

4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Heavy Vehicle   5-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start Sitka Ave Sitka Ave Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
4:05 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1
4:10 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:20 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:25 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:35 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
4:40 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
4:50 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 2
4:55 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:05 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
5:10 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:20 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:25 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:35 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:40 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:50 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:55 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

0 0 0 0 1 0 1 2 1 3 0 4 0 3 0 3 9

Tuesday, September 29, 2015

1

0

0

0

2

0

00

0 10

0

00
InOut

11
OutIn

1In 

2Out

Peak Hour Summary
4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

Heavy Vehicle   15-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Start Sitka Ave Sitka Ave Haworth Ave Haworth Ave Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 2
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 2
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 0 2 0 2 4
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

0 0 0 0 1 0 1 2 1 3 0 4 0 3 0 3 9

Heavy Vehicle   Peak Hour Summary
4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Sitka Ave Sitka Ave Haworth Ave Haworth Ave

In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total
Volume 0 0 0 1 1 2 1 2 3 2 1 3 4

PHF 0.00 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.33

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
Sitka Ave Sitka Ave Haworth Ave Haworth Ave

L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total
Volume 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 2 0 2 4

PHF 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.25 0.00 0.00 0.25 0.25 0.00 0.00 0.25 0.00 0.25 0.00 0.25 0.33

Heavy Vehicle   Rolling Hour Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval
Start Interval
Time L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total L T R Total Total

4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 3 0 4 0 3 0 3 8
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 2 1 2 0 3 0 2 0 2 7
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 2 1 2 0 3 0 2 0 2 7
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 1 0 2 0 2 0 2 5
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

By 
Movement

Total

By 
Approach

Sitka Ave Sitka Ave Haworth Ave
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Total

Haworth Ave
Westbound

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

225 of 460 



     Peak Hour Summary

4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM
Tuesday, September 29, 2015

  

  

 43 34  

  

 34 5 4  

 � � �  

          

                      

  � 7

0 325    280 305 0

  � 18

  
  

23 �   

0 247 213 �   239 0

Haworth Ave

0 0

Sitka Ave & Haworth Ave

S
it

ka
 A

ve

4Bikes

4
Bikes

4Peds

P
ed

s
6

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

P
ed

s
1

0 247 213 �   239 0

11 �   

                      

          

 � � �  

 11 4 22  

  

 34 37  

  

  

Count Period: 4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

0

0.6%

43

632

Haworth Ave

Approach HV%PHF Volume

NB 0.66 0.0% 37

SB 0.60 2.3%

Intersection 0.79

EB 0.85 0.4%

0 S
it

ka
 A

ve

247

305WB 0.75 0.7%

4Bikes

4
Bikes

4Peds

P
ed

s
6

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

0

Bikes

7Peds

P
ed

s
1

1Bikes

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

226 of 460 



 

 

 

 

 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 

APPENDIX D: TRIP GENERATION CALCULATIONS 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

227 of 460 



Land Use: Recreational Community Center

Land Use Code: 495

Variable: 1000 Square Feet Gross Floor Area

Variable Quantity: 21.28

Trip Rate: 2.89 Trip Rate: 3.35

Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total

Directional Directional

Distribution Distribution

Trip Ends 27 34 61 Trip Ends 40 31 71

Trip Rate: 33.82 Trip Rate: 9.10

Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total

Directional Directional

Distribution Distribution

Trip Ends 360 360 720 Trip Ends 97 97 194

Source: TRIP GENERATION, Ninth Edition

TRIP GENERATION CALCULATIONS

45% 55% 57% 43%

AM PEAK HOUR PM PEAK HOUR

WEEKDAY SATURDAY

50% 50% 50% 50%

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

228 of 460 



Land Use: Recreational Community Center

Land Use Code: 495

Variable: 1000 Square Feet Gross Floor Area

Variable Quantity: 61.67

Trip Rate: 2.89 Trip Rate: 3.35

Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total

Directional Directional

Distribution Distribution

Trip Ends 80 98 178 Trip Ends 118 89 207

Trip Rate: 33.82 Trip Rate: 9.10

Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total

Directional Directional

Distribution Distribution

Trip Ends 1,043 1,043 2,086 Trip Ends 281 281 562

Source: TRIP GENERATION, Ninth Edition

TRIP GENERATION CALCULATIONS

45% 55% 57% 43%

AM PEAK HOUR PM PEAK HOUR

WEEKDAY SATURDAY

50% 50% 50% 50%

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

229 of 460 



 

 

 

 

 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 

APPENDIX E: LOS DESCRIPTIONS 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

230 of 460 



 

 

LEVEL OF SERVICE 

 
 
 Level of service is used to describe the quality of traffic flow. Levels of service A 

to C are considered good, and rural roads are usually designed for level of service C. 

Urban streets and signalized intersections are typically designed for level of service D. 

Level of service E is considered to be the limit of acceptable delay. For unsignalized 

intersections, level of service E is generally considered acceptable. Here is a more 

complete description of levels of service: 

 

 Level of service A: Very low delay at intersections, with all traffic signal cycles 

clearing and no vehicles waiting through more than one signal cycle. On highways, low 

volume and high speeds, with speeds not restricted by other vehicles.  

 

 Level of service B: Operating speeds beginning to be affected by other traffic; 

short traffic delays at intersections. Higher average intersection delay than for level of 

service A resulting from more vehicles stopping.  

 

 Level of service C: Operating speeds and maneuverability closely controlled by 

other traffic; higher delays at intersections than for level of service B due to a significant 

number of vehicles stopping. Not all signal cycles clear the waiting vehicles. This is the 

recommended design standard for rural highways.  

 

 Level of service D: Tolerable operating speeds; long traffic delays occur at in-

tersections. The influence of congestion is noticeable. At traffic signals many vehicles 

stop, and the proportion of vehicles not stopping declines. The number of signal cycle 

failures, for which vehicles must wait through more than one signal cycle, are noticeable. 

This is typically the design level for urban signalized intersections.  

 

 Level of service E: Restricted speeds, very long traffic delays at traffic signals, and 

traffic volumes near capacity. Flow is unstable so that any interruption, no matter how 

minor, will cause queues to form and service to deteriorate to level of service F. Traffic 

signal cycle failures are frequent occurrences. For unsignalized intersections, level of 

service E or better is generally considered acceptable.  

 

 Level of service F: Extreme delays, resulting in long queues which may interfere 

with other traffic movements. There may be stoppages of long duration, and speeds may 

drop to zero. There may be frequent signal cycle failures. Level of service F will typically 

result when vehicle arrival rates are greater than capacity. It is considered unacceptable by 

most drivers.  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

231 of 460 



LEVEL OF SERVICE CRITERIA

FOR SIGNALIZED INTERSECTIONS

LEVEL CONTROL DELAY

OF PER VEHICLE

SERVICE (Seconds)

A <10

B 10-20

C 20-35

D 35-55

E 55-80

F >80

LEVEL OF SERVICE CRITERIA

FOR UNSIGNALIZED INTERSECTIONS

LEVEL CONTROL DELAY

OF PER VEHICLE

SERVICE (Seconds)

A <10

B 10-15

C 15-25

D 25-35

E 35-50

F >50

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

232 of 460 



 

 

 

 

 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 

APPENDIX F: AM CAPACITY ANALYSIS 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

233 of 460 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
1: Hwy 99 & Villa Road Existing AM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.91 0.97 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.99
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.98 1.00 0.99 1.00 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1703 3403 1702 4773 3294 1779 1699 1792 1512
Flt Permitted 0.19 1.00 0.15 1.00 0.54 1.00 0.69 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 341 3403 275 4773 1867 1779 1227 1792 1512

Volume (vph) 120 1239 5 8 902 146 369 99 5 115 52 64
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94
Adj. Flow (vph) 128 1318 5 9 960 155 393 105 5 122 55 68
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 14 0 0 2 0 0 0 56
Lane Group Flow (vph) 128 1323 0 9 1101 0 393 108 0 122 55 12
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 1 6 9 4 6 9 4 1
Heavy Vehicles (%) 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6%

Turn Type pm+pt pm+pt pm+pt pm+pt pm+ov
Protected Phases 5 2 1 6 3 8 7 4 5
Permitted Phases 2 6 8 4 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 75.6 70.3 64.2 63.4 30.4 16.6 20.6 11.3 19.0
Effective Green, g (s) 76.6 71.3 65.7 64.4 30.4 16.6 21.6 11.8 20.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.67 0.62 0.57 0.56 0.26 0.14 0.19 0.10 0.17
Clearance Time (s) 4.5 5.0 4.5 5.0 4.5 4.0 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0

Lane Grp Cap (vph) 324 2110 173 2673 675 257 271 184 316
v/s Ratio Prot c0.03 c0.39 0.00 0.23 c0.07 0.06 0.04 0.03 0.00
v/s Ratio Perm 0.23 0.03 c0.08 0.05 0.01
v/c Ratio 0.40 0.63 0.05 0.41 0.58 0.42 0.45 0.30 0.04
Uniform Delay, d1 8.3 13.6 11.9 14.5 35.4 44.8 40.9 47.8 39.5
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.8 1.4 0.1 0.1 1.3 1.1 1.2 0.9 0.0
Delay (s) 9.1 15.0 12.0 14.6 36.7 45.9 42.1 48.7 39.5
Level of Service A B B B D D D D D
Approach Delay (s) 14.5 14.6 38.7 42.8
Approach LOS B B D D

Intersection Summary

HCM Average Control Delay 20.3 HCM Level of Service C
HCM Volume to Capacity ratio 0.61
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 115.0 Sum of lost time (s) 12.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 67.8% ICU Level of Service C
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

234 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
2: Fulton Street & Villa Road Existing AM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free
Grade 0% 0% 0% 0%
Volume (veh/h) 108 2 77 1 1 4 89 106 7 0 166 80
Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Hourly flow rate (vph) 101 2 72 1 1 4 83 99 7 0 155 75
Pedestrians 8 1 7 8
Lane Width (ft) 12.0 12.0 12.0 12.0
Walking Speed (ft/s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Percent Blockage 1 0 1 1
Right turn flare (veh)
Median type None None
Median storage veh)
Upstream signal (ft)
pX, platoon unblocked
vC, conflicting volume 482 474 208 470 508 111 238 107
vC1, stage 1 conf vol
vC2, stage 2 conf vol
vCu, unblocked vol 482 474 208 470 508 111 238 107
tC, single (s) *6.5 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.1 4.1
tC, 2 stage (s)
tF (s) *2.5 *2.5 3.3 3.5 4.0 3.3 2.2 2.2
p0 queue free % 85 100 91 100 100 100 94 100
cM capacity (veh/h) 659 664 817 428 432 929 1309 1471

Direction, Lane # EB 1 EB 2 WB 1 NB 1 SB 1

Volume Total 103 72 6 189 230
Volume Left 101 0 1 83 0
Volume Right 0 72 4 7 75
cSH 659 817 670 1309 1471
Volume to Capacity 0.16 0.09 0.01 0.06 0.00
Queue Length 95th (ft) 14 7 1 5 0
Control Delay (s) 11.5 9.8 10.4 3.8 0.0
Lane LOS B A B A
Approach Delay (s) 10.8 10.4 3.8 0.0
Approach LOS B B

Intersection Summary

Average Delay 4.4
Intersection Capacity Utilization 43.9% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

*    User Entered Value

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

235 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
3: Haworth Avenue & Villa Road Existing AM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free
Grade 0% 0% 0% 0%
Volume (veh/h) 1 0 8 101 0 86 12 31 150 169 134 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81
Hourly flow rate (vph) 1 0 10 125 0 106 15 38 185 209 165 1
Pedestrians 12 12 12 6
Lane Width (ft) 12.0 12.0 12.0 12.0
Walking Speed (ft/s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Percent Blockage 1 1 1 1
Right turn flare (veh)
Median type None None
Median storage veh)
Upstream signal (ft)
pX, platoon unblocked
vC, conflicting volume 868 860 190 778 768 149 179 235
vC1, stage 1 conf vol
vC2, stage 2 conf vol
vCu, unblocked vol 868 860 190 778 768 149 179 235
tC, single (s) 7.1 6.5 6.2 *6.5 6.5 6.2 4.1 4.1
tC, 2 stage (s)
tF (s) 3.5 4.0 3.3 *2.5 4.0 3.3 2.2 2.2
p0 queue free % 99 100 99 67 100 88 99 84
cM capacity (veh/h) 202 238 832 380 270 882 1377 1313

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 WB 2 NB 1 SB 1

Volume Total 11 125 106 238 375
Volume Left 1 125 0 15 209
Volume Right 10 0 106 185 1
cSH 618 380 882 1377 1313
Volume to Capacity 0.02 0.33 0.12 0.01 0.16
Queue Length 95th (ft) 1 35 10 1 14
Control Delay (s) 10.9 19.0 9.6 0.6 5.2
Lane LOS B C A A A
Approach Delay (s) 10.9 14.7 0.6 5.2
Approach LOS B B

Intersection Summary

Average Delay 6.6
Intersection Capacity Utilization 51.6% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

*    User Entered Value

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

236 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
4: Haworth Avenue & West Driveway Existing AM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 4

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop
Volume (vph) 320 10 2 189 0 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70
Hourly flow rate (vph) 457 14 3 270 0 0

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 NB 1

Volume Total (vph) 471 273 0
Volume Left (vph) 0 3 0
Volume Right (vph) 14 0 0
Hadj (s) 0.02 0.04 0.00
Departure Headway (s) 4.2 4.4 5.5
Degree Utilization, x 0.55 0.33 0.00
Capacity (veh/h) 850 800 582
Control Delay (s) 12.2 9.6 8.5
Approach Delay (s) 12.2 9.6 0.0
Approach LOS B A A

Intersection Summary

Delay 11.2
HCM Level of Service B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 20.8% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

237 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
5: Haworth Avenue & East Driveway Existing AM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 5

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop
Volume (vph) 306 7 6 181 8 13
Peak Hour Factor 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70
Hourly flow rate (vph) 437 10 9 259 11 19

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 NB 1

Volume Total (vph) 447 267 30
Volume Left (vph) 0 9 11
Volume Right (vph) 10 0 19
Hadj (s) 0.02 0.04 -0.26
Departure Headway (s) 4.3 4.5 5.2
Degree Utilization, x 0.53 0.33 0.04
Capacity (veh/h) 829 782 608
Control Delay (s) 12.0 9.7 8.4
Approach Delay (s) 12.0 9.7 8.4
Approach LOS B A A

Intersection Summary

Delay 11.0
HCM Level of Service B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 26.5% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

238 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
6: Haworth Avenue & Sitka Avenue Existing AM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop
Volume (vph) 145 162 18 15 114 4 10 11 18 10 18 62
Peak Hour Factor 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63
Hourly flow rate (vph) 230 257 29 24 181 6 16 17 29 16 29 98

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 NB 1 SB 1

Volume Total (vph) 516 211 62 143
Volume Left (vph) 230 24 16 16
Volume Right (vph) 29 6 29 98
Hadj (s) 0.11 0.06 -0.17 -0.34
Departure Headway (s) 4.9 5.3 5.9 5.5
Degree Utilization, x 0.70 0.31 0.10 0.22
Capacity (veh/h) 713 644 531 574
Control Delay (s) 18.7 10.6 9.5 10.0
Approach Delay (s) 18.7 10.6 9.5 10.0
Approach LOS C B A B

Intersection Summary

Delay 14.9
HCM Level of Service B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 39.5% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

239 of 460 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
1: Hwy 99 & Villa Road Background AM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.91 0.97 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.99
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.98 1.00 0.99 1.00 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1703 3403 1702 4770 3294 1779 1699 1792 1512
Flt Permitted 0.19 1.00 0.15 1.00 0.54 1.00 0.68 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 333 3403 269 4770 1868 1779 1221 1792 1512

Volume (vph) 125 1252 5 8 912 152 384 103 5 120 54 67
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94
Adj. Flow (vph) 133 1332 5 9 970 162 409 110 5 128 57 71
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 15 0 0 2 0 0 0 58
Lane Group Flow (vph) 133 1337 0 9 1117 0 409 113 0 128 57 13
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 1 6 9 4 6 9 4 1
Heavy Vehicles (%) 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6%

Turn Type pm+pt pm+pt pm+pt pm+pt pm+ov
Protected Phases 5 2 1 6 3 8 7 4 5
Permitted Phases 2 6 8 4 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 75.6 70.3 64.1 63.3 30.4 16.7 20.6 11.4 19.2
Effective Green, g (s) 76.6 71.3 65.6 64.3 30.4 16.7 21.6 11.9 20.2
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.67 0.62 0.57 0.56 0.26 0.15 0.19 0.10 0.18
Clearance Time (s) 4.5 5.0 4.5 5.0 4.5 4.0 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0

Lane Grp Cap (vph) 321 2110 170 2667 674 258 270 185 318
v/s Ratio Prot c0.03 c0.39 0.00 0.23 c0.08 0.06 0.04 0.03 0.00
v/s Ratio Perm 0.25 0.03 c0.08 0.05 0.01
v/c Ratio 0.41 0.63 0.05 0.42 0.61 0.44 0.47 0.31 0.04
Uniform Delay, d1 8.4 13.7 12.0 14.6 35.6 44.9 41.0 47.7 39.4
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.9 1.5 0.1 0.1 1.6 1.2 1.3 1.0 0.1
Delay (s) 9.3 15.1 12.1 14.7 37.2 46.1 42.3 48.7 39.4
Level of Service A B B B D D D D D
Approach Delay (s) 14.6 14.7 39.1 42.9
Approach LOS B B D D

Intersection Summary

HCM Average Control Delay 20.6 HCM Level of Service C
HCM Volume to Capacity ratio 0.63
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 115.0 Sum of lost time (s) 12.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 68.5% ICU Level of Service C
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

240 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
2: Fulton Street & Villa Road Background AM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free
Grade 0% 0% 0% 0%
Volume (veh/h) 112 2 80 1 1 4 93 110 7 0 173 83
Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Hourly flow rate (vph) 105 2 75 1 1 4 87 103 7 0 162 78
Pedestrians 8 1 7 8
Lane Width (ft) 12.0 12.0 12.0 12.0
Walking Speed (ft/s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Percent Blockage 1 0 1 1
Right turn flare (veh)
Median type None None
Median storage veh)
Upstream signal (ft)
pX, platoon unblocked
vC, conflicting volume 501 493 216 489 528 115 247 110
vC1, stage 1 conf vol
vC2, stage 2 conf vol
vCu, unblocked vol 501 493 216 489 528 115 247 110
tC, single (s) *6.5 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.1 4.1
tC, 2 stage (s)
tF (s) *2.5 *2.5 3.3 3.5 4.0 3.3 2.2 2.2
p0 queue free % 84 100 91 100 100 100 93 100
cM capacity (veh/h) 639 643 809 412 419 925 1298 1466

Direction, Lane # EB 1 EB 2 WB 1 NB 1 SB 1

Volume Total 107 75 6 196 239
Volume Left 105 0 1 87 0
Volume Right 0 75 4 7 78
cSH 639 809 657 1298 1466
Volume to Capacity 0.17 0.09 0.01 0.07 0.00
Queue Length 95th (ft) 15 8 1 5 0
Control Delay (s) 11.8 9.9 10.5 3.8 0.0
Lane LOS B A B A
Approach Delay (s) 11.0 10.5 3.8 0.0
Approach LOS B B

Intersection Summary

Average Delay 4.5
Intersection Capacity Utilization 44.8% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

*    User Entered Value

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

241 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
3: Haworth Avenue & Villa Road Background AM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free
Grade 0% 0% 0% 0%
Volume (veh/h) 1 0 8 105 0 89 12 63 156 176 139 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81
Hourly flow rate (vph) 1 0 10 130 0 110 15 78 193 217 172 1
Pedestrians 12 12 12 6
Lane Width (ft) 12.0 12.0 12.0 12.0
Walking Speed (ft/s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Percent Blockage 1 1 1 1
Right turn flare (veh)
Median type None None
Median storage veh)
Upstream signal (ft)
pX, platoon unblocked
vC, conflicting volume 938 931 196 844 835 192 185 282
vC1, stage 1 conf vol
vC2, stage 2 conf vol
vCu, unblocked vol 938 931 196 844 835 192 185 282
tC, single (s) 7.1 6.5 6.2 *6.5 6.5 6.2 4.1 4.1
tC, 2 stage (s)
tF (s) 3.5 4.0 3.3 *2.5 4.0 3.3 2.2 2.2
p0 queue free % 99 100 99 62 100 87 99 83
cM capacity (veh/h) 177 213 826 340 243 834 1370 1262

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 WB 2 NB 1 SB 1

Volume Total 11 130 110 285 390
Volume Left 1 130 0 15 217
Volume Right 10 0 110 193 1
cSH 586 340 834 1370 1262
Volume to Capacity 0.02 0.38 0.13 0.01 0.17
Queue Length 95th (ft) 1 43 11 1 16
Control Delay (s) 11.3 21.9 10.0 0.5 5.4
Lane LOS B C A A A
Approach Delay (s) 11.3 16.4 0.5 5.4
Approach LOS B C

Intersection Summary

Average Delay 6.8
Intersection Capacity Utilization 54.1% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

*    User Entered Value

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

242 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
4: Haworth Avenue & West Driveway Background AM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 4

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop
Volume (vph) 333 10 2 197 0 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70
Hourly flow rate (vph) 476 14 3 281 0 0

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 NB 1

Volume Total (vph) 490 284 0
Volume Left (vph) 0 3 0
Volume Right (vph) 14 0 0
Hadj (s) 0.02 0.04 0.00
Departure Headway (s) 4.2 4.4 5.5
Degree Utilization, x 0.57 0.35 0.00
Capacity (veh/h) 848 797 574
Control Delay (s) 12.7 9.7 8.5
Approach Delay (s) 12.7 9.7 0.0
Approach LOS B A A

Intersection Summary

Delay 11.6
HCM Level of Service B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 21.5% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

243 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
5: Haworth Avenue & East Driveway Background AM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 5

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop
Volume (vph) 318 7 6 188 8 14
Peak Hour Factor 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70
Hourly flow rate (vph) 454 10 9 269 11 20

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 NB 1

Volume Total (vph) 464 277 31
Volume Left (vph) 0 9 11
Volume Right (vph) 10 0 20
Hadj (s) 0.02 0.04 -0.28
Departure Headway (s) 4.3 4.5 5.2
Degree Utilization, x 0.55 0.35 0.05
Capacity (veh/h) 826 777 592
Control Delay (s) 12.5 9.9 8.5
Approach Delay (s) 12.5 9.9 8.5
Approach LOS B A A

Intersection Summary

Delay 11.4
HCM Level of Service B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 27.2% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

244 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
6: Haworth Avenue & Sitka Avenue Background AM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop
Volume (vph) 151 169 19 16 119 4 10 11 19 10 19 65
Peak Hour Factor 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63
Hourly flow rate (vph) 240 268 30 25 189 6 16 17 30 16 30 103

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 NB 1 SB 1

Volume Total (vph) 538 221 63 149
Volume Left (vph) 240 25 16 16
Volume Right (vph) 30 6 30 103
Hadj (s) 0.11 0.06 -0.18 -0.34
Departure Headway (s) 5.0 5.3 6.0 5.6
Degree Utilization, x 0.74 0.33 0.11 0.23
Capacity (veh/h) 538 631 529 574
Control Delay (s) 20.8 10.9 9.7 10.3
Approach Delay (s) 20.8 10.9 9.7 10.3
Approach LOS C B A B

Intersection Summary

Delay 16.2
HCM Level of Service C
Intersection Capacity Utilization 45.6% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

245 of 460 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
1: Hwy 99 & Villa Road Background + Site Trips AM

12/18/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.91 0.97 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.99
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.98 1.00 0.99 1.00 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1703 3403 1702 4769 3294 1779 1699 1792 1512
Flt Permitted 0.19 1.00 0.15 1.00 0.54 1.00 0.68 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 332 3403 270 4769 1868 1779 1221 1792 1512

Volume (vph) 135 1252 5 8 912 154 384 103 5 122 54 79
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94
Adj. Flow (vph) 144 1332 5 9 970 164 409 110 5 130 57 84
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 15 0 0 2 0 0 0 58
Lane Group Flow (vph) 144 1337 0 9 1119 0 409 113 0 130 57 26
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 1 6 9 4 6 9 4 1
Heavy Vehicles (%) 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6%

Turn Type pm+pt pm+pt pm+pt pm+pt pm+ov
Protected Phases 5 2 1 6 3 8 7 4 5
Permitted Phases 2 6 8 4 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 75.6 70.3 63.9 63.1 30.4 16.7 20.6 11.4 19.4
Effective Green, g (s) 76.6 71.3 65.4 64.1 30.4 16.7 21.6 11.9 20.4
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.67 0.62 0.57 0.56 0.26 0.15 0.19 0.10 0.18
Clearance Time (s) 4.5 5.0 4.5 5.0 4.5 4.0 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0

Lane Grp Cap (vph) 322 2110 170 2658 674 258 270 185 321
v/s Ratio Prot c0.03 c0.39 0.00 0.23 c0.08 0.06 0.04 0.03 0.01
v/s Ratio Perm 0.26 0.03 c0.08 0.05 0.01
v/c Ratio 0.45 0.63 0.05 0.42 0.61 0.44 0.48 0.31 0.08
Uniform Delay, d1 8.5 13.7 12.0 14.7 35.6 44.9 41.1 47.7 39.5
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 1.0 1.5 0.1 0.1 1.6 1.2 1.4 1.0 0.1
Delay (s) 9.5 15.1 12.1 14.8 37.2 46.1 42.4 48.7 39.6
Level of Service A B B B D D D D D
Approach Delay (s) 14.6 14.8 39.1 42.9
Approach LOS B B D D

Intersection Summary

HCM Average Control Delay 20.7 HCM Level of Service C
HCM Volume to Capacity ratio 0.63
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 115.0 Sum of lost time (s) 12.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 68.5% ICU Level of Service C
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

246 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
2: Fulton Street & Villa Road Background + Site Trips AM

12/18/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free
Grade 0% 0% 0% 0%
Volume (veh/h) 127 2 80 1 1 4 93 122 7 0 187 101
Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Hourly flow rate (vph) 119 2 75 1 1 4 87 114 7 0 175 94
Pedestrians 8 1 7 8
Lane Width (ft) 12.0 12.0 12.0 12.0
Walking Speed (ft/s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Percent Blockage 1 0 1 1
Right turn flare (veh)
Median type None None
Median storage veh)
Upstream signal (ft)
pX, platoon unblocked
vC, conflicting volume 533 525 237 522 569 126 277 122
vC1, stage 1 conf vol
vC2, stage 2 conf vol
vCu, unblocked vol 533 525 237 522 569 126 277 122
tC, single (s) *6.5 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.1 4.1
tC, 2 stage (s)
tF (s) *2.5 *2.5 3.3 3.5 4.0 3.3 2.2 2.2
p0 queue free % 80 100 90 100 100 100 93 100
cM capacity (veh/h) 608 612 787 390 396 912 1266 1452

Direction, Lane # EB 1 EB 2 WB 1 NB 1 SB 1

Volume Total 121 75 6 208 269
Volume Left 119 0 1 87 0
Volume Right 0 75 4 7 94
cSH 608 787 634 1266 1452
Volume to Capacity 0.20 0.10 0.01 0.07 0.00
Queue Length 95th (ft) 18 8 1 6 0
Control Delay (s) 12.4 10.1 10.7 3.7 0.0
Lane LOS B B B A
Approach Delay (s) 11.5 10.7 3.7 0.0
Approach LOS B B

Intersection Summary

Average Delay 4.5
Intersection Capacity Utilization 47.3% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

*    User Entered Value

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

247 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
3: Haworth Avenue & Villa Road Background + Site Trips AM

12/18/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free
Grade 0% 0% 0% 0%
Volume (veh/h) 1 0 8 137 0 99 12 63 183 184 139 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81
Hourly flow rate (vph) 1 0 10 169 0 122 15 78 226 227 172 1
Pedestrians 12 12 12 6
Lane Width (ft) 12.0 12.0 12.0 12.0
Walking Speed (ft/s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Percent Blockage 1 1 1 1
Right turn flare (veh)
Median type None None
Median storage veh)
Upstream signal (ft)
pX, platoon unblocked
vC, conflicting volume 987 984 196 881 872 209 185 316
vC1, stage 1 conf vol
vC2, stage 2 conf vol
vCu, unblocked vol 987 984 196 881 872 209 185 316
tC, single (s) 7.1 6.5 6.2 *6.5 6.5 6.2 4.1 4.1
tC, 2 stage (s)
tF (s) 3.5 4.0 3.3 *2.5 4.0 3.3 2.2 2.2
p0 queue free % 99 100 99 47 100 85 99 81
cM capacity (veh/h) 158 195 826 319 228 817 1370 1226

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 WB 2 NB 1 SB 1

Volume Total 11 169 122 319 400
Volume Left 1 169 0 15 227
Volume Right 10 0 122 226 1
cSH 562 319 817 1370 1226
Volume to Capacity 0.02 0.53 0.15 0.01 0.19
Queue Length 95th (ft) 2 73 13 1 17
Control Delay (s) 11.5 28.4 10.2 0.5 5.7
Lane LOS B D B A A
Approach Delay (s) 11.5 20.8 0.5 5.7
Approach LOS B C

Intersection Summary

Average Delay 8.4
Intersection Capacity Utilization 57.9% ICU Level of Service B
Analysis Period (min) 15

*    User Entered Value

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

248 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
4: Haworth Avenue & West Driveway Background + Site Trips AM

12/18/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 4

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop
Volume (vph) 333 28 11 197 21 11
Peak Hour Factor 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70
Hourly flow rate (vph) 476 40 16 281 30 16

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 NB 1

Volume Total (vph) 516 297 46
Volume Left (vph) 0 16 30
Volume Right (vph) 40 0 16
Hadj (s) -0.01 0.04 -0.04
Departure Headway (s) 4.4 4.6 5.6
Degree Utilization, x 0.62 0.38 0.07
Capacity (veh/h) 817 756 551
Control Delay (s) 14.3 10.4 9.1
Approach Delay (s) 14.3 10.4 9.1
Approach LOS B B A

Intersection Summary

Delay 12.7
HCM Level of Service B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 29.4% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

249 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
5: Haworth Avenue & East Driveway Background + Site Trips AM

12/18/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 5

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop
Volume (vph) 318 24 10 188 29 25
Peak Hour Factor 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70
Hourly flow rate (vph) 454 34 14 269 41 36

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 NB 1

Volume Total (vph) 489 283 77
Volume Left (vph) 0 14 41
Volume Right (vph) 34 0 36
Hadj (s) -0.01 0.04 -0.14
Departure Headway (s) 4.4 4.7 5.5
Degree Utilization, x 0.60 0.37 0.12
Capacity (veh/h) 796 739 571
Control Delay (s) 13.9 10.4 9.2
Approach Delay (s) 13.9 10.4 9.2
Approach LOS B B A

Intersection Summary

Delay 12.3
HCM Level of Service B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 28.2% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

250 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
6: Haworth Avenue & Sitka Avenue Background + Site Trips AM

12/18/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop
Volume (vph) 151 188 22 16 135 4 12 11 19 10 19 65
Peak Hour Factor 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63
Hourly flow rate (vph) 240 298 35 25 214 6 19 17 30 16 30 103

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 NB 1 SB 1

Volume Total (vph) 573 246 67 149
Volume Left (vph) 240 25 19 16
Volume Right (vph) 35 6 30 103
Hadj (s) 0.10 0.06 -0.16 -0.34
Departure Headway (s) 5.0 5.4 6.2 5.8
Degree Utilization, x 0.80 0.37 0.11 0.24
Capacity (veh/h) 699 624 519 560
Control Delay (s) 25.1 11.6 10.0 10.6
Approach Delay (s) 25.1 11.6 10.0 10.6
Approach LOS D B A B

Intersection Summary

Delay 18.8
HCM Level of Service C
Intersection Capacity Utilization 47.4% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

251 of 460 



 

 

 

 

 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 

APPENDIX G: PM CAPACITY ANALYSIS 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

252 of 460 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
1: Hwy 99 & Villa Road Existing PM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.91 0.97 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.99 1.00 1.00 0.98
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.99 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.98 1.00 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1769 3536 1768 4998 3410 1813 1744 1863 1552
Flt Permitted 0.09 1.00 0.17 1.00 0.48 1.00 0.67 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 164 3536 325 4998 1732 1813 1236 1863 1552

Volume (vph) 68 1139 5 27 1461 126 636 110 19 201 86 101
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98
Adj. Flow (vph) 69 1162 5 28 1491 129 649 112 19 205 88 103
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 7 0 0 7 0 0 0 13
Lane Group Flow (vph) 69 1167 0 28 1613 0 649 124 0 205 88 90
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 18 16 24 26 16 24 26 18

Turn Type pm+pt pm+pt pm+pt pm+pt pm+ov
Protected Phases 5 2 1 6 3 8 7 4 5
Permitted Phases 2 6 8 4 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 72.2 65.3 65.0 61.7 32.9 17.8 23.0 12.4 19.3
Effective Green, g (s) 73.7 66.3 66.5 62.7 32.9 17.8 24.0 12.9 20.3
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.64 0.58 0.58 0.55 0.29 0.15 0.21 0.11 0.18
Clearance Time (s) 4.5 5.0 4.5 5.0 4.5 4.0 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0

Lane Grp Cap (vph) 208 2039 236 2725 729 281 307 209 328
v/s Ratio Prot c0.02 c0.33 0.00 0.32 c0.12 0.07 0.06 0.05 c0.02
v/s Ratio Perm 0.19 0.06 c0.13 0.07 0.04
v/c Ratio 0.33 0.57 0.12 0.59 0.89 0.44 0.67 0.42 0.27
Uniform Delay, d1 11.5 15.4 11.8 17.6 37.3 44.1 40.8 47.6 41.0
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 0.9 1.2 0.2 0.3 13.1 1.1 5.4 1.4 0.5
Delay (s) 12.4 16.6 12.1 17.9 50.4 45.2 46.2 48.9 41.4
Level of Service B B B B D D D D D
Approach Delay (s) 16.3 17.8 49.5 45.6
Approach LOS B B D D

Intersection Summary

HCM Average Control Delay 26.2 HCM Level of Service C
HCM Volume to Capacity ratio 0.64
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 115.0 Sum of lost time (s) 8.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 80.6% ICU Level of Service D
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

253 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
2: Fulton Street & Villa Road Existing PM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free
Grade 0% 0% 0% 0%
Volume (veh/h) 118 0 76 7 0 4 88 212 5 1 179 132
Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Hourly flow rate (vph) 128 0 83 8 0 4 96 230 5 1 195 143
Pedestrians 10 2 10 10
Lane Width (ft) 12.0 12.0 12.0 12.0
Walking Speed (ft/s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Percent Blockage 1 0 1 1
Right turn flare (veh)
Median type None None
Median storage veh)
Upstream signal (ft)
pX, platoon unblocked
vC, conflicting volume 717 708 286 705 777 245 348 238
vC1, stage 1 conf vol
vC2, stage 2 conf vol
vCu, unblocked vol 717 708 286 705 777 245 348 238
tC, single (s) 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.1 4.1
tC, 2 stage (s)
tF (s) 3.5 4.0 3.3 3.5 4.0 3.3 2.2 2.2
p0 queue free % 59 100 89 97 100 99 92 100
cM capacity (veh/h) 315 329 743 289 300 788 1206 1333

Direction, Lane # EB 1 EB 2 WB 1 NB 1 SB 1

Volume Total 128 83 12 332 339
Volume Left 128 0 8 96 1
Volume Right 0 83 4 5 143
cSH 315 743 375 1206 1333
Volume to Capacity 0.41 0.11 0.03 0.08 0.00
Queue Length 95th (ft) 48 9 2 6 0
Control Delay (s) 24.0 10.5 14.9 2.9 0.0
Lane LOS C B B A A
Approach Delay (s) 18.7 14.9 2.9 0.0
Approach LOS C B

Intersection Summary

Average Delay 5.7
Intersection Capacity Utilization 54.7% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

254 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
3: Haworth Avenue & Villa Road Existing PM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free
Grade 0% 0% 0% 0%
Volume (veh/h) 1 2 5 180 0 165 5 161 161 98 133 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84
Hourly flow rate (vph) 1 2 6 214 0 196 6 192 192 117 158 0
Pedestrians 11 11 4
Lane Width (ft) 12.0 12.0 12.0
Walking Speed (ft/s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Percent Blockage 1 1 0
Right turn flare (veh)
Median type None None
Median storage veh)
Upstream signal (ft)
pX, platoon unblocked
vC, conflicting volume 892 798 169 720 702 302 158 394
vC1, stage 1 conf vol
vC2, stage 2 conf vol
vCu, unblocked vol 892 798 169 720 702 302 158 394
tC, single (s) 7.1 6.5 6.2 *6.5 6.5 6.2 4.1 4.1
tC, 2 stage (s)
tF (s) 3.5 4.0 3.3 *2.5 4.0 3.3 2.2 2.2
p0 queue free % 99 99 99 51 100 73 100 90
cM capacity (veh/h) 177 285 872 442 324 733 1434 1164

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 WB 2 NB 1 SB 1

Volume Total 10 214 196 389 275
Volume Left 1 214 0 6 117
Volume Right 6 0 196 192 0
cSH 435 442 733 1434 1164
Volume to Capacity 0.02 0.49 0.27 0.00 0.10
Queue Length 95th (ft) 2 65 27 0 8
Control Delay (s) 13.5 20.6 11.7 0.2 4.1
Lane LOS B C B A A
Approach Delay (s) 13.5 16.3 0.2 4.1
Approach LOS B C

Intersection Summary

Average Delay 7.4
Intersection Capacity Utilization 58.2% ICU Level of Service B
Analysis Period (min) 15

*    User Entered Value

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

255 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
4: Haworth Avenue & West Driveway Existing PM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 4

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop
Volume (vph) 245 20 10 343 0 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.78 0.78 0.78 0.78 0.78 0.78
Hourly flow rate (vph) 314 26 13 440 0 0

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 NB 1

Volume Total (vph) 340 453 0
Volume Left (vph) 0 13 0
Volume Right (vph) 26 0 0
Hadj (s) -0.03 0.02 0.00
Departure Headway (s) 4.3 4.3 5.6
Degree Utilization, x 0.41 0.54 0.00
Capacity (veh/h) 821 831 569
Control Delay (s) 10.2 12.0 8.6
Approach Delay (s) 10.2 12.0 0.0
Approach LOS B B A

Intersection Summary

Delay 11.3
HCM Level of Service B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 29.4% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

256 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
5: Haworth Avenue & East Driveway Existing PM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 5

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop
Volume (vph) 224 18 9 316 26 21
Peak Hour Factor 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80
Hourly flow rate (vph) 280 22 11 395 32 26

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 NB 1

Volume Total (vph) 303 406 59
Volume Left (vph) 0 11 33
Volume Right (vph) 23 0 26
Hadj (s) -0.03 0.02 -0.14
Departure Headway (s) 4.5 4.4 5.3
Degree Utilization, x 0.38 0.50 0.09
Capacity (veh/h) 785 796 589
Control Delay (s) 10.1 11.7 8.8
Approach Delay (s) 10.1 11.7 8.8
Approach LOS B B A

Intersection Summary

Delay 10.9
HCM Level of Service B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 33.9% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

257 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
6: Haworth Avenue & Sitka Avenue Existing PM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop
Volume (vph) 23 213 11 18 280 7 11 4 22 4 5 34
Peak Hour Factor 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79
Hourly flow rate (vph) 29 270 14 23 354 9 14 5 28 5 6 43

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 NB 1 SB 1

Volume Total (vph) 313 386 47 54
Volume Left (vph) 29 23 14 5
Volume Right (vph) 14 9 28 43
Hadj (s) 0.01 0.02 -0.28 -0.44
Departure Headway (s) 4.6 4.5 5.3 5.1
Degree Utilization, x 0.40 0.49 0.07 0.08
Capacity (veh/h) 755 767 579 604
Control Delay (s) 10.7 11.8 8.7 8.6
Approach Delay (s) 10.7 11.8 8.7 8.6
Approach LOS B B A A

Intersection Summary

Delay 11.0
HCM Level of Service B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 33.2% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

258 of 460 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
1: Hwy 99 & Villa Road Background PM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.91 0.97 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.99 1.00 1.00 0.98
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.99 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.98 1.00 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1769 3536 1768 4996 3411 1812 1744 1863 1552
Flt Permitted 0.08 1.00 0.17 1.00 0.48 1.00 0.67 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 157 3536 318 4996 1706 1812 1230 1863 1552

Volume (vph) 71 1151 5 28 1477 131 662 114 20 209 89 105
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98
Adj. Flow (vph) 72 1174 5 29 1507 134 676 116 20 213 91 107
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 7 0 0 7 0 0 0 11
Lane Group Flow (vph) 72 1179 0 29 1634 0 676 129 0 213 91 96
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 18 16 24 26 16 24 26 18

Turn Type pm+pt pm+pt pm+pt pm+pt pm+ov
Protected Phases 5 2 1 6 3 8 7 4 5
Permitted Phases 2 6 8 4 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 72.2 65.1 64.6 61.3 33.1 17.9 23.2 12.5 19.6
Effective Green, g (s) 73.7 66.1 66.1 62.3 33.1 17.9 24.2 13.0 20.6
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.64 0.57 0.57 0.54 0.29 0.16 0.21 0.11 0.18
Clearance Time (s) 4.5 5.0 4.5 5.0 4.5 4.0 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0

Lane Grp Cap (vph) 207 2032 231 2707 730 282 309 211 332
v/s Ratio Prot c0.02 0.33 0.00 c0.33 c0.13 0.07 0.07 0.05 c0.02
v/s Ratio Perm 0.20 0.07 c0.14 0.08 0.04
v/c Ratio 0.35 0.58 0.13 0.60 0.93 0.46 0.69 0.43 0.29
Uniform Delay, d1 11.9 15.6 12.1 17.9 37.8 44.1 40.9 47.6 40.9
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 1.0 1.2 0.2 0.4 17.6 1.2 6.3 1.4 0.5
Delay (s) 12.9 16.8 12.3 18.3 55.4 45.3 47.1 49.0 41.3
Level of Service B B B B E D D D D
Approach Delay (s) 16.6 18.2 53.7 46.0
Approach LOS B B D D

Intersection Summary

HCM Average Control Delay 27.4 HCM Level of Service C
HCM Volume to Capacity ratio 0.69
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 115.0 Sum of lost time (s) 12.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 82.0% ICU Level of Service E
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

259 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
2: Fulton Street & Villa Road Background PM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free
Grade 0% 0% 0% 0%
Volume (veh/h) 123 0 79 7 0 4 92 224 5 1 186 137
Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Hourly flow rate (vph) 134 0 86 8 0 4 100 243 5 1 202 149
Pedestrians 10 2 10 10
Lane Width (ft) 12.0 12.0 12.0 12.0
Walking Speed (ft/s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Percent Blockage 1 0 1 1
Right turn flare (veh)
Median type None None
Median storage veh)
Upstream signal (ft)
pX, platoon unblocked
vC, conflicting volume 749 740 297 737 811 258 361 251
vC1, stage 1 conf vol
vC2, stage 2 conf vol
vCu, unblocked vol 749 740 297 737 811 258 361 251
tC, single (s) 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.1 4.1
tC, 2 stage (s)
tF (s) 3.5 4.0 3.3 3.5 4.0 3.3 2.2 2.2
p0 queue free % 55 100 88 97 100 99 92 100
cM capacity (veh/h) 299 314 733 272 285 775 1193 1318

Direction, Lane # EB 1 EB 2 WB 1 NB 1 SB 1

Volume Total 134 86 12 349 352
Volume Left 134 0 8 100 1
Volume Right 0 86 4 5 149
cSH 299 733 356 1193 1318
Volume to Capacity 0.45 0.12 0.03 0.08 0.00
Queue Length 95th (ft) 55 10 3 7 0
Control Delay (s) 26.5 10.6 15.5 3.0 0.0
Lane LOS D B C A A
Approach Delay (s) 20.2 15.5 3.0 0.0
Approach LOS C C

Intersection Summary

Average Delay 6.1
Intersection Capacity Utilization 56.6% ICU Level of Service B
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

260 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
3: Haworth Avenue & Villa Road Background PM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free
Grade 0% 0% 0% 0%
Volume (veh/h) 1 2 5 187 0 172 5 168 168 102 138 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84
Hourly flow rate (vph) 1 2 6 223 0 205 6 200 200 121 164 0
Pedestrians 11 11 4
Lane Width (ft) 12.0 12.0 12.0
Walking Speed (ft/s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Percent Blockage 1 1 0
Right turn flare (veh)
Median type None None
Median storage veh)
Upstream signal (ft)
pX, platoon unblocked
vC, conflicting volume 928 830 175 748 730 315 164 411
vC1, stage 1 conf vol
vC2, stage 2 conf vol
vCu, unblocked vol 928 830 175 748 730 315 164 411
tC, single (s) 7.1 6.5 6.2 *6.5 6.5 6.2 4.1 4.1
tC, 2 stage (s)
tF (s) 3.5 4.0 3.3 *2.5 4.0 3.3 2.2 2.2
p0 queue free % 99 99 99 47 100 72 100 89
cM capacity (veh/h) 163 272 865 421 310 721 1426 1148

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 WB 2 NB 1 SB 1

Volume Total 10 223 205 406 286
Volume Left 1 223 0 6 121
Volume Right 6 0 205 200 0
cSH 415 421 721 1426 1148
Volume to Capacity 0.02 0.53 0.28 0.00 0.11
Queue Length 95th (ft) 2 75 29 0 9
Control Delay (s) 13.9 22.7 12.0 0.2 4.2
Lane LOS B C B A A
Approach Delay (s) 13.9 17.6 0.2 4.2
Approach LOS B C

Intersection Summary

Average Delay 7.9
Intersection Capacity Utilization 59.9% ICU Level of Service B
Analysis Period (min) 15

*    User Entered Value

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

261 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
4: Haworth Avenue & West Driveway Background PM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 4

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop
Volume (vph) 255 21 10 357 0 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.78 0.78 0.78 0.78 0.78 0.78
Hourly flow rate (vph) 327 27 13 458 0 0

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 NB 1

Volume Total (vph) 354 471 0
Volume Left (vph) 0 13 0
Volume Right (vph) 27 0 0
Hadj (s) -0.03 0.02 0.00
Departure Headway (s) 4.3 4.3 5.6
Degree Utilization, x 0.43 0.56 0.00
Capacity (veh/h) 818 829 561
Control Delay (s) 10.5 12.5 8.6
Approach Delay (s) 10.5 12.5 0.0
Approach LOS B B A

Intersection Summary

Delay 11.7
HCM Level of Service B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 30.2% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

262 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
5: Haworth Avenue & East Driveway Background PM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 5

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop
Volume (vph) 233 19 9 329 27 22
Peak Hour Factor 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80
Hourly flow rate (vph) 291 24 11 411 34 28

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 NB 1

Volume Total (vph) 315 423 61
Volume Left (vph) 0 11 34
Volume Right (vph) 24 0 28
Hadj (s) -0.03 0.02 -0.14
Departure Headway (s) 4.5 4.4 5.4
Degree Utilization, x 0.39 0.52 0.09
Capacity (veh/h) 780 792 581
Control Delay (s) 10.4 12.2 8.9
Approach Delay (s) 10.4 12.2 8.9
Approach LOS B B A

Intersection Summary

Delay 11.2
HCM Level of Service B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 34.6% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

263 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
6: Haworth Avenue & Sitka Avenue Background PM

12/14/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop
Volume (vph) 24 222 11 19 297 7 11 4 23 4 5 35
Peak Hour Factor 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79
Hourly flow rate (vph) 30 281 14 24 376 9 14 5 29 5 6 44

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 NB 1 SB 1

Volume Total (vph) 325 409 48 56
Volume Left (vph) 30 24 14 5
Volume Right (vph) 14 9 29 44
Hadj (s) 0.01 0.02 -0.29 -0.44
Departure Headway (s) 4.7 4.6 5.4 5.2
Degree Utilization, x 0.42 0.52 0.07 0.08
Capacity (veh/h) 748 763 568 590
Control Delay (s) 11.0 12.4 8.8 8.7
Approach Delay (s) 11.0 12.4 8.8 8.7
Approach LOS B B A A

Intersection Summary

Delay 11.4
HCM Level of Service B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 34.4% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

264 of 460 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
1: Hwy 99 & Villa Road Background + Site Trips PM

12/18/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.91 0.97 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.99 1.00 1.00 0.98
Flpb, ped/bikes 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.99 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.98 1.00 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1769 3536 1768 4995 3411 1812 1744 1863 1552
Flt Permitted 0.08 1.00 0.17 1.00 0.48 1.00 0.67 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 154 3536 319 4995 1706 1812 1230 1863 1552

Volume (vph) 86 1151 5 28 1477 133 662 114 20 211 89 116
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98
Adj. Flow (vph) 88 1174 5 29 1507 136 676 116 20 215 91 118
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 7 0 0 7 0 0 0 11
Lane Group Flow (vph) 88 1179 0 29 1636 0 676 129 0 215 91 107
Confl. Peds. (#/hr) 18 16 24 26 16 24 26 18

Turn Type pm+pt pm+pt pm+pt pm+pt pm+ov
Protected Phases 5 2 1 6 3 8 7 4 5
Permitted Phases 2 6 8 4 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 72.4 65.0 64.2 60.9 33.2 18.0 23.2 12.5 19.9
Effective Green, g (s) 73.8 66.0 65.7 61.9 33.2 18.0 24.2 13.0 20.9
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.64 0.57 0.57 0.54 0.29 0.16 0.21 0.11 0.18
Clearance Time (s) 4.5 5.0 4.5 5.0 4.5 4.0 4.5 4.5 4.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0

Lane Grp Cap (vph) 210 2029 230 2689 733 284 309 211 336
v/s Ratio Prot c0.03 0.33 0.00 c0.33 c0.13 0.07 0.07 0.05 c0.02
v/s Ratio Perm 0.24 0.07 c0.14 0.08 0.05
v/c Ratio 0.42 0.58 0.13 0.61 0.92 0.46 0.70 0.43 0.32
Uniform Delay, d1 12.4 15.7 12.2 18.2 37.7 44.0 40.9 47.6 40.9
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 1.4 1.2 0.2 0.4 17.1 1.2 6.7 1.4 0.5
Delay (s) 13.8 16.9 12.4 18.6 54.7 45.2 47.6 49.0 41.4
Level of Service B B B B D D D D D
Approach Delay (s) 16.7 18.5 53.1 46.2
Approach LOS B B D D

Intersection Summary

HCM Average Control Delay 27.5 HCM Level of Service C
HCM Volume to Capacity ratio 0.67
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 115.0 Sum of lost time (s) 8.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 82.9% ICU Level of Service E
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

265 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
2: Fulton Street & Villa Road Background + Site Trips PM

12/18/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free
Grade 0% 0% 0% 0%
Volume (veh/h) 145 0 79 7 0 4 92 238 5 1 199 154
Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Hourly flow rate (vph) 158 0 86 8 0 4 100 259 5 1 216 167
Pedestrians 10 2 10 10
Lane Width (ft) 12.0 12.0 12.0 12.0
Walking Speed (ft/s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Percent Blockage 1 0 1 1
Right turn flare (veh)
Median type None None
Median storage veh)
Upstream signal (ft)
pX, platoon unblocked
vC, conflicting volume 788 778 320 776 859 273 394 266
vC1, stage 1 conf vol
vC2, stage 2 conf vol
vCu, unblocked vol 788 778 320 776 859 273 394 266
tC, single (s) 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.1 4.1
tC, 2 stage (s)
tF (s) 3.5 4.0 3.3 3.5 4.0 3.3 2.2 2.2
p0 queue free % 44 100 88 97 100 99 91 100
cM capacity (veh/h) 281 297 711 255 267 760 1161 1301

Direction, Lane # EB 1 EB 2 WB 1 NB 1 SB 1

Volume Total 158 86 12 364 385
Volume Left 158 0 8 100 1
Volume Right 0 86 4 5 167
cSH 281 711 336 1161 1301
Volume to Capacity 0.56 0.12 0.04 0.09 0.00
Queue Length 95th (ft) 79 10 3 7 0
Control Delay (s) 33.0 10.8 16.1 2.9 0.0
Lane LOS D B C A A
Approach Delay (s) 25.2 16.1 2.9 0.0
Approach LOS D C

Intersection Summary

Average Delay 7.4
Intersection Capacity Utilization 60.3% ICU Level of Service B
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

266 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
3: Haworth Avenue & Villa Road Background + Site Trips PM

12/18/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free
Grade 0% 0% 0% 0%
Volume (veh/h) 1 2 5 218 0 181 5 168 208 114 138 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84
Hourly flow rate (vph) 1 2 6 260 0 215 6 200 248 136 164 0
Pedestrians 11 11 4
Lane Width (ft) 12.0 12.0 12.0
Walking Speed (ft/s) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Percent Blockage 1 1 0
Right turn flare (veh)
Median type None None
Median storage veh)
Upstream signal (ft)
pX, platoon unblocked
vC, conflicting volume 991 906 175 801 782 339 164 459
vC1, stage 1 conf vol
vC2, stage 2 conf vol
vCu, unblocked vol 991 906 175 801 782 339 164 459
tC, single (s) 7.1 6.5 6.2 *6.5 6.5 6.2 4.1 4.1
tC, 2 stage (s)
tF (s) 3.5 4.0 3.3 *2.5 4.0 3.3 2.2 2.2
p0 queue free % 99 99 99 32 100 69 100 88
cM capacity (veh/h) 140 241 865 384 284 699 1426 1103

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 WB 2 NB 1 SB 1

Volume Total 10 260 215 454 300
Volume Left 1 260 0 6 136
Volume Right 6 0 215 248 0
cSH 377 384 699 1426 1103
Volume to Capacity 0.03 0.68 0.31 0.00 0.12
Queue Length 95th (ft) 2 120 33 0 10
Control Delay (s) 14.8 31.9 12.4 0.1 4.6
Lane LOS B D B A A
Approach Delay (s) 14.8 23.0 0.1 4.6
Approach LOS B C

Intersection Summary

Average Delay 10.1
Intersection Capacity Utilization 64.8% ICU Level of Service C
Analysis Period (min) 15

*    User Entered Value

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

267 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
4: Haworth Avenue & West Driveway Background + Site Trips PM

12/18/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 4

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop
Volume (vph) 255 47 24 357 20 10
Peak Hour Factor 0.78 0.78 0.78 0.78 0.78 0.78
Hourly flow rate (vph) 327 60 31 458 26 13

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 NB 1

Volume Total (vph) 387 488 38
Volume Left (vph) 0 31 26
Volume Right (vph) 60 0 13
Hadj (s) -0.08 0.03 -0.05
Departure Headway (s) 4.5 4.5 5.7
Degree Utilization, x 0.48 0.60 0.06
Capacity (veh/h) 791 793 536
Control Delay (s) 11.5 14.0 9.1
Approach Delay (s) 11.5 14.0 9.1
Approach LOS B B A

Intersection Summary

Delay 12.7
HCM Level of Service B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 48.5% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

268 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
5: Haworth Avenue & East Driveway Background + Site Trips PM

12/18/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 5

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop
Volume (vph) 233 44 23 329 47 33
Peak Hour Factor 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80
Hourly flow rate (vph) 291 55 29 411 59 41

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 NB 1

Volume Total (vph) 346 440 100
Volume Left (vph) 0 29 59
Volume Right (vph) 55 0 41
Hadj (s) -0.08 0.03 -0.11
Departure Headway (s) 4.6 4.6 5.6
Degree Utilization, x 0.44 0.56 0.15
Capacity (veh/h) 746 758 566
Control Delay (s) 11.3 13.4 9.6
Approach Delay (s) 11.3 13.4 9.6
Approach LOS B B A

Intersection Summary

Delay 12.2
HCM Level of Service B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 47.5% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

269 of 460 



HCM Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 15153 - CAFC Expansion TIS
6: Haworth Avenue & Sitka Avenue Background + Site Trips PM

12/18/2015 Synchro 6 Light Report
Lancaster Engineering Page 6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop
Volume (vph) 24 239 14 19 314 7 11 4 23 4 5 35
Peak Hour Factor 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79
Hourly flow rate (vph) 30 303 18 24 397 9 14 5 29 5 6 44

Direction, Lane # EB 1 WB 1 NB 1 SB 1

Volume Total (vph) 351 430 48 56
Volume Left (vph) 30 24 14 5
Volume Right (vph) 18 9 29 44
Hadj (s) 0.00 0.02 -0.29 -0.44
Departure Headway (s) 4.7 4.6 5.5 5.3
Degree Utilization, x 0.46 0.55 0.07 0.08
Capacity (veh/h) 744 757 553 574
Control Delay (s) 11.6 13.1 8.9 8.8
Approach Delay (s) 11.6 13.1 8.9 8.8
Approach LOS B B A A

Intersection Summary

Delay 12.0
HCM Level of Service B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 35.5% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

270 of 460 



 

 

 

 

 

Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center – Traffic Impact Study 

APPENDIX H: PARKING GENERATION CALCULATIONS 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

271 of 460 



Land Use: Recreational Community Center

Land Use Code: 495

Location: Suburban

Variable: 1,000 sq. ft. GFA
Variable Value: 21.28

Peak Periods 6:00 PM to 8:00 PM

Number of Study Sites 7

Avg. Size of Study Sites 38,000 sq. ft. GFA

Avg. Peak Period Parking Demand 3.2 vehicles per ksf GFA

Standard Deviation 2.2

Coefficient of Variation 69%

Range 1.40 - 7.38 vehicles per ksf GFA

85th Percentile Rate: 5.03 vehicles per ksf GFA

33rd Percentile Rate: 1.82 vehicles per ksf GFA

Peak Parking Demand 68

85th Percentile Parking Demand 107

Source: PARKING GENERATION, Fourth Edition

PARKING GENERATION CALCULATIONS

Weekday

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

272 of 460 



Land Use: Recreational Community Center

Land Use Code: 495

Location: Suburban

Variable: 1,000 sq. ft. GFA
Variable Value: 61.67

Peak Periods 6:00 PM to 8:00 PM

Number of Study Sites 7

Avg. Size of Study Sites 38,000 sq. ft. GFA

Avg. Peak Period Parking Demand 3.2 vehicles per ksf GFA

Standard Deviation 2.2

Coefficient of Variation 69%

Range 1.40 - 7.38 vehicles per ksf GFA

85th Percentile Rate: 5.03 vehicles per ksf GFA

33rd Percentile Rate: 1.82 vehicles per ksf GFA

Peak Parking Demand 197

85th Percentile Parking Demand 310

Source: PARKING GENERATION, Fourth Edition

PARKING GENERATION CALCULATIONS

Weekday

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

273 of 460 



 

 
Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center 
Newberg, Oregon 

 
 
 

Preliminary Stormwater Drainage Report 
 
 
 
 

Prepared for: 
 

Scott | Edwards Architecture, LLP 
Portland, Oregon 

 
 
 

 
Prepared by: 

 
 
  
 
 

WHPacific 
9755 SW Barnes Road, Suite 300 
Portland, Oregon  97225 

 
Project Engineer:                                      

Sarah Jones, P.E.   
       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Original:  February 16, 2016 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

274 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic Center 
Stormwater Management Plan 
 
 

Page 2 
P:\Scott Edwards Architecture LLP\0009297W\Design\Reports\Draiange report\Drainage Report.docx 

	

Table of Contents       Page No. 
 
1.1      Introduction and Purpose ....................................................................... 3 
1.2 Project Location and Description ............................................................ 3 
1.3 Existing Conditions .................................................................................. 3 
1.4 Drainage Design/Analysis ........................................................................ 4 
1.5 Pipe Sizing & Storm Hydrograph Design ................................................ 4 
1.6 Water Quantity........................................................................................... 4 
1.7 Water Quality ............................................................................................. 5 
1.8 Conclusion ................................................................................................ 5 
Appendix 1 .......................................................................................................... 6 

Site Exhibits ..................................................................................................... 6 
Appendix 2 .......................................................................................................... 7 

Calculations and Hydrographs ....................................................................... 7 
Appendix 3 .......................................................................................................... 8 

Supporting Documents ................................................................................... 8 
 
  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

275 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic Center 
Stormwater Management Plan 
 

 

Page 3 
P:\Scott Edwards Architecture LLP\0009297W\Design\Reports\Draiange report\Drainage Report.docx 

1.1      Introduction and Purpose 

 
The purpose of this report is to provide documentation for the stormwater 
management associated with site improvements for the Chehalem Aquatic 
and Fitness Center in the City of Newberg, Yamhill County, Oregon. It will 
evaluate the proposed stormwater conveyance, water quality, and water 
quantity design. 

The calculations and storm water management methods contained in this 
report have been based on the City of Newberg’s Public Works Design and 
Construction Standards, dated May 2015.  Per City of Newberg staff, the 
design standards in this manual apply to private development as well as 
public. The analysis demonstrates that the proposed stormwater 
management methods and facilities are designed in conformance with City 
of Newberg standards. 

 

1.2 Project Location and Description 

 
The proposed building site is located at 1802 Haworth Avenue in Newberg, 
Oregon. The total site area is 5.08 acres and the total disturbed area is 
approximately 4.2 acres. 

 
The purpose of this project is to expand the existing building with new 
pedestrian hardscape, parking lot and associated stormwater facilities and 
landscape. 
 

1.3 Existing Conditions 

 
The existing site is 5.08 acres. The west side of the site is currently occupied 
by an existing aquatic facility with parking lot.  The east side is a park with 
trees.  There is an existing 10-inch public storm pipe in Haworth that 
currently serves the site. 
 
The soil is composed of: 

 2300A  Aloha Silt Loam, 0-3 percent slopes (Hydrologic soil group 
C/D) 

 
See Appendix 3 for Yamhill County Web Soil Survey regarding soil groups 
and site composition. 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

276 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic Center 
Stormwater Management Plan 
 

 

Page 4 
P:\Scott Edwards Architecture LLP\0009297W\Design\Reports\Draiange report\Drainage Report.docx 

 

1.4 Drainage Design/Analysis 

 
The proposed drainage analysis is based on the requirements contained in 
the City of Newberg’s Public Works Design and Construction Standards, 
dated May 2015. 
 
Per the geotechnical report, found in appendix 3, the infiltration rate has 
been measured at 0 to 0.63 in/hour.  Because of this low rate, infiltration 
facilities were not considered for stormwater management. 
 
Both quality and quantity of stormwater will be addressed through the use 
of raingardens spread throughout the site.  The facilities have been 
designed with 6” minimum ponding depth, 18” of growing medium and a 
rock section with perforated pipe below that.  In a water quality event, the 
runoff will filter through the growing medium and be conveyed off site 
through the perforated pipes in the rock section to the existing storm 
systems in Haworth and Sitka.  Each facility will have an overflow 
structure to collect excess runoff during larger events. 
 
Calculations will be provided in final report. 
 
See Exhibit EX01 in Appendix 1 for the existing conditions and EX02 for 
proposed conditions.   
 

1.5 Pipe Sizing & Storm Hydrograph Design 

 

The proposed storm pipe system is designed to have the capacity to 
convey the runoff from a 25-year return frequency storm event without 
ponding. The storm system was designed to convey all of the impervious 
area and contributing pervious areas for the entire site. 
 
A minimum pipe slope of 0.5% will be maintained throughout the system. 
The intent is to maintain a minimum free flow velocity of 3.0 fps in all 
pipes. Pipe sizing calculations will be provided in final report. 
 

1.6 Water Quantity 

 
The existing impervious area is 77,100 sf and new impervious area for the 
site is approximately 142,000 sf.  The impervious area on site will be 
increased by 64,900 sf.  Per section 4.6.1 of the Newberg Public Works 
Design and Construction Standards, “the size of the stormwater quality 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

277 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic Center 
Stormwater Management Plan 
 

 

Page 5 
P:\Scott Edwards Architecture LLP\0009297W\Design\Reports\Draiange report\Drainage Report.docx 

facilities shall be based on the net impervious area created by the 
development, including structures, roads, and other impervious areas.”  
Therefore, 64,900 sf of impervious area will be treated.  This area will be 
all parking lot areas, as well as a portion of the new building roof.  The 
required planter area to treat that area is 3,894 sf per the LIDA sizing for, 
(standard drawing 451). 
 
Calculations will be provided in final report. 
 

1.7 Water Quality 

 
Per section 4.7.1.III of the Newberg Public Works Design and Construction 
Standards, “stormwater quantity on-site detention facilities shall be 
designed to capture runoff so the post-development runoff rates from the 
site do not exceed pre-development runoff rates from the site, based on the 
24-hour storm events ranging from ½ of the 2-year return storm to the 25-
year return storm.”  To accommodate this, additional planter area, above 
what is required for quality, has been provided. 
 
Calculations will be provided in final report. 

1.8 Conclusion 

 
The proposed development has appropriate stormwater facilities and a 
system that fulfills the required conveyance, water quality and water 
quantity based on City of Newberg requirements and standards. 
  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

278 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic Center 
Stormwater Management Plan 
 

 

Page 6 
P:\Scott Edwards Architecture LLP\0009297W\Design\Reports\Draiange report\Drainage Report.docx 

 

Appendix 1 

Site Exhibits 
 
  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

279 of 460 



SDx
SDx

SDx
SDx

S
D

x

S
D

x

S
D

x

S
D

x

S
D

x

S
D

x

S
D

x

S
D

x

S
D

x
S

D
x

S
D

x
S

D
x

S
D

x
S

D
x

S
D

x
S

D
x

S
D

x
S

D
x

S
D

x
S

D
x

SDx
SDxSDxSDx

SDxSDx
SDx

SDx

SDx

SDx

S
D

x
S

D
x

S
D

x
S

D
x

S
D

x

S
D

x
S

D
x

S
D

x
S

D
x

S
D

x

S
D

x
S

D
x

SD SD

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

280 of 460 



SDx
SDx

SDx
SDx

S
D

x

S
D

x

S
D

x

S
D

x

S
D

x

S
D

x

S
D

x

S
D

x

S
D

x
S

D
x

S
D

x
S

D
x

S
D

x
S

D
x

S
D

x
S

D
x

S
D

x
S

D
x

S
D

x
S

D
x

SDx
SDxSDxSDx

SDxSDx
SDx

SDx

SDx

SDx

S
D

x
S

D
x

S
D

x
S

D
x

S
D

x

S
D

x
S

D
x

S
D

x
S

D
x

S
D

x

S
D

x
S

D
x

10"SD

8

"

S

D

SD
SD

S

D

S

D

S

D

6"SD

6"SD

S

D

S

D

6
"
S

D

SD SD

SD SD

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

281 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic Center 
Stormwater Management Plan 
 

 

Page 7 
P:\Scott Edwards Architecture LLP\0009297W\Design\Reports\Draiange report\Drainage Report.docx 

 

Appendix 2 

Calculations and Hydrographs 
[TO BE PROVIDED WITH FINAL REPORT] 

  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

282 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic Center 
Stormwater Management Plan 
 

 

Page 8 
P:\Scott Edwards Architecture LLP\0009297W\Design\Reports\Draiange report\Drainage Report.docx 

 

Appendix 3 

Supporting Documents 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

283 of 460 



Hydrologic Soil Group—Yamhill County, Oregon

Natural Resources
Conservation Service

Web Soil Survey
National Cooperative Soil Survey

11/2/2015
Page 1 of 4

50
16

99
0

50
17

02
0

50
17

05
0

50
17

08
0

50
17

11
0

50
17

14
0

50
16

99
0

50
17

02
0

50
17

05
0

50
17

08
0

50
17

11
0

50
17

14
0

502960 502990 503020 503050 503080 503110 503140 503170 503200 503230

502960 502990 503020 503050 503080 503110 503140 503170 503200 503230

45°  18' 28'' N
12

2°
  5

7'
 4

4'
' W

45°  18' 28'' N

12
2°

  5
7'

 3
1'

' W

45°  18' 22'' N

12
2°

  5
7'

 4
4'

' W

45°  18' 22'' N

12
2°

  5
7'

 3
1'

' W

N

Map projection: Web Mercator   Corner coordinates: WGS84   Edge tics: UTM Zone 10N WGS84
0 50 100 200 300

Feet
0 15 30 60 90

Meters
Map Scale: 1:1,320 if printed on A landscape (11" x 8.5") sheet.

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

284 of 460 



MAP LEGEND MAP INFORMATION

Area of Interest (AOI)
Area of Interest (AOI)

Soils
Soil Rating Polygons

A

A/D

B

B/D

C

C/D

D

Not rated or not available

Soil Rating Lines
A

A/D

B

B/D

C

C/D

D

Not rated or not available

Soil Rating Points
A

A/D

B

B/D

C

C/D

D

Not rated or not available

Water Features
Streams and Canals

Transportation
Rails

Interstate Highways

US Routes

Major Roads

Local Roads

Background
Aerial Photography

The soil surveys that comprise your AOI were mapped at 1:24,000.

Warning: Soil Map may not be valid at this scale.

Enlargement of maps beyond the scale of mapping can cause
misunderstanding of the detail of mapping and accuracy of soil line
placement. The maps do not show the small areas of contrasting
soils that could have been shown at a more detailed scale.

Please rely on the bar scale on each map sheet for map
measurements.

Source of Map:  Natural Resources Conservation Service
Web Soil Survey URL:  http://websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov
Coordinate System:  Web Mercator (EPSG:3857)

Maps from the Web Soil Survey are based on the Web Mercator
projection, which preserves direction and shape but distorts
distance and area. A projection that preserves area, such as the
Albers equal-area conic projection, should be used if more accurate
calculations of distance or area are required.

This product is generated from the USDA-NRCS certified data as of
the version date(s) listed below.

Soil Survey Area:  Yamhill County, Oregon
Survey Area Data:  Version 3, Sep 18, 2015

Soil map units are labeled (as space allows) for map scales 1:50,000
or larger.

Date(s) aerial images were photographed:  Jul 8, 2010—Sep 4,
2011

The orthophoto or other base map on which the soil lines were
compiled and digitized probably differs from the background
imagery displayed on these maps. As a result, some minor shifting
of map unit boundaries may be evident.

Hydrologic Soil Group—Yamhill County, Oregon

Natural Resources
Conservation Service

Web Soil Survey
National Cooperative Soil Survey

11/2/2015
Page 2 of 4

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

285 of 460 



Hydrologic Soil Group

Hydrologic Soil Group— Summary by Map Unit — Yamhill County, Oregon (OR071)

Map unit symbol Map unit name Rating Acres in AOI Percent of AOI

2300A Aloha silt loam, 0 to 3
percent slopes

C/D 4.5 99.1%

2301A Amity silt loam, 0 to 3
percent slopes

C/D 0.0 0.9%

Totals for Area of Interest 4.5 100.0%

Description

Hydrologic soil groups are based on estimates of runoff potential. Soils are
assigned to one of four groups according to the rate of water infiltration when the
soils are not protected by vegetation, are thoroughly wet, and receive precipitation
from long-duration storms.

The soils in the United States are assigned to four groups (A, B, C, and D) and
three dual classes (A/D, B/D, and C/D). The groups are defined as follows:

Group A. Soils having a high infiltration rate (low runoff potential) when thoroughly
wet. These consist mainly of deep, well drained to excessively drained sands or
gravelly sands. These soils have a high rate of water transmission.

Group B. Soils having a moderate infiltration rate when thoroughly wet. These
consist chiefly of moderately deep or deep, moderately well drained or well drained
soils that have moderately fine texture to moderately coarse texture. These soils
have a moderate rate of water transmission.

Group C. Soils having a slow infiltration rate when thoroughly wet. These consist
chiefly of soils having a layer that impedes the downward movement of water or
soils of moderately fine texture or fine texture. These soils have a slow rate of water
transmission.

Group D. Soils having a very slow infiltration rate (high runoff potential) when
thoroughly wet. These consist chiefly of clays that have a high shrink-swell
potential, soils that have a high water table, soils that have a claypan or clay layer
at or near the surface, and soils that are shallow over nearly impervious material.
These soils have a very slow rate of water transmission.

If a soil is assigned to a dual hydrologic group (A/D, B/D, or C/D), the first letter is
for drained areas and the second is for undrained areas. Only the soils that in their
natural condition are in group D are assigned to dual classes.

Rating Options

Aggregation Method:  Dominant Condition

Hydrologic Soil Group—Yamhill County, Oregon

Natural Resources
Conservation Service

Web Soil Survey
National Cooperative Soil Survey

11/2/2015
Page 3 of 4

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

286 of 460 



Component Percent Cutoff:   None Specified

Tie-break Rule:  Higher

Hydrologic Soil Group—Yamhill County, Oregon

Natural Resources
Conservation Service

Web Soil Survey
National Cooperative Soil Survey

11/2/2015
Page 4 of 4

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

287 of 460 



 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical  P.O. Box 230997, Tigard, Oregon 97281 

    

Carlson Geotechnical 
A Division of Carlson Testing, Inc. 
Phone: (503) 601-8250 
Fax: (503) 601-8254 

Bend Office 
Eugene Office 
Salem Office 
Tigard Office 

(541) 330-9155 
(541) 345-0289 
(503) 589-1252 
(503) 684-3460 

 

 

Report of  

Geotechnical Investigation, Infiltration Testing & 

Site-Specific Seismic Hazards Study 

Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

1802 Haworth Avenue 

Newberg, Oregon 

 

CGT Project Number G1504218 
 

 

Prepared for 

 

Chehalem Park and Recreation District 

Attn:  Jim McMaster, Park Supervisor 

125 Elliot Road 

Newberg, OR 97132 

 

October 23, 2015 

 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

288 of 460 



 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical  P.O. Box 230997, Tigard, Oregon 97281 

    

Carlson Geotechnical 
A division of Carlson Testing, Inc. 
Phone: (503) 601-8250 
Fax: (503) 601-8254 

Bend Office 
Eugene Office 
Salem Office 
Tigard Office 

(541) 330-9155 
(541) 345-0289 
(503) 589-1252 
(503) 684-3460 

 

October 23, 2015 

 

Chehalem Park and Recreation District 

Attn:  Jim McMaster, Park Supervisor 

125 Elliot Road 

Newberg, OR 97132 

 

Report of  

Geotechnical Investigation, Infiltration Testing & 

Site-Specific Seismic Hazards Study 

Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

1802 Haworth Avenue 

Newberg, Oregon 

 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

 

Dear Mr. McMaster: 

 

Carlson Geotechnical (CGT), a division of Carlson Testing, Inc. (CTI), is pleased to submit this report 

summarizing the results of our geotechnical investigation, infiltration testing, and site-specific seismic 

hazards study (SSSHS), for the proposed improvements to the Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center.  

The site is located 1802 Haworth Avenue in Newberg, Oregon.  We performed our work in general 

accordance with CGT Proposals GP6718 (dated June 17, 2015, authorization received July 1, 2015) and 

GP6718.A (dated September 2, 2015, authorization received September 10, 2015).   

 

We appreciate the opportunity to work with you on this project.  Please contact us at 503-601-8250 if you 

have any questions regarding this report. 

 

Respectfully Submitted,  

CARLSON GEOTECHNICAL 

 

 

Jeff Jones, CEG 

Project Engineering Geologist 

jjones@carlsontesting.com 

Jeffrey P. Quinn, P.E. 

Geotechnical Engineer 

jquinn@carlsontesting.com 

 

Doc ID:  G:\GEOTECH\PROJECTS\2015 Projects\Chehalem Aquatics & Fitness Center - G1504218\008 - Deliverables\Report 

G1504207.docx 

  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

289 of 460 

mailto:jjones@carlsontesting.com
mailto:jquinn@carlsontesting.com


Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 3 of 24 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1.0 INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................... 4 
1.1 Project Description ..................................................................................................................... 4 
1.2 Scope of Services ....................................................................................................................... 4 

2.0 SITE DESCRIPTION ......................................................................................................................... 5 
2.1 Site Geology ................................................................................................................................ 5 
2.2 Site Surface Conditions .............................................................................................................. 5 

3.0 FIELD INVESTIGATION ................................................................................................................... 5 
3.1 Borings ......................................................................................................................................... 6 
3.2 Open Standpipe Piezometer ...................................................................................................... 6 
3.3 Infiltration Testing ....................................................................................................................... 6 
3.4 Soil Classification & Sampling .................................................................................................. 6 

4.0 LABORATORY TESTING ................................................................................................................ 6 
5.0 SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS .......................................................................................................... 7 

5.1 Soils/Materials ............................................................................................................................. 7 
5.2 Groundwater ................................................................................................................................ 7 

6.0 SITE SPECIFIC SEISMIC HAZARDS STUDY ................................................................................. 8 
6.1 Overview ...................................................................................................................................... 8 
6.2 Seismic Ground Motion Values ................................................................................................. 8 

7.0 PROPOSED REMODEL OF EXISTING AQUATIC CENTER BUILDING ....................................... 9 
8.0 CONCLUSIONS ................................................................................................................................ 9 

8.1 Shallow Groundwater ............................................................................................................... 10 
8.2 Moisture Sensitive Soils ........................................................................................................... 10 

9.0 RECOMMENDATIONS ................................................................................................................... 10 
9.1 Site Preparation ......................................................................................................................... 10 
9.2 Temporary Excavations ............................................................................................................ 11 
9.3 Wet Weather Considerations ................................................................................................... 12 
9.4 Structural Fill ............................................................................................................................. 13 
9.5 Shallow Foundations ................................................................................................................ 15 
9.6 Mat Foundations ....................................................................................................................... 17 
9.7 Rigid Retaining Walls ............................................................................................................... 18 
9.8 Floor Slabs ................................................................................................................................. 20 
9.9 Swimming Pool - Groundwater Considerations .................................................................... 21 
9.10 Flexible Pavements ................................................................................................................... 21 
9.11 Additional Considerations ....................................................................................................... 23 

10.0 RECOMMENDED ADDITIONAL SERVICES ................................................................................. 23 
10.1 Design Review ........................................................................................................................... 23 
10.2 Observation of Construction ................................................................................................... 23 

11.0 LIMITATIONS ................................................................................................................................. 24 
 

ATTACHMENTS 

Site Location ...................................................................................................................................... Figure 1 

Site Plan   ........................................................................................................................................... Figure 2 

Site Photographs ................................................................................................................................ Figure 3 

Exploration Key .................................................................................................................................. Figure 4 

Soil Classification Criteria & Terminology .......................................................................................... Figure 5 

Boring Logs .................................................................................................................... Figures 6 through 15 

Retaining Wall Pressure Distribution ............................................................................................... Figure 16 

Retaining Wall Surcharge Loading .................................................................................................. Figure 17 

Results of Infiltration Testing ......................................................................................................... Appendix A 

Site-Specific Seismic Hazards Study ............................................................................................ Appendix B 

 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

290 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 4 of 24 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

Carlson Geotechnical (CGT), a division of Carlson Testing, Inc. (CTI), is pleased to submit this report 

summarizing the results of our geotechnical investigation, infiltration testing, and site-specific seismic 

hazards study (SSSHS), for the proposed improvements to the Chehalem Aquatic and Fitness Center.  

The site is located 1802 Haworth Avenue in Newberg, Oregon, as shown on the attached Site Location 

map, Figure 1.   

1.1 Project Description 

Based on the information provided, we understand the project will include the following.   

 

 Construction of an approximate 36,000 square foot addition to the east side of the existing building.  

The addition will be single-story, ranging in height from about 35 to 50 feet, and likely be steel framed 

with a slab on grade floor.  The addition will house three swimming pools, spa and play areas, 

stadium seating, locker rooms, classrooms, and various office, event, and mechanical rooms.  The 

pools will range in depth from 1½ to 12 feet.  Maximum column and wall loads will be less than 50 

kips and 5 kips per lineal foot, respectively. 

 The swimming pool bottom slabs may be designed as mat foundations and the pool walls may be 

designed as cantilevered, restrained retaining walls. 

 Remodel of the existing aquatic center building located in the southwestern portion of the site.  The 

remodel will include demolition and backfill of the existing swimming pool, which is up to 12 feet deep.  

A second floor may also be constructed within the existing building.  New structural loads associated 

with the remodel will be carried by new and existing shallow foundations, with up to 80 kips on new 

columns and an additional 600 pounds per square foot on existing wall footings.   

 Construction of passenger car parking and drive lanes in the northern portion and western margin of 

the site.   

 Exterior grade changes at the site will be minimal, with cuts and fills less than about 3 feet 

anticipated. 

 We understand the aquatic center will be classified as “Special Occupancy Structure” per Oregon 

Revised Statutes (ORS) 455.447.  Accordingly, the building will be assigned as Risk Category III per 

Table 1604.5 of the 2014 Oregon Structural Specialty Code (OSSC), and a site-specific seismic 

hazard study (SSSHS) is required as part of the geotechnical report per Section 1803.2 of the OSSC. 

 We understand the project civil engineer (WHPacific) is evaluating the feasibility of on-site stormwater 

infiltration for disposal of stormwater collected from hard surfaces.  Accordingly, infiltration testing and 

piezometer installation was requested in select locations as part of our field exploration.  Design of 

on-site stormwater infiltration facilities will rest with others.   

1.2 Scope of Services 

Our scope of work included the following: 

 

 Contact the Oregon Utilities Notification Center to mark the locations of public utilities within a 30-foot 

radius of our explorations at the site.  CGT also subcontracted a private utility locating service to mark 

the locations of public and private utilities within a 30-foot radius of our explorations.   

 Explore subsurface conditions at the site with the following field exploration program: 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

291 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 5 of 24 

o Advance ten machine-drilled borings to depths ranging from about 4 to 51½ feet below ground 

surface (bgs).   

o Perform five infiltration tests at the site in general accordance with the 1980 EPA Falling Head 

Test Method.  Details and results of our infiltration testing are presented in the attached 

Appendix A.   

o Install one open standpipe piezometer at the site, to a depth of about 20 feet bgs.   

 Classify the materials encountered in the borings in general accordance with American Society for 

Testing and Materials (ASTM) D2488 (Visual-Manual Procedure). 

 Collect representative, disturbed and relatively undisturbed samples of the soils encountered within 

the explorations in order to perform laboratory testing and to confirm our field classifications.   

 Provide a technical narrative describing surface and subsurface deposits and local geology of the site 

based on the results of our explorations and review of geologic mapping.   

 Provide geotechnical recommendations for site preparation and earthwork.  

 Provide geotechnical recommendations for design and construction of shallow spread foundations, 

pool retaining walls, concrete floor slabs, and mat foundations. 

 Provide preliminary geotechnical engineering recommendations for design and construction of flexible 

(asphaltic concrete) pavements.   

 Conduct a Site-Specific Seismic Hazards Study (SSSHS) in general accordance with the 

requirements of Section 1803.3.2 of the 2014 Oregon Structural Specialty Code (OSSC).  The results 

of the SSSHS are presented in the attached Appendix B. 

 Provide this written report summarizing the results of our geotechnical investigation, infiltration 

testing, SSSHS and recommendations for the project.   

2.0 SITE DESCRIPTION 

2.1 Site Geology 

As detailed in Appendix B, the geologic mapping for the area indicates the site is underlain by Pleistocene 

fine-grained flood deposits.  The flood deposits are up to about 15 feet thick and are underlain by 

Pliocene sediments of the Troutdale Formation. 

2.2 Site Surface Conditions 

The approximate 5.4-acre site is bordered by Haworth Avenue to the north, residential development to 

the east, a rehabilitation center and residential development to the south, and residential development 

and Villa Road to the west.  The site is relatively flat, with surface elevations varying from about 200 feet 

at the northwest corner, 205 feet at the south boundary, and 215 feet at the northeast corner.   

 

The existing aquatic center building is located in the western half of the property, with existing parking lots 

in the northwest and southeast portions of the site.  The northeastern portion of the site is occupied by 

Babe Nicklous Pool Park, with lawn areas, a stand of mature Douglas Fir trees, and a playground area.  

Site layout and surface conditions are shown on the attached Site Plan (Figure 2) and Site Photographs 

(Figure 3). 

3.0 FIELD INVESTIGATION 

CGT completed the field investigation on October 1 and 2, 2015, with follow up visits on October 5 and 20 

to record groundwater levels.  The field investigation consisted of advancing ten drilled borings, 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

292 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 6 of 24 

performing five infiltration tests, and installing one piezometer, the locations of which are shown on the 

attached Site Plan, Figure 2.  The exploration locations shown therein were determined based on 

measurements from existing site features and are approximate.   

3.1 Borings 

Borings B-1 through B-5 were advanced to depths ranging from about 21½ to 51½ feet bgs using the 

mud rotary drilling technique.  The track-mounted Diedrich D-50 drill rig was provided and operated by 

our subcontractor, Subsurface Technologies of North Plains, Oregon.  Upon completion, the borings were 

backfilled with granular bentonite.  Standard Penetration Tests (SPTs) were conducted at 2½- to 5-foot 

intervals to the termination depths of the borings.  A description of the SPT is provided on the Exploration 

Key, attached as Figure 4. 

3.2 Open Standpipe Piezometer 

CGT observed the installation of an open standpipe piezometer (Well ID 113132) on October 1, 2015.  

The piezometer was installed in boring B-1 by our drilling subcontractor, Subsurface Technologies.  

Details of the piezometer installation are as follows: 

 

 The bottom depth of the piezometer was approximately 20 feet bgs.   

 The piezometer consisted of a 1-inch diameter, Schedule 40 PVC pipe.  The PVC pipe was slotted 

between 10 and 20 feet bgs (screened interval).   

 Backfill around the piezometer pipe consisted of Colorado silica sand filter pack between 8 and 20 

feet bgs, capped with bentonite chips from 1 to 8 feet bgs.   

 A flush-mount monument was installed to protect the head of the piezometer and the well was fitted 

with a locking cap.   

3.3 Infiltration Testing 

Five additional borings were advanced on October 1, 2015, using a hollow-stem auger and the 

referenced drill rig in order to perform infiltration tests (IT-1 through IT-5).  The locations of the infiltration 

tests are shown on the Site Plan (Figure 2), and details and results of the infiltration tests are presented in 

the attached Appendix A. 

3.4 Soil Classification & Sampling 

Soil samples were obtained at selected intervals within B-1 through B-5, using the referenced split-spoon 

(SPT) sampler and thin-walled, steel (Shelby) tube samplers.  A qualified member of CGT collected the 

samples and logged the soils in general accordance with the Unified Soil Classification System (USCS).  

An explanation of the USCS is attached as Figure 5.  All soil samples were stored in sealable plastic bags 

and transported to our laboratory for further examination and testing.  Our geotechnical staff visually 

examined all samples in order to refine the initial field classifications. 

4.0 LABORATORY TESTING 

Laboratory testing was performed on select soil samples to refine our initial field classifications and 

determine in-situ parameters.  Laboratory testing included twenty-three moisture content determinations 

(ASTM D2216), four Atterberg limits (plasticity) tests (ASTM D4318), and three unit weight determinations 

(weight-volume measurement).  Results of the laboratory tests are shown on the boring logs.   

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

293 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 7 of 24 

5.0 SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS 

Logs of the borings are presented on the attached Boring Logs, Figures 6 through 15.  Surface elevations 

indicated on the logs were estimated based on the provided site survey, shown on Figure 2, and are 

approximate.   

5.1 Soils/Materials 

The following describes each of the subsurface materials encountered at the site.   

 

Pavement Section:  At the surface of borings B-1 through B-4 we encountered the existing pavement 

section.  The section consisted of approximately 3 inches of asphaltic concrete (AC) over approximately 7 

to 9 inches of base rock (GP Fill).  The base rock consisted of angular gravel that resembled a 1-inch 

minus crushed rock product.   

 

Gravelly Silt Fill (ML Fill):  At the surface of IT-2 we encountered brown, damp, gravelly silt fill that 

extended to about 1½ feet bgs. 

 

Lean Clay (CL) – Missoula Flood Deposits:  Beneath the pavement section and fill soils in B-1 through  

B-4 and IT-2, and at the surface of the remaining borings, we encountered native, lean clay alluvium.  The 

lean clay was generally medium stiff to stiff, moist, brown with gray mottling, and exhibited moderate 

plasticity.  This soil is consistent with the clay-phase of the Willamette Silt (Missoula Flood Deposits) 

mapped in the vicinity of the site and described in Appendix B.  The lean clay extended to the full depths 

explored in IT-1 through IT-5 (4 feet bgs) and to depths of 8 to 14½ feet bgs in B-1 through B-5. 

 

Lean Clay (CL) – Troutdale Formation:  Beneath the lean clay alluvium in B-1 through B-5, we 

encountered red-brown to gray, medium stiff to very stiff, lean clay with varying amounts of sand-sized 

fragments of weathered to decomposed basalt and other lithics.  This soil is consistent with the sediments 

of Troutdale formation mapped in the vicinity of the site and described in Appendix B, and extended to the 

full depth explored in borings B-1 through B-5, approximately 21½ to 51½ feet bgs. 

5.2 Groundwater 

The borings were advanced using the mud rotary (wet) drilling method, which precludes direct 

observation of groundwater during advancement of the boring.  As detailed above, standpipe piezometer 

was installed in boring B-1 on October 1, 2015.  The water level upon completion of drilling was artificially 

elevated due to flushing of the borehole prior to installation of the piezometer.  We allowed the water level 

to stabilize for several days then returned to the site and measured water levels within the piezometer.  

Water levels of 11½ feet and 13½ feet bgs were recorded on October 5 and 20, respectively. 

 

We also reviewed well logs and water level data available at the Oregon Water Resources Department 

(OWRD) websites
1,2

.  Our review indicated that groundwater levels typically ranged from about 5 to 

20 feet bgs in the vicinity of the site.  It should be noted that groundwater levels vary with local 

topography.  In addition, the groundwater levels reported on the OWRD logs often reflect the purpose of 

                                                      
1 
 Oregon Water Resources Department, 2015.  Water well logs available at http://apps.wrd.state.or.us/apps/gw/well_log  

2
  Oregon Water Resources Department, 2015.  Water Level Data and Hydrographs, available at 

http://www.oregon.gov/owrd/pages/gw/well_data.aspx  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

294 of 460 

http://apps.wrd.state.or.us/apps/gw/well_log
http://www.oregon.gov/owrd/pages/gw/well_data.aspx


Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 8 of 24 

the well, so water well logs may only report deeper, confined groundwater, while geotechnical or 

environmental borings will often report any groundwater encountered, including shallow, unconfined 

groundwater.  Therefore, the levels reported on the OWRD well logs referenced above are considered 

generally indicative of local water levels and may not reflect actual groundwater levels at the project site.  

We anticipate that groundwater levels will fluctuate due to seasonal and annual variations in precipitation, 

changes in site utilization, or other factors.  Additionally, the on-site clay soils are conducive to formation 

of perched groundwater.   

6.0 SITE SPECIFIC SEISMIC HAZARDS STUDY 

6.1 Overview 

We performed a Site-Specific Seismic Hazards Study for the site in accordance with Section 1803 of the 

2014 Oregon Structural Specialty Code (OSSC).  The complete results of our hazards study are 

presented in the attached Appendix B.  The following conclusions highlight the results of our SSSHS: 

 

 We conclude that the soils encountered in the borings are non-liquefiable within the depths explored.   

 We conclude there is a low risk of surface rupture from faulting. 

 We conclude there is a negligible risk of surface rupture from lateral spread.  

 We conclude there is a negligible risk of slope instability from a design-level earthquake. 

 We conclude there is a negligible risk of seiche inundation at this site.  

6.2 Seismic Ground Motion Values 

As detailed in Appendix B, we obtained earthquake ground motion parameters for the site based on the 

United States Geological Survey (USGS) Seismic Design Values for Buildings - Ground Motion 

Parameter Calculator
3
.  The following table presents seismic ground motion values recommended for use 

in structural design of structures at this site.   

 

Table 1  Seismic Ground Motion Values (Section 1613.3.2 of 2014 OSSC) 

Parameter Value 

Mapped Acceleration 

Parameters 

Spectral Acceleration, 0.2 second (Ss ) 0.952g 

Spectral Acceleration, 1.0 second (S1 ) 0.435g 

Coefficients 

(Site Class D) 

Site Coefficient, 0.2 sec. (Fa ) 1.119 

Site Coefficient, 1.0 sec. (Fv) 1.565 

Adjusted MCE Spectral 

Response Parameters 

MCE Spectral Acceleration, 0.2 sec. (SMS ) 1.066g 

MCE Spectral Acceleration, 1.0 sec. (SM1 ) 0.681g 

Design Spectral Response 

Accelerations 

Design Spectral Acceleration, 0.2 seconds (SDS ) 0.710g 

Design Spectral Acceleration, 1.0 second (SD1 ) 0.454g 

 

                                                      
3
  United States Geological Survey, 2015.  Seismic Design Parameters determined using: “U.S. Seismic Design Maps Web 

Application,”  from the USGS website http://geohazards.usgs.gov/designmaps/us/application.php.   

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

295 of 460 

http://geohazards.usgs.gov/designmaps/us/application.php


Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 9 of 24 

7.0 PROPOSED REMODEL OF EXISTING AQUATIC CENTER BUILDING 

We understand current plans for remodeling the existing aquatic center building include several new 

footings to carry new structural loads.  The remodel will include demolition and backfill of the existing 

swimming pool, which is up to 12 feet deep.  A second floor may also be constructed within the existing 

building.  Based on information provided by the project structural engineer (WDY Structural + Civil 

Engineering), new structural loads associated with the remodel will be carried by new and existing 

foundations, with up to 80 kips on new columns and an additional 600 pounds per square foot on existing 

wall footings.  We understand that several of the new columns are planned within the footprint of the 

existing swimming pool and will therefore be founded on the backfill placed during demolition of the pool.  

In addition, we understand that there will be new columns supported by shallow spread footings along the 

north wall of the existing structure.   

 

No explorations were performed within or immediately adjacent to the existing building as part of this 

assignment, and no previous geotechnical report was available for our review.  Based on the results of 

our nearby borings, soil conditions appear relatively uniform across the site and we assume this is the 

case beneath the existing building as well.  Provided demolition and backfill of the existing features is 

performed in accordance with the recommendations presented later in this report, it is our opinion that 

suitable subgrade support for new foundations can be achieved on the proposed structural fill placed on 

native soils.  Specific recommendations for design and construction of new foundations are presented in 

Section 9.5 below.   

 

For the existing wall footings, we assume subgrade soil conditions are similar with those encountered in 

our explorations.  Review of the 1970 as-built drawings provided by WDY indicates the existing wall 

footings that will be subjected to new structural loads are 5’3” wide.  We assume these footings are 

founded on native soils and are of the opinion that the native soils can provide satisfactory subgrade 

support for the anticipated 600 psf increase in applied bearing pressure.  Our analyses showed total 

settlements less than ½-inch under this anticipated 600 psf increase in applied bearing pressure.   

 

We recommend CGT be provided the opportunity to observe soil conditions at the time of 

demolition/construction in order to confirm evaluate whether additional explorations or supplementary 

recommendations are warranted.   

8.0 CONCLUSIONS 

Based on the results of our field explorations and analyses, the site may be developed as described in 

Section 1.1 of this report, provided the recommendations presented in this report are incorporated into the 

design and development.  We conclude the primary geotechnical considerations at this site include:   

 

 The presence of near-surface, moisture-sensitive soils that are susceptible to disturbance during wet 

weather. 

 The presence of relatively shallow groundwater that may fluctuate seasonally. 

 

These considerations are described in further detail in the following sections.   

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

296 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 10 of 24 

8.1 Shallow Groundwater 

Groundwater was measured at depths ranging from approximately 11½ to 13½ feet bgs within the 

piezometer installed at the site in October 2015.  Based on mottled coloration of the near-surface soils, 

we conclude the groundwater may fluctuate seasonally and/or perched groundwater may develop within a 

few feet of the site surface.  Groundwater should be anticipated within deeper excavations at the site for 

construction of the new swimming pools and utilities.  Geotechnical recommendations for dewatering of 

utility trenches and temporary excavations, as required, are presented in Section 9.2.4 of this report.  

Special considerations for dewatering during and following construction of the swimming pool excavation 

are provided in Section 9.9 of this report.   

 

We recommend monitoring groundwater levels within the piezometer installed at the site over the coming 

wet season.  This will assist in characterizing the seasonal fluctuations and help refine the design 

groundwater level, both considered useful for the design and construction of the proposed swimming 

pools.  CGT would be pleased to perform periodic monitoring, upon request, for an additional fee. 

8.2 Moisture Sensitive Soils 

The near-surface, lean clay (CL) soils are moisture sensitive and susceptible to disturbance during wet 

weather.  Trafficability of these soils may be difficult, and significant damage to the subgrade could occur, 

if earthwork is undertaken without proper precautions at times when the exposed soils are more than a 

few percentage points above optimum moisture content.  If construction occurs during the wet season, we 

recommend measures be implemented to protect fine-grained subgrade in areas of repeated construction 

traffic and in foundation bearing areas.  Recommendations for wet weather construction are presented in 

Section 9.3 of this report.  Re-use of the on-site soils as structural fill during wet times of the year will 

require special consideration as discussed in Section 9.4.1.3 of this report. 

9.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

9.1 Site Preparation 

 Demolition & Stripping  9.1.1

Demolition of existing site features (e.g. pavements, playground structures, swimming pools, etc.) should 

include removal of all remnants from within, and for a minimum 5-foot margin around, the footprint of the 

proposed building.  Stripping of rooted topsoil and undocumented fill should similarly extend a minimum a 

5 feet beyond the footprint of the proposed building.  The geotechnical engineer or his representative 

should provide recommendations for actual stripping depths based on observations during site 

preparation.  Stripped asphalt, base rock, and concrete or other non-organic rubble should be transported 

off-site for disposal or may stockpiled for re-use as structural fill.  If re-used as structural fill, these 

materials should be processed in accordance with the recommendations provided in Section 9.4.1.1. 

 

The geotechnical engineer or his representative should provide recommendations for actual stripping 

depths based on observations during site stripping.   

 Grubbing 9.1.2

Grubbing of trees and shrubs should include the removal of the root mass, and roots greater than 1 inch 

in diameter.  Grubbed materials should be transported off-site for disposal.  Where root masses are 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

297 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 11 of 24 

removed, the resulting excavation should be properly backfilled with imported granular structural fill in 

conformance with Section 9.4.2 of this report. 

 Existing Utilities & Below-Grade Structures 9.1.3

All existing utilities at the site should be identified prior to excavation.  Abandoned utility lines beneath the 

new building and hardscaping features should be completely removed or grouted full.  Soft, loose, or 

otherwise unsuitable soils encountered in utility trench excavations should be removed and replaced with 

structural fill in conformance with Section 9.4.2 of this report.  Buried structures (i.e. footings, foundation 

walls, retaining walls, slabs-on-grade, tanks, etc.), if encountered during site development, should be 

completely removed and replaced with structural fill in conformance with Section 9.4.2 of this report.   

 Erosion Control 9.1.4

Erosion and sedimentation control measures should be employed in accordance with applicable City, 

County, and State regulations regarding erosion control. 

9.2 Temporary Excavations 

 Overview 9.2.1

Conventional earthmoving equipment in proper working condition should be capable of making necessary 

excavations for the anticipated site cuts as described earlier in this report.  All excavations should be in 

accordance with applicable OSHA and state regulations.  It is the contractor's responsibility to select the 

excavation methods, to monitor site excavations for safety, and to provide any shoring required to protect 

personnel and adjacent improvements.  A “competent person”, as defined by OR-OSHA, should be on-

site during construction in accordance with regulations presented by OR-OSHA.  CGT’s current role on 

the project does not include review or oversight of excavation safety.   

 Utility Trenches 9.2.2

Temporary trench cuts should stand near vertical to depths of approximately 4 feet in the native lean clay 

(CL).  Some instability may occur in this soil if groundwater seepage is encountered.  If seepage 

undermines the stability of the trench, or if sidewall caving is observed during excavation, the sidewalls 

should be flattened or shored.  If groundwater is present at the base of utility excavations, we recommend 

placing trench stabilization material at the base of the excavations.  Trench stabilization material should 

be in conformance with Section 9.4.4 of this report.   

 OSHA Soil Type 9.2.3

For use in the planning and construction of temporary excavations up to 15 feet in depth, an OSHA soil 

type “B” may be used for the native, medium stiff to stiff, lean clay (CL).   

 Dewatering 9.2.4

Groundwater was measured at depths ranging from approximately 11½ to 13½ feet bgs within the 

piezometer installed at the site in October 2015.  Based on mottled coloration of the near-surface soils, 

we conclude the groundwater may fluctuate seasonally and/or perched groundwater may develop within a 

few feet of the site surface.  On-going monitoring of water levels within the piezometer over the coming 

winter and spring should provide useful insight into seasonal fluctuations.  For preliminary planning 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

298 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 12 of 24 

purposes, we recommend that groundwater be expected within deeper excavations at the site during 

construction of the new swimming pools and utilities.   

 

Depending upon final design elevations and the time of year earthwork occurs, dewatering of excavations 

may be required in order to maintain dry working conditions during construction.  Recognizing the 

relatively low transmissivity of the lean clay (CL) soils, we anticipate pumping from multiple sumps will be 

effective in removing groundwater and maintaining relatively dry working conditions within excavations at 

the site.  The sumps should be installed to remove water to a depth of at least 2 feet below the lowest 

point of the excavation.  Pumping from well points may be required for large excavations that extend 

below the groundwater level. 

 

The geotechnical engineer should be consulted to provide specific recommendations related to 

excavation dewatering during excavation.  Depending on several factors, the sumps or well points 

mentioned above could be installed permanently.  The project civil engineer or architect should determine 

the appropriate size, number, and location of sump pumps and wells, if necessary.   

 Excavations near Foundations 9.2.5

Excavations near existing footings should not extend within a 1H:1V (horizontal to vertical) plane 

projected out and down from the outside, bottom edge of the footings.  In the event that excavation needs 

to extend within the referenced plane, temporary shoring of the excavation and/or underpinning of the 

subject footing may be required.  The geotechnical engineer should be consulted to review proposed 

excavation plans for this design case to provide specific recommendations.   

9.3 Wet Weather Considerations 

For planning purposes, the wet season should be considered to extend from late September to late June.  

It is our experience that dry weather working conditions should prevail between early July and the middle 

of September.  Notwithstanding the above, soil conditions should be evaluated in the field by the 

geotechnical engineer or his representative at the initial stage of site preparation to determine whether 

the recommendations within this section should be incorporated into construction. 

 General 9.3.1

The on-site soils (CL) are susceptible to disturbance during wet weather.  Trafficability of these soils may 

be difficult, and significant damage to subgrade soils could occur, if earthwork is undertaken without 

proper precautions at times when the exposed soils are more than a few percentage points above 

optimum moisture content.  For construction that occurs during the wet season, site preparation activities 

may need to be accomplished using track-mounted equipment, loading removed material onto trucks 

supported on granular haul roads, or other methods to limit soil disturbance.  A geotechnical 

representative from CGT should evaluate the subgrade during excavation by probing rather than proof 

rolling.  Soils that have been disturbed during site preparation activities, or soft or loose areas identified 

during probing, should be over-excavated to firm, stable subgrade, and replaced with imported granular 

structural fill in conformance with Section 9.4.2 of this report.   

 Geotextile Separation Fabric 9.3.2

CGT recommends that a geotextile separation fabric be placed as a barrier between the prepared 

subgrade and granular fill/base rock in areas of repeated or heavy construction traffic.  The geotextile 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

299 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 13 of 24 

fabric should meet the requirements presented in the current Oregon Department of Transportation 

(ODOT) Standard Specification for Construction, Section 02320.   

 Granular Working Surfaces (Haul Roads & Staging Areas) 9.3.3

Haul roads subjected to repeated heavy, tire-mounted, construction traffic (e.g. dump trucks, concrete 

trucks, etc.) will require a minimum of 18 inches of imported granular material.  For light staging areas, 

12 inches of imported granular material should be sufficient.  Additional granular material or geo-grid 

reinforcement may be recommended based on site conditions and/or loading at the time of construction.  

The imported granular material should be in conformance with Section 9.4.2 of this report and have less 

than 5 percent material passing the U.S. Standard No. 200 Sieve.  The prepared subgrade should be 

covered with geotextile fabric prior to placement of the imported granular material.  The imported granular 

material should be placed in a single lift (up to 24 inches deep) and compacted using a smooth-drum, 

non-vibratory roller until well-keyed.   

 Footing Subgrade Protection 9.3.4

A minimum of 3 inches of imported granular material should be placed over fine-grained, foundation 

subgrades in order to provide protection from foot traffic during inclement weather.  The imported granular 

material should be in conformance with Section 9.4.2 of this report, contain a maximum particle size of 

1 inch, and have less than 5 percent passing the U.S. Standard No. 200 Sieve.  The imported granular 

material should be placed in one lift over the prepared, undisturbed subgrade, and compacted using non-

vibratory equipment until well-keyed. 

9.4 Structural Fill 

The geotechnical engineer should be provided the opportunity to review all materials considered for use 

as structural fill (prior to placement).  The geotechnical engineer or his representative should be 

contacted to evaluate compaction of structural fill as the material is being placed.  Evaluation of 

compaction may take the form of in-place density tests and/or proof roll tests with suitable equipment.  

Structural fill should be evaluated at intervals not exceeding every 2 vertical feet as the fill is being placed. 

 On-Site Soils – General Use 9.4.1

9.4.1.1 Asphalt & Concrete Debris 

Asphalt and concrete demolition debris can be re-used as structural fill if processed/crushed into material 

that is fairly well graded between coarse and fine.  The processed/crushed concrete and/or asphalt 

should contain no organic matter, debris, or particles larger than 4 inches in diameter.  Moisture 

conditioning (wetting) should be expected in order to achieve adequate compaction.  When used as 

structural fill, this material should be placed and compacted in general accordance with Section 9.4.2 of 

this report. 

9.4.1.2 Undocumented Gravel Fill (GP and GP-GM FILL) 

Re-use of the gravel fill materials (base rock underlying the existing pavements) as structural fill is 

feasible, provided they can be kept free of debris, deleterious materials, and particles larger than 4 inches 

in diameter.  If used as structural fill, these materials should be prepared in conformance with 

Section 9.4.2 of this report.   

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

300 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 14 of 24 

9.4.1.3 Lean Clay (CL) 

Re-use of the on-site lean clay as structural fill may be difficult because this soil is sensitive to small 

changes in moisture content and difficult, if not impossible, to adequately compact during wet weather.  

We anticipate the moisture content of this soil will be higher than the optimum moisture content for 

satisfactory compaction. Therefore, moisture conditioning (drying) should be expected in order to achieve 

adequate compaction.  If used as structural fill, this soil should be free of organic matter, debris, and 

particles larger than 4 inches.  When used as structural fill, this soil should be placed in lifts with a 

maximum thickness of about 8 inches at moisture contents within –1 and +3 percent of optimum, and 

compacted to not less than 92 percent of the material’s maximum dry density, as determined in general 

accordance with ASTM D1557 (Modified Proctor).   

 

If the on-site soils cannot be properly moisture-conditioned and/or processed, we recommend using 

imported granular material for structural fill. 

 Imported Granular Structural Fill – General Use 9.4.2

Imported granular structural fill should consist of angular pit or quarry run rock, crushed rock, or crushed 

gravel that is fairly well graded between coarse and fine particle sizes.  The granular fill should contain no 

organic matter, debris, or particles larger than 4 inches, and have less than 5 percent material passing 

the U.S. Standard No. 200 Sieve.  For fine-grading purposes, the maximum particle size should be limited 

to 1½ inches.  The percentage of fines can be increased to 12 percent of the material passing the U.S. 

Standard No. 200 Sieve if placed during dry weather, and provided the fill material is moisture-

conditioned, as necessary, for proper compaction.  Granular fill material should be placed in lifts with a 

maximum thickness of about 12 inches, and compacted to not less than 95 percent of the material’s 

maximum dry density, as determined in general accordance with ASTM D1557 (Modified Proctor).   

 

Compaction of granular fill materials with high percentages of particle sizes in excess of 1½-inches 

should be evaluated by periodic proof-roll observation or continuous observation by the geotechnical 

engineering representative during fill placement, since it cannot be tested conventionally using a nuclear 

densometer.  Such materials should be “capped” with a minimum of 12 inches of ¾-inch-minus (or finer) 

granular fill under all structural elements (footings, concrete slabs, etc.). 

 Floor Slab Base Rock 9.4.3

Floor slab base rock should consist of well-graded granular material (crushed rock) containing no organic 

matter or debris, have a maximum particle size of ¾ inch, and have less than 5 percent material passing 

the U.S. Standard No. 200 Sieve.  Floor slab base rock should be placed in one lift and compacted to not 

less than 95 percent of the material’s maximum dry density as determined in general accordance with 

ASTM D1557 (Modified Proctor).   

 Trench Base Stabilization Material 9.4.4

If groundwater is present at the base of utility excavations, trench base stabilization material should be 

placed.  Trench base stabilization material should consist of a minimum of 1 foot of well-graded granular 

material with a maximum particle size of 4 inches and less than 5 percent material passing the U.S. 

Standard No. 4 Sieve.  The material should be free of organic matter and other deleterious material, 

placed in one lift, and compacted until well-keyed. 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

301 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 15 of 24 

 Trench Backfill Material 9.4.5

Trench backfill for the utility pipe base and pipe zone should consist of granular material as 

recommended by the utility pipe manufacturer.  Trench backfill above the pipe zone should consist of 

well-graded granular material containing no organic matter or debris, have a maximum particle size of  

¾ inch, and have less than 8 percent material passing the U.S. Standard No. 200 Sieve.  As a guideline, 

trench backfill should be placed in maximum 12-inch-thick lifts.  The earthwork contractor may elect to 

use alternative lift thicknesses based on their experience with specific equipment and fill material 

conditions during construction in order to achieve the required compaction.  The following table presents 

recommended relative compaction percentages for utility trench backfill.     

 

Table 2  Utility Trench Backfill Compaction Recommendations 

Backfill Zone 
Recommended Minimum Relative Compaction 

Structural Areas1 Landscaping Areas 

Pipe Base and Within Pipe Zone 
90% ASTM D1557 or pipe 

manufacturer’s recommendation 

88% ASTM D1557 or pipe 

manufacturer’s recommendation 

Above Pipe Zone 92% ASTM D1557 90% ASTM D1557 

Within 3 Feet of Design Subgrade 95% ASTM D1557 90% ASTM D1557 

1Includes proposed building, structural fill areas, exterior hardscaping, etc. 

 Controlled Low-Strength Material (CLSM) 9.4.6

CLSM is a self-compacting, cementitious material that is typically considered when backfilling localized 

areas.  CLSM is sometimes referred to as “controlled density fill” or CDF.  Due to its flowable 

characteristics, CLSM typically can be placed in restricted-access excavations where placing and 

compacting fill is difficult.  If chosen for use at this site, we recommend the CLSM be in conformance with 

Section 00442 of the most recent, State of Oregon, Standard Specifications for Highway Construction.  

The geotechnical engineer’s representative should observe placement of the CLSM and obtain samples 

for compression testing in accordance with ASTM D4832.  As a guideline, for each day’s placement, two 

compressive strength specimens from the same CLSM sample should be tested.  The results of the two 

individual compressive strength tests should be averaged to obtain the reported 28-day compressive 

strength.  If CLSM is considered for use on this site, please contact the geotechnical engineer for site-

specific and application-specific recommendations.   

9.5 Shallow Foundations 

 Subgrade Preparation   9.5.1

Satisfactory subgrade support for shallow foundations associated with the proposed building can be 

achieved on the native, medium stiff to stiff, lean clay (CL) soils, or structural fill that is properly placed 

and compacted on these soils during construction.  If soft, loose, or otherwise unsuitable soils are 

encountered, they should be over-excavated as recommended by the geotechnical representative at the 

time of construction.  The resulting over-excavation should be brought back to grade with structural fill in 

conformance with Section 9.4.2 of this report.  The maximum particle size of over-excavation backfill 

should be limited to 1½ inches.  All granular pads for footings should be constructed a minimum of 

6 inches wider on each side of the footing for every vertical foot of over-excavation.   

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

302 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 16 of 24 

 Minimum Footing Width & Embedment 9.5.2

Minimum footing widths should be in conformance with the most recent, Oregon Structural Specialty 

Code (OSSC).  As a guideline, we recommend individual spread footings have a minimum width of 

24 inches.  Subject to review of the project structural engineer, we recommend continuous wall footings 

have a minimum width of 18 inches.  All footings should be founded at least 18 inches below the lowest, 

permanent adjacent grade.   

 Bearing Pressure & Settlement 9.5.3

Footings founded as recommended above should be proportioned for a maximum allowable soil bearing 

pressure of 2,000 pounds per square foot (psf).  This bearing pressure is a net bearing pressure, applies 

to the total of dead and long-term live loads, and may be increased by one-third when considering 

seismic or wind loads.  For foundations founded as recommended above, total settlement of foundations 

is anticipated to be less than 1 inch.  Differential settlements between adjacent columns and/or bearing 

walls should not exceed ½-inch.   

 Lateral Capacity   9.5.4

A maximum passive (equivalent fluid) earth pressure of 150 pounds per cubic foot (pcf) is recommended 

for design of footings confined by the native soils described above, or imported granular structural fill that 

is properly placed and compacted during construction. The recommended earth pressure was computed 

using a factor of safety of 1½, which is appropriate due to the amount of movement required to develop 

full passive resistance.  In order to develop the above capacity, the following should be understood:   

 

1. Concrete must be poured neat in excavations or the foundations must be backfilled with imported 

granular structural fill, 

2. The adjacent grade must be level,  

3. The static ground water level must remain below the base of the footings throughout the year.   

4. Adjacent floor slabs, pavements, or the upper 12-inches of adjacent, unpaved areas should not be 

considered when calculating passive resistance.  

 

An ultimate coefficient of friction equal to 0.35 may be used when calculating resistance to sliding for 

footings founded on the native soils described above.  An ultimate coefficient of friction equal to 0.45 may 

be used when calculating resistance to sliding for footings founded on a minimum of 6 inches of imported 

granular structural fill (crushed rock) that is properly placed and compacted during construction. 

 Subsurface Drainage 9.5.5

Recognizing the fine-grained nature of the site soils, we recommend placing foundation drains at the 

exterior, base elevations of continuous wall footings.  Foundation drains should consist of a minimum 

4-inch-diameter, perforated, HDPE (High Density Polyethylene) drainpipe wrapped with a non-woven 

geotextile filter fabric.  The drains should be backfilled with a minimum of 2 cubic feet of open graded 

drain rock per lineal foot of pipe.  The drain rock should be encased in a geotextile filter fabric in order to 

provide separation from the surrounding soils.  Foundation drains should be positively sloped and should 

outlet to a suitable discharge point.  A representative from CGT should be contacted to observe the 

drains prior to backfilling.  Roof drains should not be tied into foundation drains.   

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

303 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 17 of 24 

9.6 Mat Foundations 

The recommendations presented within this section assume the swimming pool bottoms slabs are 

designed as mat foundations. 

 Subgrade Preparation   9.6.1

We recommend mat foundations be founded on a minimum 6-inch-thick aggregate base placed on the 

native, medium stiff to stiff, lean clay (CL) soils.  The aggregate base section is recommended to provide 

a more uniform surface for placing concrete and supporting the mat foundation.  The aggregate base 

should be in conformance with Section 9.4.3 of this report and extend a minimum of 1-foot laterally 

beyond each side of the mat foundation.   

 

Although not anticipated, in the event soft, loose, organic, or otherwise unsuitable soils are encountered, 

they should be over-excavated as recommended by the geotechnical engineer or his representative at 

the time of construction.  The resulting excavation should be backfilled with imported granular structural 

fill in conformance with Section 9.4.2 of this report. 

 Minimum Embedment 9.6.2

To help mitigate potential frost action, mat foundations should be founded a minimum of 18 inches below 

the lowest, permanent, adjacent grade. 

 Bearing Pressure 9.6.3

We anticipate the maximum uniform contact pressure (from dead and long-term live loads) acting on the 

swimming pool mat foundations will be on the order of 650 psf or less.  This value may be considered the 

recommended maximum allowable soil bearing pressure for use in design.  This bearing pressure is a net 

bearing pressure, applies to the total of dead and long-term live loads, and may be increased by ⅓ when 

considering transient (seismic or wind) loads. If an increased allowable soil bearing pressure is desired 

for design, the geotechnical engineer should be consulted. 

 Modulus of Subgrade Reaction 9.6.4

For the mat foundation founded as recommended above, a modulus of subgrade reaction up to 

75 pounds per cubic inch (pci) may be used for design (considering static loading).  If a higher modulus of 

subgrade reaction value is desired for design, the geotechnical engineer should be consulted.   

 Lateral Capacity   9.6.5

A maximum passive earth (equivalent fluid) pressure of 150 pounds per cubic foot (pcf) is recommended 

for design for mat foundations confined by the native soils described above or imported granular 

structural fill that is properly placed and compacted during construction.  The recommended earth 

pressure was computed using a factor of safety of 1½, which is appropriate due to the amount of 

movement required to develop full passive resistance.  In order to develop the above capacity, the 

following should be understood:   

 

1. Concrete must be poured neat in excavations or the foundation must be backfilled with imported 

granular structural fill, 

2. The adjacent grade must be level,  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

304 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 18 of 24 

3. The static ground water level must remain below the base of the foundation throughout the year.   

4. Adjacent floor slabs, pavements, or the upper 12-inch-depth of adjacent, unpaved areas should not 

be considered when calculating passive resistance.  

 

An ultimate coefficient of friction equal to 0.45 may be used when calculating resistance to sliding for mat 

foundations founded as recommended.   

 Post-Construction Settlement (Static Loading) 9.6.6

For the recommended design bearing pressure, total post-construction settlement of the mat foundation is 

anticipated to be less than ½-inch.  Similarly, differential settlement (“tilt”) across the mat foundation 

should not exceed ¼-inch.  These settlement estimates consider static (dead + long-term live) loads only.   

9.7 Rigid Retaining Walls 

The following sections pertain to the anticipated, rigid, cast-in-place swimming pool walls.  CGT 

anticipates the swimming pool excavation will be laid-back in accordance with OSHA regulations as 

discussed in Section 9.2 of this report.  Therefore, CGT anticipates the area between the excavation and 

the cast-in-place pool walls will be backfilled with imported granular structural fill.   

 Footings 9.7.1

Retaining wall footings should be designed and constructed in conformance with the recommendations 

presented for shallow or mat foundations in Sections 9.5 or 9.6 of this report, as applicable.   

 Backfill 9.7.2

Retaining walls should be backfilled with imported granular structural fill in conformance with Section 

9.4.2 and contain less than 5 percent passing the U.S. Standard No. 200 Sieve.  The backfill should be 

compacted to a minimum of 90 percent of the material’s maximum dry density as determined in general 

accordance with ASTM D1557 (Modified Proctor).  When placing fill behind walls, care must be taken to 

minimize undue lateral loads on the walls.  Heavy compaction equipment should be kept at least “H” feet 

from the back of the walls, where “H” is the height of the wall.  Light mechanical or hand tamping 

equipment should be used for compaction of backfill materials within “H” feet of the back of the walls. 

 Drainage Considerations 9.7.3

Where incorporated, we recommend retaining wall drains consist of a minimum 4-inch diameter, 

perforated, HDPE (High Density Poly-Ethylene) drainpipe wrapped with a non-woven geotextile filter 

fabric.  The drains should be backfilled with a minimum of 2 cubic feet of open graded drain rock per 

lineal foot of pipe.  The drain rock should be encased in a geotextile fabric in order to provide separation 

from the surrounding soils.  Retaining wall drains should be positively sloped and should outlet to a 

suitable discharge point.  The geotechnical engineer or his representative should be contacted to observe 

the drains prior to backfilling. 

 

Deeper portions of the proposed swimming pools are expected to be located below the groundwater table 

for at least part of the year.  Depending on preferences of the design team, the swimming pool walls may 

or may not be actively drained (i.e., sump pumped) full-time.  If full-time, active drainage is not 

incorporated, then hydrostatic forces will need to be considered in the design of the retaining walls.  We 

have presented design parameters for both scenarios below.   

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

305 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 19 of 24 

 Design Parameters 9.7.4

The following sections present design parameters for retaining walls with and without active drainage 

provisions.   

9.7.4.1 Design Case 1 – Swimming Pool Retaining Walls are Actively Drained 

For rigid retaining walls founded, backfilled, and actively drained as recommended above, the following 

table presents parameters recommended for design.  

 
 

Table 3  Design Parameters for Rigid Retaining Walls (Drained Conditions) 

Retaining Wall Condition 
Modeled Backfill 

Condition 

Static Equivalent 

Fluid Pressure 

(SA) 

Additional 

Seismic 

Equivalent Fluid 

Pressure (SAE) 

Surcharge from 

Uniform Load, q, Acting 

on Backfill Behind 

Retaining Wall 

Not Restrained from Rotation Level (i = 0) 29 pcf 12 pcf 0.22*q 

Restrained from Rotation Level (i = 0) 52 pcf 5 pcf 0.38*q 

Note 1.  Refer to the attached Figure 16 for a graphical representation of static and seismic loading conditions. Seismic component of active thrust acts at 

0.6H above the base of the wall. 

Note 2.  Seismic (dynamic) lateral loads were computed using the Mononobe-Okabe Equation as presented in the 1997 Federal Highway Administration 

(FHWA) design manual.   

 

The above design recommendations are based on the assumptions that:  

 

(1) the walls consist of concrete cantilevered retaining walls ( = 0 and  = 24 degrees, see Figure 16) 

(2) the walls are 15 feet or less in height 

(3) the backfill is drained and consists of imported granular structural fill ( = 38 degrees) 

(4) the swimming pool walls are actively drained (i.e., sump pumped)   

(5) no line load, point, or area load surcharges are imposed behind the walls 

(6) the grade behind the wall is level, or sloping down and away from the wall, for a distance of 10 feet or 

more from the wall 

(7) the grade in front of the walls is level or sloping up for a distance of at least 5 feet from the wall 

 

Re-evaluation of our recommendations will be required if the retaining wall design criteria for the project 

vary from these assumptions.   

9.7.4.2 Design Case 2 – Swimming Pool Retaining Walls are NOT Actively Drained 

For this design case, we anticipate the retaining walls will be backfilled with imported granular structural 

fill, but groundwater will not be actively pumped away.  This design case considers hydrostatic forces 

behind the wall due to the presence of groundwater at a seasonal high level, and will be of importance 

primarily when water within the swimming pool is drained for maintenance.  The following table presents 

parameters recommended for design of retaining walls for this case.   

 

  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

306 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 20 of 24 

Table 4  Design Parameters for Rigid Retaining Walls (Undrained Conditions) 

Retaining Wall Condition 

Assumed 

Backfill 

Condition 

Lateral Earth 

Pressure, σA1,2 (psf) 

Additional 

Seismic 

Equivalent Fluid 

Pressure (SAE) 

Surcharge from 

Uniform Load, q, Acting 

on Backfill Behind 

Retaining Wall 

Not Restrained from Rotation Level (i = 0) (30 pcf)*H + (49 pcf)*h 12 pcf 0.22*q 

Restrained from Rotation Level (i = 0) (54 pcf)*H + (38 pcf)*h 5 pcf 0.38*q 

1. H = full height of retaining wall (in feet). 

2. h = modeled depth of groundwater behnd retaining wall (in feet).  The most conservative approach is to model full hydrostatic loading 

conditions.  In this model, h = H – t, where t is the thickness of the adjacent hardscaping element.   

 

The above design recommendations are based on the assumptions that:  

 

(1) the walls consist of concrete cantilevered retaining walls ( = 0 and  = 24 degrees, see Figure 16) 

(2) the walls are 15 feet or less in height 

(3) the backfill is drained and consists of imported granular structural fill ( = 38 degrees) 

(4) the swimming pool walls are not actively drained (i.e., hydrostatic pressure considered)  

(5) no line load, point, or area load surcharges are imposed behind the walls 

(6) the grade behind the wall is level, or sloping down and away from the wall, for a distance of 10 feet or 

more from the wall 

(7) the grade in front of the walls is level or sloping up for a distance of at least 5 feet from the wall 

 

Re-evaluation of our recommendations will be required if the retaining wall design criteria for the project 

vary from these assumptions.   

 Surcharge Loads  9.7.5

Where present, surcharges from adjacent site features (i.e. foundations, slabs, pavements, etc.) should 

be evaluated in design of retaining walls at the site.  Methods for calculating lateral pressures on rigid 

retaining walls from strip, line, and vertical point loads are presented on the attached Figure 17. 

9.8 Floor Slabs 

 Subgrade Preparation 9.8.1

Satisfactory subgrade support for slabs constructed on grade, supporting up to 200 psf area loading, can 

be obtained from the native, medium stiff to stiff, lean clay (CL) soils, or structural fill that is properly 

placed and compacted on these materials during construction.  If soft, loose, or otherwise unsuitable soils 

are encountered, they should be over-excavated as recommended by the geotechnical representative at 

the time of construction.  The resulting over-excavation should be brought back to grade with structural fill 

in conformance with Section 9.4.2 of this report.  The maximum particle size of over-excavation backfill 

should be limited to 1½ inches.   

 Crushed Rock Base 9.8.2

Concrete floor slabs should be supported on a minimum 6-inch-thick layer of crushed rock (base rock) in 

conformance with Section 9.4.2 of this report.   

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

307 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 21 of 24 

 Design Considerations 9.8.3

For floor slabs constructed as recommended, a modulus of subgrade reaction of 75 pci is recommended 

for the design of the floor slab.  Floor slabs constructed as recommended will likely settle less than ½-

inch.  For general floor slab construction, slabs should be jointed around columns and walls to permit 

slabs and foundations to settle differentially. 

 Subgrade Moisture Considerations 9.8.4

Liquid moisture and moisture vapor should be expected at the subgrade surface.  The recommended 

crushed rock base is anticipated to provide protection against liquid moisture.  Where moisture vapor 

emission through the slab must be minimized, e.g. impervious floor coverings, storage of moisture 

sensitive materials directly on the slab surface, etc., a vapor retarding membrane or vapor barrier below 

the slab should be considered.  Factors such as cost, special considerations for construction, floor 

coverings, and end use suggest that the decision regarding a vapor retarding membrane or vapor barrier 

be made by the architect and owner.  

 

If a vapor retarder or vapor barrier is placed below the slab, its location should be based on current 

American Concrete Institute (ACI) guidelines, ACI 302 Guide for Concrete Floor and Slab Construction.  

In some cases, this indicates placement of concrete directly on the vapor retarder or barrier.  Please note 

that the placement of concrete directly on impervious membranes increases the risk of plastic shrinkage 

cracking and slab curling in the concrete.  Construction practices to reduce or eliminate such risk, as 

described in ACI 302, should be employed during concrete placement. 

9.9 Swimming Pool - Groundwater Considerations 

Draining a swimming pool for cleaning or maintenance becomes problematic in areas of high 

groundwater due to the potential of “floating” the shell of the swimming pool, which can result in 

significant damage to the shell.  One option for mitigating this risk includes installing an underslab 

drainage system, consisting of a series of perforated drain pipes embedded in the rock section beneath 

the swimming pool.  The drainpipes should be located not more than 10 feet apart, run perpendicular to 

the long axis of the pool, and should consist of minimum 4-inch-diameter, perforated pipes.  The 

drainpipes should be encased in a minimum of 12 inches of drain rock, with the base of the drain pipes 

located within the lower ⅓ of the rock section.  The drain rock should be of uniform size, 1 to 1½ inches in 

diameter, free of fines, and enveloped in a non-woven geotextile filter/separation fabric.  The drainpipes 

should be graded to maintain positive drainage to a sump or other suitable discharge point.  The system 

could be pumped or otherwise drained when draining of the swimming pool is needed.  The overall 

approach for drainage and design will rest with the pool designer.   

9.10 Flexible Pavements 

 Subgrade Preparation 9.10.1

Pavement subgrade preparation should be in conformance with Section 9.1 of this report.  Pavement 

subgrade surfaces should be crowned (or sloped) for proper drainage in accordance with specifications 

provided by the project civil engineer. 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

308 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 22 of 24 

 Input Parameters 9.10.2

Design of the hot mixed asphaltic concrete (HMAC) pavement sections presented below was based on 

the parameters presented in the following table and the American Association of State Highway and 

Transportation Officials (AASHTO) 1993 “Design of Pavement Structures” manual.  If any of the items 

listed need revised, please contact us and we will reassess the provided design sections.   

 

Table 5  Input Parameters Used in HMAC Pavement Design 

Input Parameter Design Value1  Input Parameter Design Value1 

Pavement Design Life 20 years 
Resilient Modulus  

Subgrade  

(Native Lean Clay)3 
4,500 psi 

Annual Percent Growth 0 percent Crushed Aggregate Base 22,500 psi 

Serviceability 4.2 initial, 2.5 terminal Structural 

Coefficient  

Crushed Aggregate Base 0.10 

Reliability 75 percent Asphalt 0.42 

Standard Deviation 0.49 Vehicle Traffic4 

(ESALs) 

APAO Level I (Very Light) 10,000 

Drainage Factor2 1.0 APAO Level II (Light) 50,000 
1 If any of the above parameters are incorrect, please contact us so that we may revise our recommendations, if warranted. 
2  Assumes good drainage away from pavement, base, and subgrade is achieved by proper crowning of subgrades. 
3 Values based on experience with similar soils in the region.       
4  ESAL = Total 18-Kip equivalent single axle load. Traffic levels taken from Table 3.1 of APAO manual.  If actual traffic levels will be 

above those identified above, the geotechnical engineer should be consulted. 

 Recommended Minimum Sections 9.10.3

The following table presents the minimum HMAC pavement sections for the design traffic levels indicated 

in Table 5 above, based on the referenced AASHTO procedures.   

 

Table 6  Recommended Minimum HMAC Pavement Sections 

Material 

Material Thickness (inches) 

APAO Level I 

(Passenger Car Parking) 

APAO Level II 

(Bus/Entrance/Service Drive Lanes) 

HMAC Pavement  3 4 

Aggregate Base1 7 9 

Subgrade Soils Prepared in conformance with Section 9.1 of this report. 

1 Thickness shown assumes dry weather construction.  Increased base rock sections and/or a geotextile separation fabric may be required 

in wet conditions in order to support construction traffic and protect the subgrade. Refer to Section 9.3 for additional discussion. 

 HMAC Pavement Materials 9.10.4

We recommend pavement aggregate base consist of dense-graded aggregate in conformance with 

Section 02630.10 of the most recent State of Oregon, Standard Specifications for Highway Construction 

(OSSC), with the following additional considerations.  We recommend the material consist of crushed 

rock or gravel, have a maximum particle size of 1½ inches, and have less than 5 percent material passing 

the U.S. Standard No. 200 Sieve.  Aggregate base should be compacted to not less than 95 percent of 

the material’s maximum dry density as determined in general accordance with ASTM D1557 (Modified 

Proctor).   

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

309 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 23 of 24 

 

We recommend asphalt pavement consist of Level 2, ½-inch, dense-graded HMAC in conformance with 

the most recent OSSC.  Asphalt pavement should be compacted to at least 91 percent of the material’s 

theoretical maximum density as determined in general accordance with ASTM D2041 (Rice Specific 

Gravity). 

9.11 Additional Considerations 

 Drainage 9.11.1

Subsurface drains should be connected to the nearest storm drain, on-site stormwater infiltration system 

(designed by others), or other suitable discharge point.  Paved surfaces and grading near or adjacent to 

the building should be sloped to drain away from the building.  Surface water from paved surfaces and 

open spaces should be collected and routed to a suitable discharge point.  Surface water should not be 

directed into foundation drains. 

 Expansive Potential 9.11.2

The near surface native soils consist of lean clay (CL).  Based on experience with similar soils in the area 

of the site, these soils are not considered to be susceptible to appreciable movements from changes in 

moisture content.  Accordingly, no special considerations are required to mitigate expansive potential of 

the near surface soils at the site.   

10.0 RECOMMENDED ADDITIONAL SERVICES 

10.1 Design Review 

Geotechnical design review is of paramount importance.  We recommend the geotechnical design review 

take place prior to releasing bid packets to contractors. As indicated previously, we recommend the 

geotechnical engineer be consulted to provide specific geotechnical recommendations and supplemental 

recommendations for design and construction for the selected foundation system.   

10.2 Observation of Construction 

Satisfactory earthwork, foundation, floor slab, retaining wall, and pavement performance depends to a 

large degree on the quality of construction.  Sufficient observation of the contractor’s activities is a key 

part of determining that the work is completed in accordance with the construction drawings and 

specifications. Subsurface conditions observed during construction should be compared with those 

encountered during subsurface explorations, and recognition of changed conditions often requires 

experience.  We recommend that qualified personnel visit the site with sufficient frequency to detect 

whether subsurface conditions change significantly from those observed to date and anticipated in this 

report.  We recommend the geotechnical engineer or their representative attend a pre-construction 

meeting coordinated by the contractor and/or developer.  The project geotechnical engineer or their 

representative should provide observations and/or testing of at least the following earthwork elements 

during construction: 

 

 Site Stripping & Grubbing 

 Subgrade Preparation for Structural Fills, Shallow Foundations, Retaining Walls, Floor Slabs & 

Pavements 

 Compaction of Structural Fill, Retaining Wall Backfill, & Utility Trench Backfill 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

310 of 460 



Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page 24 of 24 

 Placement of Foundation, Retaining Wall, & Other Drains 

 Compaction of Base Rock for Floor Slabs & Pavements 

 Compaction of HMAC for Pavements 

 

It is imperative that the owner and/or contractor request earthwork observations and testing at a 

frequency sufficient to allow the geotechnical engineer to provide a final letter of compliance for the 

earthwork activities.   

11.0 LIMITATIONS 

The conclusions and recommendations presented in this report are based on the information provided to 

us, results of the field investigation, laboratory data, and professional judgment.  We have prepared this 

report for use by the owner/developer and other members of the design and construction team for the 

proposed development.  The opinions and recommendations contained within this report are forwarded to 

assist in the planning and design process and are not intended to be, nor should they be construed as, a 

warranty of subsurface conditions. 

 

We have made observations based on our explorations that indicate the soil conditions at only those 

specific locations and only to the depths penetrated.  These observations do not necessarily reflect soil 

types, strata thickness, or water level variations that may exist between or away from our explorations.  If 

subsurface conditions vary from those encountered in our site explorations, CGT should be alerted to the 

change in conditions so that we may provide additional geotechnical recommendations, if necessary.  

Observation by experienced geotechnical personnel should be considered an integral part of the 

construction process. 

 

The owner/developer is responsible for ensuring that the project designers and contractors implement our 

recommendations.  When the design has been finalized, prior to releasing bid packets to contractors, we 

recommend that the design drawings and specifications be reviewed by our firm to see that our 

recommendations have been interpreted and implemented as intended.  If design changes are made, we 

request that we be retained to review our conclusions and recommendations and to provide a written 

modification or verification.  Design review and construction phase testing and observation services are 

beyond the scope of our current assignment, but will be provided for an additional fee.   

 

The scope of our services does not include services related to construction safety precautions, and our 

recommendations are not intended to direct the contractor’s methods, techniques, sequences, or 

procedures, except as specifically described in our report for consideration in design. 

 

Geotechnical engineering and the geologic sciences are characterized by a degree of uncertainty.  

Professional judgments presented in this report are based on our understanding of the proposed 

construction, familiarity with similar projects in the area, and on general experience.  Within the limitations 

of scope, schedule, and budget, our services have been executed in accordance with the generally 

accepted practices in this area at the time this report was prepared; no warranty, expressed or implied, is 

made.  This report is subject to review and should not be relied upon after a period of three years. 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

311 of 460 



���������	��

���������	
������

� 	��� ����

�������	
����

�������

����������������
������	����
������������������������ !�"�����

 ����!��"�������#$# �
%�&���'(� ����������!������ ����!��
�)�*!�
�#��+��"!����'

���,

�
�




����������	
���������������������������������������
���������� !����"#$%&"'�

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

312 of 460 



���������	��


�������

������

� �� 	��

	
���
�
��
����

������
�������
�����
����
��� �!
"��"����
�!
��#�����
����
��� �!���
$%�!
&'
(�	�)
���

����
�"��#�
�
$*+�
()
����
,+��
"��"����
�!
�#��
�������
*���������
$��"��-���
	&'
(�	�)'

-#��.���
�!
/��0



����������	
���������������������������������������
���������� !����"#$%&"'

��#������+
�#����0

,��1#-����
$2�++
��
		3	3()
�����++��
��
45	0

��.�+�����#�
����
�#����0

45	

45(

453

456

45�

��5�

��56

��53

��5(

��5	

(�7

(�7

��7

(�7

�

�������	�

���������#�
#.
����
"�#�#���"��
��#��
#�
������
3	

	
(

3
6

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

313 of 460 



���������	��

�������	�	
����

��������	��
���	���	�������������	�����������������	���������������	������	�����������������������	��������	����

��������

��������	�
��

������
�����
�����
����
����
��
��������
��������





����������	
���������������������������������������
���������� !����"#$%&"'�

��������	�
��

������
���������
������
	������
���





��������	�
��

������
���������
������
	������

����
��������
��������
��
����������





��������	�
��

������
����
������
	������
����
��������
��������
��

����������





ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

314 of 460 



�������	
�����

�
����������������	
���������������������������������������
���������� !����"#$%&"'�

���	����
����������	����	��	
��

�����
��

���	��	�

��������	
��������	�������	�������	����	��	����	�����

��������	
������������	�������	�������	����	��	����	�����

������������	
������������	�������	�������	����	��	����	�����

���������	��

��� !�	
�!"�	
����


�����
�����������	 ����#	�$��$	 ��	 �	 $���%$���	 ���������	 �$��	 ��������	��	�������������	 ��	 �$�	
���������	�����������	�������$	��	����	���	�&���	����	
����	��	��$�����#	����%�������	������			

�������������
�����������	
'���	����#	�$��$	��������	��	�������	�	()%��	��������#	$�������	�����	
����	��	*+%��	��������	�����	����	����	�$�	�����	����	�	*)%��	����	$�����	���$	�	,+)%��	����%����	
$���$��		�$�	����$	��	�����������	��	�����������	��	��������	���	���$	����	��	�$�	$������			

���������������������
�����������	 
-'���	����#	�$��$	��������	��	�������	*�*%���$	��������#	�����	
����	���$	�	*�,%���$	��������#	����	 ���	 ����	 �$�	�����	����	�	./%����	����	$�����	���$	�	*/%���$	
����%����	$���$��		�$�	�����	��	�����	��&����	��	�����	�$�	�����	����	��	��������	���	���$	*)	�����������	

.�0,	 ���$���	��	������������	 	�$�	����	����	 ���	���$	 ��������	 ��	 �$��	���������	 ��	 �$�	�������������	
1��	"+)	������		

�������� ��#	�	.%���$#	�����%��������#	�$��%������#	�����	���	��$	�������	
21�3	'*/45�	���	��	���%
����	���������6	���������	�������	��	����%�������	������	

!��������"���������	

#���$��������$�����#	�	.%���$#	������%��������#	�����%�����	��������

���������
�������������%�	
1���#	�$��$	��������	��	�������	�	(%���$#	������%��������#	�����%�����	���%
����	����	�$�	���������	���������	���$	��������	�����	��	�	*,)%����#	��������	$�����	�������	�	�����%
���	��������	��	.)	���$��	
21�3	'*/4+��		�$�	�����	��	�����	
"%�����	��&����	��	�����	�$�	�������	
�$�	 ����	*(	 ���$��	��	��	*4%���$	������	 ��������	 ��	���	 ��	�$��������7�	 �$�	����	����������6	��	 ��������	
������6�		�$�	�����	���	���	�&�����	���$	��	��������	$�����	��	������	�$�	1����		�$�	$�����	����%

"+)	
�������7���	1��	"%�����	���	�����	��	�$�	������	�����

8���	������

����������	�������	�$�	9�1�	1�������	"��	())	1����	
21�3	'**,)�

3�:	3������	�������	
21�3	'((*+�

2��������	������	
���������6�	����	������	
21�3	',.*4��		�;	:	�������	;�����		;;	:	;�&��	;�����

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

315 of 460 



����������	�
��
������������
�	��	

������ ���	
�������������������������	
�
���������������������� !��"���������

��#��$��%����"��&��������'"�
����&�
������&��������
(�#���'��"�
)&#'��������������������
	�!�&��*&#���!#+�,��++&�-�.#���*&#/#���,�
	& #�'�,���.��,���&�'��&�,�	/�&000�
*���� �'��#.���&�1�&.#�����1���,�2���#.���������,�)���,�����$��.,�
��'0

���������������

34�����0�5��..�

1���
��/��.�
��#&��

1���
��#&��

6��������'!����
�'#���&�/�3�������0�
�.�&������������0�

7���/�&�

����	���������	��
���
����	����

*&#��#&��#��&�#� 1���*&#��/��'�!���$����#��&�#��

�()�
��8#���

%����"
�()�

��8#���
)�&$#����9�

�!�#&���&� �!
(�':���(����9�
;'�9��/

�������'" �#�#��(���&#����)���

)!�.<�+���&#����#<�������'!�����= �0�6����0�� �0������0�� ��9�

%�99�'��������/���<"��!�.<#����6� ��0�� �=0�� >#&/

�
��	�����
�	��	

��&#��9��/������&#�� ��#"�&���9�.#��&�#���&�'���&��?�..��!�':

����	���	� �����	����	� ����	���� 
�������

���������
�������������	�
������	�� �����!���������
������"�����������	
�#����������	�
���!$%&'"

��#&���
*&#��/�
�������

��&���!#�
����&��#��/�
����0�����

���$�

1���*&#��/�
�������

�����&�.�&��
(#�������0�
�������$�

*&#$����������&�.�&��
��������	��
�!����0�=����$�

�#/�����&���!#�
����
��������!��
��0�=����$�

�����#/���#"��
@�A�(�#���'��"�1���

�����#/���#"��
>� !�(�#���'��"�1���

���#�
*&#$���

*&#$����
A��!�1���

���#�
�#/�

�#/��
A��!�1���

>� !�"�	& #�'������

*2 2���� &#/�/� &#$����#/� &#$��B�#/�.�-��&��,���������&���9���

*( (��&�"� &#/�/� &#$����#/� &#$��B�#/�.�-��&��,���������&���9���

*� ����"� &#$���,� &#$��B�#/B�����.�-��&��

*� ��#"�"� &#$���,� &#$��B�#/B'�#"�.�-��&��

�2 2���� &#/�/��#/��#/� &#$���"��#/�,���������&���9���

�( (��&�"� &#/�/��#/��#/� &#$���"��#/�,���������&���9���

�� ����"��#/�,��#/B�����.�-��&��

�� ��#"�"��#/�,��#/B'�#"�.�-��&��

�@ ��& #�'������,�&�':�9���&,�'�#"�"������

�@ ��& #�'�'�#"���9���A����.�/��.�+�#���'��",� &#$���"�'�#"�,��#/"�'�#"�,���#�'�#"�

	@ 	& #�'������#/��& #�'�����"�'�#"���9���A�+�#���'��"

�> ��& #�'������,�'�#"�"������

�> ��& #�'�'�#"���9�!� !�+�#���'��",�9#��'�#"�

	> 	& #�'�'�#"���9�.�/��.����!� !�+�#���'��"

() (�#�,�.�':,�#/���!�&�!� !�"��& #�'������

�=���C �0������0�� �0������0�� ��/��.����99

�C����� �0������0�� �0������0�� ���99


�#/��"��/���/�<"��!�.<#��������6� �0������0�� �0�����=0�� 8�&"����99

)!�.<�+���&#����.�&���!#����'!�3� 3�0�6 3�0�� 8�&"���9�

4������4=���0=���..��
4=����4������..��
4�����4=��=05��

�#/

�������'!��

*&#$��
4=����05���'!�
�05���'!���6��'!��

��<<���

1���

����= 8�&"�@����

=����� @����

�����6� ��/��.�%���

6������ %���

��� 8�&"�%���

�#D�&�%�$�����
*&��+�
�".<���

)"+�'#���#.��

�	���	����

>�.� ��������#.��'���&�#/�#++�#&#'���!&�� !���

@�������>#���.#���+�':�����9�/�99�&��������,������!�':����

7��':"�����!���$��������!#��'#�<��<&�:��/�A������.#���
# ��#&���.+��A!�'!�&������9�&�!�&�<&�#:/�A

���':���/�/�����&�#��/,�+����!�/,��&� ����"�9&#'��&��+�#��

1����&�/���7&�#:��#�� �/�9�����9&#'��&��+�#��

@#.�#��/�������&#�� ��#"�&��3�?�..��!�':

�(�

�(�

�)�

�)

������@�A�
@�A������/��.�
��/��.����>� !�
��/��.����>� !

������@�A�
��/��.����>� !�
@�A������/��.�
>� !����8�&"�>� !

���A����
#+�/�
����������A�
����������A�

���

�
��/��.�

@�A������/��.�
>� !

2�����8���<���9&���A#��&,���:��"�9&�.�<���A�A#��&��#<��

��������@�#$���.�����&����!#/�

%#.+�����.��.�����&��<�����#$�����.�����&����!#/

%&"����<��'���9�.�����&�,�/���",�/&"�����!�����'!

���������	�����������	
���	�����	��������	��������	���	��������������	��	�����	���	�����������	���
����	���	
���	�����	��������	��������	���	������
����	���	 �������������	��	�����	!"�����#������	���������$	���������	��

*+���,�-

����

����������	
���������������������������������������
���������� !����"#$%&"'

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

316 of 460 



GP
Fill

CL

CL

2-5-4
(9)

2-3-3
(6)

2-3-3
(6)

3-3-4
(7)

2-4-5
(9)

7-11-13
(24)

8

5

6

7

9

27

92

SPT
1

SH
2

SPT
3

SPT
4

SPT
5

SPT
6

SPT
7

89

100

100

100

100

100

100

ASPHALT:  Approximately 3 inches thick.
GRAVEL FILL:  Gray. damp, angular, and up to 1
inch in diameter (resembles 1"-0 crushed rock).
LEAN CLAY:  Medium stiff, light brown, damp,
moderate plasticity.  {Missoula Flood Deposits}

LEAN CLAY:  Medium stiff, brown to red-brown,
moist, moderate plasticity, with sand-sized
fragments of decomposed rock.  {Troutdale
Formation}

Groundwater measured in piezometer at
approximately 13½ feet bgs on October 20, 2015

Stiff below about 15 feet bgs.

Very stiff, mottled brown with gray below about 20
feet bgs.

• Boring terminated at a depth of about 21½ feet
bgs.
• No groundwater or caving observed in borehole.
• Piezometer (Well ID 113132) installed in
borehole, screened interval between 10 and 20
feet bgs.  Backfilled with silica sand, capped with
quickrete grout and flushmount well monument.

LOGGED BY M. David Irish

GROUND ELEVATION 206 ft

DRILLING CONTRACTOR Subsurface Technologies

ELEVATION DATUM City of Newberg - See Figure 2DATE STARTED 10/1/15

EQUIPMENT Diedrich D-50 Track

DRILLING METHOD Mud Rotary

SEEPAGE ---

GROUNDWATER AT END ---

GROUNDWATER 456 HOURS AFTER DRILLING 13.5 ft / El. 192.5 ftNOTES

REVIEWED BY Jeff Jones

U
.S

.C
.S

.

B
LO

W
C

O
U

N
T

S
(N

S
P

T
 V

A
LU

E
)  SPT NSPT VALUE 

20 40 60 80

N
60

 V
A

LU
E

E
T

R
H

am
m

er
 =

 7
1%

G
R

O
U

N
D

W
A

T
E

R

D
E

P
T

H
(f

t)

0

5

10

15

20

E
LE

V
A

T
IO

N
(f

t)

205

200

195

190

185

180

D
R

Y
 U

N
IT

 W
T

.
(p

cf
)

S
A

M
P

LE
 T

Y
P

E
N

U
M

B
E

R

G
R

A
P

H
IC

LO
G

Boring B-1

FIGURE 6

R
E

C
O

V
E

R
Y

 %
(R

Q
D

)

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION
20 40 60 80

PL LL

PAGE  1  OF  1

MC

 FINES CONTENT (%) 
20 40 60 800 100

PROJECT NAME Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements

PROJECT LOCATION 1802 Haworth Ave - Newberg, OR

CLIENT Chehalem Park and Recreation District

PROJECT NUMBER G1504218

Carlson Geotechnical
7185 SW Sandburg St., Suite 110
Tigard, OR 97281
Telephone:  503-601-8250
Fax:  503-601-8254

C
G

T
 B

O
R

E
H

O
LE

  G
15

04
13

1.
G

P
J 

 G
IN

T
 U

S
.G

D
T

  1
0/

23
/1

5

24 44

35

32

31

29

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

317 of 460 



GP
Fill

CL

CL

3-4-5
(9)

2-3-3
(6)

2-2-3
(5)

2-3-5
(8)

3-3-4
(7)

3-5-7
(12)

9-12-16
(28)

8

5

4

8

7

12

31

SPT
1

SPT
2

SPT
3

SPT
4

SPT
5

SPT
6

SPT
7

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

ASPHALT:  Approximately 3 inches thick.
GRAVEL FILL:  Gray. damp, angular, and up to 1
inch in diameter (resembles 1"-0 crushed rock).
LEAN CLAY:  Medium stiff, light brown, damp,
moderate plasticity.  {Missoula Flood Deposits}

Mottled brown and gray below about 5 feet bgs.

LEAN CLAY:  Medium stiff, brown to red-brown,
moist, moderate plasticity, with sand-sized
fragments of decomposed rock.  {Troutdale
Formation}

Stiff below about 15 feet bgs.

Very stiff, mottled brown with gray below about 20
feet bgs.

• Boring terminated at a depth of about 21½ feet
bgs.
• No groundwater or caving observed in borehole.
• Boring loosely backfilled with granular bentonite
and capped with cold patch asphalt upon
completion.

LOGGED BY Jeff Jones

GROUND ELEVATION 206.5 ft

DRILLING CONTRACTOR Subsurface Technologies

ELEVATION DATUM City of Newberg - See Figure 2DATE STARTED 10/2/15

EQUIPMENT Diedrich D-50 Track

DRILLING METHOD Mud Rotary

SEEPAGE ---

GROUNDWATER AT END ---

GROUNDWATER AFTER DRILLING ---NOTES

REVIEWED BY Jeff Jones

U
.S

.C
.S

.

B
LO

W
C

O
U

N
T

S
(N

S
P

T
 V

A
LU

E
)  SPT NSPT VALUE 

20 40 60 80

N
60

 V
A

LU
E

E
T

R
H

am
m

er
 =

 7
1%

G
R

O
U

N
D

W
A

T
E

R

D
E

P
T

H
(f

t)

0

5

10

15

20

E
LE

V
A

T
IO

N
(f

t)

205

200

195

190

185

180

D
R

Y
 U

N
IT

 W
T

.
(p

cf
)

S
A

M
P

LE
 T

Y
P

E
N

U
M

B
E

R

G
R

A
P

H
IC

LO
G

Boring B-2

FIGURE 7

R
E

C
O

V
E

R
Y

 %
(R

Q
D

)

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION
20 40 60 80

PL LL

PAGE  1  OF  1

MC

 FINES CONTENT (%) 
20 40 60 800 100

PROJECT NAME Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements

PROJECT LOCATION 1802 Haworth Ave - Newberg, OR

CLIENT Chehalem Park and Recreation District

PROJECT NUMBER G1504218

Carlson Geotechnical
7185 SW Sandburg St., Suite 110
Tigard, OR 97281
Telephone:  503-601-8250
Fax:  503-601-8254

C
G

T
 B

O
R

E
H

O
LE

  G
15

04
13

1.
G

P
J 

 G
IN

T
 U

S
.G

D
T

  1
0/

23
/1

5

29

39

29

29

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

318 of 460 



GP
Fill

CL

CL

3-4-5
(9)

2-4-5
(9)

2-3-3
(6)

3-5-6
(11)

3-5-6
(11)

7-12-15
(27)

7-10-12
(22)

8

8

5

10

11

30

25

102

SPT
1

SPT
2

SPT
3

SH
4

SPT
5

SPT
6

SPT
7

SPT
8

78

100

100

100

89

100

100

100

ASPHALT:  Approximately 3 inches thick.
GRAVEL FILL:  Gray, moist, angular, and up to 1
inch in diameter (resembles 1"-0 crushed rock).
LEAN CLAY:  Medium stiff, light brown, damp,
moderate plasticity.  {Missoula Flood Deposits}

Mottled brown and gray below about 5 feet bgs.

LEAN CLAY:  Stiff, brown to red-brown, moist,
moderate plasticity, with sand-sized fragments of
decomposed rock.  {Troutdale Formation}

Very stiff, mottled brown and gray below about 20
feet bgs.

LOGGED BY M. David Irish

GROUND ELEVATION 209 ft

DRILLING CONTRACTOR Subsurface Technologies

ELEVATION DATUM City of Newberg - See Figure 2DATE STARTED 10/1/15

EQUIPMENT Diedrich D-50 Track

DRILLING METHOD Mud Rotary

SEEPAGE ---

GROUNDWATER AT END ---

GROUNDWATER AFTER DRILLING ---NOTES

REVIEWED BY Jeff Jones

U
.S

.C
.S

.

B
LO

W
C

O
U

N
T

S
(N

S
P

T
 V

A
LU

E
)  SPT NSPT VALUE 

20 40 60 80

N
60

 V
A

LU
E

E
T

R
H

am
m

er
 =

 7
1%

G
R

O
U

N
D

W
A

T
E

R

D
E

P
T

H
(f

t)

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

E
LE

V
A

T
IO

N
(f

t)

205

200

195

190

185

180

D
R

Y
 U

N
IT

 W
T

.
(p

cf
)

S
A

M
P

LE
 T

Y
P

E
N

U
M

B
E

R

G
R

A
P

H
IC

LO
G

Boring B-3

FIGURE 8

R
E

C
O

V
E

R
Y

 %
(R

Q
D

)

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION
20 40 60 80

PL LL

PAGE  1  OF  2

MC

(Continued Next Page)

 FINES CONTENT (%) 
20 40 60 800 100

PROJECT NAME Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements

PROJECT LOCATION 1802 Haworth Ave - Newberg, OR

CLIENT Chehalem Park and Recreation District

PROJECT NUMBER G1504218

Carlson Geotechnical
7185 SW Sandburg St., Suite 110
Tigard, OR 97281
Telephone:  503-601-8250
Fax:  503-601-8254

C
G

T
 B

O
R

E
H

O
LE

  G
15

04
13

1.
G

P
J 

 G
IN

T
 U

S
.G

D
T

  1
0/

23
/1

5

29 54

26 46

23 50

36

34

26

31

30

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

319 of 460 



CL

5-8-11
(19)

5-7-10
(17)

7-5-9
(14)

4-7-10
(17)

5-8-10
(18)

21

20

17

20

21

SPT
9

SPT
10

SPT
11

SPT
12

SPT
13

100

100

100

100

100

LEAN CLAY:  Stiff, brown to red-brown, moist,
moderate plasticity, with sand-sized fragments of
decomposed rock.  {Troutdale Formation}
(continued)

• Boring terminated at a depth of about 51½ feet
bgs.
• No groundwater or caving observed in borehole.
• Boring loosely backfilled with granular bentonite
and capped with cold patch asphalt upon
completion.

U
.S

.C
.S

.

B
LO

W
C

O
U

N
T

S
(N

S
P

T
 V

A
LU

E
)  SPT NSPT VALUE 

20 40 60 80

N
60

 V
A

LU
E

E
T

R
H

am
m

er
 =

 7
1%

G
R

O
U

N
D

W
A

T
E

R

D
E

P
T

H
(f

t)

30

35

40

45

50

E
LE

V
A

T
IO

N
(f

t)

175

170

165

160

155

150

145

D
R

Y
 U

N
IT

 W
T

.
(p

cf
)

S
A

M
P

LE
 T

Y
P

E
N

U
M

B
E

R

G
R

A
P

H
IC

LO
G

Boring B-3

FIGURE 8

R
E

C
O

V
E

R
Y

 %
(R

Q
D

)

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION
20 40 60 80

PL LL

PAGE  2  OF  2

MC

 FINES CONTENT (%) 
20 40 60 800 100

PROJECT NAME Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements

PROJECT LOCATION 1802 Haworth Ave - Newberg, OR

CLIENT Chehalem Park and Recreation District

PROJECT NUMBER G1504218

Carlson Geotechnical
7185 SW Sandburg St., Suite 110
Tigard, OR 97281
Telephone:  503-601-8250
Fax:  503-601-8254

C
G

T
 B

O
R

E
H

O
LE

  G
15

04
13

1.
G

P
J 

 G
IN

T
 U

S
.G

D
T

  1
0/

23
/1

5

34

42

36

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

320 of 460 



GP
Fill

CL

CL

2-4-5
(9)

2-4-4
(8)

2-3-3
(6)

2-2-3
(5)

2-3-5
(8)

5-15-19
(34)

8

7

6

5

8

38

SPT
1

SH
2

SPT
3

SPT
4

SPT
5

SPT
6

SPT
7

56

0

100

100

100

100

100

ASPHALT:  Approximately 3 inches thick.
GRAVEL FILL:  Gray. damp, angular, and up to 1
inch in diameter (resembles 1"-0 crushed rock).
LEAN CLAY:  Medium stiff, mottled brown and
gray, damp, moderate plasticity.  {Missoula Flood
Deposits}

Brown below about 7½ feet bgs.

LEAN CLAY:  Medium stiff, brown to red-brown,
moist, moderate plasticity, with sand-sized
fragments of decomposed rock.  {Troutdale
Formation}

Very stiff, mottled brown with gray below about 20
feet bgs.

• Boring terminated at a depth of about 21½ feet
bgs.
• No groundwater or caving observed in borehole.
• Boring loosely backfilled with granular bentonite
and capped with cold patch asphalt upon
completion.

LOGGED BY Jeff Jones

GROUND ELEVATION 206.5 ft

DRILLING CONTRACTOR Subsurface Technologies

ELEVATION DATUM City of Newberg - See Figure 2DATE STARTED 10/2/15

EQUIPMENT Diedrich D-50 Track

DRILLING METHOD Mud Rotary

SEEPAGE ---

GROUNDWATER AT END ---

GROUNDWATER AFTER DRILLING ---NOTES

REVIEWED BY Jeff Jones

U
.S

.C
.S

.

B
LO

W
C

O
U

N
T

S
(N

S
P

T
 V

A
LU

E
)  SPT NSPT VALUE 

20 40 60 80

N
60

 V
A

LU
E

E
T

R
H

am
m

er
 =

 7
1%

G
R

O
U

N
D

W
A

T
E

R

D
E

P
T

H
(f

t)

0

5

10

15

20

E
LE

V
A

T
IO

N
(f

t)

205

200

195

190

185

180

D
R

Y
 U

N
IT

 W
T

.
(p

cf
)

S
A

M
P

LE
 T

Y
P

E
N

U
M

B
E

R

G
R

A
P

H
IC

LO
G

Boring B-4

FIGURE 9

R
E

C
O

V
E

R
Y

 %
(R

Q
D

)

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION
20 40 60 80

PL LL

PAGE  1  OF  1

MC

 FINES CONTENT (%) 
20 40 60 800 100

PROJECT NAME Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements

PROJECT LOCATION 1802 Haworth Ave - Newberg, OR

CLIENT Chehalem Park and Recreation District

PROJECT NUMBER G1504218

Carlson Geotechnical
7185 SW Sandburg St., Suite 110
Tigard, OR 97281
Telephone:  503-601-8250
Fax:  503-601-8254

C
G

T
 B

O
R

E
H

O
LE

  G
15

04
13

1.
G

P
J 

 G
IN

T
 U

S
.G

D
T

  1
0/

23
/1

5

34

35

31

24

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

321 of 460 



CL

CL

5-5-7
(12)

3-3-4
(7)

3-3-5
(8)

2-2-4
(6)

2-2-4
(6)

4-5-8
(13)

11

6

8

6

6

15

90

SPT
1

SH
2

SPT
3

SPT
4

SPT
5

SPT
6

SPT
7

78

100

100

100

100

100

100

LEAN CLAY:  Stiff, mottled light brown and gray,
moist, moderate plasticity.  {Missoula Flood
Deposits}

LEAN CLAY:  Medium stiff to stiff, mottled brown
and gray, moist, moderate plasticity, with
sand-sized fragments of decomposed rock.
{Troutdale Formation}

Very stiff, mottled brown with gray below about 20
feet bgs.

• Boring terminated at a depth of about 21½ feet
bgs.
• No groundwater or caving observed in borehole.
• Boring loosely backfilled with granular bentonite
and capped with cold patch asphalt upon
completion.

LOGGED BY Jeff Jones

GROUND ELEVATION 207 ft

DRILLING CONTRACTOR Subsurface Technologies

ELEVATION DATUM City of Newberg - See Figure 2DATE STARTED 10/2/15

EQUIPMENT Diedrich D-50 Track

DRILLING METHOD Mud Rotary

SEEPAGE ---

GROUNDWATER AT END ---

GROUNDWATER AFTER DRILLING ---NOTES

REVIEWED BY Jeff Jones

U
.S

.C
.S

.

B
LO

W
C

O
U

N
T

S
(N

S
P

T
 V

A
LU

E
)  SPT NSPT VALUE 

20 40 60 80

N
60

 V
A

LU
E

E
T

R
H

am
m

er
 =

 7
1%

G
R

O
U

N
D

W
A

T
E

R

D
E

P
T

H
(f

t)

0

5

10

15

20

E
LE

V
A

T
IO

N
(f

t)

205

200

195

190

185

180

D
R

Y
 U

N
IT

 W
T

.
(p

cf
)

S
A

M
P

LE
 T

Y
P

E
N

U
M

B
E

R

G
R

A
P

H
IC

LO
G

Boring B-5

FIGURE 10

R
E

C
O

V
E

R
Y

 %
(R

Q
D

)

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION
20 40 60 80

PL LL

PAGE  1  OF  1

MC

 FINES CONTENT (%) 
20 40 60 800 100

PROJECT NAME Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements

PROJECT LOCATION 1802 Haworth Ave - Newberg, OR

CLIENT Chehalem Park and Recreation District

PROJECT NUMBER G1504218

Carlson Geotechnical
7185 SW Sandburg St., Suite 110
Tigard, OR 97281
Telephone:  503-601-8250
Fax:  503-601-8254

C
G

T
 B

O
R

E
H

O
LE

  G
15

04
13

1.
G

P
J 

 G
IN

T
 U

S
.G

D
T

  1
0/

23
/1

5

31

31

35

0

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

322 of 460 



CL

GRAB
1

LEAN CLAY:  Brown, moist, moderate plasticity,
rootlets in upper 4 inches.  {Missoula Flood
Deposits}

Infiltration test (IT-1) performed in borehole at 4
feet bgs.

• Boring terminated at a depth of 4 feet bgs.
• No groundwater or caving observed in borehole.
• Boring loosely backfilled with cuttings and
granular bentonite.

LOGGED BY M. David Irish

GROUND ELEVATION 203 ft

DRILLING CONTRACTOR Subsurface Technologies

ELEVATION DATUM City of Newberg - See Figure 2DATE STARTED 10/1/15

EQUIPMENT Diedrich D-50 Track

DRILLING METHOD 8" OD Hollow Stem Auger

SEEPAGE ---

GROUNDWATER AT END ---

GROUNDWATER AFTER DRILLING ---NOTES

REVIEWED BY Jeff Jones

U
.S

.C
.S

.

B
LO

W
C

O
U

N
T

S
(N

S
P

T
 V

A
LU

E
)  SPT NSPT VALUE 

20 40 60 80

N
60

 V
A

LU
E

G
R

O
U

N
D

W
A

T
E

R

D
E

P
T

H
(f

t)

0

1

2

3

4

E
LE

V
A

T
IO

N
(f

t)

202

201

200

199

198

D
R

Y
 U

N
IT

 W
T

.
(p

cf
)

S
A

M
P

LE
 T

Y
P

E
N

U
M

B
E

R

G
R

A
P

H
IC

LO
G

Boring IT-1

FIGURE 11

R
E

C
O

V
E

R
Y

 %
(R

Q
D

)

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION
20 40 60 80

PL LL

PAGE  1  OF  1

MC

 FINES CONTENT (%) 
20 40 60 800 100

PROJECT NAME Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements

PROJECT LOCATION 1802 Haworth Ave - Newberg, OR

CLIENT Chehalem Park and Recreation District

PROJECT NUMBER G1504218

Carlson Geotechnical
7185 SW Sandburg St., Suite 110
Tigard, OR 97281
Telephone:  503-601-8250
Fax:  503-601-8254

C
G

T
 B

O
R

E
H

O
LE

  G
15

04
13

1.
G

P
J 

 G
IN

T
 U

S
.G

D
T

  1
0/

23
/1

5
ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

323 of 460 



ML
FIll

CL

GRAB
1

GRAVELLY SILT FILL:  Brown, damp, moderate
plasticity, with angular, fine (<¾-inch) gravel.

LEAN CLAY:  Brown, moist, moderate plasticity,
rootlets in upper 3 inches.  {Missoula Flood
Deposits}

Infiltration test (IT-2) performed in borehole at 4
feet bgs.

• Boring terminated at a depth of 4 feet bgs.
• No groundwater or caving observed in borehole.
• Boring loosely backfilled with cuttings and
granular bentonite.

LOGGED BY M. David Irish

GROUND ELEVATION 208 ft

DRILLING CONTRACTOR Subsurface Technologies

ELEVATION DATUM City of Newberg - See Figure 2DATE STARTED 10/1/15

EQUIPMENT Diedrich D-50 Track

DRILLING METHOD 8" OD Hollow Stem Auger

SEEPAGE ---

GROUNDWATER AT END ---

GROUNDWATER AFTER DRILLING ---NOTES

REVIEWED BY Jeff Jones

U
.S

.C
.S

.

B
LO

W
C

O
U

N
T

S
(N

S
P

T
 V

A
LU

E
)  SPT NSPT VALUE 

20 40 60 80

N
60

 V
A

LU
E

G
R

O
U

N
D

W
A

T
E

R

D
E

P
T

H
(f

t)

0

1

2

3

4

E
LE

V
A

T
IO

N
(f

t)

207

206

205

204

203

D
R

Y
 U

N
IT

 W
T

.
(p

cf
)

S
A

M
P

LE
 T

Y
P

E
N

U
M

B
E

R

G
R

A
P

H
IC

LO
G

Boring IT-2

FIGURE 12

R
E

C
O

V
E

R
Y

 %
(R

Q
D

)

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION
20 40 60 80

PL LL

PAGE  1  OF  1

MC

 FINES CONTENT (%) 
20 40 60 800 100

PROJECT NAME Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements

PROJECT LOCATION 1802 Haworth Ave - Newberg, OR

CLIENT Chehalem Park and Recreation District

PROJECT NUMBER G1504218

Carlson Geotechnical
7185 SW Sandburg St., Suite 110
Tigard, OR 97281
Telephone:  503-601-8250
Fax:  503-601-8254

C
G

T
 B

O
R

E
H

O
LE

  G
15

04
13

1.
G

P
J 

 G
IN

T
 U

S
.G

D
T

  1
0/

23
/1

5
ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

324 of 460 



CL

GRAB
1

LEAN CLAY:  Brown, moist, moderate plasticity,
rootlets in upper 4 inches.  {Missoula Flood
Deposits}

Infiltration test (IT-3) performed in borehole at 4
feet bgs.

• Boring terminated at a depth of 4 feet bgs.
• No groundwater or caving observed in borehole.
• Boring loosely backfilled with cuttings and
granular bentonite.

LOGGED BY M. David Irish

GROUND ELEVATION 208 ft

DRILLING CONTRACTOR Subsurface Technologies

ELEVATION DATUM City of Newberg - See Figure 2DATE STARTED 10/1/15

EQUIPMENT Diedrich D-50 Track

DRILLING METHOD 8" OD Hollow Stem Auger

SEEPAGE ---

GROUNDWATER AT END ---

GROUNDWATER AFTER DRILLING ---NOTES

REVIEWED BY Jeff Jones

U
.S

.C
.S

.

B
LO

W
C

O
U

N
T

S
(N

S
P

T
 V

A
LU

E
)  SPT NSPT VALUE 

20 40 60 80

N
60

 V
A

LU
E

G
R

O
U

N
D

W
A

T
E

R

D
E

P
T

H
(f

t)

0

1

2

3

4

E
LE

V
A

T
IO

N
(f

t)

207

206

205

204

203

D
R

Y
 U

N
IT

 W
T

.
(p

cf
)

S
A

M
P

LE
 T

Y
P

E
N

U
M

B
E

R

G
R

A
P

H
IC

LO
G

Boring IT-3

FIGURE 13

R
E

C
O

V
E

R
Y

 %
(R

Q
D

)

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION
20 40 60 80

PL LL

PAGE  1  OF  1

MC

 FINES CONTENT (%) 
20 40 60 800 100

PROJECT NAME Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements

PROJECT LOCATION 1802 Haworth Ave - Newberg, OR

CLIENT Chehalem Park and Recreation District

PROJECT NUMBER G1504218

Carlson Geotechnical
7185 SW Sandburg St., Suite 110
Tigard, OR 97281
Telephone:  503-601-8250
Fax:  503-601-8254

C
G

T
 B

O
R

E
H

O
LE

  G
15

04
13

1.
G

P
J 

 G
IN

T
 U

S
.G

D
T

  1
0/

23
/1

5
ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

325 of 460 



CL

GRAB
1

LEAN CLAY:  Brown, moist, moderate plasticity,
rootlets in upper 4 inches.  {Missoula Flood
Deposits}

Infiltration test (IT-4) performed in borehole at 4
feet bgs.

• Boring terminated at a depth of 4 feet bgs.
• No groundwater or caving observed in borehole.
• Boring loosely backfilled with cuttings and
granular bentonite.

LOGGED BY M. David Irish

GROUND ELEVATION 209.5 ft

DRILLING CONTRACTOR Subsurface Technologies

ELEVATION DATUM City of Newberg - See Figure 2DATE STARTED 10/1/15

EQUIPMENT Diedrich D-50 Track

DRILLING METHOD 8" OD Hollow Stem Auger

SEEPAGE ---

GROUNDWATER AT END ---

GROUNDWATER AFTER DRILLING ---NOTES

REVIEWED BY Jeff Jones

U
.S

.C
.S

.

B
LO

W
C

O
U

N
T

S
(N

S
P

T
 V

A
LU

E
)  SPT NSPT VALUE 

20 40 60 80

N
60

 V
A

LU
E

G
R

O
U

N
D

W
A

T
E

R

D
E

P
T

H
(f

t)

0

1

2

3

4

E
LE

V
A

T
IO

N
(f

t)

209

208

207

206

205

D
R

Y
 U

N
IT

 W
T

.
(p

cf
)

S
A

M
P

LE
 T

Y
P

E
N

U
M

B
E

R

G
R

A
P

H
IC

LO
G

Boring IT-4

FIGURE 14

R
E

C
O

V
E

R
Y

 %
(R

Q
D

)

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION
20 40 60 80

PL LL

PAGE  1  OF  1

MC

 FINES CONTENT (%) 
20 40 60 800 100

PROJECT NAME Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements

PROJECT LOCATION 1802 Haworth Ave - Newberg, OR

CLIENT Chehalem Park and Recreation District

PROJECT NUMBER G1504218

Carlson Geotechnical
7185 SW Sandburg St., Suite 110
Tigard, OR 97281
Telephone:  503-601-8250
Fax:  503-601-8254

C
G

T
 B

O
R

E
H

O
LE

  G
15

04
13

1.
G

P
J 

 G
IN

T
 U

S
.G

D
T

  1
0/

23
/1

5
ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

326 of 460 



CL

GRAB
1

LEAN CLAY:  Brown, moist, moderate plasticity,
rootlets in upper 4 inches.  {Missoula Flood
Deposits}

Infiltration test (IT-5) performed in borehole at 4
feet bgs.

• Boring terminated at a depth of 4 feet bgs.
• No groundwater or caving observed in borehole.
• Boring loosely backfilled with cuttings and
granular bentonite.

LOGGED BY M. David Irish

GROUND ELEVATION 207 ft

DRILLING CONTRACTOR Subsurface Technologies

ELEVATION DATUM City of Newberg - See Figure 2DATE STARTED 10/1/15

EQUIPMENT Diedrich D-50 Track

DRILLING METHOD 8" OD Hollow Stem Auger

SEEPAGE ---

GROUNDWATER AT END ---

GROUNDWATER AFTER DRILLING ---NOTES

REVIEWED BY Jeff Jones

U
.S

.C
.S

.

B
LO

W
C

O
U

N
T

S
(N

S
P

T
 V

A
LU

E
)  SPT NSPT VALUE 

20 40 60 80

N
60

 V
A

LU
E

G
R

O
U

N
D

W
A

T
E

R

D
E

P
T

H
(f

t)

0

1

2

3

4

E
LE

V
A

T
IO

N
(f

t)

206

205

204

203

202

D
R

Y
 U

N
IT

 W
T

.
(p

cf
)

S
A

M
P

LE
 T

Y
P

E
N

U
M

B
E

R

G
R

A
P

H
IC

LO
G

Boring IT-5

FIGURE 15

R
E

C
O

V
E

R
Y

 %
(R

Q
D

)

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION
20 40 60 80

PL LL

PAGE  1  OF  1

MC

 FINES CONTENT (%) 
20 40 60 800 100

PROJECT NAME Chehalem Aquatic & Fitness Center Improvements

PROJECT LOCATION 1802 Haworth Ave - Newberg, OR

CLIENT Chehalem Park and Recreation District

PROJECT NUMBER G1504218

Carlson Geotechnical
7185 SW Sandburg St., Suite 110
Tigard, OR 97281
Telephone:  503-601-8250
Fax:  503-601-8254

C
G

T
 B

O
R

E
H

O
LE

  G
15

04
13

1.
G

P
J 

 G
IN

T
 U

S
.G

D
T

  1
0/

23
/1

5
ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

327 of 460 



���������	
����

�����	������������	
���������������������������������������
���������� !����"#$%&"'���

���������	
�����	�����	��

������

φ���	
��
����
�������������
�����������������������

δ ���
��������
������������������������������� ������
�������
�
��!���"�
��������
�������
������������

��#��������"�����$���������%������!��%���������#��������"�����$������������&���%����!��%��

'��(
�����"���%��������%���
�����������������
������������
���"�������!��%����
��)*+���������,�'-./��
��0+����
,�'--12��
/��3������
���������������%���
����������1�45�����������
��������+�!����
���������������%����)0+����
,�'--12�

�����

����*��"������������������������

*���������!�����+�"���%���������������+�������������+����������&��
6�

*���������!�����+�"���%����7
����������+����"�����+����������&��
6�

3�����7
��������"�
�
���������!���+%������������
�������%
�����

������%���
��
���������&���
β���*��"����������������������������

*������7
��������"�
�
������8%�!���
����%���"���%�����&��
6��

*���������!�����+�"���%����7
��������������������+����������&��
6��

�*�� *����5�

�3� *����5
/�

�3� ���5
/�

�*�� *����5��*������*���5�

δ

δ

1�45

5

β
5&6

�3� ���5
/�

�*������*���5�

δ5

5&6

*��������!��������������"�
�
������8%�!���
����%���"���%�����&��
6��

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

328 of 460 



���������	��

���������	
���	���������

�

��������	
���

β

�

α ��������	
��

�

σ

 σ




����

σ



 = 

σ



 =       [β − ��(β) ���(2α)]
����

�

����

�����������

�����������

��������	
���

������	
��������

σ



 = 
�����
������

���������������

�

��������	
���

σ



����

σ



 = 

����

�����������

�����������

��������	
�����

������	
��������

σ



 = 
�����
�������

����������������

�

����

��

θ

σ



σ

���

σ

�

������
�θ�

σ



������������

�����	������������	
���������������������������������������
���������� !����"#$%&"'�

�������	
���
�
������	�
���

 ��!
"�#�!
��������$�!��%�&����'����$�(�)�������)
�"**��(	����� +� �,��-�#�!�)��.��/�$�0��1�

2�%�����'����%������	�	�!�)�����/�$!�%����		�����$�)/�	�������-�����-&3�4�'���5��/�!���!�4�'���	�$��)�!/��'��)��
$��	!�

������	
���
�
������	�
���

������
���	�����	
��

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

329 of 460 



 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical  P.O. Box 230997, Tigard, Oregon 97281 

    

Carlson Geotechnical 
A Division of Carlson Testing, Inc. 
Phone: (503) 601-8250 
Fax: (503) 601-8254 

Bend Office 
Eugene Office 
Salem Office 
Tigard Office 

(541) 330-9155 
(541) 345-0289 
(503) 589-1252 
(503) 684-3460 

 

 

Appendix A:  Infiltration Testing 
 

 

 

Chehalem Aquatic Center 

1802 Haworth Avenue 

Newberg, Oregon 

 

CGT Project No. G1504218 

 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

 

Prepared For: 

 

 

Chehalem Park and Recreation District 

Mr. Jim McMaster, Park Supervisor 

125 Elliot Road 

Newberg, OR 97132 

 

 

 

Prepared By: 

CARLSON GEOTECHNICAL 

 

 

 

 

 

  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

330 of 460 



Appendix A – Infiltration Testing 

Chehalem Aquatic Center 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page A.2  

A.1.0 CORRESPONDENCE WITH CIVIL ENGINEER 

The project civil engineer (Mr. Mark Hadley of WHPacific) requested infiltration testing at five locations on a 

site map provided to CGT.  Mr. Hadley requested the tests be conducted at depths of about 4 feet below 

ground surface (bgs).  The approximate locations of the infiltration tests (designated as IT-1 through IT-5) are 

shown on the Site Plan, which is attached to the geotechnical report as Figure 2.   

A.2.0 TEST PROCEDURE 

Five infiltration tests were performed within prepared machine-drilled borings on October 2, 2015, in general 

accordance with the 1980 EPA Falling Head Test Method.    

 

The borings were advanced to the test depths using a D50 track-mounted drill rig with an 8-inch diameter 

hollow-stem auger.  Each boring was cleaned out using a 6-inch diameter hand auger prior to inserting a 6-

inch-inner-diameter PVC pipe, which was embedded several inches into the soil at the infiltration test depth.  

Approximately 2 inches of open-graded gravel was placed in the pipes to prevent scouring of the soils.  

Approximately 12 inches of water was poured into the pipes and the soils were allowed to soak overnight in 

accordance with the test method.  After the soaking period, testing was initiated by recording the water level 

within the pipes at 30-minute intervals and calculating the change for each interval.  Four trials were 

administered at each test location.  Upon completion of infiltration testing, the pipes were removed and the 

holes were backfilled with bentonite pellets and the drill spoils (lightly compacted by hand tamping). 

A.3.0 TEST RESULTS 

The following tables present the details, raw data, and calculated infiltration rates observed during testing.  

Please note that the calculated infiltration rates do not include any safety or correction factors.   

 

Table A1: Results of Infiltration Test IT-1 

Test Depth 
4 feet bgs 

Soil Type 
Lean Clay (CL) 

Trial 
Time Interval 

(minutes) 

Drop in Water Level 
(inches) 

Raw Infiltration Rate  
(inches per hour)* 

1 30 0.06 0.125 

2 30 0.06 0.125 

3 30 0.06 0.125 

4 30 0.19 0.375 

* Values calculated are raw (unfactored) rates. 

 
Table A2: Results of Infiltration Test IT-2 

Test Depth 
4 feet bgs 

Soil Type 
Lean Clay (CL) 

Trial 
Time Interval 

(minutes) 

Drop in Water Level 
(inches) 

Raw Infiltration Rate  
(inches per hour)* 

1 30 0.06 0.125 

2 30 0.06 0.125 

3 30 0 0 

4 30 0.06 0.125 

* Values calculated are raw (unfactored) rates. 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

331 of 460 



Appendix A – Infiltration Testing 

Chehalem Aquatic Center 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page A.3  

 
 

Table A3: Results of Infiltration Test IT-3 

Test Depth 
4 feet bgs 

Soil Type 
Lean Clay (CL) 

Trial 
Time Interval 

(minutes) 

Drop in Water Level 
(inches) 

Raw Infiltration Rate  
(inches per hour)* 

1 30 0.25 0.5 

2 30 0.31 0.625 

3 30 0.13 0.25 

4 30 0.19 0.375 

* Values calculated are raw (unfactored) rates. 

 
Table A4: Results of Infiltration Test IT-4 

Test Depth 
4 feet bgs 

Soil Type 
Lean Clay (CL) 

Trial 
Time Interval 

(minutes) 

Drop in Water Level 
(inches) 

Raw Infiltration Rate  
(inches per hour)* 

1 30 0 0 

2 30 0.31 0.625 

3 30 0.13 0.25 

4 30 0.13 0.25 

* Values calculated are raw (unfactored) rates. 

 
Table A5: Results of Infiltration Test IT-5 

Test Depth 
4 feet bgs 

Soil Type 
Lean Clay (CL) 

Trial 
Time Interval 

(minutes) 

Drop in Water Level 
(inches) 

Raw Infiltration Rate  
(inches per hour)* 

1 30 0.06 0.125 

2 30 0.06 0.125 

3 30 0.06 0.125 

4 30 0.06 0.125 

* Values calculated are raw (unfactored) rates. 

A.4.0 DISCUSSION  

The observed infiltration rates varied over time during each test (with the exception of IT-5), with final rates 

ranging from 
1
/8-inch to 

3
/8-inch per hour.  Note these infiltration rates do not include any safety or correction 

factors.  Because final stormwater infiltration facility locations have not been determined as of the date of this 

report, the infiltration data presented in this report should be considered preliminary.  We understand 

additional infiltration testing may be required once the civil engineer has determined the final locations of the 

stormwater infiltration facilities.   

 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

332 of 460 



 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical  P.O. Box 230997, Tigard, Oregon 97281 

    

Carlson Geotechnical 
A Division of Carlson Testing, Inc. 
Phone: (503) 601-8250 
Fax: (503) 601-8254 

Bend Office 
Eugene Office 
Salem Office 
Tigard Office 

(541) 330-9155 
(541) 345-0289 
(503) 589-1252 
(503) 684-3460 

 

 

Appendix B:  Site-Specific Seismic Hazards Study 
 

Chehalem Aquatic Center 

1802 Haworth Avenue 

Newberg, Oregon 

 

 

CGT Project No. G1504218 

 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

 

Prepared For: 

 

 

Chehalem Park and Recreation District 

Mr. Jim McMaster, Park Supervisor 

125 Elliot Road 

Newberg, OR 97132 

 

 

Prepared by: 

CARLSON GEOTECHNICAL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

333 of 460 



Appendix B – Site Specific Seismic Hazards Study 

Chehalem Aquatic Center 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page B.2  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

B.1.0 INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................................... 3 
B.2.0 GROUND MOTION HAZARD ANALYSIS ................................................................................... 3 

B.2.1 Earthquake Sources and Seismicity ..................................................................................... 3 
B.2.1.1 Crustal Sources ..................................................................................................................... 3 
B.2.1.2 Cascadia Subduction Zone Seismic Sources ....................................................................... 7 
B.2.1.3 Characteristic Earthquake Magnitude ................................................................................... 8 
B.2.1.4 Seismic Sources in the Vicinity of the Site .......................................................................... 11 

B.3.0 SEISMIC SITE CLASS ............................................................................................................... 13 
B.3.1 Site Profile to Bedrock .......................................................................................................... 13 
B.3.2 Site Class Determination ...................................................................................................... 13 

B.4.0 SEISMIC GROUND MOTION VALUES ..................................................................................... 15 
B.5.0 SEISMIC HAZARDS ................................................................................................................... 15 

B.5.1 Liquefaction ........................................................................................................................... 15 
B.5.1.1 Overview ............................................................................................................................. 15 

B.5.2 Slope Stability ........................................................................................................................ 16 
B.5.3 Surface Rupture .................................................................................................................... 16 

B.5.3.1 Faulting ................................................................................................................................ 16 
B.5.3.2 Lateral Spread ..................................................................................................................... 16 

B.5.4 Tsunami/Seiche Inundation ................................................................................................. 16 
B.6.0 REPORT SUBMITTAL ............................................................................................................... 17 
 

ATTACHMENTS 

 

Cascadia Subduction Zone ............................................................................................................. Figure B1 

 

 

Doc ID: G:\GEOTECH\PROJECTS\2015 Projects\Chehalem Aquatics & Fitness Center - G1504218\008 - Deliverables\Appendix B - 

SSSHS.docx 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

334 of 460 



Appendix B – Site Specific Seismic Hazards Study 

Chehalem Aquatic Center 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page B.3  

B.1.0 INTRODUCTION 

Based on the information provided, we understand the proposed building will be classified as a “Special 

Occupancy Structure” per Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) 455.447.  Accordingly, the building will be 

assigned as Risk Category III per Table 1604.5 of the 2014 Oregon Structural Specialty Code (OSSC).  A 

Site-Specific Seismic Hazards Study (SSSHS) is required for the project in accordance with 

Section 1803.3.2 of the 2014 OSSC.  This appendix presents the results of that study. 

B.2.0 GROUND MOTION HAZARD ANALYSIS  

The geological and geotechnical data developed within the geotechnical report were used to evaluate the 

ground motion response of the project site to various earthquake sources and events.  The ground motion 

hazard analysis addresses the following seismic hazards for the site in accordance with Section 1803.7 of 

the OSSC: 

 

 Ground Shaking;  

 Liquefaction; 

 Lateral Spread; 

 Earthquake-induced Landsliding;  

 Inundation from Tsunami / Seiche; and  

 Surface Rupture due to Fault Displacement.  

 

The analysis was based on procedures presented in Section 1613.3.4 of the 2014 OSSC and 

Section 11.4 of American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) Minimum Design Loads for Buildings and 

Other Structures (ASCE 7-10).   

B.2.1 Earthquake Sources and Seismicity 

The site is located in a tectonically active area that may be affected by crustal earthquakes, large 

subduction zone earthquakes, or intraplate (deep) earthquakes on the Juan de Fuca plate.  Damaging 

crustal earthquakes in this region may be derived from local sources such as the Helvetia fault, Beaverton 

fault zone, Canby-Molalla fault, Newberg fault, Gales Creek fault zone, Waldo Hills fault, Mount Angel 

fault, Bolton fault, Oatfield fault, East Bank fault, Portland Hills fault, Grant Butte fault, and the Damascus-

Tickle Creek fault
1
.  Crustal earthquakes typically occur at depths ranging from 15 to 40 kilometers bgs

2
.  

Large subduction zone (megathrust) earthquakes in this region are derived from the Cascadia Subduction 

Zone (CSZ) at depths up to about 30 kilometers.  Intraplate (deep) earthquakes occur within the 

subducting Juan de Fuca Plate at depths ranging from approximately 30 to 60 kilometers bgs.   

B.2.1.1 Crustal Sources 

The following mapped faults are considered active or potentially active and are located within about 

50 kilometers of the site
3
.  Refer to Table B3 presented in Section B.2.1.4 of this appendix for the 

approximate distance and direction to these faults from the project site. 

                                                      
1
  U.S. Geologic Survey, 2015.  Quaternary Fault and Fold Database, http://earthquake.usgs.gov/qfaults/ 

2
  Geomatrix Consultants, 1995.  Seismic Design Mapping, State of Oregon: unpublished report prepared for Oregon Department 

of Transportation, Personal Services Contract 11688, January 1995. 
3
  U.S. Geologic Survey, 2015.  Quaternary Fault and Fold Database, http://earthquake.usgs.gov/qfaults/  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

335 of 460 

http://earthquake.usgs.gov/qfaults/
http://earthquake.usgs.gov/qfaults/


Appendix B – Site Specific Seismic Hazards Study 

Chehalem Aquatic Center 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page B.4  

B.2.1.1.1 Helvetia fault (USGS 714) 

The Helvetia fault is a north-northwest trending structure located on the northeastern margin of the 

Tualatin Basin
4
.  There is no evidence for displacement of late Quaternary deposits along the fault; 

however, the most recent age of displacement is poorly constrained
5
.  Therefore, the fault is considered 

active, but with a long recurrence interval. 

B.2.1.1.2 Beaverton fault zone (USGS 715) 

The Beaverton fault zone
6
 consists of an east-west striking normal fault that forms the southern margin of 

the Tualatin basin.  This fault offsets Miocene Columbia River Basalt, but is covered by thick sequences 

of Pliocene to Pleistocene Missoula flood deposits.  As a result, no fault scarp is present at the surface, 

and the Beaverton fault zone is not present on most geologic maps of the area.  Yeats and others
7
 

indicate that the Beaverton Faults displace post-Columbia River Basalt sediments; however, the age and 

nature of deformation is not known.  The Beaverton fault is considered active, but with a long recurrence 

interval. 

B.2.1.1.3 Canby-Molalla fault (USGS 716) 

The Canby-Molalla fault is a right-lateral strike-slip fault located within the Willamette Valley
8
.  The Canby-

Molalla fault appears to offset Missoula flood deposits, and seismic reflection surveys suggest Holocene 

deformation of sediments.  The fault has little geomorphologic expression, but is considered active, with a 

slip rate of less than 0.2 mm per year. 

B.2.1.1.4 Newberg fault (USGS 717) 

The Newberg fault is a 5-kilometer-long portion of the Gales Creek-Mount Angel structural zone, which 

consists of a 73-kilometer-long zone of right-lateral strike-slip faults located within the Willamette Valley
9
.  

The fault zone offsets Miocene Columbia River basalts, but no unequivocal evidence for Quaternary 

displacement has been identified.  The Newberg fault is recognized in the subsurface by vertical 

separation of the Columbia River Basalt, and offset seismic reflectors in overlying basin sediments
10,11

, 

with no definitive geomorphic evidence of faulting.  The majority of the fault trace is covered with 

Holocene alluvium, which may have buried recent deformation.  Due to the uncertainty in activity level, 

the fault has been classified as active. 

B.2.1.1.5 Gales Creek fault zone (USGS 718) 

The Gales Creek fault zone is a 73-kilometer-long zone of northwest-trending right-lateral strike-slip faults 

located on the western margin of the Willamette Valley
12

.  The fault zone offsets Miocene Columbia River 

                                                      
4
  Personius, S.F., compiler, 2002.  Fault number 714, Helvetia fault, in Quaternary fault and fold database of the United States: 

U.S. Geological Survey website, http://earthquakes.usgs.gov/hazards/qfaults. 
5
  Geomatrix Consultants, 1995.  Ibid. 

6
  Personius, S.F., compiler, 2002.  Fault number 715, Beaverton fault zone, in Quaternary fault and fold database of the United 

States: U.S. Geological Survey website, http://earthquakes.usgs.gov/hazards/qfaults. 
7
  Yeats, R.S., Graven, E.P., Werner, K.S., Goldfinger, C., and Popowski, T., 1996.  Ibid. 

8
  Personius, S.F., compiler, 2002.  Fault number 716, Canby-Molalla fault, in Quaternary fault and fold database of the United 

States: U.S. Geological Survey website, http://earthquakes.usgs.gov/hazards/qfaults. 
9
  Personius, S.F., compiler, 2002.  Fault number 717, Newberg fault, in Quaternary fault and fold database of the United States: 

U.S. Geological Survey website, http://earthquakes.usgs.gov/hazards/qfaults. 
10

  Werner, K.S., Nabelek, J., Yeats, R.S., Malone, S., 1992.  The Mount Angel fault:  implications of seismic-reflection data and 

the Woodburn, Oregon, earthquake sequence of August, 1990:  Oregon Geology, v. 54, p. 112-117. 
11

  Yeats, R.S., Graven, E.P., Werner, K.S., Goldfinger, C., and Popowski, T., 1996.  Ibid. 
12

  Personius, S.F., compiler, 2002.  Fault number 718, Gales Creek fault zone, in Quaternary fault and fold database of the 

United States: U.S. Geological Survey website, http://earthquakes.usgs.gov/hazards/qfaults. 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

336 of 460 



Appendix B – Site Specific Seismic Hazards Study 

Chehalem Aquatic Center 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page B.5  

basalts, but no unequivocal evidence for Quaternary displacement has been identified.  However, the 

majority of the faults are covered with very recent alluvium, which may have buried evidence of recent 

deformation.  Estimates for the latest movements along the Gales Creek fault zone typically predate the 

late Pleistocene; in other words, the fault has not had activity within the last approximately 30,000 years.  

The recurrence interval for the Gales Creek fault zone is likely greater than 50,000 years, based on the 

information available. 

B.2.1.1.6 Waldo Hills fault (USGS 872) 

The Waldo Hills fault is a 12-kilometer-long southeast-dipping reverse fault that is mapped on the 

northwestern front of the Waldo Hills
13

.  The fault is recognized in the subsurface by vertical separation of 

the top of the Columbia River Basalt
14

.  No evidence for middle or late Quaternary displacement on the 

Waldo Hills fault has been identified; however, Oregon State University geologists suggest that the Waldo 

Hills fault may have a long recurrence interval and is considered active
15

.  Recurrence interval estimates 

for earthquake activity on the Waldo Hills fault are considered to be on the order of 700,000 years or 

more.  Extensive erosion and degradation of the identified fault scarps supports a long recurrence 

interval.   

B.2.1.1.7 Mount Angel fault (USGS 873) 

The Mount Angel fault is a northwest-trending, steeply northeast-dipping, oblique-slip reverse fault with a 

length of about 30 kilometers
16

.  The fault is mapped in the subsurface based on geophysical data, water 

well logs, and historical seismicity
17,18

.  It displaces Columbia River Basalt at depth, as well as younger, 

overlying sediments
19

.  Surface indications of the fault are minimal.  The Mount Angel fault is considered 

to be the source for a series of small earthquakes (<M3.5) that occurred in 1990 near the town of 

Woodburn, and a M5.6 earthquake that occurred in 1993 near the town of Scotts Mills
20,21

.   

B.2.1.1.8 Bolton fault (USGS 874) 

The Bolton fault is a northwest-trending reverse fault, with a length of about 9 kilometers in the 

subsurface
22

.  There is no evidence that the Bolton fault has been active since the late Pleistocene; 

however, the fault is classified as potentially active because of the limited exposures and uncertainties in 

the relationships between local scarps and late Pleistocene Missoula flood deposits
23

.  On this basis, a 

long recurrence interval is assigned to the Bolton Fault.  

                                                      
13

  Personius, S.F., compiler, 2002.  Fault number 872, Waldo Hills fault, in Quaternary fault and fold database of the United 

States: U.S. Geological Survey website, http://earthquakes.usgs.gov/hazards/qfaults. 
14

  Yeats, R.S., et al., 1996.  Tectonics of the Willamette Valley Oregon:  in Assessing earthquake hazards and reducing risk in the 

Pacific Northwest, v. 1:  U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1560, p. 183-222, 5 plates, scale 1:100,000. 
15

  Geomatrix Consultants, 1995.  Ibid. 
16

  Personius, S.F., compiler, 2002.  Fault number 873, Mount Angel fault, in Quaternary fault and fold database of the United 

States: U.S. Geological Survey website, http://earthquakes.usgs.gov/hazards/qfaults. 
17

  Yeats, R., et al., 1991.  Tectonics of the Willamette Valley, Oregon.  U.S. Geological Survey Open File Report 91-441-P, 47 p. 
18

  Werner, K.S., et al., 1992.  The Mount Angel Fault:  Implications of Seismic-Refraction Data and the Woodburn, Oregon, 

Earthquake Sequence of August, 1990.  Oregon Geology, v. 54, p. 112-117. 
19

  Unruh, J.R., et al., 1994.  Seismotectonic Evaluation:  Scoggins Dam, Tualatin Project, Northwestern Oregon:  Final Report, 

prepared by William Lettis and Associates and Woodward Clyde Federal Services, Oaklan, Californai for the U.S. Bureau of 

Reclamation, Denver, Colorado. 
20

  Geomatrix Consultants, 1995.  Ibid. 
21

  Werner, K.S., et al., 1992.  Ibid. 
22

  Personius, S.F., compiler, 2002.  Fault number 874, Bolton fault, in Quaternary fault and fold database of the United States: 

U.S. Geological Survey website, http://earthquakes.usgs.gov/hazards/qfaults. 
23

  Geomatrix Consultants, 1995.  Ibid. 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

337 of 460 



Appendix B – Site Specific Seismic Hazards Study 

Chehalem Aquatic Center 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page B.6  

B.2.1.1.9 Oatfield fault (USGS 875) 

The Oatfield fault consists of a 29-kilometer-long steeply dipping reverse fault that forms escarpments in 

Miocene Columbia River Basalt in the Tualatin Mountains
24

.  No fault scarps or displacement of surficial 

deposits have been described, but exposures within tunnels show offset of Boring Lava, indicating 

Quaternary activity.  The slip rate for the Oatfield fault has been calculated to be about 0.1 mm per year 

based on the tunnel exposures.  Given the very low slip rate and lack of displacement of surficial 

deposits, this fault is considered to have a very long recurrence interval. 

B.2.1.1.10 East Bank fault (USGS 876) 

The East Bank fault
25

 consists of a 29-kilometer-long steeply dipping reverse fault that parallels the 

Portland Hills fault.  No Quaternary surficial fault scarps have been identified, and the fault is largely 

buried by thick sequences of Pleistocene Missoula flood deposits.  Recent shallow seismic reflection data 

suggest subsurface displacement of the older Missoula flood deposits. 

B.2.1.1.11 Portland Hills fault (USGS 877) 

The Portland Hills fault zone
26

 is a series of northwest-trending faults forming the northeastern margin of 

the Tualatin Mountains.  The faults associated with this structural zone vertically displace the Columbia 

River Basalt Group by 1,130 feet, and appear to control thickness changes in late Pleistocene sediment
27

.  

Geomorphic lineaments suggestive of Pleistocene deformation have been identified within the fault zone, 

but none of the fault segments has been shown to cut Holocene deposits
28,29

.  The fact that the faults do 

not cut Holocene sediments is most likely a result of the faulting being related to a time of intense uplift of 

the Oregon Coast Range during the Miocene, and little to no movement along the faults during the 

Holocene.   

 

Recent studies of this fault
30

 concluded that the Portland Hills fault is active, based on contemporary 

seismicity in the vicinity of the fault, and seismic reflection data suggesting that the fault cuts late 

Pleistocene layered strata.  Additionally, in May of 2000, while taking magnetic readings to map the fault, 

an Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral Industries (DOGAMI) geologist observed folded sediment 

in a retaining wall cut in North Clackamas Park south of Portland.  The folded sediments consisted of 

sand and silt deposited by Pleistocene floods derived from glacial Lake Missoula approximately 12,800 to 

15,000 years ago.  An investigation of the folded strata by DOGAMI geologists and engineering 

consultants showed that the entire sequence of sediment layers is folded and they concluded that this 

                                                      
24

  Personius, S.F., compiler, 2002.  Fault number 875, Oatfield fault, in Quaternary fault and fold database of the United States: 

U.S. Geological Survey website, http://earthquakes.usgs.gov/hazards/qfaults. 
25

  Personius, S.F., compiler, 2002.  Fault number 876, East Bank fault, in Quaternary fault and fold database of the United 

States: U.S. Geological Survey website, http://earthquakes.usgs.gov/hazards/qfaults. 
26

  Personius, S.F., compiler, 2002.  Fault number 877, Portland Hills fault, in Quaternary fault and fold database of the United 

States: U.S. Geological Survey website, http://earthquakes.usgs.gov/hazards/qfaults. 
27

  Mabey, M.A., Madin, I.P., Youd, T.L., Jones, C.F., 1993, Earthquake hazard maps of the Portland quadrangle, Multnomah and 

Washington Counties, Oregon, and Clark County, Washington: Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral Industries 

Geological Map Series GMS-79, Plate 2, 1:24,000. 
28

  Conforth and Geomatrix Consultants, 1992.  Seismic hazard evaluation, Bull Run dam sites near Sandy, Oregon:  unpublished 

report to City of Portland Bureau of Water Works. 
29

  Balsillie, J.J. and Benson, G.T., 1971.  Evidence for the Portland Hills fault:  The Ore Bin, Oregon Dept. of Geology and Mineral 

Industries, v. 33, p. 109-118. 
30

  Wong et al., 2001. The Portland Hills Fault: An Earthquake Generator or Just Another Old Fault? 

Published by Oregon Geology, V63, number 2, Spring 2001. 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

338 of 460 



Appendix B – Site Specific Seismic Hazards Study 

Chehalem Aquatic Center 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page B.7  

folding is evidence for an active fault beneath the site, and the fault is either the Portland Hills fault, or a 

closely related structure
31

. 

B.2.1.1.12 Grant Butte fault (USGS 878) 

The Grant Butte fault
32

 forms the southern margin of the Portland basin, and consists of a 10-kilometer-

long normal fault.  The Grant Butte fault offsets Plio-Pleistocene Springwater Formation and Boring Lava.  

No Quaternary surficial fault scarps have been identified, but the fault is largely buried by thick sequences 

of Pliocene to Pleistocene Missoula flood deposits.  Based on radiometric age dating techniques, the fault 

has been active within the late Quaternary.  Therefore, the Grant Butte fault is considered active with a 

long recurrence interval. 

B.2.1.1.13 Damascus-Tickle Creek fault zone (USGS 879) 

The Damascus-Tickle Creek fault zone consists of numerous relatively short northeast and northwest 

trending forming a broad fault zone along the southern edge of the Portland basin
33

.  The location of 

several eruptive vents of the Boring Lava suggest a direct relationship with the Damascus-Tickle Creek 

fault zone.  The majority of the faults within the zone are buried by Pliocene to Pleistocene Missoula flood 

deposits, however, at least one fault strand may offset the flood deposits. 

B.2.1.2 Cascadia Subduction Zone Seismic Sources 

The Cascadia Subduction Zone (CSZ) is a 1,100-kilometer-long zone of active tectonic convergence 

where oceanic crust of the Juan de Fuca Plate is subducting beneath the North American continental 

plate at a rate of about 3 to 4 centimeters per year
34

.  The fault trace is located off of the coast of southern 

British Columbia, Washington, Oregon, and northern California; approximately 190 kilometers west of the 

site (see attached Figure B1).   

 

Two primary sources of seismicity are associated with the CSZ:  relatively shallow earthquakes that occur 

on the interface between the two plates (Subduction Zone earthquakes), and deep earthquakes that 

occur along faults within the subducting Juan de Fuca plate (intraplate earthquakes).   

B.2.1.2.1 Subduction Zone Earthquakes 

Subduction Zone earthquakes occur at depths up to approximately 30 kilometers along the interface 

(contact) between the two plates
35

.  As the Juan de Fuca Plate subducts beneath the North American 

Plate through this zone, the plates are locked together by friction
36

.  As the plates continue to converge, 

strain slowly builds within this locked zone until the frictional resistance is exceeded, and the plates 

rapidly slip past each other resulting in a “megathrust” earthquake.  The United States Geologic Survey 

estimates megathrust earthquakes on the CSZ may have magnitudes up to M9.2. 

 

                                                      
31

  Madin and Hemphill-Haley, 2001: The Portland Hills Fault at Rowe Middle School. Oregon Geology V63 p47. 
32

  Personius, S.F., compiler, 2002.  Fault number 878, Grant Butte fault, in Quaternary fault and fold database of the United 

States: U.S. Geological Survey website, http://earthquakes.usgs.gov/hazards/qfaults. 
33

  Personius, S.F., compiler, 2002.  Fault number 879, Damascus-Tickle Creek fault zone, in Quaternary fault and fold database 

of the United States: U.S. Geological Survey website, http://earthquakes.usgs.gov/hazards/qfaults. 
34

   DeMets, C., Gordon, R.G., Argus, D.F., Stein, S., 1990.  Current plate motions:  Geophysical Journal International, v. 101, p. 
425-478. 

35
  Pacific Northwest Seismic Network website, http://pnsn.org/outreach/earthquakesources/  

36
  Pacific Northwest Seismic Network website, http://pnsn.org/outreach/earthquakesources/  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

339 of 460 

http://pnsn.org/outreach/earthquakesources/
http://pnsn.org/outreach/earthquakesources/


Appendix B – Site Specific Seismic Hazards Study 

Chehalem Aquatic Center 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page B.8  

Geologic evidence indicates a recurrence interval for major subduction zone earthquakes of 250 to 

650 years, with the last major event occurring in 1700
37,38,39

.  The eastern margin of the seismogenic 

portion of the Cascadia Subduction zone is located approximately 65 kilometers west of the site, as 

shown on Figure B1. 

B.2.1.2.2 Intraplate Earthquakes 

Below about 30 kilometers, the plate interface does not appear to be locked by friction, and the plates 

slowly slide past each other.  The curvature of the subducted plate increases as the advancing edge 

moves east, creating extensional forces within the plate.  Normal faulting of the plate occurs in response 

to these extensional forces.  This region of maximum curvature and faulting of the subducting plate is 

where large intraplate earthquakes are expected to occur, and is located at depths ranging from 30 to 60 

kilometers
40,41,42,43

.  Intraplate earthquakes within the Juan de Fuca plate generally have magnitudes less 

than M7.5
44

. 

 

The 2001 M6.8 Nisqually earthquake near Olympia, Washington, occurred within this seismogenic zone 

at a depth of 52 kilometers.  The site is located within the intraplate seismogenic zone, as shown on 

Figure B1. 

B.2.1.3 Characteristic Earthquake Magnitude 

The maximum characteristic earthquake magnitude is defined as the largest earthquake that could be 

expected to be generated by a specific seismic source, independent of recurrence interval.  CGT 

determined the magnitude of characteristic earthquakes from a review of historical earthquake records 

and empirical relationships. 

B.2.1.3.1 Historical Earthquakes 

Magnitude estimates for the characteristic earthquake are based largely on the record of historical 

earthquakes in the region of interest.  Table B1 lists earthquakes with magnitudes larger than M4.9 that 

have occurred within 250 kilometers of the site since 1873
45

.  These earthquakes are also shown on 

Inset 1: Historical Earthquakes. 

  

                                                      
37

  Atwater, B.F., 1992.  Geologic evidence for earthquakes during the past 2,000 years along the Copalis River, southern coastal 

Washington:  Journal of Geophysical Research, v. 97, p. 1901-1919. 
38

  Peterson, C.D., Darioenzo, M.E., Burns, S.F., and Burris, W.K., 1993.  Ibid. 
39

  Personius, S.F., and Nelson, A.R., compilers, 2005.  Fault number 781, in Quaternary fault and fold database of the United 

States: U.S. Geological Survey website, http://earthquakes.usgs.gov/regional/qfaults. 
40

  Geomatrix Consultants, 1995.  Ibid. 
41

  Geomatrix Consultants, 1995.  Ibid. 
42

  Geomatrix Consultants, 1993.  Seismic margin Earthquake For the Trojan Site: Final Unpublished Report For Portland General 

Electric Trojan Nuclear Plant, Rainier, Oregon, May 1993. 
43

  Kirby, Stephen H., Wang, Kelin, Dunlop, Susan, 2002, The Cascadia Subduction Zone and Related Subduction Systems—

Seismic Structure, Intraslab Earthquakes and Processes, and Earthquake Hazards: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 

02-328, 182 pp. 
44

  Cascadia Region Earthquake Workshop, 2008.  Cascadia Deep Earthquakes.  Washington Division of Geology and Earth 

Resources, Open File Report 2008-1. 
45

  Wong et al, 2000. Wong, I. Silva, W. Bott, J., Wright, D., Thomas, P., Gregor, N., Li, S., Mabey, M., Sojourner, A., Wang, Y. 

IMS-15. Earthquake Scenario and Probabilistic Ground Shaking Maps for the Portland, Oregon, Metropolitan area. Portland 

Hills Fault M6.8 Earthquake, Peak Horizontal Acceleration at the Ground Surface. 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

340 of 460 



Appendix B – Site Specific Seismic Hazards Study 

Chehalem Aquatic Center 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page B.9  

Table B1 Historical Earthquakes since 1873 within 250 kilometers of the site with 

Magnitudes Greater than M4.9 

Date Magnitude Distance from Site Location 

December 24, 1989 M4.9 163 km 16 km NE of Morton, WA 

July 12, 2004 M4.9 162 km 48 km SW of Newport, OR 

December 29, 1941 M5.0 36 km 1 km S of Portland, OR 

February 15, 1946 M5.0 181 km 1 km NW of Eatonville, WA 

February 23, 1946 M5.0 193 km 1 km SE of Olympia, WA 

May 28, 1981 M5.0 182 km 4 km ENE of Goat Rocks, WA 

December 07, 1944 M5.0 198 km 6 km W of Aberdeen, WA 

December 16, 1953 M5.0 30 km 7 km WSW of Portland, OR 

July 19, 1930 M5.0 39 km 15 km WNW of Salem, OR 

November 17, 1957 M5.0 66 km 18 km S of Tillamook, OR 

January 29, 1995 M5.0 235 km 18 km NNE of Tacoma, WA 

June 10, 2001 M5.0 210 km 18 km N of Satsop, WA 

May 15, 1954 M5.0 235 km 19 km NNW of Tacoma, WA 

December 31, 1931 M5.0 244 km 29 km WSW of Bremerton, WA 

October 07, 1958 M5.0 174 km 34 km SSW of Aberdeen, WA 

November 08, 1960 M5.0 192 km 115 km WNW of Newport, OR 

March - May, 1980 M4.9 - M5.2 118 km 27 events at Mt St Helens, WA 

September 17, 1961 M5.1 103 km 20 km SSE of Mt St Helens, WA 

February 14, 1981 M5.2 128 km 2 km N of Elk Lake, WA 

October 12, 1877 M5.4* 42 km 10 km ESE of Portland, OR 

November 06, 1962 M5.5 44 km 8 km NNE of Portland, OR 

March 25, 1993 M5.6 42 km 23 km ESE of Woodburn, OR (Scotts Mills) 

May 18, 1980 M5.7 116 km 1 km NNE of Mt St Helens, WA 

April 30, 1882 M5.7* 234 km 19 km S of Bremerton, WA 

July 03, 1999 M5.8 200 km 8 km N of Satsop, WA 

February 15, 1946 M5.8 221 km 28 km N of Olympia, WA 

December 12, 1880 M6.0* 246 km 12 km SE of Bremerton, WA 

November 13, 1939 M6.2 234 km 19 km S of Bremerton, WA 

April 29, 1965 M6.5 237 km 18 km N of Tacoma, WA 

February 28, 2001 M6.8 205 km 17 km NE of Olympia, WA (Nisqually) 

April 13, 1949 M7.1 199 km 12 km ENE of Olympia, WA 

* estimated from historical accounts. 

 

  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

341 of 460 



Appendix B – Site Specific Seismic Hazards Study 

Chehalem Aquatic Center 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page B.10  

Inset 1.  Historical Earthquakes 

E
a
rt

h
q

u
a

k
e
 M

a
g

n
it

u
d

e
 (

M
) 

 
Distance From Site (kilometers) 

 

Based on the historical record and crustal faulting models of the region, the maximum earthquake for 

crustal sources within the Pacific Northwest is estimated to be M5.75
46

 (independent of recurrence 

interval).  Similarly, the maximum earthquake for an intraplate source on the subducting Juan de Fuca 

plate is estimated to be M7.0 to 7.5
47

. 

B.2.1.3.2 Empirical Determination of Characteristic Earthquake 

Another method for estimating the characteristic earthquake that a particular seismic source could 

generate is by using empirical relationships between earthquake magnitude and fault rupture length
48

.  

Based on these relationships, the size of historical earthquakes, and the thickness of seismogenic crust in 

the region, the maximum earthquake magnitude expected from crustal sources is M6.0 to M6.6
49

.  Based 

on the likely thin nature of the Juan de Fuca Plate, and comparing the historic seismicity along the 

intraplate area with other similar intraplate regions, the estimated maximum magnitude earthquake for 

intraplate sources is M7.0 to M7.5
50,51

.  Similarly, based on magnitude versus rupture area relationships 

for subduction zone earthquakes worldwide, the maximum magnitude of a CSZ earthquake is estimated 

to be M8.0 to M9.2
52,53

.  These magnitudes are also reflected in the probabilistic analyses used by U.S. 

Geological Survey.   

 

                                                      
46

  Geomatrix Consultants, 1995.  Ibid. 
47

  Pacific Northwest Seismic Network website, http://pnsn.org/outreach/earthquakesources/  
48

  Bonilla, M.G., R. K. Mark, and J.J. Lienkaemper, 1984, Statistical relations among earthquake magnitude, surface rupture 

length, and surface fault displacement: Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America, V. 74, p. 2379-2411. 
49

  Geomatrix Consultants, 1995.  Ibid. 
50

  Geomatrix Consultants, 1995.  Ibid. 
51

  Pacific Northwest Seismic Network website, http://pnsn.org/outreach/earthquakesources/  
52

  Geomatrix Consultants, 1995.  Ibid. 
53

  Pacific Northwest Seismic Network website, http://pnsn.org/outreach/earthquakesources/  

4.8

5.3

5.8

6.3

6.8

7.3

7.8

8.3

0 100 200 300 400 500

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

342 of 460 

http://pnsn.org/outreach/earthquakesources/
http://pnsn.org/outreach/earthquakesources/
http://pnsn.org/outreach/earthquakesources/


Appendix B – Site Specific Seismic Hazards Study 

Chehalem Aquatic Center 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page B.11  

B.2.1.3.3 Code Specified Design Earthquake  

Section 1803.3.2.1 of the 2014 Oregon Structural Specialty Code (OSSC) indicates specific minimum 

requirements for earthquake magnitudes to be used in seismic analyses, which are summarized in the 

following table: 

 

Table B2 OSSC Minimum Design Earthquake 

Seismic Source Minimum Design Earthquake 

Shallow Crustal Faults 6.0 

Intraplate (Juan de Fuca plate) 7.0 

Cascadia Subduction Zone 8.5 

B.2.1.4 Seismic Sources in the Vicinity of the Site 

Table B3 shows the previously discussed faults (Section B.2.1.1), the characteristic earthquake 

magnitude for each, and the distance and direction of the fault from the site. 

  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

343 of 460 



Appendix B – Site Specific Seismic Hazards Study 

Chehalem Aquatic Center 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page B.12  

Table B3 Fault, Characteristic Earthquake Magnitude, and Distance from Site. 

USGS 

Fault 

No. 

Earthquake 

Source 

Char 

Mag 

Type of 

Fault 

USGS 

Fault 

Class1 

Fault 

Orientation 

(strike & dip) 

Approximate 

Earthquake 

depth (km) 

Fault Trace 

Distance (km) & 

Direction from Site 

Notes 

717 / 

OR3 
Newberg fault 6.85 

Right Lateral 

Strike Slip 
A 

N42W 

90 (vertical) 
15 to 40 km 1 km SW 2 

718 / 

OR1 

Gales Creek 

fault zone 
6.75 

Right Lateral 

Strike Slip 
A 

N41W 

90 (vertical) 
15 to 40 km 12 km NW 2 

873 
Mount Angel 

fault 
6.80 Thrust A 

N43E 

60 to 70 N 
15 to 40 km 17 km SSE 2 

715 
Beaverton fault 

zone 
6.00 Normal A 

N86E 

Unknown Dip 
15 to 40 km 18 km N 3,4 

716 
Canby-Molalla 

fault 
6.00 

Right Lateral 

Strike Slip 
A 

N34W 

90 (vertical) 
15 to 40 km 20 km E 3,4 

874 Bolton fault 6.19 Reverse B 
N53W 

60N 
15 to 40 km 24 km NE 2 

714 Helvetia fault 6.40 Normal A 
N26W 

SW 
15 to 40 km 27 km N 2 

875 Oatfield fault 6.00 Reverse A 
N41W 

70S 
15 to 40 km 27 km NE 3,4 

877 
Portland Hills 

fault 
7.05 Reverse A 

N37W 

70N 
15 to 40 km 30 km NE 2 

879 

Damascus-

Tickle Creek 

fault 

6.00 
Right Lateral 

Strike Slip 
A 

N-S 

90 (Vertical) 
15 to 40 km 33 km ENE 3,4 

876 East Bank fault 6.00 Reverse A 
N46W 

70N 
15 to 40 km 34 km NE 3,4 

878 
Grant Butte 

fault 
6.21 Normal A 

N90E 

60N 
15 to 40 km 37 km ENE 2 

872 
Waldo Hills 

fault 
6.00 Reverse A 

N45E 

60N 
15 to 40 km 38 km SSW 3,4 

 
CSZ – 

Intraplate 

7.0 – 

7.5 
Normal A 

N30W 

10 to 20 E 
30 to 60 km 

30 km E to 65 km W 

(within seismogenic 

zone) 

3 

 CSZ 
8.3 – 

9.2 
Mega-Thrust A 

N30W 

10 to 20 E 
<30 km 

65 km W (to east 

edge of seismogenic 

zone) 

3,5 

1 USGS Fault Classes from USGS Earthquake Hazards Program, 2008 National Seismic Hazard Maps  

Class A: Fault with convincing evidence of Quaternary activity (ACTIVE) 

Class B: Fault that requires further study in order to confidently define their potential as possible sources of earthquake-induced ground motion 

(POTENTIALLY ACTIVE) 

Class C: Fault with insufficient evidence for Quaternary activity (LOW POTENTIAL FOR ACTIVITY) 

2 Characteristic earthquake magnitude from USGS Earthquake Hazards Program, 2008 National Seismic Hazard Maps – Fault Parameters 

3 Characteristic earthquake magnitude from USGS Quaternary Fault and Fold Database of the United States 

4 Characteristic earthquake magnitude from Section 1803.3.2.1 of the 2014 OSSC - Design Earthquake. 

5 Models of earthquake magnitude assign variable magnitudes for different portions of the Cascadia Subduction Zone, so multiple magnitudes are provided. 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

344 of 460 



Appendix B – Site Specific Seismic Hazards Study 

Chehalem Aquatic Center 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page B.13  

B.3.0 SEISMIC SITE CLASS 

B.3.1 Site Profile to Bedrock 

The estimated soil profile to bedrock is shown on Inset 2.  

 

Willamette Silt (Ws): Based on drilled borings, available 

geologic mapping of the area
54

, and review of local water well 

logs, the site is underlain by approximately 8 to 15 feet of 

Willamette Silt.  Subsequent to publication of the referenced 

map, the Willamette Silt has been interpreted as Pleistocene 

catastrophic flood deposits originating from glacial outburst 

floods of Lake Missoula.  The Missoula Lake catastrophic flood 

deposits were produced by the periodic failure of glacial ice 

dams, which impounded Lake Missoula between 21,000 and 

12,000 years ago
55

.  Floodwaters raged through eastern 

Washington and the Columbia River Gorge.  Near Rainier, 

Oregon, the river channel was restricted, causing floodwaters to 

back up the Willamette Valley as far as Eugene.  Floodwaters in 

the Portland area were as much as 400 feet deep, leaving only 

the tops of the tallest hills dry.  The flood deposits are typically 

split into three different facies; the coarse-grained facies, the 

fine-grained facies, and the channel facies, which consists of 

silts, sands, and gravels deposited within the flood channel.  

Clay phase Willamette Silts are mapped in the vicinity of the site, which are consistent with the fine-

grained facies.   

 

Troutdale Formation (Tpt):  Geologic mapping indicates that the Willamette Silt is underlain by Pliocene 

Troutdale formation sediments.  The Troutdale formation consists of poorly indurated silt and fine sand, 

with occasional layers of pebble conglomerate, deposited by ancestral rivers and reworked by later 

streams and rivers.  The Troutdale formation sediments are in excess of 500 feet thick in the area of the 

site. 

B.3.2 Site Class Determination 

Section 1613.3.2 of the 2014 OSSC requires that the determination of the seismic site class be based on 

subsurface data in accordance with Chapter 20 of the ASCE 7-10.  CGT chose to use Standard 

Penetration Test (SPT) N-values for determination of the site classification for this project.  The SPT 

subsurface exploration method is described in the geotechnical investigation report.  Boring B-3 was 

advanced to a depth of about 51½ feet bgs and terminated in very stiff lean clay.  Chapter 20 of  

ASCE 7-10 requires that the stiffness of the soils be measured or reasonably estimated for the upper 

                                                      
54  Schlicker, Herbert G. & Deacon, Robert J., Engineering Geology of the Tualatin Valley Region, Oregon.  State of Oregon 

Department of Geology and Mineral Resources, Bulletin 60, 1967. 
55  Ma, Madin, Duplantis, and Williams, 2012, Lidar-based Surficial Geologic Map and Database of the Greater Portland, Oregon, 

Area, Clackamas, Columbia, Marion, Multnomah, Washington, and Yamhill Counties, Oregon, and Clark County, Washington 

Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral Industries Open-File Report O-12-02.   

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

345 of 460 



Appendix B – Site Specific Seismic Hazards Study 

Chehalem Aquatic Center 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page B.14  

100 feet bgs.  As discussed in Section B.3.1, Troutdale formation sediments are anticipated to extend to 

depths of at least 500 feet bgs.  The materials encountered below about 12 feet bgs was consistent with 

the Troutdale formation sediments mapped in the area of the site.  To satisfy code requirements, we 

averaged the SPT N-values encountered in the lower 20 feet of boring B-3 to extrapolate the results to a 

depth of 100 feet bgs.  The results of the site class calculations are shown in the following table. 

 

Table B4 Calculation for Determination of Site Classification 

Bottom Depth Soil Type Field SPT Layer Thickness [di] di/Ni 

(feet)  (Ni) (feet)   

4 CL 9 4 0.44 

6.5 CL 9 2.5 0.28 

9 CL 6 2.5 0.42 

13.5 CL 11 4.5 0.41 

16.5 CL 11 3 0.27 

21.5 CL 27 5 0.19 

26.5 CL 22 5 0.23 

31.5 CL 19 5 0.26 

36.5 CL 17 5 0.29 

41.5 CL 14 5 0.36 

46.5 CL 17 5 0.29 

51.5 CL 18 5 0.28 

100 CL 16.5 48.5 2.94 

TOTALS   100.0 6.66 

Geometric Mean: 

(ASCE 7-10 Section 20.4.2  

Equation 40.4.-2) 






n

i i

i

n

i

i

N

d

d

N

1

1
 = 15.02 

 

 

 

Based on the guidelines presented in Table 20.3-1 in Chapter 20 of the ASCE 7-10, the project site is 

designated as Site Class D.   

  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

346 of 460 



Appendix B – Site Specific Seismic Hazards Study 

Chehalem Aquatic Center 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page B.15  

B.4.0 SEISMIC GROUND MOTION VALUES 

Earthquake ground motion parameters for the site were obtained based on the United States Geological 

Survey (USGS) Seismic Design Values for Buildings - Ground Motion Parameter Calculator
56

.  The 

following table shows the recommended seismic design parameters for the site.   
 

Table B5 Seismic Ground Motion Values 

Parameter Value 

Mapped Acceleration 

Parameters 

Spectral Acceleration, 0.2 second (Ss ) 0.952g 

Spectral Acceleration, 1.0 second (S1 ) 0.435g 

Coefficients 

(Site Class D) 

Site Coefficient, 0.2 sec. (FA ) 1.119 

Site Coefficient, 1.0 sec. (FV ) 1.565 

Adjusted MCE Spectral 

Response Parameters 

MCE Spectral Acceleration, 0.2 sec. (SMS ) 1.066g 

MCE Spectral Acceleration, 1.0 sec. (SM1 ) 0.681g 

Design Spectral Response 

Accelerations 

Design Spectral Acceleration, 0.2 seconds (SDS ) 0.710g 

Design Spectral Acceleration, 1.0 second (SD1 ) 0.454g 

 

Based on Section 1613.3.5 of the 2014 OSSC, the site falls into a Seismic Design Category D. 

 

The recommendations presented above were based on design procedures presented in Section 11.4 of 

ASCE 7-10.  A site-specific response analysis could be performed to develop a site-specific design 

response spectrum at the owner’s discretion, if desired, for an additional fee.   

B.5.0 SEISMIC HAZARDS 

B.5.1 Liquefaction 

B.5.1.1 Overview 

In general, liquefaction occurs when deposits of loose/soft, saturated, cohesionless soils, generally sands 

and silts, are subjected to strong earthquake shaking.  If these deposits cannot drain quickly enough, 

pore water pressures can increase, approaching the value of the overburden pressure.  The shear 

strength of a cohesionless soil is directly proportional to the effective stress, which is equal to the 

difference between the overburden pressure and the pore water pressure.  When the pore water pressure 

increases to the value of the overburden pressure, the shear strength of the soil reduces to zero, and the 

soil deposit can liquefy.  The liquefied soils can undergo rapid consolidation or, if unconfined, can flow as 

a liquid.  Structures supported by the liquefied soils can experience rapid, excessive settlement, shearing, 

or even catastrophic failure. 

 

The susceptibility of sands, gravels, and sand-gravel mixtures to liquefaction is typically assessed based 

on penetration resistance, as measured using SPTs, CPTs, or Becker Hammer Penetration tests (BPTs).  

For fine-grained soils, susceptibility to liquefaction is evaluated based on penetration resistance and 

                                                      
56

  United States Geological Survey, 2015.  Seismic Design Parameters determined using:, “U.S. Seismic Design Maps Web 

Application,”  from the USGS website http://geohazards.usgs.gov/designmaps/us/application.php.   

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

347 of 460 

http://geohazards.usgs.gov/designmaps/us/application.php


Appendix B – Site Specific Seismic Hazards Study 

Chehalem Aquatic Center 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page B.16  

plasticity, among other characteristics.  Criteria for identifying non-liquefiable, fine-grained soils are 

constantly evolving.  Current practice to identify non-liquefiable, fine-grained soils is based on plasticity 

characteristics of the soils, as follows:  (1) liquid limit greater than 47 percent, (2) plasticity index greater 

than 20 percent, and (3) moisture content less than 85 percent of the liquid limit
57

.  Soils identified as 

susceptible to liquefaction are analyzed using the industry standard “simplified procedure”, originally 

published by Seed and Idriss
58

 in 1971 and updated continually since that time. 

 

Review of hazard mapping available at the Oregon Statewide Geohazards Viewer website
59

 indicates the 

site and immediate vicinity are shown as having no hazard associated with soil liquefaction (non-

liquefiable).   

 

The soils encountered within our borings are considered non-liquefiable based on their plasticity 

characteristics.   

B.5.2 Slope Stability 

Due to the relatively minimal planned changes in site grade and relatively level topography at the site, the 

risk of slope instability due to seismic activity is considered negligible.   

B.5.3 Surface Rupture 

B.5.3.1 Faulting 

As discussed above, the site is situated in a region of the country characterized by extensive faulting and 

known for seismic activity.  However, no known faults are mapped on or immediately adjacent to the site, 

the risk of surface rupture impacting the proposed development at the site due to faulting is considered 

low.   

B.5.3.2 Lateral Spread 

Surface rupture due to lateral spread can occur on sites underlain by liquefiable soils that are located on 

or immediately adjacent to slopes steeper than about 3 degrees (20H:1V), and/or adjacent to a free face, 

such as a stream bank or the shore of an open body of water.  During lateral spread, the materials 

overlying the liquefied soils are subject to lateral movement downslope or toward the free face.  Given the 

lack of liquefiable soils at the site, the risk of surface rupture due to lateral spread is considered 

negligible. 

B.5.4 Tsunami/Seiche Inundation 

The site is geographically remote to the Oregon coast and therefore not at risk of inundation from a 

tsunami occurring in the Pacific Ocean.   

 

                                                      
57

  Seed, R.B. et al., 2003.  Recent Advances in Soil Liquefaction Engineering:  A Unified and Consistent Framework.  Earthquake 

Engineering Research Center Report No. EERC 2003-06. 
58

  Seed, H.B., and Idriss, I.M., 1971, Simplified Procedure for Evaluating Soil Liquefaction Potential, Journal of Geotechnical 

Engineering Division, ASCE, 97(9), 1249-1273. 
59

  Oregon HazVu:  Statewide Hazards Viewer, 2015.  Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral Industries:  

http://www.oregongeology.org/hazvu  

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

348 of 460 

http://www.oregongeology.org/hazvu


Appendix B – Site Specific Seismic Hazards Study 

Chehalem Aquatic Center 

Newberg, Oregon 

CGT Project Number G1504218 

October 23, 2015 

 

 

Carlson Geotechnical Page B.17  

The term seiche refers to oscillating standing waves that can produce dramatic changes in water level 

over relatively short periods of time and can cause inundation of nearby areas.  A seiche can be 

generated in enclosed or partially enclosed bodies of water by atmospheric conditions or seismic activity.  

The site is not located near any large body of water that could produce a seismically-induced seiche.  

Accordingly, the hazard associated with seiche inundation at the site is generally considered negligible.   

B.6.0 REPORT SUBMITTAL 

According to Section 1803.9 of the 2014 OSSC, the applicant should submit one copy of the Site-Specific 

Seismic Hazards Study to the building permit issuing agency (the jurisdiction), and one copy to the 

Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral Industries (DOGAMI).  The DOGAMI report can be submitted 

to the following address: 

 

DOGAMI – Site Specific Seismic Hazards Study 

Administrative Offices 

800 NE Oregon Street #28, Suite 965 

Portland, Oregon 97232 

 

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

349 of 460 



��������	
�����������������

�������	


 � �
���������	��




����������	
���������������������������������������
���������� !����"#$%&"'���

������

��������	
����	�����������	���	�������	�����		�����	��	���	����	��	
����	��� 	 ������	���	�������	�� ������	���!�	"	#	$"�	�����	%��	
�����!	�����&��'��(	)�*�	+����!���	*��,��	����	*����	-.�

���������	������������

������

/���������	0����&��'��
*� ������	1���	0����&��'��

ATTACHMENT 5: APPLICATION

350 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

  Community Development Department 
    P.O. Box 970 ▪ 414 E First Street ▪ Newberg, Oregon 97132 

        503-537-1240 ▪ Fax 503-537-1272 ▪ www.newbergoregon.gov 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION STAFF REPORT 

  - DEVELOPMENT CODE AMENDMENT  
  

HEARING DATE: April 14, 2016 

FILE NO:  DCA-16-001 

APPLICANT: Initiated by Newberg City Council on February 1, 2016 

REQUEST:  Amend the Newberg Development Code for recreational marijuana 

wholesalers, laboratories, research certificates and retailers as permitted, 

conditional or prohibited uses in districts and subdistricts within the City of 

Newberg 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Resolution 2016-314 with 

 Exhibit “A”:  Proposed Development Code Text Amendment 

 Exhibit “B”:  Findings 

1. City Council Resolution 2015-3253 

2. Public Comment from Leif Patterson 

3. 1,000 foot Schools Buffer Map 

4. 1,000 foot Parks Buffer Map 

5. 1,000 foot Schools/Parks Buffer Map 

 

A. SUMMARY:  The proposed Development Code amendments do the following: 

 Adds Recreational Marijuana Laboratories as a permitted use in C-1, C-2, C-3, C-4, C-1/SP, 

C-2/LU, C-2/PD, C-2/SP, C-3/LU, SD/V, SD/NC, SD/H, M-1, M-2, M-3, M-4-I, M-4-C, 

SD/E, M-1/SP, II, AIO and CC. 

 Adds Recreational Marijuana Research Certificates as a permitted use in C-1, C-2, C-3, C-4, 

C-1/SP, C-2/LU, C-2/PD, C-2/SP, C-3/LU, SD/V, SD/NC, SD/H, M-1, M-2, M-3, M-4-I, M-

4-C, SD/E, M-1/SP, II, AIO and CC. 

 Adds Recreational Marijuana Retailers as a permitted use in C-1, C-2, C-3, C-4, C-1/SP, C-

2/LU, C-2/PD, C-2/SP, C-3/LU, SD/V, SD/NC and SD/H with footnotes for a 1,000 foot 

buffer from parks and schools, and operating hours limited to the hours between 9 AM and 8 

PM.   

 Adds Recreational Marijuana Wholesalers as a permitted use in R-1, R-2, R-3, R-4, RP, AR, 

R-1/PD, R-1/0.1, R-1/0.4, R-1/6.6, R-1/SP, R-2/PD, R-2/SP, SD/LDR, SD/MMR, R-3/PD, 

RP/SP, RP/LU and ARO with footnote of no product on premises. 

 Adds Recreational Marijuana Wholesalers as a conditional use in C-2 with footnotes allowed 

351 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

indoors only and 1,000 foot buffer from parks and schools. 

 Adds Recreational Marijuana Wholesalers as a permitted use in M-1, M-2, M-3, M-4-I, M-

1/SP, SD/E and II. 

 

BACKGROUND: The Oregon voters passed Measure 91 on recreational marijuana in November 

2014. The Oregon Legislature enacted four bills during the 2015 legislative session related to the 

Oregon Medical Marijuana Act and Measure 91. House Bill (HB) 3400 was the omnibus bill 

covering recreational marijuana and modifications to the medical marijuana program. HB 2014 

was enacted addressing taxes on the sale of recreational marijuana, SB 460 related to limited retail 

sales of marijuana from medical marijuana dispensaries and SB 844 enacted a task force on 

researching the medical and public health properties of cannabis. In addition to the enacting of the 

four bills the Oregon Liquor Control Commission adopted temporary Oregon Administrative 

Rules (OAR’s) on October 22, 2015 that were subsequently modified on November 20, 2015 for 

recreational marijuana under Chapter 845, Division 25.    

 

On September 8, 2015 the Newberg City Council was provided background information on 

medical and recreational marijuana at its Work Session. At the City Council Business Session on 

September 8th they established the Marijuana Subcommittee (Subcommittee) comprised of 

Councilors Rourke, Bacon and McKinney along with non-voting member Mayor Andrews. The 

City Council also directed staff to bring back an ordinance with a ban of the sale of recreational 

marijuana from Medical Marijuana Dispensaries. 

 

On September 21, 2015 the Newberg City Council passed Ordinance No. 2015-2787 declaring a 

ban on the early sale of recreational marijuana by marijuana dispensaries and declaring an 

emergency. 

 

At the January 12, 2016 Marijuana Subcommittee (Subcommittee) meeting the Subcommittee 

passed a motion 3-0  directing staff to create a Request for Council Action (RCA) to initiate a 

Development Code amendment for recreational marijuana wholesale, laboratory, research 

certificate and retail regulations to bring forward for Council consideration on February 1. The 

City Council adopted Resolution No. 2015-3253 on February 1, 2016 initiating the 

Development Code amendment process (Attachment 1). 

 

The Subcommittee met again on February 4, 2016 and developed recommendations on 

recreational marijuana wholesalers, laboratories, research certificates and retailers.   

 

B. PROCESS:  A development code amendment is a Type IV application and follows the 

procedures in Newberg Development Code 15.100.060. The Planning Commission will hold a 

legislative hearing on the application.  The Commission will make a recommendation to the 

Newberg City Council. Following the Planning Commission’s recommendation, the Newberg 

City Council will hold a legislative hearing to consider the matter. Important dates related to 

this application are as follows: 

1. 2/1/16: The Newberg City Council initiated the Development Code 

amendment. 

352 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

2. 3/30/16: Planning staff placed notice on Newberg’s website, and posted 

notice in four public buildings. The Newberg Graphic published 

notice of the Planning Commission hearing. 

3. 4/14/16: The Planning Commission will hold a legislative hearing to 

consider the application. 

C. PUBLIC COMMENTS:  As of the writing of this report, the city has received one comment 

on the application. The comment indicates recreational marijuana sales should be allowed in 

Newberg (Attachment 2). If the city receives additional written comments by the comment 

deadline, Planning staff will forward them to the Commissioners. 

D. ANALYSIS:   

 

PLACE 
 

Oregon Revised Statutes 475B.015 provides the following definitions: 

 

(24)(a) “Premises” or “licensed premises” includes the following areas of a location 

licensed under ORS 475B.070, 475B.090, 475B.100 or 475B.110: 

(A) All public and private enclosed areas at the location that are used in the business 

operated at the location, including offices, kitchens, rest rooms and storerooms; 

(B) All areas outside a building that the commission has specifically licensed for the 

production, processing, wholesale sale or retail sale of marijuana items; and 

(C) For a location that the commission has specifically licensed for the production of 

marijuana outside a building, the entire lot or parcel, as defined in ORS 92.010, that 

the licensee owns, leases or has a right to occupy. 

(b) “Premises” or “licensed premises” does not include a primary residence. 

 

 

Oregon Administrative Rule, Division 25 provides the following definitions: 

 

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS APPLICABLE TO 

 ALL MARIJUANA LICENSES 

 

845-025-1015 

Definitions 

 

(38) "Premises" or "licensed premises" includes the following areas of a location 

licensed under section 19, 20, 21 or 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015: 

(a) All public and private enclosed areas at the location that are used in the business 

operated at the location, including offices, kitchens, rest rooms and storerooms; 

(b) All areas outside a building that the Commission has specifically licensed for the 

production, processing, wholesale sale or retail sale of marijuana items; and 

353 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

(c) For a location that the Commission has specifically licensed for the production of 

marijuana outside a building, the entire lot or parcel, as defined in ORS 92.010, that 

the licensee owns, leases or has a right to occupy. 

(d) “Premises” or “licensed premises” does not include a primary residence. 

(39) “Primary Residence” means real property inhabited for the majority of a calendar 

year by an owner, renter or tenant, including manufactured homes and vehicles used as 

domiciles.  

 

HB 3400, Section 33 (ORS 475B.340) allows local governments to regulate the location of 

recreational marijuana wholesale and retail operations. The law reads: 

 

(Land Use) 

 

SECTION 33. Section 59, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, is amended to read: 

Sec. 59. [(1) Cities and counties may adopt reasonable time, place and manner 

regulations of the nuisance aspects of establishments that sell marijuana to consumers 

if the city or county makes specific findings that the establishment would cause 

adverse effects to occur.] 

[(2) The authority granted to cities and counties by this section is in addition to, and 

not in lieu 

of, the authority granted to a city or county under its charter and the statutes and 

Constitution of this state.] 

(1) For purposes of this section, “reasonable regulations” includes: 

(a) Reasonable conditions on the manner in which a marijuana producer licensed 

under section 19, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, may produce marijuana; 

(b) Reasonable conditions on the manner in which a marijuana processor licensed 

under section 20, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, may process marijuana; 

(c) Reasonable conditions on the manner in which a marijuana wholesaler 

licensed under section 21, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, may sell marijuana at 

wholesale; 

(d) Reasonable limitations on the hours during which a marijuana retailer 

licensed under section 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, may operate; 

(e) Reasonable conditions on the manner in which a marijuana retailer licensed 

under section 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, may sell marijuana items; 

(f) Reasonable requirements related to the public’s access to a premises for which 

a license has been issued under section 19, 20, 21 or 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 

2015; and 

(g) Reasonable limitations on where a premises for which a license may be issued 

under section 19, 20, 21 or 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, may be located. 

(2) Notwithstanding ORS 633.738, the governing body of a city or county may 

adopt ordinances that impose reasonable regulations on the operation of 

businesses located at premises for which a license has been issued under section 

19, 20, 21 or 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, if the premises are located in the 

area subject to the jurisdiction of the city or county, except that the governing 

body of a city or county may not adopt an ordinance that prohibits a premises for 

which a license has been issued under section 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, 

354 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

from being located within a distance that is greater than 1,000 feet of another 

premises for which a license has been issued under section 22, chapter 1, Oregon 

Laws 2015. 

(3) Regulations adopted under this section must be consistent with city and 

county comprehensive plans and zoning ordinances and applicable provisions of 

public health and 

safety laws. 
 

 

HB 3400, Section 15 (ORS 575B.100) allows local governments to regulate the location of 

recreational marijuana wholesale operations. The law reads: 
 

(License Holders) 
 

 

SECTION 15. Section 21, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, is amended to read: 

Sec. 21. (1) The wholesale sale of marijuana items is subject to regulation by the 

Oregon Liquor Control Commission. 

(2) A marijuana wholesaler must have a wholesale license issued by the commission 

for the premises at which marijuana items are received, [kept,] stored[,] or delivered. 

To hold a wholesale license under this section, a marijuana wholesaler: 

(a) Must apply for a license in the manner described in section 28, chapter 1, 

Oregon Laws 2015; 

(b) Must, until January 1, 2020, provide proof that an applicant listed on an 

application submitted under section 28, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, has been a 

resident of this state for two or more years, and must provide proof that the 

applicant is 21 years of age or older; 

(c) May not be located in an area that is zoned exclusively for residential use; and 

(d) Must meet the requirements of any rule adopted by the commission under 

subsection (3) of this section. 

(3) The commission shall adopt rules that: 

(a) Require a marijuana wholesaler to annually renew a license issued under this 

section; 

(b) Establish application, licensure and renewal of licensure fees for marijuana 

wholesalers; 

(c) Require marijuana items received, stored or delivered by a marijuana 

wholesaler to be tested in accordance with section 92 of this 2015 Act; and 

(d) Require a marijuana wholesaler to meet any public health and safety 

standards and industry best practices established by the commission by rule. 

(4) Fees adopted under subsection (3)(b) of this section: 

(a) May not exceed the cost of administering sections 3 to 70, chapter 1, Oregon 

Laws 2015, with respect to marijuana wholesalers; and 

(b) Shall be deposited in the Marijuana Control and Regulation Fund established 

under section 32 of this 2015 Act. 
 

355 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

HB 3400, Sections 16 and 17 (ORS 475B.110) allows local governments to regulate the 

location of recreational marijuana retail operations. The law reads: 
 

 

SECTION 16. Section 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, is amended to read: 

Sec. 22. (1) The retail sale of marijuana items is subject to regulation by the Oregon 

Liquor Control Commission. 

(2) A marijuana retailer must have a retail license issued by the commission for the 

premises at which marijuana items are sold. To hold a retail license under this 

section, a marijuana retailer: 

(a) Must apply for a license in the manner described in section 28, chapter 1, 

Oregon Laws 2015; 

(b) Must, until January 1, 2020, provide proof that an applicant listed on an 

application submitted under section 28, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, has been a 

resident of this state for two or more years, and must provide proof that the 

applicant is 21 years of age or older; 

(c) May not be located in an area that is zoned exclusively for residential use; 

(d) May not be located within 1,000 feet of: 

(A) A public elementary or secondary school for which attendance is compulsory 

under ORS 339.020; or 

(B) A private or parochial elementary or secondary school, teaching children as 

described in ORS 339.030 (1)(a); and 

(e) Must meet the requirements of any rule adopted by the commission under 

subsection (3) of this section. 

(3) The commission shall adopt rules that: 

(a) Require a marijuana retailer to annually renew a license issued under this 

section; 

(b) Establish application, licensure and renewal of licensure fees for marijuana 

retailers; 

(c) Require marijuana items sold by a marijuana retailer to be tested in 

accordance with section 92 of this 2015 Act; and 

(d) Require a marijuana retailer to meet any public health and safety standards 

and industry best practices established by the commission by rule. 

(4) Fees adopted under subsection (3)(b) of this section: 

(a) May not exceed the cost of administering sections 3 to 70, chapter 1, Oregon 

Laws 2015, with respect to marijuana retailers; and 

(b) Shall be deposited in the Marijuana Control and Regulation Fund established 

under section 32 of this 2015 Act. 

 

SECTION 17. If a school described in section 22 (2)(d), chapter 1, Oregon Laws 

2015, that has not previously been attended by children is established within 

1,000 feet of a premises for which a license has been issued under section 22, 

chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, the marijuana retailer located at that premises 

may remain at that location unless the Oregon Liquor Control Commission 

revokes the license of the marijuana retailer under section 30, chapter 1, Oregon 

Laws 2015. 

356 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

 

HB 3400, Section 34 (ORS 475B.370 and ORS 475B.063) establishes a requirement for a land 

use compatibility statement for recreational marijuana wholesale and retail uses. The law 

reads: 
 

SECTION 34. (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, marijuana is: 

(a) A crop for the purposes of “farm use” as defined in ORS 215.203; 

(b) A crop for purposes of a “farm” and “farming practice,” both as defined in 

ORS 30.930; 

(c) A product of farm use as described in ORS 308A.062; and 

(d) The product of an agricultural activity for purposes of ORS 568.909. 

(2) Notwithstanding ORS chapters 195, 196, 197 and 215, the following are not 

permitted uses on land designated for exclusive farm use: 

(a) A new dwelling used in conjunction with a marijuana crop; 

(b) A farm stand, as described in ORS 215.213 (1)(r) or 215.283 (1)(o), used in 

conjunction with a marijuana crop; and 

(c) A commercial activity, as described in ORS 215.213 (2)(c) or 215.283 (2)(a), 

carried on in conjunction with a marijuana crop. 

(3) A county may allow the production of marijuana as a farm use on land zoned 

for farm or forest use in the same manner as the production of marijuana is 

allowed in exclusive farm use zones under this section and ORS 215.213 and 

215.283. 

(4)(a) Prior to the issuance of a license under section 19, 20, 21 or 22, chapter 1, 

Oregon Laws 2015, the Oregon Liquor Control Commission shall request a land 

use compatibility statement from the city or county that authorizes the land use. 

The land use compatibility statement must demonstrate that the requested license 

is for a land use that is allowable as a permitted or conditional use within the 

given zoning designation where the land is located. The commission may not issue 

a license if the land use compatibility statement shows that the proposed land use 

is prohibited in the applicable zone. 

(b) A city or county that receives a request for a land use compatibility statement 

under this subsection must act on that request within 21 days of: 

(A) Receipt of the request, if the land use is allowable as an outright permitted 

use; or 

(B) Final local permit approval, if the land use is allowable as a conditional use. 

(c) A city or county action concerning a land use compatibility statement under 

this subsection is not a land use decision for purposes of ORS chapter 195, 196, 

197 or 215. 
 

 

Oregon Administrative Rule, Division 25 establishes a requirement for a land use 

compatibility statement for recreational marijuana wholesale and retail uses. The rule reads: 
 

 

 

 

357 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

845-025-1090 

Application Review 

(1) Once the Commission has determined that an application is complete it must 

review the application to determine compliance with chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, 

chapter 614, Oregon Laws 2015, and these rules.  

(2) The Commission:  

(a) Must, prior to acting on an application, request a land use compatibility statement 

from the city or county that authorizes land use in the city or county in which the 

applicant’s proposed premises is located or request verification that a land use 

compatibility statement submitted by an applicant is valid and accurate  

(b) May, in its discretion, prior to acting on an application: 

(A) Contact any applicant or individual with a financial interest and request additional 

documentation or information; and  

(B) Verify any information submitted by the applicant.  

(3) The Commission must inspect the proposed premises prior to issuing a license.  

(4) If during an inspection the Commission determines the applicant is not in 

compliance with these rules, the applicant will be provided with a notice of the failed 

inspection and the requirements that have not been met.  

(a) An applicant that fails an inspection will have 15 calendar days from the date the 

notice was sent to submit a written response that demonstrates the deficiencies have 

been corrected.  

(b) An applicant may request in writing one extension of the 15-day time limit in 

subsection (a) of this section, not to exceed 30 days. 

(5) If an applicant does not submit a timely plan of correction or if the plan of 

correction does not correct the deficiencies in a manner that would bring the applicant 

into compliance, the Commission may deny the application.  

(6) If the plan of correction appears, on its face, to correct the deficiencies, the 

Commission will schedule another inspection.  

(7) If an applicant fails a second inspection, the Commission may deny the application 

unless the applicant shows good cause for the Commission to perform additional 

inspections. 
 

 

Oregon Administrative Rule, Division 25 establishes requirements and limitations for denial 

of a license by the Oregon Liquor Control Commission for wholesale and retail recreational 

marijuana uses. The rule reads: 
 

845-025-1115 

Denial of Application  

(1) The Commission must deny an initial or renewal application if:  

(a) An applicant is under the age of 21 or, until January 1, 2020, has not been a 

resident or Oregon for at least two years. If the Commission determines that an 

applicant is a non-resident the Commission will hold that application under review 

until 30 days after the 2016 Oregon Legislature adjourns.  

(b) The applicant’s land use compatibility statement shows that the proposed land use 

is prohibited in the applicable zone.  

358 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

(c) The proposed licensed premises is located:  

(A) On federal property.  

(B) At the same physical location or address as a:  

(i) Medical marijuana grow site registered under ORS 475.304, unless the grow site is 

also licensed under section 116, chapter 614, Oregon laws 2015;  

(ii) Medical marijuana processing site registered under section 85, chapter 614, Oregon 

Laws 2015; or 

(iii) Medical marijuana dispensary registered under ORS 475.314.  

(C) At the same physical location or address as a liquor licensee licensed under ORS 

chapter 471 or as a retail liquor agent appointed by the Commission.  

(d) The proposed licensed premises of a producer applicant is:  

(A) On public land; or  

(B) On the same tax lot or parcel as another producer licensee under common 

ownership. 

(e) The proposed licensed premises of a processor who has applied for an endorsement 

to process extracts is located in an area that is zoned exclusively for residential use.  

(f) The proposed licensed premises of a retail applicant is located:  

(A) Within 1,000 feet of: 

(i) A public elementary or secondary school for which attendance is compulsory under 

ORS 339.020; or (ii) A private or parochial elementary or secondary school, teaching 

children as described in ORS 339.030.  

(B) In an area that is zoned exclusively for residential use.  

(g) The proposed licensed premises of a wholesaler applicant is in an area zoned 

exclusively for residential use. 

(h) A city or county has prohibited the license type for which the applicant is applying, 

in accordance with sections 133 or 134, chapter 614, Oregon Laws 2015. 

(2) The Commission may deny an initial or renewal application, unless the applicant 

shows good cause to overcome the denial criteria, if it has reasonable cause to believe 

that:  

(a) The applicant:  

(A) Is in the habit of using alcoholic beverages, habit-forming drugs, marijuana, or 

controlled substances to excess.  

(B) Has made false statements to the Commission.  

(C) Is incompetent or physically unable to carry on the management of the 

establishment proposed to be licensed.  

(D) Is not of good repute and moral character.  

(E) Does not have a good record of compliance with sections 3 to 70, chapter 1, 

Oregon Laws 2015, chapter 614, Oregon Laws 2015, or these rules, prior to or after 

licensure including but not limited to:  

(i) The giving away of marijuana items as a prize, premium or consideration for a 

lottery, contest, game of chance or skill, or competition of any kind, in violation of 

section 49, chapter 614, Oregon Laws 2015; (ii) Providing marijuana items to an 

individual without checking that the individual is 21 or older; 

(iii) Unlicensed transfer of marijuana items for financial consideration; or (iv) 

Violations of local ordinances adopted under section 33, chapter 614, Oregon Laws 

2015, pending or adjudicated by the local government that adopted the ordinance.  

359 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

(F) Is not possessed of or has not demonstrated financial responsibility sufficient to 

adequately meet the requirements of the business proposed to be licensed.  

(G) Is unable to understand the laws of this state relating to marijuana or these rules, 

including but not limited to ORS 475.300 to 475.346 and sections 91 to 99, chapter 

614, Oregon Laws 2015. Inability to understand laws and rules of this state related to 

marijuana may be demonstrated by violations documented by the Oregon Health 

Authority. 

(b) Any individual listed on the application has been convicted of violating a general 

or local law of this state or another state, or of violating a federal law, if the conviction 

is substantially related to the fitness and ability of the applicant to lawfully carry out 

activities under the license, except as specified in Section 29(3), chapter 1, Oregon 

Laws 2015.  

(c) Any applicant is not the legitimate owner of the business proposed to be licensed, 

or other persons have an ownership interest in the business have not been disclosed to 

the Commission.  

(3) The Commission may refuse to issue a license to any license applicant or refuse to 

renew the license of any licensee when conditions exist in relation to any person 

having a financial interest in the business or in the place of business which would 

constitute grounds for refusing to issue a license or for revocation or suspension of a 

license if such person were the license applicant or licensee. However, in cases where 

the financial interest is held by a corporation, only the officers and directors of the 

corporation, any individual or combination of individuals who own a controlling 

financial interest in the business shall be considered persons having a financial interest 

within the meaning of this subsection. 

(4) The Commission will not deny an application under subsections (1) (c) (B) of this 

rule if the applicant surrenders the registration issued by the Authority prior to being 

issued an OLCC license.  

(5) If the Commission denies an application because an applicant submitted false or 

misleading information to the Commission, the Commission may prohibit the 

applicant from re-applying for five years.  

(6) A notice of denial must be issued in accordance with ORS 183. 
 

 

Oregon Administrative Rule, Division 25 establishes restrictions and requirements for 

wholesale and retail recreational marijuana uses. The rule reads: 
 

845-025-1230 

Licensed Premises Restrictions and Requirements  

(1) A licensed premises may not be located:  

(a) On federal property; or  

(b) At the same physical location or address as a:  

(A) Medical marijuana grow site registered under ORS 475.304, unless the grow site is 

also licensed under section 116, chapter 614, Oregon Laws 2015;  

(B) Medical marijuana processing site registered under section 85, chapter 614, 

Oregon Laws 2015; or  

(C) Medical marijuana dispensary registered under ORS 475.314.  

360 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

(D) Liquor licensee licensed under ORS Chapter 471 or as a retail liquor agent 

appointed by the Commission.  

(2) The licensed premises of a producer applicant may not be on:  

(a) Public land; or  

(b) The same tax lot or parcel as another producer licensee under common ownership.  

(3) The licensed premises of a retailer may not be located:  

(a) Within 1,000 feet of:  

(A) A public elementary or secondary school for which attendance is compulsory 

under ORS 339.020; or  

(B) A private or parochial elementary or secondary school, teaching children as 

described in ORS 339.030.  

(b) In an area that is zoned exclusively for residential use.  

(4) The licensed premises of a processor who has an endorsement to process extracts 

may not be located in an area that is zoned exclusively for residential use.  

(5) The licensed premises of a processor, wholesaler, laboratory and retailer must be 

enclosed on all sides by permanent walls and doors.  

(6) A licensee may not permit:  

(a) Any minor on a licensed premises except as described in section (7) and (8) of this 

rule; or  

(b) On-site consumption of a marijuana item, alcohol, or other intoxicant by any 

individual, except that an employee who has a current registry identification card 

issued under ORS 475.309 may consume marijuana during his or her work shift on the 

licensed premises as necessary for his or her medical condition, if the employee is 

alone, in a closed room and not visible to others outside the room. An employee who 

consumes a marijuana item as permitted under this subsection may not be intoxicated 

while on duty.  

(7) Notwithstanding section (6)(a) of this rule, a minor, other than a licensee’s 

employee, who has a legitimate business purpose for being on the licensed premises, 

may be on the premises for a limited period of time in order to accomplish the 

legitimate business purpose. For example, a minor plumber may be on the premises in 

order to make a repair.  

(8) Notwithstanding section (6)(a) of this rule, a minor who resides on the tax lot or 

parcel where a marijuana producer is licensed may be present on those portions of a 

producer’s licensed that do not contain usable marijuana or cut and drying marijuana 

plants.  

(9) A licensee must clearly identify all limited access areas in accordance with OAR 

845-025- 1245. 

(10) A licensee must keep a daily log of all employees, contractors and license 

representatives who perform work on the licensed premises. All employees, 

contractors and licensee representatives must wear clothing or a badge issued by the 

licensee that easily identifies the individual as an employee, contractor or licensee 

representative.  

(11) The general public is not permitted in limited access areas on a licensed premises, 

except for the licensed premises of a retailer and as provided by section (14) of this 

rule. In addition to licensee representatives, the following individuals are permitted to 

361 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

be present in limited access areas on a licensed premises, subject to the requirements in 

section (12) of this rule:  

(a) Laboratory personnel, if the laboratory is licensed by the Commission;  

(b) A contractor, vendor or service provider authorized by a licensee representative to 

be on the licensed premises;  

(c) Another licensee or that licensee’s representative;  

(d) Up to seven invited guests per week subject to requirements of section (12) of this 

rule; or  

(e) Tour groups as permitted under section (14) of this rule.  

(12) Prior to entering a licensed premises all visitors permitted by section (11) of this 

rule must be documented and issued a visitor identification badge from a licensee 

representative that must remain visible while on the licensed premises. A visitor badge 

is not required for government officials. All visitors described in subsection (11) of 

this rule must be accompanied by a licensee representative at all times.  

(13) A licensee must maintain a log of all visitor activity. The log must contain the 

first and last name and date of birth of every visitor and the date they visited.  

(14) A marijuana producer or research certificate holder may offer tours of the licensed 

premises, including limited access areas, to the general public if the licensee submits a 

control plan in writing and the plan is approved by the Commission.  

(a) The plan must describe how conduct of the individuals on the tour will be 

monitored, how access to usable marijuana will be limited, and what steps the licensee 

will take to ensure that no minors are permitted on the licensed premises.  

(b) The Commission may withdraw approval of the control plan if the Commission 

finds there is poor compliance with the plan. Poor compliance may be indicated by, for 

example, individuals on the tour not being adequately supervised, an individual on the 

tour obtaining a marijuana item while on the tour, a minor being part of a tour, or the 

tours creating a public nuisance.  

(15) Nothing in this rule is intended to prevent or prohibit Commission employees or 

contractors, or other state or local government officials that have jurisdiction over 

some aspect of the licensed premises or licensee from being on the licensed premises.  

(16) A licensee may not sublet any portion of a licensed premises.  

(17) A licensed premises may receive marijuana items only from a marijuana producer, 

marijuana processor, or marijuana wholesaler for whom a premises has been licensed 

by the Commission.  

(18) A licensed wholesaler or retailer who sells or handles food, as that term is defined 

in ORS 616.695, or cannabinoid edibles must also be licensed by the Oregon 

Department of Agriculture under ORS 616.706. 
 

 

Oregon Administrative Rule, Division 25 establishes restrictions on the location of 

recreational marijuana retail uses. The rule reads: 
 

845-025-2840 

Retailer Premises  

(1) The licensed premises of a retailer:  

(a) May not be located in an area that is zoned exclusively for residential use.  

362 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

(b) May not be located within 1,000 feet of:  

(A) A public elementary or secondary school for which attendance is compulsory 

under ORS 339.020; or  

(B) A private or parochial elementary or secondary school, teaching children as 

described in ORS 339.030. 

(c) Must be enclosed on all sides by permanent walls and doors.  

(2) A retailer must post in a prominent place signs at every:  

(a) Point of sale that read:  

(A) “No Minors Permitted Anywhere on the Premises”; and  

(B) “No On-Site Consumption”.  

(b) Exit from the licensed premises that reads: “Marijuana or Marijuana Infused 

Products May Not Be Consumed In Public”.  

(3) A retailer must designate a consumer sales area on the licensed premises where 

consumers are permitted. The area shall include the portion of the premises where 

marijuana items are displayed for sale to the consumer and sold and may include other 

contiguous areas such as a lobby or a restroom. The consumer sales area is the sole 

area of the licensed premises where consumers are permitted.  

(4) All inventory must be stored on the licensed premises.  

(5) For purposes of determining the distance between a retailer and a school referenced 

in subsection (1)(b) of this rule, "within 1,000 feet" means a straight line measurement 

in a radius extending for 1,000 feet or less in any direction from the closest point 

anywhere on the boundary line of the real property comprising a school to the closest 

point of the licensed premises of a retailer. If any portion of the licensed premises is 

within 1,000 feet of a school as described subsection (1)(b) of this rule an applicant 

will not be licensed. 
 

 

HB 3400 and Oregon Administrative Rule, Division 25 have no specific provisions for the 

location of testing laboratories and research certificate facilities. Research certificates can be 

issued to qualifying private and public researchers. The Planning Commission may want to 

consider limiting these two uses. One option is to allow testing laboratories as a permitted use 

in industrial districts. For research certificates an option is to allow the activity as a permitted 

use in industrial districts. The Planning Commission may also want to consider if research 

certificate activities should be allowed in the Institutional District. The rules for testing 

laboratories and research certificates reads as follows: 

 
 

MARIJUANA TESTING LABORATORIES 

 

845-025-5000 

Laboratory License Privileges  

A licensed marijuana testing laboratory may: 

(1) Obtain samples of marijuana items from licensees for purposes of performing 

testing as provided in these rules and OAR 333-007-0300 to 333-007-0490;  

(2) Transport and dispose of samples as provided in these rules; and  

363 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

(3) Perform testing on marijuana items in a manner consistent with the laboratory’s 

accreditation by the Oregon Health Authority, these rules and OAR 333-007-0300 to 

333-007-0490.  

 

845-025-5030 

Laboratory Licensing Requirements  

(1) General Requirements  

(a) A laboratory that intends to test marijuana items for producer, processor, wholesale 

or retail licensees must be licensed by the Commission.  

(b) An applicant for a license under this rule must comply with all applicable 

application requirements in OAR 845-025-1030 and pay the required application and 

license fees, except that a laboratory licensee is not subject to any residency 

requirements.  

(c) A laboratory application is subject to the same application review procedures as 

other applicants.  

(d) In addition to the denial criteria in OAR 845-025-1115, the Commission may 

refuse to issue a laboratory license for any violation of sections 91 to 99, chapter 614, 

Oregon Laws 2015, sections 3 to 70, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, or these rules.  

(e) Laboratory application and license fees are established in OAR 845-025-1060.  

(2) Accreditation by the Oregon Health Authority  

(a) In addition to the requirements listed in section (1) of this rule, an applicant for a 

laboratory license must be accredited by the Authority with a scope of accreditation 

that includes the sampling and testing analysis required in OAR 333-007-0300 to 333-

007-0490 prior to exercising the licensed privileges in OAR 845-025-5000.  

(b) An applicant for a license under this rule may apply for licensure prior to receiving 

accreditation, but the Commission will not issue a license until proof of accreditation 

is received. (c) The Commission may make efforts to verify or check on an applicant’s 

accreditation status during the licensing process, but an applicant bears the burden of 

taking all steps needed to secure accreditation and present proof of accreditation to the 

Commission.  

(d) In addition to the denial criteria in OAR 845-025-1115, the Commission may 

consider an application incomplete if the applicant does not obtain accreditation from 

the Authority within six months of applying for a license. The Commission shall give 

an applicant an opportunity to be heard if an application is declared incomplete under 

this section, but an applicant is not entitled to a contested case proceeding under ORS 

chapter 183. An applicant whose application is declared incomplete may reapply at any 

time.  

(e) A licensed laboratory must maintain accreditation by the Authority at all times 

while licensed by the Commission. If a laboratory’s accreditation lapses, is canceled or 

is suspended at any time for any reason while licensed by the Commission, the 

laboratory may not engage in any activities permitted under the license until 

accreditation is reinstated.  

(f) Exercising license privileges while accreditation is suspended or canceled is a 

Category I violation and could result in license cancellation.  

364 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

(3) Renewal. 

(a) A laboratory must renew its license annually and pay the required renewal fees in 

accordance with OAR 845-025-1190.  

(b) A laboratory renewal application may be denied for any violation of sections 91 to 

99, chapter 614, Oregon Laws 2015, sections 3 to 70, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, or 

these rules.  

 

845-025-5045 

Laboratory Tracking and Reporting  

(1) A laboratory licensee is required to utilize CTS and follow all requirements 

established by OAR 845-025-7500 to OAR 845-025-7590. 

 (2) A laboratory licensee is responsible for tracking and entering the following 

information into CTS:  

(a) Receipt of samples for testing, including:  

(A) Size of the sample;  

(B) Name of licensee from whom the sample was obtained;  

(C) Date the sample was collected; and  

(D) UID tag information associated with the harvest or process lot from which the 

sample was obtained.  

(b) Tests performed on samples, including:  

(A) Date testing was performed;  

(B) What samples were tested for;  

(C) Name of laboratory responsible for testing; and  

(D) Results of all testing performed. (c) Disposition of any testing sample material.  

 

845-025-5060 

Laboratory Transportation and Waste Disposal  

(1) A laboratory licensee must follow all rules regarding transportation of marijuana 

items established in OAR 845-025-7700.  

(2) A laboratory licensee must follow all rules regarding disposal of samples from 

marijuana items established in OAR 845-025-7750.  

 

845-025-5075 

Laboratory Licensee Prohibited Conduct  

(1) In addition to the prohibitions set forth in OAR 845-025-8520, a laboratory 

licensee may not: (a) Perform any required marijuana testing using any testing methods 

or equipment not permitted under the laboratory’s accreditation through the Authority;  

(b) Perform any required marijuana testing for any licensed marijuana producer, 

processor, wholesaler or retailer in which the laboratory licensee has a financial 

interest; or 

(c) Engage in any activity that violates any provision of chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, 

chapter 614, Oregon Laws 2015, OAR 333-007-0300 through OAR 333-007-0490 or 

OAR 333, Division 64 as applicable or these rules.  

(2) The Commission may suspend or cancel a laboratory license for any violation of 

sections 91 to 99, chapter 614, Oregon Laws 2015, or these rules. The licensee has a 

365 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

right to a hearing under the procedures of ORS chapter 183; OAR chapter 137, 

division 003; and OAR chapter 845, division 003. 

(2) A violation of this rule is a Category I violation and could result in license 

revocation. 
 

 

RESEARCH CERTIFICATE 

 

845-025-5300 

Application for Marijuana Research Certificate  

(1) The Commission shall issue Marijuana Research Certificates to qualifying public 

and private researchers who present research proposals that demonstrate:  

(a) The proposed research would benefit the state’s cannabis industry, medical research 

or public health and safety; and  

(b) The proposed operation and methodology complies with all applicable laws and 

administrative rules governing marijuana licensees and licensee representatives.  

(2) The process for applying for, receiving and renewing a certificate shall be the same 

as the process for applying for, receiving and renewing a marijuana license under OAR 

845-025-1030 to 845-025-1115 except that an applicant for a Marijuana Research 

Certificate is not subject to the residency requirements in OAR 845-025-1045(2)(b).  

(3) In addition to the application requirements in OAR-025-1030 the applicant must 

also provide: (a) A clear description of the research proposal;  

(b) A description of the researchers' expertise in the scientific substance and methods 

of the proposed research;  

(c) An explanation of the scientific merit of the research plan, including a clear 

statement of the overall benefit of the applicant’s proposed research to Oregon’s 

cannabis industry, medical research, or to public health and safety;  

(d) Descriptions of key personnel, including clinicians, scientists, or epidemiologists 

and support personnel who would be involved in the research, demonstrating they are 

adequately trained to conduct this research;  

(e) A clear statement of the applicant’s access to funding and the estimated cost of the 

proposed research;  

(f) A disclosure of any specific conflicts of interest that the researcher or other key 

personnel have regarding the research proposal;  

(g) A description of the research methods demonstrating an unbiased approach to the 

proposed research; and  

(h) If the applicant intends to research the use of pesticides, an experimental use permit 

issued by Oregon Department of Agriculture pursuant to OAR 603-057-0160.  

(4) Research certificates will be granted for up to a three-year term. 

(5) The Commission may request that the research certificate holder submit 

information and fingerprints required for a criminal background check at any time 

within the research certificate term.  

(6) A certificate holder may, in writing, request that the Commission waive one or 

more of these rules. The request must include the following information:  

(a) The specific rule and subsection of a rule that is requested to be waived;  

(b) The reason for the waiver;  

366 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

(c) A description of an alternative safeguard the licensee can put in place in lieu of the 

requirement that is the subject of the waiver, or why such a safeguard is not necessary; 

and  

(d) An explanation of how and why the alternative safeguard or waiver of the rule 

protects public health and safety, prevents diversion of marijuana, and provides for 

accountability.  

(7) The Commission may, in its discretion, and on a case-by-case basis, grant the 

waiver in whole or in part if it finds:  

(a) The reason the certificate holder is requesting the waiver is because another state or 

local law prohibits compliance; or  

(b) The certificate holder cannot comply with the particular rule, for reasons beyond 

the certificate holder’s control or compliance with the rule is cost prohibitive; or  

(c) Because of the nature of the research, the Commissions finds that compliance with 

a particular rule is not necessary and that even with the waiver public health and safety 

can be protected, there is no increased opportunity for diversion of marijuana, and the 

certificate holder remains accountable.  

(8) The Commission must notify the certificate holder in writing whether the request 

has been approved. If the request is approved the notice must specifically describe any 

alternate safeguards that are required and, if the waiver is time limited, must state the 

time period the waiver is in effect.  

(9) The Commission may withdraw approval of the waiver at any time upon a finding 

that the previously approved waiver is not protecting public health and safety or the 

research certificate holder has other issues with compliance. If the Commission 

withdraws its approval of the waiver the certificate holder will be given a reasonable 

period of time to come into compliance with the requirement that was waived.  

 

845-025-5350 

Marijuana Research Certificate Privileges and Prohibitions  

(1) A certificate holder may receive marijuana items from a licensee or a registrant 

under ORS 475.300 to 475.346.  

(2) A certificate holder may not sell or otherwise transfer marijuana items to any other 

person except when disposing of waste pursuant to OAR 845-025-7750, or transferring 

to another certificate holder.  

(3) A certificate holder may not conduct any human subject research related to 

marijuana unless the certificate holder has received approval from an institutional 

review board that has adopted the Common Rule, 45 CFR Part 46.  

(4) All administrative rules adopted by Commission for the purpose of administering 

and enforcing chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015; chapter 614, Oregon Laws 2015; and any 

rules adopted thereunder with respect to licensees and licensee representatives apply to 

certificate holders except for those which are inconsistent with this rule.  
 

 The Newberg Municipal Code states the following regarding retail, wholesale and warehouse: 

 

367 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

15.05.030 Definitions. 

For the purpose of this title, the following definitions shall apply unless the context 

clearly indicates or requires a different meaning: 

“Retail sales – general category” means a category of uses under 

Chapter 15.303 NMC that sell or rent goods to the general public. Items are sold 

indoors, or, if outdoors, are limited to small items that do not require machinery to 

load to customers. Most items for sale are stored on or picked up from the site. 

Operators may be commercial or nonprofit entities. 

“Wholesale and industry sales category” means a category of uses under 

Chapter 15.303 NMC that sell goods or merchandise to retailers, to industrial, 

commercial, institutional, or other professional business users, or to other wholesalers 

and related subordinated services. Items are only occasionally sold directly to the 

general public. 

“Warehouse, storage and distribution category” means a category of uses under 

Chapter 15.303 NMC that involve the storage or movement of goods for themselves or 

other firms. Goods are generally delivered to other firms or the final consumer, except 

for some will-call pickups. It includes data centers that store and distribute electronic 

data. There is little on-site sales activity with the customer present. 

Use Categories 

15.303.421 Retail sales – General category. 

A. Characteristics. General retail sales uses sell or rent goods to the general public. 

Items are sold indoors, or, if outdoors, are limited to small items that do not require 

machinery to load to customers. Most items for sale are stored on or picked up from 

the site. Operators may be commercial or nonprofit entities. 

15.303.503 Wholesale and industry sales category. 

A. Characteristics. Wholesale sales uses sell goods or merchandise to retailers, to 

industrial, commercial, institutional, or other professional business users, or to other 

wholesalers and related subordinated services. Items are only occasionally sold directly 

to the general public. 

15.303.504 Warehouse, storage and distribution category. 

A. Characteristics. Warehouse. Storage and distribution uses involve the storage, or 

movement of goods for themselves or other firms. Goods are generally delivered to 

other firms or the final consumer, except for some will-call pickups. It includes data 

368 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

centers that store and distribute electronic data. There is little on-site sales activity with 

the customer present. 

 

 
USES R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 RP C-1 C-2 C-3 C-4 M-1 M-2 M-3 M-4-I M-4-C CF I 

AR AI Notes and 

Special 

Use Standards 

400 COMMERCIAL 

USES 

                   

 Retail sales - 

General 

     P 

(20) 

P P 

(15) 

(21) 

P  P 

(23) 

        

500 INDUSTRIAL 

USES 

                   

 Wholesale and 

industry sales 

      C 

(31) 

  P 

(31) 

P P P     P(33)  

 Warehouse, storage 

and distribution 

         P 

(32) 

P P P     P (33)  

 

 Key: 

  

 P: Permitted use 

 S: Special use – Use requires a special use permit 

 C: Conditional use – Requires a conditional use permit  

 X: Prohibited use 

 (#): See notes for limitations 

 
 Notes. 

 (15) Facility over 40,000 square feet gross floor area requires a conditional use permit. 

(20) Businesses in the C-1 zone that have hours of operation between 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. require a conditional use permit. 

(21) Drive-up service windows accessory to an existing business on the site with walk-in customer service, such as a drive-up bank 

window, are allowed only with a conditional use permit. Otherwise, drive-up service windows, except those in service on April 1, 2002, 

are prohibited. Changes in use will not be allowed. 

(23) Limited to secondhand stores. 

(31) Allowed indoors only. 

(32) Allowed indoors only. Outdoor use requires a conditional use permit. 

(33) Must be aviation-related. See Chapter 15.332 NMC. 

 

TIME 
 

HB 3400, Section 33 (ORS 475B.340) allows local governments to regulate the hours of 

operation (time) of marijuana retail operations. The law reads: 

 

(Land Use) 

 

SECTION 33. Section 59, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, is amended to read: 

Sec. 59. [(1) Cities and counties may adopt reasonable time, place and manner 

regulations of the nuisance aspects of establishments that sell marijuana to consumers 

369 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

if the city or county makes specific findings that the establishment would cause 

adverse effects to occur.] 

[(2) The authority granted to cities and counties by this section is in addition to, and 

not in lieu of, the authority granted to a city or county under its charter and the 

statutes and Constitution of this state.] 

(1) For purposes of this section, “reasonable regulations” includes: 

(a) Reasonable conditions on the manner in which a marijuana producer licensed 

under section 19, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, may produce marijuana; 

(b) Reasonable conditions on the manner in which a marijuana processor licensed 

under section 20, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, may process marijuana; 

(c) Reasonable conditions on the manner in which a marijuana wholesaler 

licensed under section 21, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, may sell marijuana at 

wholesale; 

(d) Reasonable limitations on the hours during which a marijuana retailer 

licensed undersection 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, may operate; 

(e) Reasonable conditions on the manner in which a marijuana retailer licensed 

under section 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, may sell marijuana items; 

(f) Reasonable requirements related to the public’s access to a premises for which 

a license has been issued under section 19, 20, 21 or 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 

2015; and 

(g) Reasonable limitations on where a premises for which a license may be issued 

under section 19, 20, 21 or 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, may be located. 

(2) Notwithstanding ORS 633.738, the governing body of a city or county may 

adopt ordinances that impose reasonable regulations on the operation of 

businesses located at premises for which a license has been issued under section 

19, 20, 21 or 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, if the premises are located in the 

area subject to the jurisdiction of the city or county, except that the governing 

body of a city or county may not adopt an ordinance that prohibits a premises for 

which a license has been issued under section 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, 

from being located within a distance that is greater than 1,000 feet of another 

premises for which a license has been issued under section 22, chapter 1, Oregon 

Laws 2015. 

(3) Regulations adopted under this section must be consistent with city and 

county comprehensive plans and zoning ordinances and applicable provisions of 

public health and safety laws. 
 

Oregon Administrative Rule, Division 25 establishes hours of retail sales to consumers. The 

rule reads: 
 

845-025-2820 

Retailer Operational Requirements  

(1) A retailer may:  

(a) Only receive marijuana items from a producer, wholesaler, processor or laboratory;  

(b) Only sell marijuana items to a consumer from the licensed premises, unless sale is 

made pursuant to a bona fide order as described in OAR 845-025-2880;  

370 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

(c) Only sell up to the following amounts at any one time to a consumer within one 

day:  

(A) One ounce of usable marijuana;  

(B) 16 ounces of a cannabinoid product in solid form;  

(C) 72 ounces of a cannabinoid product in liquid form;  

(D) Five grams of cannabinoid extracts or concentrate, whether sold alone or contained 

in an inhalant delivery system;  

(E) Four immature marijuana plants; and  

(F) Ten marijuana seeds;  

(d) Refuse to sell marijuana items to a consumer; and  

(e) Only sell to consumers between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 10 p.m. local time.  

(2) A retailer may not: 

(a) Provide free samples of a marijuana item to a consumer;  

(b) Sell or give away pressurized containers of butane or other materials that could be 

used in the home production of marijuana extracts;  

(c) Require a consumer to purchase other products or services as a condition of 

purchasing a marijuana item or receiving a discount on a marijuana item;  

(d) Sell a marijuana item for less than the cost of acquisition;  

(e) Provide coupons or offer discounts, except that uniform volume discounts are 

permitted;  

(f) Permit consumers to be present on the licensed premises or sell to a consumer 

between the hours of 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. local time the following day; or  

(g) Sell any product derived from industrial hemp, as that is defined in ORS 571.300, 

that is intended for human consumption, ingestion, or inhalation, unless it has been 

tested, labeled and packaged in accordance with these rules.  

(3) A retailer’s pricing on marijuana items must remain consistent during each day. 

(4) Prior to completing the sale of a marijuana item to a consumer, a retailer must 

verify that the consumer has a valid, unexpired government-issued photo identification 

and must verify that the consumer is 21 years of age or older by viewing the 

consumer’s:  

(a) Passport;  

(b) Driver license, whether issued in this state or by any other state, as long as the 

license has a picture of the person;  

(c) Identification card issued under ORS 807.400; 

(d) United States military identification card; or  

(e) Any other identification card issued by a state that bears a picture of the person, the 

name of the person, the person’s date of birth and a physical description of the person.  

(5) Marijuana items offered for sale by a retailer must be stored in such a manner that 

the items are only accessible to authorized representatives until such time as the final 

sale to the consumer is completed.  

(6) For purposes of this rule, "coupon" means any coupon, ticket, certificate token or 

any other material that a person may use to obtain a price reduction or rebate in 

connection with the acquisition or purchase of a marijuana item. 

 

There are no additional provisions in ORS or OAR’s regarding hours of operation for 

wholesalers, laboratories or research certificates. For laboratories and research facilities if they 

371 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

were permitted in industrial districts they could be considered to be similar to an industrial 

operation. The Development Code does not limit hours of operation for industrial type uses. 

For Medical Marijuana Dispensaries Council adopted operational hours of 9 AM - 8 PM. 
 

 

MANNER 
 

HB 3400, Section 33 (ORS 475B.340) allows local governments to regulate the manner of 

recreational marijuana wholesale and retail uses. The law reads: 

 

(Land Use) 

 

SECTION 33. Section 59, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, is amended to read: 

Sec. 59. [(1) Cities and counties may adopt reasonable time, place and manner 

regulations of the nuisance aspects of establishments that sell marijuana to consumers 

if the city or county makes specific findings that the establishment would cause 

adverse effects to occur.] 

[(2) The authority granted to cities and counties by this section is in addition to, and 

not in lieu of, the authority granted to a city or county under its charter and the 

statutes and Constitution of this state.] 

(1) For purposes of this section, “reasonable regulations” includes: 

(a) Reasonable conditions on the manner in which a marijuana producer licensed 

under section 19, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, may produce marijuana; 

(b) Reasonable conditions on the manner in which a marijuana processor licensed 

under section 20, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, may process marijuana; 

(c) Reasonable conditions on the manner in which a marijuana wholesaler 

licensed under section 21, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, may sell marijuana at 

wholesale; 

(d) Reasonable limitations on the hours during which a marijuana retailer 

licensed under section 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, may operate; 

(e) Reasonable conditions on the manner in which a marijuana retailer licensed 

under section 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, may sell marijuana items; 

(f) Reasonable requirements related to the public’s access to a premises for which 

a license has been issued under section 19, 20, 21 or 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 

2015; and 

(g) Reasonable limitations on where a premises for which a license may be issued 

under section 19, 20, 21 or 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, may be located. 

(2) Notwithstanding ORS 633.738, the governing body of a city or county may 

adopt ordinances that impose reasonable regulations on the operation of 

businesses located at premises for which a license has been issued under section 

19, 20, 21 or 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, if the premises are located in the 

area subject to the jurisdiction of the city or county, except that the governing 

body of a city or county may not adopt an ordinance that prohibits a premises for 

which a license has been issued under section 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, 

from being located within a distance that is greater than 1,000 feet of another 

premises for which a license has been issued under section 22, chapter 1, Oregon 

372 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

Laws 2015. 

(3) Regulations adopted under this section must be consistent with city and 

county comprehensive plans and zoning ordinances and applicable provisions of 

public health and safety laws. 

 

HB 3400, Sections 19 and 20 (ORS 475B.215 and ORS 475B.218) establishes requirements 

for marijuana handlers in recreational marijuana retail operations. The law reads: 
 

(Marijuana Handlers) 

 

SECTION 19. (1) An individual who performs work for or on behalf of a person 

who holds a license under section 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, must have a 

valid permit issued by the Oregon Liquor Control Commission under section 20 

of this 2015 Act if the individual participates in: 

(a) The possession, securing or selling of marijuana items at the premises for 

which the license has been issued; 

(b) The recording of the possession, securing or selling of marijuana items at the 

premises for which the license has been issued; or 

(c) The verification of any document described in section 16, chapter 1, Oregon 

Laws 2015. 

(2) A person who holds a license under section 22, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, 

must verify that an individual has a valid permit issued under section 20 of this 

2015 Act before allowing the individual to perform any work described in 

subsection (1) of this section at the premises for which the license has been issued. 

 

SECTION 20. (1) The Oregon Liquor Control Commission shall issue permits to 

qualified applicants to perform work described in section 19 of this 2015 Act. The 

commission shall adopt rules establishing: 

(a) The qualifications for performing work described in section 19 of this 2015 

Act; 

(b) The term of a permit issued under this section; 

(c) Procedures for applying for and renewing a permit issued under this section; 

and 

(d) Reasonable application, issuance and renewal fees for a permit issued under 

this section. 

(2)(a) The commission may require an individual applying for a permit under this 

section to successfully complete a course, made available by or through the 

commission, through which the individual receives training on: 

(A) Checking identification; 

(B) Detecting intoxication; 

(C) Handling marijuana items; 

(D) The content of sections 3 to 70, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, and rules 

adopted under sections 3 to 70, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015; and 

(E) Any matter deemed necessary by the commission to protect the public health 

and safety. 

(b) The commission or other provider of the course may charge a reasonable fee 

373 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

for the course. 

(c) The commission may not require an individual to successfully complete the 

course more than once, except that: 

(A) As part of a final order suspending a permit issued under this section, the 

commission may require a permit holder to successfully complete the course as a 

condition of lifting the suspension; and 

(B) As part of a final order revoking a permit issued under this section, the 

commission shall require an individual to successfully complete the course prior 

to applying for a new permit. 

(3) The commission shall conduct a criminal records check under ORS 181.534 

on an individual applying for a permit under this section. 

(4) Subject to the applicable provisions of ORS chapter 183, the commission may 

suspend, revoke or refuse to issue or renew a permit if the individual who is 

applying for or who holds the permit: 

(a) Is convicted of a felony, except that the commission may not consider a 

conviction for the manufacture or delivery of marijuana if the date of the 

conviction is two or more years before the date of the application or renewal; 

(b) Violates any provision of sections 3 to 70, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, or 

any rule adopted under sections 3 to 70, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015; or 

(c) Makes a false statement to the commission. 

(5) A permit issued under this section is a personal privilege and permits work 

described under section 19 of this 2015 Act only for the individual who holds the 

permit. 
 

 

Oregon Administrative Rule, Division 25 establishes requirements for handlers in recreational 

marijuana retail operations. The rule reads: 
 

MARIJUANA HANDLER PERMITS 

 

845-025-5500 

Marijuana Handler Permit and Retailer Requirements  

(1) A marijuana handler permit is required for any individual who performs work for 

or on behalf of a marijuana retailer if the individual participates in:  

(a) The possession, securing or selling of marijuana items at the premises for which the 

license has been issued;  

(b) The recording of the possession, securing or selling of marijuana items at the 

premises for which the license has been issued;  

(c) The verification of any document described in section 16, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 

2015; or  

(d) The direct supervision of a person described in subsections (a) to (c) of this section.  

(2) An individual who is required by section (1) of this rule to hold a marijuana 

handler permit must carry that permit on his or her person at all times when performing 

work on behalf of a marijuana retailer. 

(3) A person who holds a marijuana handler permit must notify the Commission in 

writing within 10 days of any conviction for a misdemeanor or felony. (4) A marijuana 

374 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

retailer must verify that an individual has a valid marijuana handler permit issued in 

accordance with OAR 845-025-5500 to 845-025-5590 before allowing the individual 

to perform any work at the licensed premises.  

 

845-025-5520 

Marijuana Handler Applications  

(1) In order to obtain a marijuana handler permit an individual must submit an 

application on a form prescribed by the Commission. The application must contain the 

applicant’s:  

(a) Name;  

(b) Mailing address;  

(c) Date of birth;  

(d) Signature; and  

(e) Response to conviction history questions.  

(2) In addition to the application an applicant must submit:  

(a) A copy of a driver's license or identification card issued by one of the fifty states in 

the United States of America or a passport; (b) The applicable fee as specified in OAR 

845-025-1060; and  

(c) Proof of having completed a marijuana handler education course and passed the 

examination. (3) If an application does not contain all the information requested or if 

the information and fee required in section (2) of this rule is not provided to the 

Commission, the application will be returned to the individual as incomplete, along 

with the fee. 

 (4) If an application is returned as incomplete, the individual may reapply at any time. 

 

845-025-5540 

Marijuana Handler Permit Denial Criteria  

(1) The Commission must deny an initial or renewal application if the applicant:  

(a) Is not 21 years of age or older; or  

(b) Has not completed the marijuana handler education course and passed the 

examination.  

(2) The Commission may deny a marijuana handler permit application, unless the 

applicant shows good cause to overcome the denial criteria, if the applicant:  

(a) Has been convicted of a felony, except for a felony described in section 20(4)(a), 

chapter 614, Oregon Laws 2015;  

(b) Has violated a provision of sections 3 to 70, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, or these 

rules; or (c) Makes a false statement to the Commission.  

(3) If the Commission denies an application under subsection (2)(b) or (c) of this rule 

the individual may not reapply within two years of the date the Commission received 

the application. (4) A Notice of Denial must be issued by the Commission in 

accordance with ORS 183. Stat.  

 

845-025-5560 

Marijuana Handler Course Education and Examination Requirements  

375 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

(1) An individual must, prior to applying for a marijuana handler permit, complete an 

approved marijuana handler education course, pass the required examination, and pay 

the fee specified in OAR 845-025-1060.  

(2) An individual must score at least 70 percent on the marijuana handler course 

examination in order to pass.  

(a) An individual who does not pass the examination may retake the examination up to 

two times within 90 days of the date the individual took the course. If the individual 

fails to pass both retake examinations the individual must retake the handler education 

course.  

(3) An individual must take a marijuana handler education course at least every five 

years prior to applying for renewal of a marijuana handler permit.  

(4) The Commission may require additional education or training for permit holders at 

any time, with adequate notice to permit holders.  

 

845-025-5580 

Marijuana Handler Renewal Requirements  

(1) An individual must renew his or her marijuana handler permit every five years by 

submitting a renewal application, on a form prescribed by the Commission and the 

applicable fee specified in OAR 845-025-1060.  

(2) Renewal applications will be reviewed in accordance with OAR 845-025-5520 and 

845-025-5540. 

 

845-025-5590 

Suspension or Revocation  

(1) The Commission may suspend or cancel the permit of any marijuana handler if the 

handler:  

(a) Has been convicted of a felony, except for a felony described in section 20, chapter 

614, Oregon Laws 2015(4)(a);  

(b) Has violated a provision of sections 3 to 70, chapter 1, Oregon Laws 2015, or these 

rules; or (c) Makes a material false statement to the Commission.  

(2) If an individual’s permit is canceled under sections (1)(b) or (c) of this rule the 

individual may not reapply within two years from the date a final order of revocation is 

issued.  

(3) A notice of suspension or revocation must be issued by the Commission in 

accordance with ORS 183. 
 

There are a variety of other operational requirements for recreational marijuana retail 

operations.  These include Bonds and Liability Insurance (HB 3400, Sections 21 and 22); 

Tracking system for sales (HB 3400, Section 23 and OAR 845-025-7500 thru 845-025-7590); 

Identification requirements (HB 3400, Section 24); Protect Individuals Under the Age of 21 

(HB 3400, Sections 25 - 28);  Testing of Marijuana Products (HB 3400, Sections 91- 99 and 

OAR 845-025-5700 thru 845-025-5740); Labeling and Packaging (HB 3400, Sections 100 – 

112 and 845-025-7000 thru 845-025- 760); Delivery (OAR 845-025-7700); Advertising (OAR 

845-025-8000 thru 845-025-8080); Security and Alarm System (OAR 845-025-1400 thru 845-

025-1460); Prizes and Giveaways (HB 3400, Section 49).  

 

376 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

 

E. MARIJUANA SUBCOMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: The Subcommittee developed 

the following recommendations. 

 

Retail 

1. Not allow retail as a permitted use in residential districts R-1, R-2, R-3, R- 4, AR, RP, 

and all residential sub-districts. 

2. Allow retail as a permitted use in all commercial zones except Civic Corridor with a 

footnote regarding the 1,000 foot buffer from schools and parks as noted on the third 

map in the packet. 

3. Not allow retail in industrial districts and sub-districts. 

4. Not allow wholesale or retail in community facilities and institutional. 

5. Change the hours of operation for retail to 9 am to 8 pm. 

 

Wholesale 

1. Allow wholesale as a permitted use in all residential categories including the sub-

districts with no product allowed on the premises. 

2. Allow wholesale as a conditional use in C-2 only with a footnote regarding indoor use 

only and new footnote regarding the 1,000 foot buffer from schools and parks. 

3. Not allow wholesale or retail in community facilities and institutional. 

4. Allow wholesale as a permitted use in all industrial districts and sub-districts, except 

Airport Industrial, with a footnote regarding the 1,000 foot buffer from schools and 

parks. 

5. Not allow retail or wholesale in the other sub-districts. 

 

Laboratories and Research Certificates 

1.  Allow laboratories and research in all commercial districts and sub-districts, 

institutional districts, and all industrial districts and sub-districts, except AI. They are 

not allowed in all other districts, such as residential, community facilities, and other. 

 

F. PRELIMINARY STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  The preliminary staff recommendation 

is made in the absence of public hearing testimony, and may be modified subsequent to the 

close of the public hearing.   

The Planning Commission may want to consider if recreational marijuana wholesalers should 

be allowed as a permitted use with no product on site in the residential districts and residential 

subdistricts. The Oregon Liquor Control Commission definition of a premises and 

understanding that licenses will not be issued where a primary residence is located should be 

considered. A license may be issued in a residential area by the Oregon Liquor Control 

Commission if the wholesale activity was occurring in an accessory structure and all other 

Oregon Liquor Control Commission requirements are met. 

Attachments 3 through 5 are maps depicting the 1,000 foot buffers from schools and parks 

recommended by the Subcommittee. 

At this writing, staff recommends the following motion: 

377 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

Move to adopt Planning Commission Resolution 2016-314, which recommends that the City 

Council adopt the requested amendments. 

378 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION 2016-314 

 

 A RESOLUTION RECOMMENDING THAT THE CITY COUNCIL AMEND THE 

NEWBERG DEVELOPMENT CODE REGARDING RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA 

WHOLESALERS, LABORATORIES, RESEARCH CERTIFICATES AND RETAILERS 

RECITALS 

1. In November 2014 voters in Oregon approved Ballot Measure 91 related to recreational 

marijuana. 

2. House Bill (HB) 3400 was passed in the 2015 Oregon Legislative session related to 

recreational marijuana and is now part of Oregon Revised Statutes Chapter 475B – Cannabis 

Regulation.  

3. The Oregon Liquor Control Commission adopted temporary Oregon Administrative Rules 

(OAR’s) on October 22, 2015 that were subsequently modified on November 20, 2015 for 

recreational marijuana under Chapter 845, Division 25. 

4. The Newberg City Council established the Marijuana Subcommittee on September 8, 2015 to 

review and provide recommendations on local place, time and manner regulations for 

recreational marijuana. 

5. The Newberg City Council initiated a potential amendment to Newberg's Development Code 

regarding recreational marijuana wholesalers, laboratories, research certificates and retailers 

on February 1, 2016 by Resolution No. 2015-3253. 

6. The Marijuana Subcommittee met on February 4, 2016 and developed recommendations to the 

Planning Commission on recreational marijuana wholesalers, laboratories, research 

certificates and retailers. 

7. After proper notice, the Newberg Planning Commission held a hearing on April 14, 2016 to 

consider the amendment.  The Commission considered testimony and deliberated. 

The Newberg Planning Commission resolves as follows: 

1. The Commission finds that adding regulations for recreational marijuana wholesalers, 

laboratories, research certificates and retailers, and adding definitions for recreational 

marijuana wholesalers, laboratories and retailers, would be in the best interests of the city and 

recommends that the City Council adopt the amendments to the Newberg Development Code 

as shown in Exhibit “A”.  Exhibit "A" is hereby adopted and by this reference incorporated. 

2. The findings shown in Exhibit “B” are hereby adopted.  Exhibit "B" is by this reference 

incorporated. 

379 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

Adopted by the Newberg Planning Commission this 14th day of April, 2016. 

        ATTEST: 

 

Planning Commission Chair     Planning Commission Secretary 

List of Exhibits: 

 Exhibit “A”: Development Code Text Amendments  

 Exhibit “B”:  Findings

380 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

Exhibit “A” to Planning Commission Resolution 2016-314 

Development Code Amendments –File DCA-16-001 

Recreational Marijuana Wholesalers, Laboratories, Research Certificates and 

Retailers 

 

Section 1.  The Newberg Development Code 15.05.030 shall be amended to read as follows: 

 

Note:   Existing text is shown in regular font. 

 Added text is shown in double-underline 

 Deleted text is shown in strikethrough. 

 

 

 15.05.030 Definitions  

 

For the purpose of this title, the following definitions shall apply unless the context clearly 

indicates or requires a different meaning: 

 

“Marijuana Laboratory” means a laboratory certified by the Oregon Health Authority under 

ORS 438.605 to 438.620 and authorized to test marijuana items for purposes specified in 

these rules.  

 

“Marijuana Retailer” means a marijuana retailer licensed by the Oregon Liquor Control 

Commission. 

 

“Marijuana Wholesaler” means a marijuana wholesaler licensed by the Oregon Liquor 

Control Commission.  

 

 

Section 2.  Newberg Development Code, Zoning Use Table, Section 15.305.020 shall be 

amended to read as follows: 

 

 

See Exhibit A, Attachment 1 

 

 

Section 3.  Newberg Development Code, Zoning Use Table, Section 15.305.030 shall be 

amended to read as follows: 

 

 

See Exhibit A, Attachment 2 

 

 

 

381 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

Section 4.  Newberg Development Code, Stream Corridor Overlay Subdistrict, Section 

15.342.110 is amended to read as follows:  

 

15.342.110 Prohibited uses and activities. 

The following activities or uses are prohibited within this subdistrict: 

A. Except as provided in NMC 15.342.040(R), the planting or propagation of any plant 

identified as a nuisance plant as determined by a qualified botanist or indicated as a nuisance 

plant on the Newberg plant list. 

B. The removal of native trees that are greater than six inches in diameter at breast height, 

except as is otherwise permitted within this chapter. 

C. Any use dealing with hazardous substances or materials, including but not limited to gas 

service stations. 

D. Public pathways, except those in conjunction with public lands, public parks or 

public easements that have been acquired by other than eminent domain. [Ord. 2451, 12-2-96. 

Code 2001 § 151.475.] 

E. Recreational Marijuana Producer and Recreational Marijuana Processor. 

F. Recreational Marijuana Wholesalers, Laboratories, Research Certificates and Retailers. 

 

Section 5.  Newberg Development Code, Civic Corridor Overlay Subdistrict, Section 

15.350.030 is amended to read as follows:  

15.350.030 Permitted buildings and uses. 

All uses permitted in the underlying primary district are permitted within the CC subdistrict 

except as follows: 

A. In addition to the buildings and uses permitted conditionally in NMC 15.305.020, 

the planning commission may grant a conditional use permit for any of the 

following buildings and uses in accordance with a Type III procedure: 

1. Facilities which exist for the purpose of providing for the temporary care and/or 

lodging of adult indigent persons. 

2. Hospitals. 

B. The following uses are prohibited within the CC subdistrict: 

1. Automobile sales, new and used. 

382 of 460 

http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=289
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15342.html#15.342.040
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=289
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=216.1
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=109
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/ords/Ord2451.pdf
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=289
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=50
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=289
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15305.html#15.305.020
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=229
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=81
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=50
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=289
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=226
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=161
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=289
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=197


 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

2. Car washes, coin-operated or mechanical. 

3. Garages, repair. 

4. Service stations. [Amended during 11/13 supplement; Ord. 2561, 4-1-02. Code 

2001 § 151.526.3.] 

5.  Recreational Marijuana Producer and Recreational Marijuana Processor. 

6. Recreational Marijuana Wholesalers and Retailers. 

Section 6.  Newberg Development Code, Bypass Interchange Overlay, Section 15.356.050 is 

amended to read as follows:  

15.356.050 Prohibited uses. 

A. Several commercial types of uses are permitted outright or with conditional use approval 

in Newberg’s industrial districts (M-1, M-2, and M-3). The area within the Newberg UGB 

near the Oregon 219 Interchange is generally planned for industrial use. To protect the 

interchange area from commercial development, the following uses are prohibited within the 

M-1, M-2, and M-3 districts within the boundaries of the bypass interchange overlay: 

1. Automobile sales, new and used. 

2. Billboards. 

3. Car washes. 

4. Convenience grocery stores. 

5. Restaurants larger than 2,000 square feet or with drive-up service windows. 

6. Service stations. 

7. Drive-in theaters. 

8. Auction sales. 

9. Bakeries, retail. 

10. Building material sales. 

11. Driving ranges. 

12. Feed and seed stores. 

383 of 460 

http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/ords/Ord2561.pdf
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=289
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=289
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=289
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=289
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=197
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=247
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=50


 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

13. Miniature golf courses. 

14. Skating rinks. 

15. Recreational Marijuana Producer and Recreational Marijuana Processor. 

16. Recreational Marijuana Wholesalers, Laboratories, Research Certificates and 

Retailers. 

B. The industrial commercial subdistrict of the M-4 district shall not be applied within the 

boundaries of the BI overlay. [Ord. 2734 § 1 (Exh. B), 3-7-11; Ord. 2708 § 2, 12-1-08; 

Ord. 2602, 9-20-04. Code 2001 § 151.531.4.] 

 

Section 7.  Newberg Development Code, Interim Industrial Overlay, Section 15.358.030 is 

amended to read as follows:  

15.358.030 Permitted uses. 

All uses of land and water that are permitted in the underlying zoning district(s) are also 

permitted in the interim industrial overlay, with the exception of those uses listed in 

NMC 15.358.050. In addition, the following are permitted: 

A. Contractor’s equipment or storage. 

B. Construction material storage. [Ord. 2720 § 1(5), 11-2-09. Code 2001 § 151.532.2.] 

C. Recreational Marijuana Producer (indoor). 

D. Recreational Marijuana Wholesalers, Laboratories, Research Certificates. 

 

Section 8.  Newberg Development Code, Interim Industrial Overlay, Section 15.358.050 is 

amended to read as follows: 

15.358.050 Prohibited uses. 

The following uses are prohibited in the interim industrial overlay: 

A. Cemeteries. 

B. Garbage dumps, sanitary landfills. 

C. Parks. 

384 of 460 

http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=141.1
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/ords/Ord2734.pdf
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/ords/Ord2708.pdf
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/ords/Ord2602.pdf
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=289
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=289
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15358.html#15.358.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/ords/Ord2720.pdf
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=289
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=64
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=216.1


 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

D. Permanent buildings. 

E. Wrecking yards for motor vehicles, building materials, and other similar items. 

[Ord. 2720 § 1(5), 11-2-09. Code 2001 § 151.532.4.] 

F. Recreational Marijuana Processor. 

G. Recreational Marijuana Retailers. 

 

 

385 of 460 

http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=50
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=302
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=50
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/ords/Ord2720.pdf


 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

Exhibit “B” to Planning Commission Resolution 2016-314 

 

Findings –File DCA-16-001 

Recreational Marijuana Wholesalers, Laboratories, Research Certificates and 

Retailers 

I. Statewide Planning Goals - relevant goals 

 Goal 1, Citizen Involvement, requires the provision of opportunities for citizens to be 

 involved in all phases of the planning process.  

Finding:  The City Council initiated the potential development code amendment at a public meeting 

on February 1, 2016. The Marijuana Subcommittee meet on February 4, 2016 at a public meeting to 

review potential place, time and manner regulations for Recreational Marijuana Wholesalers, 

Laboratories, Research Certificates and Retailers. The Planning Commission, after proper notice, 

held a public hearing on April 14, 2016. The City Council will consider the recommendation of the 

Planning Commission at a future public hearing date, and decide whether or not to adopt the 

development code amendment. The development code amendment process provides opportunity for 

public comments throughout the planning process.  

Goal 2, Land Use Planning, requires the development of a process and policy framework 

that acts as a basis for all land use decisions.  

Finding: The Recreational Marijuana Wholesalers, Laboratories, Research Certificates and Retailers 

proposal is supportive of this goal because it was developed following city procedures for legislative 

action. 

II. Newberg Comprehensive Plan - relevant policies 

A. CITIZEN INVOLVEMENT GOAL: To maintain a Citizen Involvement Program that 

offers citizens the opportunity for involvement in all phases of the planning process.  

 

Finding:  The City Council initiated the potential development code amendment at a public meeting 

on February 1, 2016. The Marijuana Subcommittee meet on February 4, 2016 at a public meeting to 

review potential place, time and manner regulations for Recreational Wholesalers, Laboratories, 

Research Certificates and Retailers. The Planning Commission, after proper notice, held a public 

hearing on April 14, 2016. The City Council will consider the recommendation of the Planning 

Commission at a future public hearing date, and decide whether or not to adopt the development 

code amendment. The development code amendment process provides opportunity for public 

comments throughout the planning process.  

B. LAND USE PLANNING GOAL: To maintain an on-going land use planning program to 

implement statewide and local goals. The program shall be consistent with natural and 

cultural resources and needs. 

 

386 of 460 



 

 

“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\MISC\WP5FILES\FILES.DCA\2016\DCA-16-001 Marijana Wholesal-Labs-Certificates-Retai\PC 4-14-16\DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.docx.doc 

Finding: The Recreational Marijuana Wholesalers, Laboratories, Research Certificates and Retailers 

proposal is supportive of this goal because it was developed following city procedures for legislative 

action. 

H. THE ECONOMY GOAL: To develop a diverse and stable economic base.  

1. General Policies  

c. The City will encourage the creation of a diversified employment base, the strengthening of 

trade centers and the attraction of both capital and labor intensive enterprises.  

g. The City shall encourage business and industry to locate within the Newberg City limits. 

 

Finding:  The city encourages new businesses to develop within the city. A Recreational Marijuana 

Wholesale, Laboratory, Research Certificate and Retail operations are a legal operation under State 

law. Allowing Recreational Marijuana Wholesale, Laboratory, Research Certificate and Retail 

operations as a permitted or conditional use as represented in Exhibit A, Attachments 1 and 2 is 

consistent with this Comprehensive Plan goal. 

III. Conclusion:  The proposed development code amendments meet the applicable requirements 

of the Statewide Planning Goals, and the Newberg Comprehensive Plan, and should be 

approved.  

  

387 of 460 



#
Use

R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 RP C-1 C-2 C-3 C-4 M-1 M-2 M-3 M-4-I M-4-C CF I AR AI
Notes and 

Special UseStandards

100 AGRICULTURALUSES

Def. Horticulture P P P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1)

Def.
Livestock and poultry 

farming
X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X

Def.
Home gardening

P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P

Def. Home livestock and 

poultry raising
S S S NMC Title 6

200 RESIDENTIAL USES

Def. Dwelling, single-family 

detached

P(2) P P(3) P C(4) C(5) P P(6)
Subject to density limits 

of NMC15.405.010(B)

Def. Dwelling, single-family 

attached

S(2) S S(3) S C(4) C(5) P P(6)

NMC15.415.050; subject to 

density limits of 

NMC15.405.010(B)

Def.
Manufactured homeon 

individual lot
S(2) S S(3) P(7) S P(6)

NMC15.445.050 –15.445.0

70; subject to density limits 

of NMC15.405.010(B)

Def.
Manufactured dwelling 

park
S S S

NMC15.445.075 –15.445.1

60

Def.
Mobile home park

S S S
NMC15.445.075 –15.445.1

60

Def.
Manufactured home 

subdivision
S S

NMC15.445.075 –15.445.1

60

Def. Dwelling, two-

family (duplex)

P(2) P P C P C(4)
P(8)/C(

5)
P

Subject to density limits 

of NMC15.405.010(B)

Def.

Dwelling, multifamily

C P P C P C(4)
P(8)/C(

5)
P

Subject to density limits 

of NMC15.405.010(B)

Def.

Dwelling, accessory
C S S S S

Chapter15.445 NMC, 

Article V

Def.
Dwelling, mixed use

P(9) P(10)
P(8)/C(

5)
P(11) C C

Def.

Dwelling, caretaker

P P P C P(12)

Limited to one per lot, and 

allowed whenever 

theuse requires the on-site 

residence of such person.

Def. Dormitory C P P P

Def.
Home occupation(no 

more than one outside 

paid employee)

S S S(13) S S S(13) S(13) S(13) S(13) S(13) S(13) S(13) S(13) S(13) S(13) S S S(13) NMC15.415.060

Def. Home occupation(more 

than one outside paid 

employee)

C C C(13) C C C(13) C(13) C(13) C(13) C(13) C(13) C(13) C(13) C(13) C(13) C C C(13) NMC15.415.060

300

310

Def.
Family child care home

P P P(13) P(13) P P(13) P(13) P(13) P(13) P P(13) Chapter 657AORS

312 Day care P P P C P P P P C C C C P P P(14) Chapter 657AORS

Def.

Residential care 

home (5 or fewer 

people)
P P P(13) P(13) P P(13) P(13) P(13) P(13) P P(13) ORS 197.665

Def. Residential care 

facility (6 – 15 people)

C P P C P C C P ORS 197.665

315 Group care facility(16+ 

people)
C C C C C P

316 Hospital C C C C P P P

Def. Prison C C C C

320 ASSEMBLY

321 Religious institution, 

place of worship
P P P P P P P P P P(29) C P

322
Private club, lodge, 

meeting hall
C C P P C P

330 SCHOOLS

Exhibit A, Attachment 1 

Newberg Development Code – Zoning Use Table 

INSTITUTIONAL AND PUBLIC USES
INSTITUTIONAL CARE AND HOUSING

Chapter 

15.305
ZONING 

USE 

15.305.020 Zoning use table - Use Districts.

388 of 460 

http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=289
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/cgi/extract.pl?def=289
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg06/Newberg06.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15405.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15405.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15405.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15405.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15405.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15405.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15445.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15445.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15415.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15415.html
http://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/ors.pl?cite=657a
http://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/ors.pl?cite=657a
http://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/ors.pl?cite=197.665
http://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/ors.pl?cite=197.665


330
School, primary or 

secondary
P P P P C

331 College P P P P P P P(15) C P

332
Commercial educational 

services
C C C C P P P C

340
PARKS AND OPEN 

SPACEs

341 Open space P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P

342 Park P P P P P P P P P P(16) P(17) P

Def. Golf course P P P P(17)

350 PUBLIC SERVICES

351 Community services C C C C P P P P C P

352 Emergency services P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P

Def. Pound, dog or cat C C C P P C C

Def. Cemetery C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C Chapter 97.46ORS

360 TRANSPORTATION

Def. Transportation facilities 

and improvements

P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P

Def. Transit center P P P P P P

Def. Parking facility P C C P P(18) C P P P P P

Def. Airport, landing field C C P

Def. Heliport, helipad C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C P

Def. Marina C

Pilings, piers, docks, and 

similar in-

waterstructures

C

370 UTILITIES

Def. Basic utilities P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P

Def.
Utility distribution plant 

or yard
P P P

Def.
Wastewater treatment 

plant
C P C

Def.

Telecommunication 

facility incorporated into 

existing structure/utility 

pole and no taller than 

18 feet above existing 

structure/utility pole

C C C C C S S S S S S S S S S
Chapter15.445 NMC, 

Article IV

Def.

Telecommunication 

facility, 

includingradio towers and 

transmitters, which are 100 

feet or less in height, 

except those incorporated 

into an existingstructure no 

taller than 18 feet above 

that structure.

C C C C S(19) S(19) P C C
Chapter15.445 NMC, 

Article IV

Def.

Telecommunication 

facility, 

includingradio towers and 

transmitters, which are over 

100 feet

C C C C C C C C C
Chapter15.445 NMC, 

Article IV

400 COMMERCIAL USES

410 COMMERCIAL OFFICES

411 Medical office C P P(20) P P(21) P

412
Local business office

P(22) P(20) P P(21)

420

421 Retail sales – General P(20) P
P(15) 

(21)
P P(23)

422
Retail sales – Bulk 

outdoor
P C P

423
Retail sales – 

Convenience
P(20) P P(21) P P(24) P(25)

Def. Temporary merchant S S(21) NMC5.15.050 et seq.

Medical marijuana 

dispensary
P(35) P(35)

425
Retail food and 

beverage production
S S

Chapter15.445 NMC, 

Article VIII

430

430
Eating and drinking – 

Alcohol-related
P P(21) P Requires liquor license

430
Eating and drinking – Non-

alcohol-related
P(20) P P(21) P P P C(26)

440
COMMERCIAL SERVICES

441 Personal services P P(20) P P(21) P

442 Commercial services P(20) P P(21)

443
Commercial vehicle 

service P C P(27) P P(28)

Def. Kennel, commercial C C C P P C C

450

COMMERCIAL SALES AND RENTALS

EATING AND DRINKING ESTABLISHMENTS

COMMERCIAL RECREATION

389 of 460 

http://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/ors.pl?cite=97.46
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15445.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15445.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15445.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15445.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15445.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15445.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg05/Newberg0515.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15445.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15445.html


451
Commercial recreation 

– Indoors
P P(15) P(29) P(29)

452 Commercial recreation 

– Outdoors

P C

453 Commercial recreation 

– Motor-vehicle-related

C C(33)

460 COMMERCIAL LODGING

Def.
Vacation rental home

C C S S S S(13) S(13) S(13) S(13)
Chapter15.445 NMC, 

Article VII

Def.
Bed and breakfast(2 or 

fewer rooms)
C S S S S S S S NMC15.445.010

Def. Bed and breakfast(3 or 

more rooms)
C C C C C S S S NMC15.445.010

Def. Hotel or motel P P(15) P C(26)

Def.
Recreational vehicle 

park
C C C C C NMC15.445.170

500 INDUSTRIAL USES

501 Traded sector industry 

office
P(30) P(30) P P P P P P(33)

502 Industrial services C P P P P(33)

503
Wholesale and industry 

sales
C(31) P(31) P P P P(33)

504
Warehouse, storage, 

and distribution
P(32) P P P P(33)

505
Self-service storage

P P P P P

506 Light manufacturing P P P P P(33)

507
Heavy manufacturing

P(34) P C

508 Waste-related C C

600 MISCELLANEOUS USES

Def.

Accessory 

buildingand use incidental 

to other permitted usesin 

the zone

P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P

Uses similar to 

permitted uses in the zone 

and not defined or 

categorized

P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P

Uses similar to 

conditional uses in the 

zone and not defined or 

categorized

C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C

Medical Marijuana 

Processor
P P P P

Medical Marijuana Grow  

Site
P(36) P(36) P(36) C C C C C C C C C C C C C C

Recreational Marijuana 

Processor
X X X X X X C(38) X X P(37) P(37) P(37) P(37) X X X X X

Recreational Marijuana 

Producer (Indoor)
X X X X X X X X X P P P P X X X X X

Recreational Marijuana 

Producer (Outdoor)
X X X X X X X X X C C C C X X X X X

Recreational Marijuana 

Retailer
X X X X X

P(38)/(

40)

P(38)/

(40)

P(38)

/(40)

P(38)

/(40)
X X X X X X X X X

Recreational Marijuana 

Wholesaler
P(39) P(39) P(39) P(39) P(39) X

C(31)/

(38)
X X P(38) P(38) P(38) P(38) X X X P(38) X

Recreational Marijuana 

Laboratories
X X X X X P P P P P P P P P X P X X

Recreational Marijuana 

Research Certificate
X X X X X P P P P P P P P P X P X X

Key:

P: Permitted use S: Special use – Use requires a special use permit

X: Prohibited use (#): See notes for limitations

Notes.

(9) Permitted on the ground floor, one per lot in conjunction with any other use permitted or conditional use in the C-1 zone. On upper floors, dwelling units are unlimited and one 

parking space per dwelling unit is required.

(7) The homes are not subject to the development standards set forth in NMC 15.445.050 through 15.445.070.

(2) Limited to one per lot as a permitted use. More than one per lot allowed only through a conditional use permit or planned unit development, subject to density limits 

C: Conditional use – Requires a conditional use permit

(1) Limited to sites with preexisting agricultural uses, including at time of annexation.

(3) Permitted on individual lots created prior to November 17, 1992. Homes on individual lots created on or after November 17, 1992, will only be permitted through the planned unit 

development process.

(4) The permitted density shall be stated on the conditional use permit.

of NMC 15.405.010(B).

(5) The dwelling units must front onto Hancock or Second Street. No more than 30 percent of a single street frontage of a block may be occupied by residential uses. Contiguous 

residential street frontage must be less than 60 lineal feet. Density and parking standards for allowable dwelling units must be met.

(6) One residence per lot with the addition of a tie-down or hangar for an airplane. At a minimum, a paved tie-down or hangar shall be provided on the property, or the property shall 

include permanent rights to a private hangar within the subdivision. See Chapter 15.336 NMC.

(8) The units must be located on the same lots as another use permitted or conditionally permitted in the C-3 zone and may not occupy the first floor storefront area (the portion of 

the building closest to the primary street). There shall be no density limitation. Private parking areas or garages are not required for dwelling units located within buildings in 

existence prior to and including June 30, 1999. Parking shall be provided for all new dwelling units within any building constructed after June 30, 1999, in private parking areas or 

garages on the basis of one parking space for each dwelling unit.

390 of 460 

http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15445.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15445.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15445.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15445.html
http://codepublishing.com/OR/Newberg/html/Newberg15/Newberg15445.html


(20) Businesses in the C-1 zone that have hours of operation between 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. require a conditional use permit.

(37) Indoor use only.

(39) No product on premises.

(40) Operating hours limited to the hours between 9:00 a.m. and 8:00 p.m. 

1    Code reviser’s note: Section 25 of Ordinance 2763 provides:

(15) Facility over 40,000 square feet gross floor area requires a conditional use permit.

(16) Allowed in areas designated in industrial area plans.

(12) One residence of area not more than 40 percent of the area of the hangar floor, up to a maximum of 1,500 square feet, for an airport caretaker or security officer on each 

separate parcel.

SECTION 25: Grace period for previously permitted or conditional uses. Where an applicant demonstrates that a particular use was a permitted or 

conditional use on a specific property immediately prior to adoption of this ordinance, but that the use is no longer either a permitted or conditional use on 

that property due to this ordinance, the applicant may establish the use as either a permitted or conditional use, as provided in the prior code, provided 

the use is legally commenced prior to January 1, 2018.

(36) Allows up to 12 mature plants; indoor operations only.

(10) Permitted above any permitted use in the C-2 zone. There shall be no density limitation. Parking shall be provided in private parking areas or garages on the basis of one 

parking space for each dwelling unit.

(23) Limited to secondhand stores.

(31) Allowed indoors only.

(28) Limited to card lock fueling only. Retail services are limited to self-vending services.

(29) Permitted provided the structure is designed for easy conversion to industrial use, including not having fixed seating.

(30) Limited to 10,000 square feet maximum floor area.

(32) Allowed indoors only. Outdoor use requires a conditional use permit.

(27) Limited to service stations.

(17) Limited to facilities owned or operated by a public agency.

(11) Must be located above ground floor commercial uses.

(14) Allowed exclusively for employers or employees of businesses located within this district.

(13) Permitted in existing dwelling units only. New dwelling units may not be created for this use unless the dwelling unit would otherwise be allowed.

(18) Parking garages are a conditional use, and must have first floor street frontage of 40 feet or less for ingress or egress. First floor development must be commercial.

(21) Drive-up service windows accessory to an existing business on the site with walk-in customer service, such as a drive-up bank window, are allowed only with a conditional use 

permit. Otherwise, drive-up service windows, except those in service on April 1, 2002, are prohibited. Changes in use will not be allowed.

(24) Store size is limited to 2,000 square feet gross floor area.

(25) Store size is limited to 5,000 square feet gross floor area.

(26) Use must demonstrate that it is compatible with airport operations.

(22) Retail sales of goods on site not allowed.

(38) The use is not allowed within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public park, a public elementary or secondary school for which attendance is compulsory under ORS 

339.020 or a private or parochial elementary or secondary school, teaching children as described in ORS 339.030 (1)(a). Distance is measured in a straight line in a radius extending 

for 1,000 feet or less in any direction from the closest point anywhere on the boundary line of the real property comprising an existing public park, public elementary or secondary 

school or a private or parochial elementary or secondary school to the closest point of the premises of a recreational processor, wholesaler or retailer.  

(33) Must be aviation-related. See Chapter 15.332 NMC.

(34) Limited to expansion or change of existing heavy manufacturing uses.

(35) Shall not be located at the same address as a state-registered marijuana grow site, or within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public park, a public elementary or 

secondary school for which attendance is compulsory under ORS 339.020 or a private or parochial elementary or secondary school, teaching children as described in ORS 339.030 

(1)(a). Distance is measured in a straight line in a radius extending for 1,000 feet or less in any direction from the closest point anywhere on the boundary line of the real property 

comprising an existing public park, public elementary or secondary school or a private or parochial elementary or secondary school to the closest point of the premises of a 

dispensary. The premises consist of the dispensary building, or the portion of the building used for a dispensary. Shall not be located within 1,000 feet of another medical 

marijuana dispensary. Operating hours are limited to the hours between 9:00 a.m. and 8:00 p.m.

(19) A conditional use permit is required if the facility is less than 2,000 feet from the nearest telecommunication facility.

391 of 460 



600 MISCELLANEOUS USES R-1/PD R-1/0.1 R-1/0.4 R-1/6.6 R-1/SP R-2/PD R-2/SP SD/LDR SD/MMR R-3/PD RP/SP RP/LU AO ARO C-1/SP C-2/LU C-2/PD C-2/SP C-3/LU SD/V SD/NC SD/H CC CF/RF RF IO M-1/SP SD/E FHO II AIO H SC BI

Medical Marijuana 

Processor
P P

Medical Marijuana Grow 

Site
C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C

Recreational Marijuana 

Processor
X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X P X X X X X X

Recreational Marijuana 

Producer (Indoor)
X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X P P X P X X X X

Recreational Marijuana 

Producer (Outdoor)
X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X C C X C X X X X

Recreational Marijuana 

Retailer
X X X X X X X X X X X X X X P(2)/(3) P(2)/(3) P(2)/(3) P(2)/(3) P(2)/(3) P(2)/(3) P(2)/(3) P(2)/(3) X X X X X X X X X X X X

Recreational Marijuana 

Wholesaler
P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) P(1) X P(1) X X X X X X X X X X X X P(2) P(2) X P(2) X X X X

Recreational Marijuana 

Laboratories
X X X X X X X X X X X X X X P P P P P P P P P X X X P P X P P X X X

Recreational Marijuana 

Research Certificate
X X X X X X X X X X X X X X P P P P P P P P P X X P P P X P P X X X

Key:

P: Permitted use S: Special use – Use requires a special use permit

X: Prohibited use (#): See notes for limitations

(1) No product on premises.

(3) Operating hours limited to the hours between 9:00 a.m. and 8:00 p.m. 

15.305.030 Zoning use table - Use  Subdistricts.

C: Conditional use – Requires a conditional use permit

Exhibit A, Attachment 2

(2) The use is not allowed within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public park, a public elementary or secondary school for which attendance is compulsory under ORS 339.020 or a private or parochial elementary or secondary school, teaching children as 

described in ORS 339.030 (1)(a). Distance is measured in a straight line in a radius extending for 1,000 feet or less in any direction from the closest point anywhere on the boundary line of the real property comprising an existing public park, public elementary or 

secondary school or a private or parochial elementary or secondary school to the closest point of the premises of a recreational retailer or wholesaler.  

392 of 460 



L'fieil®ergl||so.
RESOLUTION No. 2016-3253

A RESOLUTION INITIATING AN AMENDMENT TO THE NEWBERG
MUNICIPAL CODE, TITLE 15 DEVELOPMENT CODE FOR PLACE, TIME
AND MANNER REGULATIONS FOR RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA
WHOLESALERS, LABORATORIES, RESEARCH CERTIFICATES AND
RETAILERS

RECITALS:

The Oregon Legislature enacted four bills during the 2015 legislative session related to the Oregon Medical
Marijuana Act and Measure 91. House Bill (HB) 3400 was the omnibus bill covering recreational marijuana
and modifications to the medical marijuana program.

1.

On September 8, 2015 the Newberg City Council was provided background information on medical and
recreational marijuana at its Work Session. At its Business Session on September 8th the City Council
established the Marijuana Subcommittee (Subcommittee) comprised of Councilors Rourke, Bacon and
McKinney along with non-voting member Mayor Andrews.

2.

The Subcommittee held its third meeting on January 12, 2016. A proposed timeline was included in their
packet of material to address recreational marijuana place, time and manner for recreational wholesalers,
laboratories, research certificates and retailers. The Oregon Liquor Control Commission has indicated they will
start issuing licenses for retailers in the 3rd Quarter of 2016.

3.

The Subcommittee subsequently passed a motion 3-0 directing staff to create a Request for Council Action to
initiate the Development Code amendment process for Recreational Marijuana Wholesalers, Laboratories,
Research Certificates and Retailers to bring forward for Council consideration on February 1, 2016.

4.

THE CITY OF NEWBERG RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:

The City Council initiates an amendment to the Newberg Municipal Code, Title 15 Development Code for
Place, Time and Manner Regulations for Recreational Marijuana Wholesalers, Laboratories, Research
Certificates and Retailers. This starts the public process to study the proposed amendments.

1.

By initiating this amendment, the council does not commit to taking any specific action on the proposal. It
only wishes to give the amendment lull consideration in a public hearing.

2.

>
EFFECTIVE DATE of this resolution is the day after the adoption date, which is: February 2, 2016

ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Newberg, Oregon, this 1st day of February, 2016.

Sue Ryan, City Recbrder

ATTEST by the Mayor thisÿ day of February, 2016.

Boft A ndrewl Mayor

PAGE 1CITY OF NEWBERG-. RESOLUTION NO. 2016-3253

Attachment 1

393 of 460 



Attachment 2

394 of 460 



Attachment 3
395 of 460 



Attachment 4

396 of 460 



Attachment 5
397 of 460 



 
 
 

NEWBERG ECONOMIC 
 

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 
 

Executive Summary   
 

March 31, 2016 
 

   
 

 
 

    
 

398 of 460 



THE STRATEGY 
 
The Newberg Economic Development Strategy is based on four pillars of activity: 
 

1. Industrial Sector 
2. Commercial Sector 
3. Business Development and Workforce 
4. Tourism and Hospitality  

 
Under each pillar there are identified strategies. The Industrial Sector has nine 
strategies, the Commercial Sector has seven strategies, Business Development and 
Workforce has eight strategies, and Tourism and Hospitability has three strategies. 
Based on the breath of activities the following have been identified as the top priorities 
over the next year. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

VISION 
 

Newberg will build on its advantageous geographic location and the capacities of its 
business, education, government, and community partners to become a national leader 
for cross industry innovation in viticulture, wine production, and high-tech 
manufacturing. The City’s business, educational, and built environment will support 
growing entrepreneurship for existing and new businesses of all types. 
 
 
 
 

INDUSTRIAL SECTOR Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17

Diversify the Local Economy - Vertical Integration 

of the Wine Industry

Retention and Expansion of Existing Industrial 

Businesses

Recruitment of Traded Sector Companies

Increase the Supply of Industrial Land

COMMERCIAL SECTOR

Revitalization of Downtown Newberg

Retain Existing Commercial/Retail Businesses In 

Newberg

Increase the Supply of Commercial/Retail Land

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT AND WORKFORCE

Establish an Innovation Accelerator

Workforce Development

Establish a Business Resource Center

TOURISM AND HOSPITALITY

Increase Tourist/Visitor Counts in Newberg

399 of 460 



 
 

MISSION 
 
Promote economic health, a higher standard of living, and quality of life through 
partnerships, facilitation, collaboration and community. Ensure a qualified and educated 
workforce; an environment of openness to business investment; programs for retention, 
expansion and recruitment of businesses; public investment in critical infrastructure, 
education, recreation and cultural capacities; metrics to measure economic activity; 
sustainability. Embrace diversity of all types. Leverage our location to connect Portland 
and Salem with North Willamette Valley’s riches. 
 
 
 

GOAL 
 
Having a qualified and educated workforce; an environment of openness to business 
investment; programs for retention, expansion and recruitment of businesses; public 
investment in critical infrastructure; metrics to measure economic activity; all while being 
sustainable. 

400 of 460 



   

 
 
 

NEWBERG ECONOMIC 
 

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 
 
 

March 31, 2016 
 

 

   
 

 
 

    
 

401 of 460 



   
 

2 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 
Acknowledgements           4 
 
Primary Contributors          4 
 
Secondary Contributors          4 
 
Contributors            5 
 
The Strategy            6 
 
Vision             6 
 
Mission            7 
 
Goal             7 
 
Economic Development Organizations        7 
 
Goals/Strategies/Actions        10 
 
 Industrial Sector        10 
  Diversify the local economy     10 
  Retention and Expansion      12 
  Recruitment of Traded Sector     14 

Participate and Partner      16 
Market the Competitive Advantages    18 
Increase the Supply of Industrial Land    20 
Create a Cooperative Business Environment   22 
Ensure Adequate Utilities      23 
Improve Transportation Access     24 

 
 Commercial Sector        26 

Revitalization of Downtown     26 
Retain Existing Commercial/Retail Businesses   28 
Redevelop Vacant and Underutilized     30 
Market Vacant and/or Underutilized    31 
Improve Public Infrastructure     32 
Support Creation of New Retail/Commercial   33 
Increase the Supply of Commercial/Retail Land   34 

 
  

402 of 460 



   
 

3 
 

Business Development and Workforce     35 
Foster Entrepreneurial Business Formation   35 
Establish an Innovation Accelerator    37 
Buy Local Campaign      39 
Enhance Business Mix in Downtown    41 
Workforce Development      42 
Establish Business Resource Center    44 
Market Employment Training Opportunities   46 
Business Financing Program     47 

 
 Tourism and Hospitality       49 

Increase Tourist/Visitor Counts     49 
Support and Expand Events     51 
Transient Lodging Tax Program     53 

 
Appendix A – Economic Indicators      54 
 
Appendix B – Strengths/Weaknesses/Opportunities/Threats   58 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

403 of 460 



   
 

4 
 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
 
The Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce Economic Development Task Force and 
City of Newberg would like to thank the many people who helped develop Newberg’s 
Economic Development Strategy and provided the community input and buy-in 
necessary to make this plan possible. 
 
 
PRIMARY CONTRIBUTORS 
 
Bob Andrews, Mayor City of Newberg 
Newberg City Council – Councilors Denise Bacon, Mike Corey, Scott Essin, Stephen 

McKinney, Tony Rourke, Lesley Woodruff 
Brett Baker, General Manager, Austin Industries 
Dr. Robin Baker, President, George Fox University 
Carr Biggerstaff, Past Board Chair, Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce 
Dave Hansen, Senior Vice President/Regional Manager, Columbia Bank 
Jay Harris, Public Works Director, City of Newberg 
Sheryl Kelsh, President  & CEO, Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce 
John Kerekanich, Managing Partner, Newberg Ford & Chair Chehalem Valley Chamber 

of Commerce Economic Task Force 
Mike Ragsdale, Executive Director, Newberg Downtown Coalition 
Stephen A. Rhodes, City Manager Pro-Tem, City of Newberg 
Doug Rux, Community Development Director, City of Newberg 
Curt Walker, President, Pacific Empire Developers 
Ron Wolfe, Vice President & Manager, Premier Community Bank 
 
SECONDARY CONTRIBUTORS 
 
Gary Allen, Managing Editor, Newberg Graphic 
Don Clements, Superintendent, Chehalem Park and Recreation District 
Charles Culkin, General Manager Frontier Communications, Yamhill and Southern 

Washington Counties, Frontier 
Dr. Kym LeBlanc-Esparza, Superintendent, Newberg School District 
Tess Fields, Director Government Affairs, Comcast 
Tony Fraizer, Executive Director, Incite 
Chad Freeman, President, Strategic Economic Development Corporation of Oregon 
AJ Foscoli, Business Retention & Expansion Manager Yamhill & Polk Counties, 
Strategic Economic Development Corporation 
Troy Gagliano, Business Development Manager, Portland General Electric 
Mitchell Gee, Business Development Officer, Business Oregon 
Bob Hanks, Executive Director, Portland Community College CLIMB Center for 

Advancement 
Allen Herriges, Publisher, Newberg Graphic 
Tom Hogue, Economic Development Planning Policy Analyst, Department of Land 

Conservation and Development 

404 of 460 



   
 

5 
 

James LaBar, Mid-Valley Region Coordinator, Regional Solutions 
Angela Lazarean, Regional Representative Willamette Valley, Department of Land 

Conservation and Development 
Matt Miller, Vice President Business Development, Greater Portland Inc. 
Mary Martin Miller, Miller Consulting Group 
Graham Morris, Executive Director, Japan American Society of Oregon 
Newberg ABC Partners 
Tim Potter, Area 1 and 3 Manager ODOT Region 2, Oregon Department of 

Transportation 
Stan Primozich, Vice Chair, Yamhill County Board of Commissioners 
Lynn Montoya-Quinn, Director, Portland Community College Newberg Center  
Waldon Riggs, Director Network Engineering, Frontier 
Allen Springer, Yamhill County Board of Commissioners 
Mary Starrett, Chair, Yamhill County Board of Commissioners  
Sheri Stuart, Main Street Coordinator, Oregon Main Street Program, Oregon State 

Parks & Recreation 
Will Summers, Workforce Analyst, Oregon Employment Department 
Renata Wakely, Community Development Director, Mid-Willamette Valley Council of 

Governments 
Lori Van Zanten, Chief Executive, Providence Newberg Hospital 
Matt Zook, Finance Director, City of Newberg 
Skip Newberry, President, Technology Association of Oregon 
Rick Turoczy, General Manager, Portland Incubator Experiment 
 
CONTRIBUTORS 
 
Tom Danowski, Executive Director, Oregon Wine Board 
Rob Daykin, City Administrator, City of Dundee 
Todd Davidson, Chief Executive Officer & President, Travel Oregon 
Terry Emery, Newberg Early Bird Rotary 
Jennifer Fox, Executive Director, Oregon Transitional Research Development Institute 
Joseph Gall, City Manager, City of Sherwood 
Kellie Holloway, Senior International Trade Specialist, United States Commercial 

Service 
Sue Horstmann, Executive Director, Willamette Valley Wine Association 
Dave Hunt, Chief Executive Officer & President, Pacific Northwest Defense Coalition 
Jim McMaster, President, Newberg Noon Rotary 
Terry Molander, President, Newberg Kiwanis 
Robert D "Skip" Rung, President & Executive Director, Oregon Nanoscience & 

Microtechnologies Institute 
Chris Scherer, President, Oregon Manufacturing Extension Partnership 
Cynthia Thompson, Transit Manager, Yamhill County Transit Area 
Brenda Turner, Chief Executive Officer & President, Oregon State Chamber 
Duncan Wyse, President, Oregon Business Council  

405 of 460 



   
 

6 
 

THE STRATEGY 
 
The Newberg Economic Development Strategy is based on four pillars of activity: 
 

1. Industrial Sector 
2. Commercial Sector 
3. Business Development and Workforce 
4. Tourism and Hospitality  

 
Under each pillar there are identified strategies. The Industrial Sector has nine 
strategies, the Commercial Sector has seven strategies, Business Development and 
Workforce has eight strategies, and Tourism and Hospitability has three strategies. 
Based on the breath of activities the following have been identified as the top priorities 
over the next year. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

VISION 
 

Newberg will build on its advantageous geographic location and the capacities of its 
business, education, government, and community partners to become a national leader 
for cross industry innovation in viticulture, wine production, and high-tech 
manufacturing. The City’s business, educational, and built environment will support 
growing entrepreneurship for existing and new businesses of all types. 
 
 
 
 

INDUSTRIAL SECTOR Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17

Diversify the Local Economy - Vertical Integration 

of the Wine Industry

Retention and Expansion of Existing Industrial 

Businesses

Recruitment of Traded Sector Companies

Increase the Supply of Industrial Land

COMMERCIAL SECTOR

Revitalization of Downtown Newberg

Retain Existing Commercial/Retail Businesses In 

Newberg

Increase the Supply of Commercial/Retail Land

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT AND WORKFORCE

Establish an Innovation Accelerator

Workforce Development

Establish a Business Resource Center

TOURISM AND HOSPITALITY

Increase Tourist/Visitor Counts in Newberg

406 of 460 



   
 

7 
 

 
 

MISSION 
 
Promote economic health, a higher standard of living, and quality of life through 
partnerships, facilitation, collaboration and community. Ensure a qualified and educated 
workforce; an environment of openness to business investment; programs for retention, 
expansion and recruitment of businesses; public investment in critical infrastructure, 
education, recreation and cultural capacities; metrics to measure economic activity; 
sustainability. Embrace diversity of all types. Leverage our location to connect Portland 
and Salem with North Willamette Valley’s riches. 
 
 
 

GOAL 
 
Having a qualified and educated workforce; an environment of openness to business 
investment; programs for retention, expansion and recruitment of businesses; public 
investment in critical infrastructure; metrics to measure economic activity; all while being 
sustainable. 
 
 
 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ORGANIZATIONS 
 
 
A variety of organizations are engaged in economic development activities in Newberg, 
or could be involved in the future. The graphics below identify organizations currently 
involved in economic development in Newberg and organizations that should be 
involved (aspirational) in the future. 
 

  

407 of 460 



   
 

8 
 

 
 
 
 

408 of 460 



   
 

9 
 

 
 

 

409 of 460 



   
 

10 
 

GOALS/STRATEGIES/ACTIONS 

 
 

INDUSTRIAL SECTOR 
 
Goal: Enhance industrial development capabilities and 

employment opportunities 
 
Strategies: 
 

1.1 Diversify the local economy by building on the four (4) key existing traded 
sector industries of Advanced Manufacturing, Technology, Agriculture and 
Wood Products; while targeting High Tech Manufacturing, General 
Manufacturing, Aviation related industry and Food/Beverage Processing  

 
Project Lead:  

 
City of Newberg – Community Development 

 
Stakeholders & Partners:  

 
Business Oregon, Strategic Economic Development Corporation, Greater Portland Inc., 
Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, Oregon Employment Department, US 
Commercial Service, OTRADI, ONAMI, Oregon Manufacturing Extension Partnership, 
Oregon Business Council, Yamhill County, Pacific Northwest Defense Coalition, 
Regional Solutions, Portland General Electric, Northwest Natural, Frontier, Industrial 
Brokers 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 

 
1. Identify existing community assets and needed assets. 
2. Identify needs of companies through a gap analysis. 
3. Engage the Oregon Employment Department in an analysis of the four (4) traded 

sectors industries and targeted industries in Newberg. 
4. Conduct an industry cluster analysis to identify opportunities. 
5. Implement the eight actions of the vertical wine integration proposal from the 

America’s Best Communities plan. 
 
Mid-term Implementation (12 – 24 months): 
 
1. Implement one or more of the vertical wine integration demonstration projects. 
2. Supply chain analysis of the four (4) existing traded sector industries. 
3.  Conduct business mission/lessons learned trips to communities with similar 

targeted industries. 
 
 

410 of 460 



   
 

11 
 

 
Long-term (24 – 36 months) 

 
1. Re-assess the targeted industries to determine if the focus areas are on target or 

should be modified. 
2. Supply chain analysis of the targeted traded sector industries. 

 
Metrics & Reporting: 

 
1. Community assets report. 
2. Number of companies participating in gap analysis. 
3. Report on traded sectors. 
4. Report on cluster analysis. 
5. Number of business expansions. 
6. Number of recruited businesses. 
7. Supply chain analysis report. 
8. Vertical Wine Integration 

 Number of wine-industry stakeholders interviewed 
 Number of wine-industry stakeholders attending the project kick-off meeting 
 Number of endorsements or letters of interest from regional wine associations 
 Findings of the gap analysis 
 Findings of the best practices research 
 Implementation actions identified in the action plan 
 Grant(s) applied for and awarded 
 Identified demonstration project 

 

Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

City of Newberg, Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, Oregon Employment 
Department, Business Oregon, Strategic Economic Development Corporation, Greater 
Portland Inc., Portland General Electric, Northwest Natural, Frontier, Yamhill County, 
Industrial Brokers 

 
Staffing Resources 

 City of Newberg Community Development - 0.2 FTE 
Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce - Volunteers 

 
 

 

  

411 of 460 



   
 

12 
 

1.2 Retention and Expansion of Existing Industrial Businesses 
 

Project Lead:  
 

City of Newberg – Community Development 
 

Stakeholders & Partners:  
 

Business Oregon, Strategic Economic Development Corporation, Greater Portland Inc., 
Oregon Manufacturing Extension Partnership, Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, 
Portland Community College, Japan American Society of Oregon, Regional Solutions, 
Portland General Electric, Industrial Brokers 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 

 
1. Retention visits conducted by City in coordination with Business Oregon, 

Strategic Economic Development Corporation and Greater Portland Inc.  
 

Mid-term Implementation (12 - 24 months) 
 

1. Retention visits conducted by City in coordination with Business Oregon, 
Strategic Economic Development Corporation and Greater Portland Inc. 

2. Leverage the Business Resource Center implementation to provide an integrated 
set of services from the City, Chamber and other organizations. 

 
Long-term (24 – 36 months) 

 
1. Retention visits conducted by City in coordination with Business Oregon, 

Strategic Economic Development Corporation and Greater Portland Inc. 

 
Metrics & Reporting: 
 
1. Number of retention visits conducted annually by City. 
2. Number of retention visits conducted annually by Stakeholders and Partners. 
3. Number of business expansions. 
4. Net employment loss/gain from expansions or business closures. 
5. Annual report on retention activities including issues and findings. 

 
Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

City of Newberg, Business Oregon, Strategic Economic Development Corporation, 
Greater Portland Inc., Oregon Manufacturing Extension Partnership, Chehalem Valley 
Chamber of Commerce, Portland Community College, Japan American Society of 
Oregon, Regional Solutions, Portland General Electric, Industrial Brokers 

 
 
 
  

412 of 460 



   
 

13 
 

Staffing Resources 

 City of Newberg Community Development – 0.2 FTE 

  

413 of 460 



   
 

14 
 

1.3 Recruitment of Traded Sector Companies 
 

Project Lead:  
 

City of Newberg – Community Development 
 

Stakeholders & Partners:  
 

Business Oregon, Strategic Economic Development Corporation, Greater Portland Inc., 
Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, Industrial Brokers, Japan American Society of 
Oregon, Regional Solutions, Portland General Electric 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 
 
1. City coordinates recruitment activities with Business Oregon, Strategic Economic 

Development Corporation and Greater Portland Inc. 
2. Focus on the four (4) existing traded sector industries and supply chains. 
3. Evaluate opportunities for the four targeted traded sector industries. 
4. Develop a program for Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce involvement in 

industrial business recruitment. 
5. Develop relationships and frequent communications with industrial brokerage 

community in the greater Portland area. 
6.  Identify target companies and sectors and include face to face recruitment visits 

with targeted companies. I.e. travel to the Silicon Valley if appropriate. 
 
Mid-term Implementation (12 - 24 months) 

 
1. City coordinates recruitment activities with Business Oregon, Strategic Economic 

Development Corporation and Greater Portland Inc. 
2. Recruitment of food processing (wine) companies and suppliers as part of 

vertical integration of wine industry. 
 

Long-term (24 – 36 months) 
 

1. City coordinates recruitment activities with Business Oregon, Strategic Economic 
Development Corporation and Greater Portland Inc. 

 
Metrics & Reporting: 

 
1. Number of recruitment leads 
2. Number of engagements by Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce 
3. Number of contacts with brokerage community 
4.  Number of successes 

Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

Business Oregon, Strategic Economic Development Corporation, Greater Portland Inc., 
Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, Industrial Brokers, Japan American Society of 
Oregon, Regional Solutions, Portland General Electric 

414 of 460 



   
 

15 
 

Staffing Resources 

 City of Newberg Community Development – 0.1 FTE 
Industrial Brokers 

  

415 of 460 



   
 

16 
 

1.4 Participate and Partner with Regional, State and Federal Organizations 
 

Project Lead:  
 

City of Newberg – Community Development 
 

Stakeholders & Partners: 
 
Strategic Economic Development Corporation, Greater Portland Inc., Regional 
Solutions, US Commercial Service, US Economic Development Administration, Mid-
Willamette Valley Council of Governments  

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 

 
1. Build and maintain relationships with Business Oregon, Strategic Economic 

Development Corporation and Greater Portland Inc. 
2. Build relationships with organizations such as Oregon Business Council, Oregon 

Nanoscience & Mircotechnologies Institute, Pacific Northwest Defense Coalition, 
Oregon Transitional Research Development Institute, Technology Association of 
Oregon, and others. 

3. Develop a “Why Newberg” marketing strategy and elevator speech to promote in 
the relationships. 

4. Determine specifically what we would like to “ask” from players and present the 
information when appropriate. 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 - 24 months) 

 
1. Build and maintain relationships with Business Oregon, Strategic Economic 

Development Corporation and Greater Portland Inc. 
2. Conduct annual roundtable forum on economic development activities with 

regional, state and federal organizations. 
3. Connect the organizations to the Business Resource Center as it develops. 

 
Long-term (24 – 36 months) 

 
1. Build and maintain relationships with Business Oregon, Strategic Economic 

Development Corporation and Greater Portland Inc. 
2. Conduct annual roundtable forum on economic development activities with 

regional, state and federal organizations. 

Metrics & Reporting: 
 

1. Number of contacts with Stakeholders & Partners. 
2. Participants at annual roundtable forum. 
3. Number of leads from Stakeholders and Partners. 
4.   Amount of assistance from Stakeholders and Partners. 

 

 

416 of 460 



   
 

17 
 

Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

City of Newberg, Strategic Economic Development Corporation, Greater Portland Inc., 
Regional Solutions, US Commercial Service, US Economic Development Administration, 
Mid-Willamette Valley Council of Governments 

 
Staffing Resources 

 City of Newberg Economic Development – 0.05 FTE  
 
 
 
 

  

417 of 460 



   
 

18 
 

1.5 Market the Competitive Advantages of Newberg to National and 
International Audiences 

 
Project Lead: 

 
City of Newberg – Community Development 

 
Stakeholders & Partners: 
 
Business Oregon, Strategic Economic Development Corporation, Greater Portland Inc., 
Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, Japan American Society of Oregon, Newberg 
Graphic, Industrial Brokers 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 
1. Define and identify target audiences for marketing. 
2. Make specific face-to-face presentations. 
3. Research and identify Newberg’s competitive advantages. 
4. Analyze existing data and develop strategies for industrial recruitment marketing 

material. 
5.  Coordinate data gathering and marketing material with Strategic Economic 

Development Corporation, Greater Portland Inc., Mid-Willamette Valley Council 
of Governments and other entities. 

6. Promote the Newberg Enterprise Zone program through marketing material and 
face-to-face discussions. 

7. Promote existing financial incentive programs (local and state) marketing 
material and face-to-face discussions. 

8. Distribute marketing material (e.g. web, social media, trade shows, and 
international tours). 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 - 24 months) 

 
1. Develop community profile to place on Greater Portland Inc. web site. 
2. Coordinate marketing material with Strategic Economic Development 

Corporation, Greater Portland Inc., Mid-Willamette Valley Council of 
Governments and other entities. 

3. Promote the Business Resource Center and its resources through appropriate 
websites including the City and the Chamber. 

 
Long-term (24 – 36 months) 

 
1. Coordinate marketing material with Strategic Economic Development 

Corporation, Greater Portland Inc., Mid-Willamette Valley Council of 
Governments and other entities. 

2. Disseminate Newberg specific marketing material. 
 

Metrics & Reporting: 
 

1. Report on competitive advantages. 
2. Type of marketing material produced. 

418 of 460 



   
 

19 
 

3. Number of Enterprise Zone packets distributed. 
4. Track where marketing material is distributed. 
5.   Develop target lists and track activity by specific target. 

 
Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

City of Newberg, Business Oregon, Strategic Economic Development Corporation, 
Greater Portland Inc., Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, Japan American 
Society of Oregon, Newberg Graphic, Industrial Brokers 

 
Staffing Resources 

 City of Newberg Economic Development – 0.05 FTE 
 
 

  

419 of 460 



   
 

20 
 

1.6 Increase the Supply of Industrial Land 
 

Project Lead:   
 

City of Newberg – Community Development 
 

Stakeholders & Partners: 
 

Department of Land Conservation and Development, Business Oregon, Chehalem 
Valley Chamber of Commerce, Newberg Urban Management Area Commission, 
Newberg Community, Newberg Downtown Coalition, Oregon Department of 
Transportation, Regional Solutions, Yamhill County, City of Dundee, Friends of Yamhill 
County, 1000 Friends of Oregon, Oregon Legislature, Industrial Brokers 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 

 
1. Apply for grant(s) to evaluate expanding the urban growth boundary. 
2. Update Comprehensive Plan Policies. 
3. Complete Buildable Lands Inventory. 
4. Evaluate expansion land opportunities. 
5. Identify the expansion properties. 
6. Engage the owners of the targeted property in the effort. 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 - 24 months) 

 
1. Identify needed infrastructure and financing for the infrastructure. 
2. Expand the Urban Growth Boundary. 
3. Identify shovel ready sites. 
4. Tell the story of the expansion to build community support for future expansions. 
 
Long-term (24 – 36 months) 

 
1. Monitor land absorption to determine next horizon for urban growth boundary 

expansion. 
 

Metrics & Reporting: 
 

1. Number of grants applied for and awarded. 
2. Completion of Comprehensive Plan Policies. 
3. Completion of Buildable Lands Inventory. 
4. Number of shovel ready sites. 
5. Acres of land added to the UGB for industrial development. 

 
Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

City of Newberg, Department of Land Conservation and Development, Business 
Oregon, Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, Newberg Urban Management Area 
Commission, Newberg Community, Newberg Downtown Coalition, Oregon Department 
of Transportation, Regional Solutions, Yamhill County, Industrial Brokers 

420 of 460 



   
 

21 
 

 
Staffing Resources 

 City of Newberg Community Development – 0.3 FTE 
 
  

421 of 460 



   
 

22 
 

1.7 Create a Cooperative Business Environment with Regulatory Agencies 
 

Project Lead: 
 

City of Newberg – Community Development 
 

Stakeholders & Partners: 
 

Regional Solutions, Mid-Willamette Valley Council of Governments, Yamhill County, 
State Agencies 

 
Actions: 

 
 Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 
 

1. Build and enhance relationships with State agencies such as Oregon Department 
of Transportation, Oregon Department of Environmental Quality, Oregon 
Department of State Lands, Oregon Department of Energy, Oregon Water 
Resources Department, Oregon Building Codes Division and Oregon 
Employment Department. 

2. Coordinate with Regional Solutions on community economic development needs. 
3. Consider a city position that provides coordination services with outside 

regulatory agencies. 
4. Follow-up interviews with expansion and new industrial developments. 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 - 24 months) 

 
1. Enhance city permitting processes. 
2. Follow-up interviews with expansion and new industrial developments. 

Long-term (24 months – 36 months) 
 

1. Continue enhancing city permitting process. 
 

Metrics & Reporting: 
 

1. Number of contacts with State Agencies. 
2. Number of interviews with expansion and new industrial developments. 
3. Quantify and report on the amount and quality of the assistance from targeted 

agencies. 
 

Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

City of Newberg, Regional Solutions, Mid-Willamette Valley Council of Governments, 
Yamhill County, State Agencies 

 
Staffing Resources 

 City of Newberg Community Development – 0.05 FTE 
 

  

422 of 460 



   
 

23 
 

1.8 Ensure Adequate Utilities (water, sewer, storm draining, electricity, natural 
gas and telecommunications) to Support Industrial Growth 

 
Project Lead: 

 
City of Newberg – Public Works 

 
Stakeholders & Partners: 

 
Portland General Electric, Northwest Natural, Frontier, Comcast, Bonneville Power 
Administration, Industrial Brokers 

 
Actions: 

 
 Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 
 

1. Update master plans for transportation and water. 
2. Coordinate with Portland General Electric, Northwest Natural, Frontier and 

Comcast on utility infrastructure capacities and locations. Inventory gaps or 
weaknesses in systems. 

3. Evaluate cogeneration opportunities with WestRock. 
 
 Mid-term Implementation (12 - 24 months) 
 

1. Update sanitary sewer master plan. 
2. On-going coordination with utility companies. 

 
Long-term (24 – 36 months) 

 
1. Update necessary master plans every ten (10) years (transportation, water, 

sanitary sewer, storm drainage). 
2. On-going coordination with utility companies. 

Enhance accessibility to high-speed fiber. 

Metrics & Reporting: 

1. Completion date of transportation and water master plans. 
2. Completion date of sewer master plan. 
3. Number of coordination meetings with utility companies. 

 
Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

City of Newberg, Portland General Electric, Northwest Natural, Frontier, Comcast, 
Bonneville Power Administration, Industrial Brokers 

 
Staffing Resources 

 City of Newberg Public Works – 0.2 FTE 
City of Newberg Community Development – 0.1 FTE 

  

423 of 460 



   
 

24 
 

1.9 Improve Transportation Access for Industrial Land 
 

Project Lead:   
 

City of Newberg – Public Works - Engineering Services/Community Development 
 

Stakeholders & Partners: 
 

Oregon Legislature, Oregon Department of Transportation, Yamhill County, Marion 
County, Portland & Western Railroad, Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, Yamhill 
County Transit Area, Yamhill County Parkway Committee, Oregon Congressional 
delegation, Federal Highway Administration, Industrial Brokers 

 
Actions: 

 
 Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 
 

1. Evaluate and establish a street maintenance fee program. 
2. Update the Transportation System Plan to include focus on needed 

improvements to existing/future industrial area access/freight routes. 
3. Coordinate with the Parkway Committee to lobby the Oregon Legislature for 

funding/construction of the East leg of the Newberg/Dundee bypass. 
 

Mid-term Implementation (12 – 24 months): 
 

1. Work with stakeholders to obtain funding for the east leg of the Newberg-Dundee 
Bypass from Oregon Highway 219 to Oregon Highway 99W.  

 
Long-term Implementation (24 – 36 months): 

 
1. Evaluate rail service capabilities (freight & commuter). 
2. Enhance transit service for industrial businesses. 
3. Work with stakeholders to construct the east leg of the Newberg-Dundee Bypass 

from Oregon Highway 219 to Oregon Highway 99W. 
4. Work with organizations towards a funding source for the I-5/Ehlen Road 

interchange at Exit 278 (Donald/Aurora Exit) improvements. 
5. Coordinate with Oregon Department of Transportation and Marion County to 

transfer jurisdiction of Highway 219 from the McKay Road to Woodburn to Marion 
County and ODOT to acquire McKay-Ehlen Road to I-5. 

6. Coordinate with Oregon Department of Transportation and the Oregon 
congressional delegation on transportation funding sources. 

 
Metrics & Reporting: 

 
1. Type of street maintenance program and annual funding. 
2. Annual street maintenance projects completed. 
3. Transit route modifications to serve industrial businesses. 
4. Actions and activities undertaken to advance east leg of Newberg-Dundee Bypass. 
5. Actions and activities undertaken to I-5/Ehlen Road interchange at Exit 278 

(Donald/Aurora Exit) improvements. 

424 of 460 



   
 

25 
 

6. Funds allocated from outside sources for transportation improvements benefiting 
industrial businesses. 

 
Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

City of Newberg, Oregon Legislature, Oregon Department of Transportation, Yamhill 
County, Marion County, Portland & Western Railroad, Chehalem Valley Chamber of 
Commerce, Yamhill County Transit Area, Yamhill County Parkway Committee, Oregon 
Congressional delegation, Federal Highway Administration, Industrial Brokers 

 
Staffing Resources 

 City of Newberg Public Works – Engineering Services – 0.1 FTE 
City of Newberg Community Development – 0.1FTE 
 
 
 

  

425 of 460 



   
 

26 
 

COMMERCIAL SECTOR 
 
Goal:  Enhance commercial development capabilities and 

employment opportunities 
 
Strategies: 
 
2.1 Revitalization of Downtown Newberg 
 

Project Lead:  
 

City of Newberg – Community Development 
 

Stakeholders & Partners:  
 

Newberg Downtown Coalition, Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, Chehalem 
Parks and Recreation District, Newberg Kiwanis, Newberg Rotary, Oregon Department 
of Land Conservation and Development, Oregon Department of Transportation, Faith 
Based, Commercial Brokers, Finance Community, Oregon Main Street Program 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 

 
1. Perform a Market Analysis on the Butler property. 
2. Planning Commission public hearing on the draft Newberg Downtown 

Improvement Plan. 
3. City Council public hearing on the draft Newberg Downtown Improvement Project 

and adoption process. 
4. Complete the Newberg Downtown Improvement Plan. 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 – 24 months): 

 
1. Secure funds for downtown improvement implementation. 
2. Implement recommendations from the Newberg Downtown Improvement Plan. 
3. Evaluate options for an Urban Renewal Area (URA), Business Improvement 

District (BID), or Economic improvement District (EID). 

4. Research best practices from comparable sized cities on downtown development 

activities. 

Long-term Implementation (24 – 36 months): 
 

1. On-going implementation of recommendations from the Newberg Downtown 

Improvement Plan. 

2. Attract a mid-level hotel to the area. 

3. Increase downtown housing. 

 

426 of 460 



   
 

27 
 

Metrics & Reporting: 

1. Findings of the Newberg Downtown Improvement Project plan. 

2. Findings of the Butler Property market analysis. 

3. Increases in retail sales, pedestrian counts, transient lodging taxes, and other activity 

levels. 

4. Grant(s) applied for and awarded. 

5. Infrastructure improvements, public/private investment, or other projects 

implemented as a result of the process. 

6. Projects annually implemented from Newberg Downtown Improvement Plan. 

 
Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

City of Newberg, Newberg Downtown Coalition, Chehalem Valley Chamber of 
Commerce, Chehalem Parks and Recreation District, Newberg Kiwanis, Newberg 
Rotary, Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development, Oregon 
Department of Transportation, Faith Based, Commercial Brokers, Finance Community, 
Oregon Main Street Program, Downtown Property Owners. 

 
Staffing Resources 

 City of Newberg - 0.2 FTE 
Newberg Downtown Coalition 
Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce 
 

 
 
 
 
  

427 of 460 



   
 

28 
 

2.2 Retain Existing Commercial/Retail Businesses In Newberg 

Project Lead:  
 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce 
 

Stakeholders & Partners:  
 

Newberg Downtown Coalition, City of Newberg, Commercial Brokers 
 

Actions: 
 

Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 
 

1. Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce and Newberg Downtown Coalition 
survey/interview existing businesses in downtown to establish business needs 
and develop appropriate programs. 

2. Enhance the quality of permitting services from the City of Newberg. 
3. Interview businesses exiting Newberg. 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 – 24 months): 

 
1. Enhance the quality of permitting services from the City of Newberg. 
2. Interview businesses exiting Newberg. 
3. Leverage the development of the Business Resource Center to provide 

integrated set of services from the City, Chamber and other organizations. 
 

Long-term Implementation (24 – 26 months): 
 

1. Newberg downtown Coalition survey/interview existing businesses in downtown 
to establish business needs and develop appropriate programs. 

2. Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce and Newberg Downtown Coalition 

survey/interview existing businesses in downtown to establish business needs 

and develop appropriate programs. 

3. Enhance the quality of permitting services from the City of Newberg. 

4. Interview businesses exiting Newberg. 

 
Metrics & Reporting: 

 
1. Business needs survey. 
2. Number of programs established. 
3. Track timelines for processing permits and applications. 
4. Business exit interviews. 

 
Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, Newberg Downtown Coalition, City of 
Newberg, Commercial Brokers 

 
 

428 of 460 



   
 

29 
 

Staffing Resources 

 Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce – Staff, Volunteers, Interns 
Newberg Downtown Coalition 
City of Newberg Community Development – 0.02 FTE  

 

  

429 of 460 



   
 

30 
 

2.3. Redevelop Vacant and Underutilized Commercial/Retail Sites 
 

Project Lead:  
 

City of Newberg – Community Development 
 

Stakeholders & Partners:  
 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, Newberg Downtown Coalition, Commercial 
Brokers, Finance Community 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 

 
1. Inventory vacant and underutilized sites. 
2. Work with partners to market sites. 
3. Meet with property owners on development and redevelopment opportunities. 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 – 24 months): 

 
1. Develop a program for possible property assemblage. 
2. Enhance existing or create new incentive packages. 
3. Evaluate the feasibility of an urban renewal program downtown. 
4. Update inventory vacant and underutilized sites. 
5. Work with partners to market sites. 
6. Meet with property owners on development and redevelopment opportunities. 

 
Long-term Implementation (24 – 36 months): 

 
1. Update inventory vacant and underutilized sites. 
2. Work with partners to market sites. 
3. Meet with property owners on development and redevelopment opportunities 

 
Metrics & Reporting: 

 
1. Buildable Lands Inventory 
2. Marketing material produced. 
3. Number of meetings held annually with property owners. 
4. Number of new or revised financial incentive programs. 
5. Success of establishing an urban renewal district downtown. 

 
Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

City of Newberg, Valley Chamber of Commerce, Newberg Downtown Coalition, 
Commercial Brokers, Finance Community, Property Owners 

 
Staffing Resources 

 City of Newberg Community Development - 0.1 FTE 
  

430 of 460 



   
 

31 
 

2.4 Market Vacant and/or Underutilized Commercial/Retail Sites 
 

Project Lead:  
 

Commercial Brokers 
 

Stakeholders & Partners:  
 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, City of Newberg, Newberg Downtown 
Coalition 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 

 
1. Brokerage community to develop a robust marketing program. 
2. Establish a list of desired business types to market to. 
3. Launch the marketing program. 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 – 24 months): 

 
1. Establish processes and programs for connecting the brokerage community to 

lead sources (e.g. businesses, individuals, service organizations, etc.) using the 
Business Resource Center as a hub.  

2. Continue marketing program. 
 

Long-term Implementation (24 – 36 months): 
 

1. Continue marketing program. 
 

Metrics & Reporting: 
 

1. List of desired business types to attract. 

2. Number of marketing opportunities distributed. 

3. Number of successful developments. 

Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

Commercial Brokers, Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, City of Newberg, 
Newberg Downtown Coalition, Property Owners 

 
Staffing Resources 

  
Commercial Brokers 
City of Newberg Community Development – 0.02 FTE 
 
 
  

431 of 460 



   
 

32 
 

2.5 Improve Public Infrastructure in Downtown Newberg 
 

Project Lead:  
 

City of Newberg – Community Development/Public Works 
 

Stakeholders & Partners: 
 

Newberg Downtown Coalition, Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, Oregon 
Department of Transportation, Mid-Willamette Valley Council of Governments, Business 
Oregon, Portland General Electric, Northwest Natural, Frontier, Commercial Brokers 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 

 
1. Complete the Newberg Downtown Improvement Plan. 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 – 24 months): 

 
2. Implement infrastructure recommendations from the Newberg Downtown 

Improvement Plan. 
 

Long-term Implementation (24 – 36 months): 
 

3. Implement infrastructure recommendations from the Newberg Downtown 
Improvement Plan. 

 
Metrics & Reporting: 

 
1. Number of projects implemented annually. 
2. Number of funding applications submitted per year. 
3. Meetings with Infrastructure Finance Authority on funding opportunities. 

 
Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

City of Newberg, Newberg Downtown Coalition, Chehalem Valley Chamber of 
Commerce, Oregon Department of Transportation, Mid-Willamette Valley Council of 
Governments, Business Oregon, Portland General Electric, Northwest Natural, Frontier, 
Property Owners, Commercial Brokers 

 
Staffing Resources 

 City of Newberg Community Development – 0.05 FTE 
City of Newberg Public Works – 0.05 FTE 

 
 
 
  

432 of 460 



   
 

33 
 

2.6 Support Creation of New Retail/Commercial Businesses 
 

Project Lead:  
 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce 
 

Stakeholders & Partners: 
 

City of Newberg, Commercial Brokers, Finance Community, Property Owners, Newberg 
Downtown Coalition 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 

 
1. Business inventory identifying what we have for businesses and what is missing. 
2. Streamlining City permitting processes. 
3. Establish a low interest loan program. 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 – 24 months): 

 
1. Establish business startup assistance program as a part of the Business 

Resource Center implementation. 
 

Long-term Implementation (24 – 36 months): 
 
1. Maintain and publish data on vacant office, industrial buildings and land. 
2. Expand the Urban Growth Boundary to support additional commercial land 

supply. 
 

Metrics & Reporting: 
 

1. Number of new businesses started. 
2. Number of new businesses assisted. 

 
Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 
 
Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, City of Newberg, Commercial Brokers, 
Finance Community, Property Owners 

 
Staffing Resources 

 Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce – Staff and Interns 
 City of Newberg Community Development – 0.03 FTE 
 
 

   

433 of 460 



   
 

34 
 

2.7 Increase The Supply of Commercial/Retail Land 
 

Project Lead:  
 

City of Newberg – Community Development 
 

Stakeholders & Partners:  
 

Department of Land Conservation and Development, Business Oregon, Chehalem 
Valley Chamber of Commerce, Newberg Urban Management Area Commission 
Newberg Community, Oregon Department of Transportation, Regional Solutions, 
Yamhill County, City of Dundee, Friends of Yamhill County, 1000 Friends of Oregon, 
Commercial Brokers 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 

 
1. Apply for grant(s) to evaluate expanding the urban growth boundary. 
2. Update Comprehensive Plan Policies. 
3. Complete Buildable Lands Inventory. 
4. Evaluate expansion land opportunities. 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 - 24 months) 

 
1. Expand the Urban Growth Boundary. 

 
Long-term (24 – 36 months) 

 
1. Monitor land absorption to determine next horizon for urban growth boundary 

expansion. 
 

Metrics & Reporting: 
 

1. Number of grants applied for. 
2. Completion of Comprehensive Plan Policies 
3. Completion of Buildable Lands Inventory 

 
Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

City of Newberg, Department of Land Conservation and Development, Business 
Oregon, Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, Newberg Urban Management Area 
Commission Newberg Community, Oregon Department of Transportation, Regional 
Solutions, Yamhill County 

 
Staffing Resources 

 City of Newberg Community Development – 0.2 FTE 
 

  

434 of 460 



   
 

35 
 

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT AND WORKFORCE 
 
Goal: Create a premier business and workforce development 

program 
 
Strategies: 
 
3.1 Foster Entrepreneurial Business Formation and Growth 
 

Project Lead:  
 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce 
 

Stakeholders & Partners: 
 

City of Newberg, Newberg Downtown Coalition, George Fox University, Portland 
Community College, Chehalem Park and Recreation District, Finance Community, 
Portland Community College CLIMB Center, Mid-Willamette Valley Council of 
Governments, Small Business Administration 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 

 
1. Foster connections between George Fox University and Portland Community 

College and entrepreneurs. 
2. Develop a Business Resource Center. 
3. Connect financing programs such as Small Business Administration and Mid-

Willamette Valley Council of Governments with entrepreneurs. 
4. Market the Newberg Economic Development Revolving Loan program. 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 - 24 months) 

 
1. Establish the Chehalem Valley Entrepreneurs Network. 

Long-term (24 – 36 months) 
 

1. Establish an angel funding program. 
 

Metrics & Reporting: 
 

1. Number of new businesses started. 
 

Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, City of Newberg, Newberg Downtown 
Coalition, George Fox University, Portland Community College, Chehalem Park and 
Recreation District, Finance Community, Portland Community College CLIMB Center, 
Mid-Willamette Valley Council of Governments, Small Business Administration 

435 of 460 



   
 

36 
 

Staffing Resources 

 Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce - Staff 
City of Newberg Community Development – 0.02 FTE 

  

436 of 460 



   
 

37 
 

3.2 Establish an Innovation Accelerator 
 

Project Lead:   
 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce/Accelerator Advisory Board 
 

Stakeholders & Partners: 
 

George Fox University; Portland Community College, Technology Association of 
Oregon; Portland Incubator Experiment; various technology-driven wineries; and other 
local and regional businesses, Chehalem Parks and Recreation District, City of Newberg 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 

 
1. Establish Board of Directors to oversee operations and organization. 
2. Establish an accelerator facility (temporary or startup). 
3. Create a business plan with help from experts such as PIE, TAO, etc. 
4. Establish a Board of Advisors to review, select, coach/mentor/advise tenants. 
5. Hold an accelerator kick-off meeting with stakeholders from key industries and 

funding sources such as angels and venture capitalists. 
6. Recruit, vet and select tenants. 
7.  Achieve projects-to-products-to market successes. 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 – 24 months): 

 
1. Promote and market the Accelerator through the Business Resource Center, 

City, Chamber, Newberg Downtown Coalition websites, and George Fox 
University, PIEPDX, and other channels. 

 
Long-term Implementation (24 – 36 months): 

 
1. Move the accelerator to a permanent facility. 
2. Integrate the Accelerator with George Fox University’s Collaboratium and other 

local makerspace(s). 
 

Metrics & Reporting: 
 

1. Number of stakeholders attending accelerator kick-off meeting 
2. Findings of the feasibility study 
3. Set up a temporary accelerator facility 
4. Accelerator business plan 
5. Number of businesses using the accelerator 
6. Identified demonstration project 
7. In-kind funds raised  

 
 
 
 
 

437 of 460 



   
 

38 
 

Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce/Accelerator Advisory Board, George Fox 
University; Portland Community College, Chehalem Parks and Recreation District, City 
of Newberg 

 
Staffing Resources 

 Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce – Staff and Volunteers 
Accelerator Advisory Board - Volunteers 
City of Newberg Community Development – 0.02 FTE 
 
 

  

438 of 460 



   
 

39 
 

3.3 Buy Local Campaign 
 

Project Lead: 
 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce 
 

Stakeholders & Partners:  
 

Newberg Downtown Coalition, Newberg commercial businesses, and the City of 
Newberg 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 

 
1. Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce engages George Fox University for 

research for a buy local program. 
2. Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce meets with the Newberg Downtown 

Coalition Merchants Committee and other businesses and review program. 
3. Implement and promote the program with a focus on educating the community 

about benefits, use, etc. 
4. Extend the Buy Local program to Dundee and the rest of the valley. 
5. Monitor and improve as necessary. 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 months - 24 months) 

 
1. Evaluate if eScripts is a viable tool and / or find equivalent tools. 
2. Work with Rural Studies program at Oregon State University to develop reporting 

mechanism by business that will measure success of program over time. (i.e. zip 
code collection by merchants, percent sales growth of business. In addition 
Oregon State University could conduct trade analysis that looks at current tail pull 
factors and improvement over time. 

3. Promote the program and its success to local and non-local market segments 
through the Business Resource Center, the City’s website, etc. 

 
Long-term (24 month – 36 months) 

 
1. Work with City of Newberg to develop a purchasing program that provides 

preference to local vendors. 
 

Metrics & Reporting: 
 

1. Number of businesses participating in Buy Local program and their success 
ratings/feedback through annual surveys. 

 
Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, Newberg Downtown Coalition, Newberg 
commercial businesses 

 
 

439 of 460 



   
 

40 
 

Staffing Resources 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce – Staff and Volunteers 
Newberg Downtown Coalition 

City of Newberg – 0.02 FTE 

 
 

   

440 of 460 



   
 

41 
 

3.4 Enhance Business Mix in Downtown Newberg 
 

Project Lead:  
 

Newberg Downtown Coalition 
 

Stakeholders & Partners:  
 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, City of Newberg, LLP Properties, Brokerage 
Community, Industrial and Commercial Brokers, Financial Community, City of Newberg 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 

 
1. Conduct a market analysis, including an inventory of the existing business mix to 

determine missing retails needs. 
2. Maintain inventory of available retail space. 
3. Establish marketing and recruitment program. 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 - 24 months) 
 
1. Establish a dedicated space for food carts. 
2. Promote development of vacant parcels to expand retail and office business 

opportunities. 
3. Continue marketing and recruitment program. 
4.  Establish a position in the Business Resource Center. 
 
Long-term (24 – 36 months) 

 
1. Work with City of Newberg and Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce to 

develop the Butler property. 
2. Continue marketing and recruitment program. 

 
Metrics & Reporting: 

 
1. Development Code Update to allow food carts. 
2. Number of new businesses in downtown area  

 
Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

Newberg Downtown Coalition, Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, City of 
Newberg, Property Owners, Industrial and Commercial Brokers, Financial Community 

 
Staffing Resources 

Newberg Downtown Coalition 
City of Newberg Community Development – 0.02 FTE  

441 of 460 



   
 

42 
 

3.5 Workforce Development 
 

Project Lead:  
 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce 
 

Stakeholders & Partners Support:  
 

George Fox University, Portland Community College, Newberg School District, Incite, 
Oregon Employment Department, Portland Community College CLIMB Center, SE Stem 
Center, Innovate Oregon, City of Newberg 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 

 
1. Evaluate current and future needs. 
2. Conduct a survey of local businesses’ workforce needs. 
3. Conduct a gap analysis. 
4. Scale-up the Chamber of Commerce Steps Up internship program with help from 

George Fox University, Newberg High School, Portland Community College and 
Chemeketa CTE. 

5. Connect to regional technical programs such as Innovate Yamhill County and 
create new programs as needed. 

6. Implement the SE STEM Center “Oregon Connections” database with local 
businesses and schools. 

7. Expand Tasting Room Associate Course from one to three classes. 
 

Mid-term Implementation (12 months - 24 months) 
 

1. Establish mentoring programs at the high school level. 
2. Extend the Chamber of Commerce internship to run year-round. 
3. Facilitate region-wide collaboration between workforce development 

stakeholders to expand and extend services. 
4. Extend opportunities for local students to earn technical degrees within the 

region. 
5. Implement employability soft skills curriculum into Newberg School District. 
6. Build and leverage best practices from organizations like American Association 

of Chamber Executives. 
 

Long-term (24 – 36 months) 
 

1. Promote a community-based, inclusive, world-class education system that 
attends to needs of all students from cradle, to career, to grave.  

 
Metrics & Reporting: 

 
1. Number of businesses participating in the workforce needs survey. 
2. Findings of the workforce needs survey. 
3. Findings of the gap analysis. 
4. Number of students enrolled in the Chamber of Commerce internship program. 

442 of 460 



   
 

43 
 

5. Estimated total return on investment for interns. 
6. Number of courses (credit and non-credit) offered at the Portland Community 

College Newberg Center. 
7. Number of college-credit courses offered at the high school level. 
8. Number of students enrolled in tasting room course at the Chamber of Commerce. 
9. Number of George Fox Students who stay in the community after graduation. 
10. High school graduation rates. 
11. Number of high school students that pursue post graduate education (trade school, 

community college, university). 
 

Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, George Fox University, Portland Community 
College, Newberg School District, Incite, Oregon Employment Department, Portland 
Community College CLIMB Center, City of Newberg 
 
Staffing Resources 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce – Staff + PT/FTE 
City of Newberg Community Development – 0.02 FTE 
 

  

443 of 460 



   
 

44 
 

3.6 Establish Business Resource Center 
 

Project Lead:  
 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce 
 

Stakeholders & Partners: 
 

Portland Community College; George Fox University; City of Newberg; Newberg 
Downtown Coalition; Mid-Willamette Valley Council of Governments, other local 
businesses, Portland Community College CLIMB 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 

 
1. Collaborate with Portland Community College CLIMB to fund a staff person. 
2. Conduct a gap analysis and best practices research. 
3. Create a Business Resource Center website. 
4. Perform a feasibility study to determine operating structure, space, staffing, 

focus, linkages, and revenue structure. 
5. Provide in-person small business development services. 
6. Connect student interns with local businesses. 
7. Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce Outreach (e.g. Breakfast for 

Champions, Customer Service, wine industry, etc.) 
8. Develop mentoring programs from existing business owners. 
9. Integrate services with the City of Newberg. 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 – 24 months): 

 
1. Facilitate region-wide collaboration between workforce development 

stakeholders to expand and extend services. 
2. Apply for funding/grants to expand operations and/or hire a full-time employee. 
3. Integrate goals and purpose with the Accelerator, GFU, PCC, Chemeketa, and 

regional and state organizations. 
 

Long-term Implementation (24 – 36 months): 
 

1. Move the Business Resource Center to a permanent facility. 
2. Expand the facility, operations and services as needed. 

 
Metrics & Reporting: 
 
1. Findings of the gap analysis 
2. Business Resource Center website 
3. Number of visitors to the Business Resource Center website 
4. Findings of the feasibility study 
5. Hiring one or more full or part-time staff persons 
6. Number of students connected to internships through the Resource Center 
7. Funding applications to organizations such as Economic Development 

Administration or US Department of Agriculture 

444 of 460 



   
 

45 
 

 
 
 

Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, Portland Community College; George Fox 
University; City of Newberg; Newberg Downtown Coalition; Mid-Willamette Valley 
Council of Governments, other local businesses, PCC CLIMB 
 
Staffing Resources 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce – Staff + PT/FTE 
City of Newberg Community Development – 0.02 FTE 

 
 
 

   

445 of 460 



   
 

46 
 

3.7 Market Employment Training Opportunities to Employers and Employees 
 

Project Lead:  
 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce 
 

Stakeholders & Partners:  
 

George Fox University, Portland Community College, Incite, Oregon Employment 
Department, Chemeketa Community College, Express Professionals, McMinnville 
Chamber of Commerce 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 

 
1. Promote Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce programs. 
2. Promote Portland and Chemeketa Community College programs. 
3. Promote George Fox University programs. 
4. Create Semi-annual job fairs co-sponsored Chehalem Valley Chamber of 

Commerce, McMinnville Area Chamber of Commerce and Oregon Employment 
Department. 

5. Identification of training opportunities based on employer needs. 
6. Promote Incite job training programs. 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 - 24 months) 

 
1. Fund a FTE dedicated to expansion of workforce development programs that 

serve new and existing businesses. 
2. Integrate workforce services with the Business Resource Center. 

 
Long-term (24 – 36 months) 

 
1. Three-year review and evaluation of programs and progress. 
 
Metrics & Reporting: 

 
1. Number of businesses participating in programs listed above. 
2. Business survey results n workforce readiness (suggest every two years). 

 
Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, George Fox University, Portland Community 
College, Incite, Oregon Employment Department 

 
Staffing Resources 

 Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce – Staff + PF/FTE 
 

  

446 of 460 



   
 

47 
 

3.8 Business Financing Program 
 

Project Lead:  
 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce  
 

Stakeholders & Partners:  
 

City of Newberg, Newberg Downtown Coalition, Mid-Willamette Valley Council of 
Governments, Finance Community, Small Business Administration, Commercial and 
Industrial Brokers 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 
 
1. Connect businesses and entrepreneurs with local lending institutions. 
2. Make the Business Resource Center a repository of business financing 

alternatives including regional, state, national and industry specific sources. 
3. Promote Yamhill County small and large grant programs to local businesses. 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 - 24 months) 

 
1. Establish a regional angel funding program to support the Accelerator as well as 

other business, promoted through the Business Resource Center.   

2. Evaluate non-traditional financing programs such as Kick Starter, Crowd Supply, 

etc. Promote them and provide advisory services as needed through the 

Accelerator and Business Resource Center. 

 
Long-term (24 – 36 moths) 

 
1. Bring the Economic Development Revolving Loan Fund loan program currently 

managed by the Mid-Willamette Valley Council of Governments back to 
Newberg. 

2. Expand Economic Development Revolving Loan Fund. 
3. Modify requirements in the Economic Development Revolving Loan Fund 

program to increase accessibility to small businesses. 
 

Metrics & Reporting: 
 

1. Increase promotion of programs through lead and support agencies. 
2. Number of loans issued. 

 
Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, City of Newberg, Newberg Downtown 
Coalition, Mid-Willamette Valley Council of Governments, Finance Community, Small 
Business Administration, Commercial and Industrial Brokers 

 
 

447 of 460 



   
 

48 
 

Staffing Resources 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce – Staff + PT/FTE 
City of Newberg Community Development – 0.03 FTE   

448 of 460 



   
 

49 
 

TOURISM AND HOSPITALITY 
 
Goal: Make Newberg / Chehalem Valley a regional, national & 

international tourist destination  
 
Strategies: 
 
4.1 Increase Tourist/Visitor Counts In Newberg 

 
Project Lead:  

 
Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce 

 
Stakeholders & Partners:  

 
City of Newberg, Oregon State Chamber, Travel Oregon, Oregon Wine Board, 
Willamette Valley Winery Association, Industrial and Commercial Brokers, the Newberg 
Downtown Coalition 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 

 
1. Enhance Newberg Downtown Coalition outreach program to tourists. 
2. Enhance signage and gateway elements in the downtown area for tourists and 

visitors. 
3. Increase advertising and public relations dollars. 
4. Enhance pedestrian infrastructure downtown (e.g. lighting, trash, benches, etc.). 
5. Promote the Buy Local program. 
6. Evaluate alternatives for a mid-tier hotel. 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 - 24 months) 
 
1. Recruit a mid-tier hotel to the valley. 
2. Create a regional marketing campaign that promotes Newberg and the valley as 

a destination location.  
3. Work with major businesses, George Fox University, Sportsman Airpark, the 

Allison Inn & Spa, local major wineries, and other national/international sources 
of potential visitors to increase out-of-region destination traffic. 

4. Establish annual reporting on tourism activities. 
 
Long-term (24 – 36 months) 

 
1. Expand the regional marketing campaign that promotes Newberg and the valley 

as a destination visit into a national/international campaign.  
2. Three-year review and evaluation of programs and progress. 
3. Continue annual reporting on tourism activities. 

 
 

449 of 460 



   
 

50 
 

 
Metrics & Reporting: 

 
1. Transient Lodging Taxes collected. 
2. Visitor counts in the Visitor Center. 
3. Website metrics on the Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce Visitor site. 
4. Growth in Direct to Consumer wine sales in Yamhill County. 

 

Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, City of Newberg, Oregon State Chamber, 
Travel Oregon, Oregon Wine Board, Willamette Valley Winery Association, Industrial and 
Commercial Brokers 

 
Staffing Resources 

 Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce – Staff + PT/FTE, Volunteers, Contractor 
 

  

450 of 460 



   
 

51 
 

4.2 Support and Expand Events That Increase Activity in Downtown Newberg 
Year Around 

 
Project Lead:  

 
Newberg Downtown Coalition 

 
Stakeholders & Partners:  

 
Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, City of Newberg, Chehalem Parks and 
Recreation District, Chehalem Cultural Center, Willamette Valley Winery Association 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 

 
1. Evaluate the impact of existing events. 
2. Design a coordinated event marketing program. 
3. Coordinate events calendars. 
4. Existing Events: 

i. Artwalk 
ii. Trick or Treat Street 
iii. Holiday Market 
iv. Retail Events 
v. Oktoberfest 
vi. Chehalem Cultural center events 
vii. Tunes on Tuesday’s 
viii. Downtown Newberg First Friday’s 
ix. Farmers Market 
x. Old Fashioned Festival 
xi. Special Olympics 
xii. Lavender Festival 
xiii. Brews & BBQ 
xiv. Truffle Festival 
xv. Camellia Festival 

5. Evaluate redesigning Francis Square as an event venue. 
6. Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce conduct two Job Fair’s annually. 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 – 24 months): 

 
1. Evaluate expanding the number of events and activities. 
2. Establish a Chehalem Valley wine festival. 
3. Continue the build-out of the Newberg Cultural District as a premier event venue. 
4. Establish a classic car/concourse de elegance. 
5. Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce conduct two Job Fair’s annually. 

 
Long-term Implementation (24 – 36 months): 

 
1. Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce conduct two Job Fair’s annually. 

451 of 460 



   
 

52 
 

Metrics & Reporting: 
 

1. Track attendance at events. 

 
Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

Newberg Downtown Coalition, Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, City of 
Newberg, Chehalem Parks and Recreation District, Chehalem Cultural Center, 
Willamette Valley Winery Association 
 
Staffing Resources 

Newberg Downtown Coalition – Staff + PT/FTE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

452 of 460 



   
 

53 
 

4.3  Transient Lodging Tax Program 

 
Project Lead:  

 
City of Newberg – City Manager’s Office 
 
Stakeholders & Partners:  

 
Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, George Fox University, Allison Inn & Spa, 
Providence Newberg Medical Center, Chehalem Cultural Center, Anam Cara Cellars, 
Premier Community Bank, Pulp & Circumstance, Newberg Ford, Austin Industries, The 
Painted Lady Restaurant 

 
Actions: 

 
Short-term Implementation (0 – 12 months): 

 
1. Establish transient lodging tax workgroup on uses of Transient Lodging Tax. 
2. Engage consultant to develop a comprehensive Tourism Action Plan that 

encompasses the existing Visitor Center as well as new marketing initiatives 
funded by the 2014 increases in Transient Lodging Tax. 

 
Mid-term Implementation (12 - 24 months) 

 
1. Establish annual reporting on tourism activities. 

 
Long-term (24 – 36 months) 

 
1. TBD 

 
Metrics & Reporting: 

 
1. Transient Lodging Taxes collected. 
2. TBD after Action Plan is developed. 

 
Funding Sources (in-kind/cash) 

 
City of Newberg, Chehalem Valley Chamber of Commerce, George Fox University, 
Allison Inn & Spa, Providence Newberg Medical Center, Chehalem Cultural Center, 
Anam Cara Cellars, Premier Community Bank, Pulp & Circumstance, Newberg Ford, 
Austin Industries, The Painted Lady Restaurant 

 
 
Staffing Resources 

 City of Newberg - .3 FTE 
 
 

   

453 of 460 



   
 

54 
 

 

APPENDIX A 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

454 of 460 



   
 

55 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

455 of 460 



   
 

56 
 

 
 

456 of 460 



   
 

57 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

457 of 460 



   
 

58 
 

APPENDIX B 

STRENGTHS/WEAKNESSES/OPPORTUNITIES/THREATS 
 
 

STRENGTHS 

 
1. Cheaper Power 

2. Affordable industrial land 

3. Good K-12 schools 

4. Surrounding wineries/vineyards 

5. Sense of community 

6. Supportive community 

7. Reasonable real estate values 

8. Accessible city services 

9. Sense of place (identity) 

10. Available rail service 

11. Good housing supply 

12. Strong agricultural base 

13. Community events 

14. Good work ethic 

15. Available assisted/retirement centers 

16. Stable healthcare services 

17. Good park system 

18. Highway crossroads (Hwy 99W/219/240) 

19. Good higher education (George Fox University/Portland Community College) 

20. Good water quality 

21. Chehalem Cultural Center 

22. Faith based organizations 

23. Access to recreational opportunities 

24. Allison Inn & Spa 

25. Gateway to wine country 

26. Water quantity 

27. Sportsman Air Park 

28. Safe community 

29. Public safety 

30. Temperate climate 

31. Proximity to Portland Metro area 

32. Water recreational resource (Willamette River) 

33. Aquatic facility 

 

 

 

 

458 of 460 



   
 

59 
 

 

 

WEAKNESSES 
 
 

1. Distance from Portland 
2. Distance from I-5 
3. Lack of industrial building space 
4. Lack of shopping variety/ Lack of retail diversity 
5. Lack of industrial land 
6. Lack of affordable housing for lower income families 
7. Lack of commercial land 
8. Lack of destination conference center 
9. Lack of multi-family housing 
10. Traffic congestion on 99W 
11. Public transit 
12. Aging/undersized infrastructure 
13. Lack of local family wage jobs 
14. Lower educational statistics (graduation rate) 
15. Lack of vacant rental residential housing 
16. Lack of mid-tier lodging 
17. Lack of tourist services/amenities 

 
 
 

OPPORTUNITIES 
 

1. Newberg as a distinctive community 
2. Quality K-12 education 
3. George Fox University and Portland Community College academic resources 
4. Revitalization of downtown 
5. Riverfront development 
6. Expanded wine tourism 
7. Entrepreneurial business incubator 
8. Workforce Center of Excellence 
9. Regional Business Resource Center 
10. Completion of Newberg-Dundee By-pass 
11. Expanded recreational opportunities 
12. Wine industry tech center 
13. Mid-level hotel development 
14. Expanded community events 
15. Springbrook Properties modification of master plan to respond to community needs and 

desires 
16. Downtown core development and/or redevelopment 
17. Multi-story buildings downtown 
18. Construction of east leg of the Newberg-Dundee Bypass 
19. Residential and commercial land held by a small group of individuals 
 

 

459 of 460 



   
 

60 
 

 
 
 
 

THREATS 
 
 

1. Traffic congestion – 99W/Springbrook Road 
2. Relocation of industrial traded sector businesses out of the community 
3. Proximity to Portland area amenities/business services 
4. Become a bedroom community to Portland 
5. Disproportionate population exodus every morning 
6. Financial capability to install necessary public infrastructure 
7. Financial capability to maintain public infrastructure 
8. Community stagnation due to inadequate residential, commercial, industrial land supply 
9. Quality of education (includes statewide)   
10. The State’s inability to resolve the land use system 
11. Inability of Yamhill County to provide service needs (infrastructure) 
12. Inability of Yamhill County to provide appropriate urban services 
13. Residential and commercial land held by a small group of individuals 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

460 of 460 


	Attachment 5 - pool application.pdf
	Land Use Review-Written Response.pdf
	Cover - with image
	Land Use Review-Index
	Land Use Review-Written Criteria Response


	DCA-16-001 PC Staff Report.pdf
	DCA-16-001 Recreational Marijuana Wholesale-Labs-Certificates-Retail PC staff report.pdf
	Exhibit A, Attachment 1.pdf
	Exhibit A, Attachment 2.pdf
	Attachment 1 Reso 3253.pdf
	Attachment 2.pdf
	Attachment 3 Recreational Marijuana Schools Buffer.pdf
	Attachment  4 Recreational Marijuana Parks Buffer.pdf
	Attachment 5 Recreational Marijauna Parks - Schools Buffer.pdf




